

Unpacking Personhood and Identity in the Hohokam Area of Southern Arizona

Item Type	text; Electronic Dissertation
Authors	Cerezo-Román, Jessica Inés
Publisher	The University of Arizona.
Rights	Copyright © is held by the author. Digital access to this material is made possible by the University Libraries, University of Arizona. Further transmission, reproduction or presentation (such as public display or performance) of protected items is prohibited except with permission of the author.
Download date	22/08/2022 16:16:38
Link to Item	http://hdl.handle.net/10150/312658

UNPACKING PERSONHOOD AND IDENTITY IN THE HOHOKAM AREA OF SOUTHERN ARIZONA

by

Jessica Inés Cerezo-Román

Copyright © Jessica Inés Cerezo-Román 2013

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of the

SCHOOL OF ANTHROPOLOGY

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

In the Graduate College

THE UNIVERSITY OF ARIZONA

2013

THE UNIVERSITY OF ARIZONA GRADUATE COLLEGE

As members of the Dissertation Committee, we certify that we have read the dissertation prepared by Jessica Inés Cerezo-Román, titled unpacking personhood and identity in the Hohokam area of southern Arizona and recommend that it be accepted as fulfilling the dissertation requirement for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

	Date: (12/12/2013)
Barbara J. Mills	
	Date: (12/12/2013)
Jane Buikstra	
	Date: (12/12/2013)
Suzanne Fish	
	Date: (12/12/2013)
John McClelland	
	Date: (12/12/2013)
T I 01 11	- (,

Thomas Sheridan

Final approval and acceptance of this dissertation is contingent upon the candidate's submission of the final copies of the dissertation to the Graduate College.

I hereby certify that I have read this dissertation prepared under my direction and recommend that it be accepted as fulfilling the dissertation requirement.

	Date: (12/12/20	013)

Dissertation Director: Barbara J. Mills

STATEMENT BY AUTHOR

This dissertation has been submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree at the University of Arizona and is deposited in the University Library to be made available to borrowers under rules of the Library.

Brief quotations from this dissertation are allowable without special permission, provided that an accurate acknowledgement of the source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the copyright holder.

SIGNED: Jessica Inés Cerezo-Román

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am very grateful to my advisor Dr. Barbara Mills for her time, support, and advice. She has been a source of vital inspirations and a role model in my academic progress and intellectual development. She has supported me in developing my potential while encouraging my research growth. I would also like to thank my other committee members: Dr. Jane Buikstra, Dr. Suzanne Fish, Dr. John McClelland, and Dr. Tom Sheridan, for their valuable feedback and comments on this dissertation.

I would like to thank Saul Hedquist for producing the maps for the different publications. I also would like to thank Katrien Van de Vijver, Elisabeth Cutright-Smith, Randy Haas, Jessica MacLellan, Jessica Munson, and Matthew Pailes for their valuable editorial assistance at different stages of the dissertation. Also I would like to thanks Saul Hedquist for producing the maps for this dissertation. Access to collections and materials were granted thanks to the support of Dr. Lane Beck, and Dr. James Watson, The Bioarchaeology Laboratory at the ASM, and Alan Ferg. I would also like to acknowledge the Tohono O'odham Nation, Henry Wallace, Deborah L. Swartz, Michael W. Lindeman, William H. Doelle, Desert Archaeology, Inc., Joe Ezzo, SWCA Environmental Consultants, and Michael Margolis for their support in accessing collections, data, and field notes. I appreciate the help of Dr. Greg Hodgins, The Accelerator Mass Spectrometry Laboratory, the National Science Foundation, The University of Arizona (UA), Dr. Mark Van Strydonck, and the Carbon 14 dating laboratory staff from Royal Institute for Cultural Heritage, Brussels, for their support in dating the cremated remains from the Cerro de Trincheras site, Sonora, Mexico and Elisa Villalpando for access to this collection. Financial assistance was provided by the William Shirley Fulton Scholarship (School of Anthropology, UA), Raymond H. Thompson Endowment Research Award (Arizona State Museum, UA), and a National Science Foundation Dissertation Improvement Grant (Grant #: 1132395).

I also am indebted to Dr. Thomas Fenn. He is my loving husband, and has supported me in every step of the way. His love, companionship and support were invaluable. He inspires me to be both a better scholar and person. He inspires me to work and achieve high standards. I am grateful for his valuable suggestions and stimulating discussions at dinners and over drinks. He also inspired me to be better person and partner every day. DEDICATION

To my mother and father for their love and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	11
LIST OF TABLES	12
ABSTRACT	14
CHAPTER ONE	16
Introduction	16
General Overview of Studies of Identity	17
Processual Archaeology, Individual Identity, and Social Status	18
The "Saxe-Binford" Approach and Post-Processual Critiques of Social Status Intersections	; 24
Moving from Social Status to Other Aspects of Identity	28
Sex and Gender Intersections	31
Aging, Life Course, and Life Cycle	37
Ethnicity Identity Intersections	41
New Directions in Identity(ies) Research	47
General Overview of Personhood Studies	49
Mortuary Customs in the Southwest: Previous Studies, Review, and Critiques	59
Dissertation Research	68
Putting it All Together: Operationalizing Personhood and Intersecting Identities	71
CHAPTER TWO: PRESENT STUDY	77
Unpacking Personhood and Intersecting Identities: Methods and Main Findings	77
Materials and Methods	77
Time Periods and Samples	77
Human Skeletal Remains and Biological Profiles	79
Posthumous Treatment of the Body and Archaeological Context	87

Associated Burial Objects95
Main Findings97
Appendix A: Transformation by Fire: Changes in Funerary Customs from the Early Agricultural yo Preclassic Period among the Hohokam of Southern Arizona
Appendix B: Pathways to Personhood: Cremation as a Social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam
Appendix C: Unpacking Personhood and Identity in the Hohokam Area of Southern Arizona
CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSIONS 105
References111
APPENDIX A PREFACE PAGE
APPENDIX A – TRANSFORMATION BY FIRE: CHANGES IN FUNERARY CUSTOMS FROM THE EARLY AGRICULTURAL TO PRECLASSIC PERIOD AMONG THE HOHOKAM OF SOUTHERN ARIZONA
Introduction150
Repetition and Innovations Acts on Funerary Customs154
Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic and early Preclassic periods in Southern Arizona
Materials & Methods for Unpacking and Operationalizing Funerary Customs162
Results164
Variables
Discussion
Variability in Mortuary Customs within and between the Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic, and Early Phases of the Preclassic Periods
Changing Relationships between the Dead, the Families, and the Community171
Conclusions176
Acknowledgements177

APPENDIX B – PATHWAYS TO PERSONHOOD: CREMATION AS A SOCIAL PRACTICE

AMONG THE TUCSON BASIN HOHOKAM	187
Introduction	187
The Datasets: Archaeological Assemblages and Historic Accounts	189
Historic Accounts: Cremation Practices among Southwestern Native American Groups.	190
Archaeological Evidence	194
Evidence for Burning Bodies	195
Evidence for Post-Depositional Practices	199
Transformation of Personhood: Death of the Individual	200
Cremation as a Physical Change: From Flesh to Bones	201
Division of the Remains: Social Implications of Fragmentation of the Body	202
Transformation of Personhood: Rituals after the Final Deposition	206
Conclusions	207
References	208
APPENDIX C – UNPACKING PERSONHOOD AND IDENTITY IN THE HOHOKAM OF SOUTHERN ARIZONA	AREA 219
Personhood and Funerary Customs	220
Previous Research on Hohokam Mortuary Customs	222
Methods for Unpacking and Operationalizing Personhood	223
Biological Profile of the Human Skeletal Remains	224
Posthumous Treatment of the Body and the Archaeological Context	226
Results	230
Discussion	236
The Preclassic Period	239
The Classic Period	242

	Conclusion	245
	Acknowledgments	246
	References Cited	247
	Appendix	264
A	APPENDIX D	274
	Thermal Alteration Form	274

LIST OF FIGURES

- Appendix A

Figure 1. Location of sites in southern Arizona	152
Figure 2. Proportion of interment type over time	165
Figure 3. Distribution of cultural attributes over time	167

Appendix B

Figure 1 Cremation Weights Classification (g.)	
Figure 2 Cremations and Burial Objects Frequencies	

Appendix C

Figure 4	. Burial Type Frequencies	231
Figure 5	. Preclassic and Classic Period Cremations and Inhumations in Southern Arizo and Northern Mexico	ona 233
Figure 6	. Sex and Number of Individuals	235

Appendix of Appendix C

Figure 1. Tucson Basin Archaeological Sites Discussed in Text	264
Figure 2. Undisturbed Primary Cremation Bone Weights (g.) of Individuals Older years and Adults	er than 15
Figure 3. Bone Weights (g.) of Cremated Bone from Undisturbed Secondary Dep	posits for
Individuals Older than 15 yrs. at Death and Adults	

LIST OF TABLES

Appendix	A
repending	1 1

Table 1 Archaeological Chronology in the Sonoran Desert (modified from Wallace, 2012)	
Table 2 Archaeological Sites by Period and Phase with References 153	
Table 3 Variable Frequencies by Archaeological Period/Phase	
Appendix B	
Table 1 Historic Accounts of Cremation Rituals form Southwestern Native American Groups 192	
Appendix C	
Table 4. Thermal Alteration of the Bones	
Table 11. Cremations and Inhumations in Southern Arizona and Northern Mexico232	
Appendix of Appendix C	
Table 1 Samples from the Preclassic and Classic Period	
Table 2. Age at Death and Burial Type Frequencies	
Table 3. Age at Death, Inhumation, and Cremation Frequencies	
Table 5. Frequencies of Inhumation and Cremation by Time Period	
Table 6. Pearson Chi-Square Values for Burial Type and Time Period	
Table 7. Pearson Chi-Square Values for Burial Type and Preclassic Period	
Table 8. Pearson Chi-Square Values for Burial Type and Classic Period	

Table 9. Bone Weights (g.), Statistical Means, and Std. Deviation	
Table 10. Time Periods, Secondary Cremation Deposits Weights, and Mann-W	Vhitney
Analysis	273

ABSTRACT

My research centers on changes in personhood, identity and funerary rituals from the Early Agricultural Period to the Classic Period in the Tucson Basin. The three core papers of my dissertation represent submissions to peer-review journals or book chapters, all of which are connected by similar research themes. The first paper examines changes in funerary rituals from the Early Agricultural Period (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50) to the Early Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750) and how these changes modified social relationships between the dead, their families and the community. A total of 21 archaeological sites and 436 burials were analyzed. The predominant mortuary rituals in the Early Agricultural Period were inhumations characterized by variations in body position and location, possibly emphasizing individuality. These rituals changed in the Preclassic Period as cremation became the dominant practice. Cremations during this period were mainly secondary deposits with low quantities of bone located in cemeteries within habitation courtyard groups. Social group membership was emphasized through these cremations. Results suggest that triggers for changes in funerary rituals through time were multicausal, but these changes are reflective of emerging group identities with strong social cohesion, consistent with patterns observed in other archaeological evidence from the area.

The second paper explores how the Preclassic Hohokam (A.D. 475-1150) of the Tucson Basin created different pathways to personhood for the dead. This consisted of examining how bodies were treated within cremation practices at four recently excavated Tucson Basin Hohokam archaeological sites and through consideration of different ethnographic accounts of cremation practices among Native American groups from the Southwestern United States. Historical accounts of cremation practices utilized in this work originate from the Pima (Akimel O'odham), Tohono O'odham, and several Yumanspeaking groups. Based on archaeological and linguistic evidence, the ancestors of these historic groups had ancestral connections with the Hohokam. Results of my research suggest dynamic transitions of personhood occurred at death while these transitions occurred both with the dead as well as the living. Subsequent to the cremation pyre bodies were transformed into "body-objects" and continued to evoke memories of the deceased person's life. Furthermore, at these events mutually-identifying relationships were created, transformed or destroyed through interactions of the community, family and deceased.

The third paper examines the identification of and changes in aspects of personhood among the Tucson Basin Hohokam from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to Classic periods (A.D. 1150-1450/1500). This is done by examining the biological profile, posthumous treatment of the body and mortuary practices of remains of 764 individuals from seven sites. Cremation was the predominant mortuary practice in the Tucson Basin during the Preclassic and Classic periods. However, inhumation also co-occurred at lower frequencies, particularly for fetus and infants, possibly due to the undeveloped form of self that these individuals had within the society. Through time cremation rituals changed particularly for individuals older than 15 years at death and adults. In the Preclassic Period, after the body was burned, the remains were fragmented, divided and distributed as inalienable possessions among families and within specific networks. This suggests a social construction of self that was more relational, part-person and part-object. In the Classic Period, these practices decreased and the remains were not divided but left in place or transferred almost wholly to a single secondary deposit. The perceptions of personhood in the Classic Period changed to a self that was considered as bounded units and more-whole even after its transformation during the cremation fire. It is possible that this transition through time occurred as a result of more centralized and private rituals, and by a general decrease in emotive networks. The changes in mortuary rituals are similar to broader sociopolitical changes observed in the Classic Period where an increase in social differentiation and complexity has been postulated.

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

The overarching research focus of this dissertation is how the treatment of human remains relates to social relationships between the deceased and their survivors through time and space in southern Arizona. Specifically, I explore these relationships using the concept of personhood, while viewing the funeral and overall treatment of remains as an arena where social identities of both the deceased and mourners are negotiated, created, and transformed. To explore these relationships, I divide the research into three papers (Appendices A, B, and C), each addressing a different time period and aspect within the overarching research focus. Appendix A focuses on data from the Early Agricultural/Ceramic Period (2100 B.C.-A.D. 475) extended through the early phases of the Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750). Appendix B focuses on data from the Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-1150), while Appendix C uses data to examine the transition from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to Classic (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) periods. Geographically, this research centers on the Tucson Basin and immediately adjacent areas.

Chapter One presents a literature review of key references on identity. To facilitate discussion, this literature review is organized by intersections, such as status, gender and sex, aging, life course and life cycle, and ethnicity and group identity. Additionally, the discussion includes a review of relevant anthropological and archaeological studies of personhood presented in chronological order. Also discussed in this chapter is the current state of funerary archaeology studies in the American Southwest. The following section briefly introduces the overall organization of the dissertation, thus contextualizing each chapter. A final section of this chapter, "Science and Social Theory: Putting it All Together," provides a brief discussion on how the current research utilizes and/or adapts previously discussed theoretical approaches. This section also details how the current research operationalizes attributes of personhood that relate to unique individual identity, social age, sex, and group identity.

General Overview of Studies of Identity

The term "identity" has a long history in Western philosophy, extending from ancient Greece to the most recent publications in the social sciences. Today the term is regularly used in various media and is a common discussion point in daily life. For example, if one searches http://World Cat.org, one of the world's largest on-line networks of library content and services, for the years from 2008 to 2012, almost a quarter million references link to the term "identity," used in various ways. In anthropology, usage of the term requires definition as, for example, it refers to both individual and group identity (Díaz-Andreu and Lucy 2005). Following the definition of Díaz-Andreu and Lucy (2005), "identity" in this research represents an individual's identification with a broader group based on shared similarities and differences. The term links to a sense of belonging, as well as to how we perceive others and ourselves as being part of some groups but not others (Díaz-Andreu and Lucy 2005). Additionally, being part of a group entails active engagement, making identity situational, fluid, and dynamic. Identity also is both plural and intersectional, as we participate in many different spheres of social interactions. Due to the formation and preservation processes of the archaeological record, however, we can reconstruct only a few of these different interactions in past populations.

The notion of identity as a discursive category dates back to the ancient Greeks, but identity did not become important as an analytical concept in the social sciences until the 1960s, thanks to the influential works of Erikson, Merton, Goffman, Barth, and Berger, among others (e.g., Meskell and Pruecel 2006). Archaeological focus on identity is not new, although there is significant variability in how archaeologists study past identity and its conceptualization in the present (Díaz-Andreu and Lucy 2005). Through most of the twentieth century, archaeological theory focused on cultures rather than individuals. Cultures were treated and perceived as "individuals" in the metaphorical sense, in that cultures were born, developed, flourished, and eventually transformed into something else before finally perishing. The key components of these approaches were ethnic identity and "archaeological cultures," which were typically equated with ethnic groups and associated with little epistemologically self-reflective theoretical discussion. This naturalized equation and lack of theoretical evaluation extended to studies of social differentiation (high status vs. low status) and religious affiliation. To explore the development of identity studies in archaeology, I discuss in this chapter the diachronic study of particular intersections of identity. There are many intersections of identity, and numerous studies of identity use data derived from mortuary contexts. In most of these studies, there also are many correspondences between the interpretations of funerary customs and the study of each specific intersection of identity, as is the case of social status and ethnic identity. Mortuary contexts are therefore perfect archaeological assemblages in which to study identity(ies). Funerary contexts are created by the living, and their study, combined with that of the human remains, provides ways to examine how identities were constructed at multiple levels and within multiple intersections.

Processual Archaeology, Individual Identity, and Social Status

In the 1960s the New Archaeology, or processual archaeology, revolutionized archaeological theories and methods for studying the past. Influenced by neoevolutionary theories and ideas from anthropologists Leslie White (1959a, 1959b) and Julian Steward (1955), processualists also viewed humans as organized within an ordered hierarchy of egalitarian, ranked, and stratified societies (Trigger 1989, 1996). This view centered on the cultural "system" itself and not in the individual. Nonetheless, contemporaneous discussions of individual identity started to emerge. Binford (1962, 1965) pointed out the link between material culture, symbols, and individual political processes and suggested that people participated differentially within a culture. However, this new way of thinking viewed individuals as passive agents and part of a group, subject to the norms and pressures of the society and with little agency of their own (Brumfiel 1992; Hodder 1996; Trigger 1989, 1996). At the same time, influence from the neo-evolutionary approach created an interest in the study of social status in a simplistic, normative way and interpreted objects found in burials as direct reflections of the social statuses of the individuals. This processual approach promoted discussion of isolated aspects of identity, while research using a Western taxonomic point of view pigeonholed and classified individuals into rigid categories, such as elite/non-elite. However, discussion of individuals and their identity began to gain popularity.

In the 1970s, Arthur Saxe and Lewis Binford used the concept of *individual identity* under the paradigm of processual archaeology. These two authors did not focus on individual identity in their work, instead using terms such as *social identity, identity relationships*, and *social persona* in a more general way to explore social status. Saxe (1970) presented a hypothesis-based model concerning mortuary customs in order to understand social organization. An important contribution of this work was his use of ethnographic examples to test different hypotheses. He used a functional and cross-cultural comparative approach, testing a model of evolutionary change, to explore regularities in processes that resulted in a set of mortuary customs. Two goals of this work were to: 1) explain formal disposal types found in any sociocultural system, and, 2) by doing this, show how the domains formed by these types can elucidate social organization. To evaluate these ideas he proposed eight hypotheses and concluded that there was a relationship between disposal mode for the dead and social organization.

Saxe (1970) employed Goodenough's (1965) terminology for social identity, identity relationships, and social persona. For Saxe (1970), *social identity* results from membership in a category of people, a social position, or a status. *Identity relationship* is defined as two or more social identities engaged in a social relationship. *Social persona* is a composite of several social identities selected as appropriate to a given interaction. A social persona is, by linguistic analogy, a grammatically possible composite entity and must conform to syntactic governing principles. The governing principles to which they conform are what Goodenough called rights and duties: "Rights and their duty counterparts serve to define boundaries within which the parties to social relationships are expected to confine their behavior" (Goodenough 1965: 3). Goodenough (1965) suggested that rights and duties are two sides of the same coin. For example, "in any relationship A's rights over B are the things he can demand of B; these same things are what B owes A. B's duties in the relationship" (Goodenough 1965: 3). The concepts *social persona* and *intersectional identities* are similar in that both are defined by social relationships. However, the difference between the two is that social persona is governed by principles based on rights and duties. These principles are restrictive and bind the social interactions of the individuals. Alternately, research on intersectional identities saxe related the definitions of *social identity, identity relationship*, and *social persona* to different types of social organization and complexity in order to understand variability within a site and how the site was socially organized.

These principles allow for combining social identities into identity relationships, permit the association of identities with occasions of death and disposal, and highlight the compatibility of social identities as features of coherent social personae (which implies the incompatibility of other identities and personae). Saxe also suggested that ego's position in a web of social relationships, a set of social personae (in their syntactic principles), reflected the organizing principles of the larger social structure. Similar to Saxe (1971), Lewis Binford also began to use the concept of identity to interpret past behaviors.

In 1971, the landmark volume *Approaches to the Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices* was published (Brown 1971a). It contained papers originally presented at a symposium held at the annual meeting of the Society for American Archaeology in 1966. A chapter contributed by Lewis Binford, one of the central figures in processual archaeology, aimed at understanding the social organization of pre-state societies through cross-cultural examination of mortuary behaviors and subsistence practices (Binford 1971). He used subsistence practices as a proxy for understanding socio-political complexity and argued that the socio-political form and complexity of the organizational characteristics of a society defined the form and structure of differential treatment of an individual in the mortuary customs of any society. Binford argued that there was a direct relationship between differential treatment at death and variation in social identity of the deceased. He further suggested that differential burial treatment represented the basic components of social persona. This social persona is symbolized through variables like age, sex, social status, and social affiliation. The combination of these variables allows for inferences about an individual's multiple membership units within a society and/or membership in the society itself.

The links that Binford outlined demonstrate a set of mutual dependencies between forms of mortuary rites and social organizational features. Mortuary customs are phenomena that consist of technical and ritual acts (Binford 1971). As technical phenomena, burial customs provide for the disposal of the decomposing corpse of the deceased. As ritual, mortuary rites execute a number of symbolic acts that vary in the form of symbolic elements employed and in the number and kinds of referents given symbolic recognition. Binford stated that the meaning assigned to symbolic forms was arbitrary and could vary independently from the referents and vice versa. Therefore, the examination of mortuary customs within socio-cultural systems becomes an investigation of the distribution of communication systems. Additionally, the study of mortuary customs becomes an investigation of the degree to which there are links between the symbol systems and referential units. Binford (1971) commented on the possibility that groups can employ the same symbols but with contradictory meanings; one reason why it is very important to be aware of the context(s) in which symbols are presented. He also believed that some symbols can represent group identity but each member of the group must be able to recognize the meaning and symbolism.

Binford (1997), like Saxe (1970), drew on Goodenough (1965), including the terms *social identity, identity relationships*, and *social persona* in his lexicon. Binford (1971) thought that archaeologists could expect the expression of the *social identity, identity relationships*, and *social persona* of the deceased in mortuary customs as a composite recognition of an individual's status and position in life. Furthermore, Binford

(1971:17) noted that "we expect that the facets of the social persona symbolically recognized in the mortuary custom would shift with the levels of corporate participation in the ritual, and hence vary directly with the relative rank of the social position, which the deceased occupied in life." He claimed that the form and complexity of the organizational characteristics of the society itself conditioned the form and structure of such differential categories, which characterize the mortuary customs of any society. He suggested that in order to understand change in the society, we need to understand the forces operating on socio-cultural systems as a whole, and only then can the causal nature of change be understood. His work centered on how mortuary customs reflect social organization and status of the individual based on the social identities and social personae of the dead.

The ethnographically derived works by Binford and Saxe were complementary and suggested that there may be a relationship between the social status of the deceased and the relative amount of treatment, energy expended, or grave goods in the burial of an individual. This approach became very popular and many scholars tested and reformulated the approach throughout the late twentieth century. This perspective is often called the Saxe-Binford approach (e.g., Brown 1995; Rakita and Buikstra 2005a). This viewpoint has clearly influenced the field of funerary studies and cemetery analysis, both in the Americas and Europe. Studies that adopted the Saxe-Binford approach include those by Tainter (1975), O'Shea (1984), and Mainfort (1985). Research that focused on the study of intra-site social differentiation included work by Chapman (1977), Gruber (1971), Hodson (1977), King (1969), Mainfort (1979), Rothschild (1979), and van de Velde (1979). Some chapters in the seminal edited volume by Chapman, Kinnes and Randsborg (1981), entitled The Archaeology of Death, also focused on social differentiation and adopted the Saxe-Binford approach. Researchers using multiple sites but maintaining a focus on social differentiation and complexity included Brown (1971b), Greber (1979), Peebles (1971), Peebles and Kus (1977), Renfrew (1973), and Tainter (1975; 1977). For example, the works by Peebles (1971), on Moundville and the Pickwick Reservoir in northern Alabama, and Peebles and Kus (1977), on archaeological

correlates of ranked societies, equated elaborate and unusual artifacts and individuals buried on platform mounds with high status individuals. Another example is the work by Tainter (1975, 1978) on social change in the Woodlands of West-Central Illinois. Tainter's model centered on energy expenditure invested in the burials to infer social ranking. He also proposed that rare and unique burial objects directly related to individuals of high status. Braun (1981) commented on the multivariate statistical analysis of burial practices used by Tainter (e.g., 1975, 1978). Braun (1981:389) suggested that Tainter's "analyses and interpretations can incorporate weakness ranging from faulty data coding and the misapplication of statistical procedures to biases in the statistical and logical procedures employed." Braun also mentioned that these types of particular analyses could be highly ambiguous and contradictory to the interpretations proposed by Tainter.

Several other authors, such as Peebles (1971) and Peebles and Kus (1977) also used the interpretation of social organization based on multivariate statistical analysis, and it became common to use energy expenditure on burial practices as a measure of rank. In addition to the inappropriate use of multivariate statistics in this type of work, as Braun mentions, there are other factors to consider when using energy expenditure as a measure. To equate energy expended on burials with rank is highly problematic, as several components of these practices may not leave archaeological traces. Also, energy expenditure on burial customs cannot be used as a universal measurement of rank but needs to be evaluated within a specific culture at a specific time period. I also consider that the work by Peebles (1971), Peebles and Kus (1977), and Tainter (e.g., 1975, 1978) did not explore in depth the complex relationship that exists between material culture, the individual, and burial customs, and simplified the models proposed by Saxe and Binford. As Rakita and Buikstra (2005a) point out, the results and conclusions of Saxe and Binford have been oversimplified by many researchers. Nonetheless, through time the work by Saxe and Binford became popular in conjunction with a series of critiques from post-processual archaeologists.

The "Saxe-Binford" Approach and Post-Processual Critiques of Social Status Intersections

Goldstein (1976) revisited and reformulated the work of Saxe six years after Saxe's seminal publication. She argued that it was necessary to add to the study of mortuary customs a multidimensional approach within a spatial framework, a suggestion later advocated by Chapman (1981). Specifically, Goldstein reformulated Saxe's hypothesis number eight¹. Along with James Brown, Goldstein noted that the disposal area is highly significant as an element of mortuary customs. In reaction to the work of Saxe and Binford, post-processual critiques also began to appear, especially within mortuary practices. For example, Hodder (1980, 1982a, 1982b, 1982c), mainly using ethnographic examples from the Nuba in Sudan, examined the social construction of cemeteries in order to interpret social organization. He pointed out that cemeteries represent the "ideal" social organization but not the "real" social organization. Hodder also argued that the attitudes of the living could be observed in the attitudes toward the dead but in an inverted, diffused, and distorted way, so we are not going to have an exact pattern of the living population in the mortuary evidence. Hodder proposed that attitudes toward death are not simple correlations between social organization and burial types. He argued for careful examination of ethnographic data to look for evidence of social organization, as well as evidence to assist in the interpretation of symbolic principles and ideologies.

On the other hand, Shanks and Tilley (1982) examined the definition and notion of ideology using skeletal remains and material symbols from Neolithic barrows in Wessex and Cotswolds in southern England and from southern Sweden. In their analysis,

¹ "Hypothesis #8: To the degree that corporate group rights to use and/or control crucial but restricted resources are attained and/or legitimized by means of lineal descent from the dead (i.e., lineal ties to ancestors). Such groups will maintain formal disposal areas for the exclusive disposal of their dead, and conversely" (Saxe 1970: 119). Goldestein (1976) modification read as following "To the degree that corporate group rights to use and/or control crucial but restricted resource(s) are attained and/or legitimized by lineal descent from the dead (i.e. lineal ties to ancestors), such groups will, by the popular religion and its ritualization, regularly reaffirm the lineal corporate group and its rights. <u>One</u> means of ritualization is by the maintenance of a permanent, specialized, bounded disposal area for the exclusive disposal of their dead" (Goldstein 1976:254)

they concluded that symbols involved in ritual such as the creation of the burial played an active part in the misrepresentation or concealment of real social relationships. In another study, Tilley (1984) and Miller and Tilley (1984) explored mortuary customs within the Funnel Neck Beaker and Battle-Axe/Corded-Ware traditions of southern Sweden to understand power strategies and modes of legitimizing asymmetrical power relations in small-scale, lineage-based societies. They concluded that mortuary practices included manipulation of material culture to legitimize social domination and conceal social contradiction.

Parker Pearson (1982) analyzed mortuary customs in modern and Victorian England, concluding that burial rituals are susceptible to ideological manipulations within the construction of social strategies. However, even though these critiques were very valuable they mainly centered on the living community and how they interacted with the dead. These types of critiques ignored the dead as the main focus of the funeral. Likewise, Pader (1982) had similar critiques to those of Hodder, Tilley and Miller, and Tilley, among others. However, Pader used a framework linked to structuralism and Marxism. She stated that the use of symbols and their meanings in funerary customs vary depending on where and how they are used, and that material culture will not directly objectify real-life relationships. McGuire (1988) suggested that burial rituals do not necessarily refer to actual relations of power in a society, but rather to idealized expressions of these relationships. He based his arguments on results from a study of gravestones from Broome County, New York. The proposal by McGuire (1988) follows similar ideas by Hodder (1980, 1982a, 1982b, 1982c), Shanks and Tilley (1982), Tilley (1984), and Miller and Tilley (1984), among others, deriving from early postprocessual critiques. However, these scholars were not the only ones who contributed to a better understanding of past burial customs.

Cannon (1989) developed another important critique for the meaning and variability of mortuary behaviors. He did not directly focus on status as an identity marker but he made a comparative analysis of mortuary behaviors to study variability and elaboration of particular archaeological burial assemblages. To explore this topic, he used three case studies: Victorian to modern England, Historic Northeast Iroquoia, and ancient Greece. He found that changes in mortuary behaviors could be explained through cyclical changes in ostentation. These changes are examples of a continued transformation of culture through symbolic expression of social aspirations. In addition, the intensity of these cycles resulted from social tensions and status comparisons among individuals. Common processes of human social and expressive behavior developed the intensity of these cycles (Cannon 1989). Cannon's (1989) work was published several years ago, but I feel it is an important example of the importance of contextualizing the study of burial customs through time.

Ian Morris (1991, 1992) made important contributions to the study of mortuary customs by evaluating Saxe's original claims through three data sets: a generalized ethnological model, specific ethnographic data, and a historical comparison. He evaluated the relationship between burial and property transmission. Morris concluded that the relationships between burial and property transmission are not static, they can change over time and these changes need to be considered when analyzing ancient mortuary customs. Morris's (1991) contribution validated what Goldstein (1976) and Saxe (1970) proposed. In addition, he mentioned that the relationship between cemetery, dependent group, and power is only one aspect of the mortuary custom that can be analyzed. His analysis was a good example of how to integrate other classes of mortuary data with the analysis of skeletal remains. Morris, however, was not the only one to validate and revisit the work of Saxe (1970).

During late twentieth century, revision of the "Saxe-Binford" approach were observed in the edited volume *Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis* (Beck 1995a). This important volume goes beyond exploring intra-site variation to explore regional frameworks in order to understand variations in style, size, and content of burial customs. Brown's (1995) contribution to this volume centered on the "Saxe-Binford" approach, and he mentioned that one problem area in mortuary custom studies was the identification of determinant factors on behavior and conditions under which these were most likely to operate. He noted that the two main contributions of the Saxe-Binford approach were complementary: Saxe focused on the organization of patterned differences in material culture on mortuary customs while Binford focused on the cross-cultural comparison of such patterns. Together they shared concerns for the social sources of patterned variability in mortuary treatment. Brown also mentioned that the "Saxe-Binford" approach, utilized by processual archaeologists especially in reference to the ideas of Goodenough, reflected a Western concept of burial of the dead by assigning social identities to individuals buried in particular graves. The definitions of *social identity* and *social persona* that Saxe and Binford adopted are more "egocentric," differentiated, bounded and autonomous. Within studies of mortuary customs, other researchers moved away from these definitions and expanded to other areas of research.

Most studies of social status have broadened considerably through time and adapted to explore more in depth social inequality, social integration, and changes in power social relationships (Brumfiel 1992; Buikstra et al. 2005; Kuijt 1996). Kuijt (1996), for example, addressed social integration through the study of funeral customs. He examined the role of secondary mortuary rituals as a means of examining social integration during periods of social, economic, or environmental change in the Late Natufian and Pre-Pottery Neolithic A periods of the south-central Levant. He reevaluated notions of the emergence of social inequality in the past and investigated funeral customs in a more dynamic and multidimensional way (Kuijt 1996). Buikstra et al. (2005) explored changes in power relationships and local political economies within the complex interactions between the Chiribaya and Tiwanaku peoples of South America. They used multiple lines of evidence, including artifact distributions, artificial cranial deformation, and isotopic evidence of diet, in order to explore power relationships in this area. These broader works on changes in power relationships and social inequality are very exciting and useful as models to analyze past social dynamics.

Other researchers examined health and quality of life among particular subgroups within populations, to address social inequality in a very interesting way (e.g., Ambrose et al. 2003; Barrett and Blakey 2011; Robb et al. 2001; Sullivan 2004). For example, Ambrose et al. (2003) used multiple lines of evidence, such as dietary differences and

burial style, to examine status and gender differences among the Mound 72 burial sample at Cahokia. They mention that some burials associated with higher quantities of prestigious grave goods were of high status individuals in contrast to a mass grave of young adult females of lower status. However, their contribution was that they found dietary differences among individuals from these assemblages. For example, individuals in burials identified as high status consumed higher quantities of animal protein and lower quantities of maize. In contrast, individuals from the mass burial identified as low status consumed higher quantities of maize and lower quantities of animal protein. This work, using multiples lines of evidence, provided new insights into social and nutritional inequalities among the Cahokia populations. Within studies of inequality there also have been many interesting archaeological studies focusing on slavery (e.g., Andrews and Fenton 2001; Barrett and Blakey 2011; Gibbs et al. 1980; Young 1995). For example, Barrett and Blakey (2011) through the study of human remains, paleopathological conditions, and quality of life in an African slave burial ground, clearly demonstrated social differences in stress-related experiences over the life course of the enslaved population. These types of studies go beyond identifying social distinctions within populations and power relationships to an in depth understanding of how different groups experienced social inequality during their lives. An increased number of studies also examined the intersections of social differentiation with sex, gender, age group, and group affiliation, to integrate discussions of inequality with larger social processes. I will discuss these trends later in this chapter within the sections entitled "Sex and Gender Intersections," "Aging, Life Course and Life Cycle," and "Ethnicity and Group Identity Intersections."

Moving from Social Status to Other Aspects of Identity

Marxism, structuralism, post-structuralism, and feminist researchers, among others, also influenced the manner in which archaeologists studied individuals and their particular intersections of identity in past societies. In the 1980s and throughout the 1990s, researchers outside archaeology continued to influence archaeological methods and theories. Pierre Bourdieu, Anthony Giddens, Michael de Certeau, and Richard Jenkins are amongst the social theorists who greatly influenced how archaeologists view and study individuals. Their theories were used to evaluate social relationships between individuals and between groups of individuals within a society. These scholars proposed that societies could not exist independently of their constituent individuals and proposed to reevaluate the relationship between the society and the individual's actions. This view promoted moving away from restricted categorizations and influenced archaeological approaches with a *gestalt* shift in how to interpret the past.

Pierre Bourdieu's theory of practice and his notion of *habitus* were key concepts in the theoretical construction of how archaeological research studied individuals in the past. Bourdieu (1977, 1990) suggested that subjects are active agents who are aware of societal rules, the possible results of actions, and the decisions and motives that underlie those actions. He also acknowledged a need to recognize that actions are performed using conscious reason, but that individuals may undertake these actions with subconscious motives. Practice theory states that objects of knowledge and individuals are constructed. A central concept of practice theory is *habitus*, which references the reciprocal construction and transformation of social structure through the actions of individuals. Habitus specifies different conditions of production, which are influenced by possibilities, impossibilities, freedoms, and necessities of an individual in a society. Additionally, how an individual pre-adapts or adapts to demands and strategies used within a group will affect the *habitus*. This model of society permits agents to contribute in some sense to construction of the world in which they live as they engage with its social and institutional structures. However, an individual's knowledge may not be perfect and their actions may have unexpected consequences as they are constrained by other individuals. Another author key to discussions of relationships between individuals within a society was Anthony Giddens.

Anthony Giddens' (1984, 1991) discussion of the relationship between agency and structure, his use of the concept of *practical consciousness*, and theory of *structuration*

are well known. Giddens distinguished reflexive monitoring and rationalization of actions from the nature of motivations. He emphasized that actors are not passive subjects, but are embedded in performance and actions and that this involved a rationalized process. The use of reason involves intentionality, that is, situations in which actors can explain their motives if asked. Motivation refers to the potential for action rather than to the mode in which agents carried out actions over time. The notion of practical consciousness, which is fundamental to his theory of structuration, suggests that there are differences between what people say and what they do; individuals at any point can act differently depending on their individual desires or power. Giddens argued, however, that rules and resources drawn upon in the production and reproduction of social actions are simultaneously the means of a system of reproduction, and this creates a duality of structure. This is one of the main propositions of structuration theory. He emphasized the importance of routine in social life and that the process of observing social norms creates a cycle that reproduces institutionalized practices. Giddens has been erroneously critiqued as being an institutional determinist. These critics ignored his discussion of the duality of structure in which he suggests that agents and structure are both produced through a structuration processes (Joyce and Lopiparo 2005).

Michael de Certeau (1988) is another researcher engaged in practice theory who provided an important perspective on the study of identity in past populations. He was a French Jesuit scholar greatly influenced by the work of Sigmund Freud and Jacques Lacan. De Certeau viewed individuals as agents with more freedom of action, arguing that the schematas that guide people in everyday life are not very comprehensively integrated (Joyce and Lopiparo 2005). Bourdieu's notion of strategies is similar to de Certeau's notion of tactics, although tactics are improvisations under the social structure. De Certeau's work centered on understanding everyday "ways of operating," or doing things, and he proposed that studying these practices should not center on individuals but on relationships. His analysis demonstrated that relationships are always socially determined; the individual is the locus in which an incoherent (often contradictory) plurality of such relational determinations interacts. What is important, however, is how the individual acts. De Certeau also stated that the intention of his work was to explain the system of operational combinations, which composed a "culture" or a society, and to explain the models of actions by individuals where their statuses are the dominant elements in society. This focus on relationships and actions was an important and novel component of this research. De Certeau's main contribution was the contextualization of relationships and actions, which are very relevant to archaeological studies of identity.

I consider Richard Jenkins (1996) to be another anthropological scholar who contributed significantly to the understanding of identity. His core argument was that both individuals and collective identities could be understood using the same model of internal and external processes. He argued that social identity is a characteristic property of humans as social beings developed in the eyes of the beholder(s). This approach emphasized notions of differences and similarities in the constructions of identities. In addition, identity was viewed as actively embedded in a context of agreement and disagreement, always negotiable. The work of Jenkins, especially his emphasis on the differences and similarities of actions embedded in a context of negotiation, is essential to the research presented here and facilitates the understanding of past relationships. Pierre Bourdieu, Anthony Giddens, Michael de Certeau, and Richard Jenkins were influential in the development of many theories and subsequent critiques of many different studies that focused on particular intersections of identities. For example, Bourdieu and Giddens also influenced studies of ethnicity, as will be presented later in this chapter. The works of Jenkins and de Certeau influenced the use of practice theory in studies on gender and embodiments, among others. However, there are other researchers and research trends, such as those from feminist theory, that advanced methods and theories used in the study of ancient identities and challenged the way we think about individuals in the past.

Sex and Gender Intersections

Feminist theory has been particularly influential in gender and identity studies in archaeology. This dissertation research does not explore in depth gender differences

between individuals through time and space, as the skeletal remains are fragmented and in many instances it was not possible to estimate sex. Nonetheless, it is important to emphasize that feminist theory and gender studies have influenced archaeological and identity studies. While not all gender archaeology allied with feminism, the two have evolved symbiotically (Gilchrist 1999). Feminist research has advanced in three waves, although this classification is sometimes controversial and difficult to delimit (Geller 2008). The "first wave," roughly between 1880 and 1920, consisted of the time women achieved public emancipation and greater rights in public realms such as in politics, education, and employment (Gilchrist 1999). The "second wave," during the 1960s, focused more on personal issues of equality in relation to sexuality, reproduction, and fulfillment (Gilchrist 1999). The "third wave," and in my mind a phase very influential for archaeological identity studies trying to interpret the past, emerged over the last decade. This "third wave" embraced elements of postmodern thought and centered more on cultural and symbolic approaches, with an interest in understanding differences between men and women (Gilchrist 1999). The work of Michel Foucault greatly influenced this "third wave," sometimes referred to as postmodernist feminism. Particularly influential were the ideas that each human agent draws meaning and experience from competing, multiple discourses over a lifetime, and the rejection of ideas of universal laws of human experience and cultural relativism. These changes promoted examining and evaluating differences between individuals and social groups, and were especially important in identity studies in archaeology. The influence of feminist theory greatly advanced our understanding of gender differences in ancient populations.

Influenced by neo-evolutionary theory, previous studies in gender differences discussed single issues of identity from rigid binomial categorization, such as male vs. female, and sometimes using uncritical gender distinctions based on outdated Western generalizations of identity. For example, David Clarke (1972) proposed gender divisions in the site layout from his work at an Iron Age Glastonbury settlement. In his approach, he correlated size of structures and associated artifacts with gender differences. He attributed larger houses to areas of male activity and smaller houses to areas of female

activity. These conclusions could be accurate, but he does not base his assumptions on ethnographic models or solid archaeological evidence, instead using Western generalizations and predisposed ideas of gender roles.

One of the first feminist critiques of these types of studies was Archaeology and the Study of Gender by Conkey and Spector (1984). This milestone publication discussed androcentrism and the use of gender stereotypes. Conkey and Spector (1984) provided background information on feminist studies and proposed a new archaeological approach to the study of gender that broke "methodological barriers" to reevaluate assumptions in light of feminist research. The approach promoted gender-inclusive models, questioned universal ideas of gender roles, and questioned how specific activities are valued in developing a critical theory to study the past (Gilchrist 1999). Since the 1980s, there has been greater concern for visibility of women in the past and for understanding gender differences between women and men. In *Engendering Archaeology*, edited by Gero and Conkey (1991), researchers continued to problematize underlying assumptions about gender differences and associations to particular types of artifacts and features. These underlying assumptions about gender roles influenced how archaeologists studied the past and allowed for movement away from uncritical preconceptions. For example, the work by Watson and Kennedy (1991), using ethnographic information and archaeological evidence, proposed that women domesticated plants through their activities in plant processing, disturbing soils, and introducing seeds. Their conclusions question fundamental assumptions based on androcentric ideas on the emergence of horticulture in the eastern United Sates. Part of the feminist critiques suggested moving away from broader cross-cultural generalizations and adopting a definition of gender centered on the population under study. Feminist studies continue to influence studies about the past.

More recently, research continued discussing differences between biological sex and the cultural construction of gender in more contextualized manners (e.g., Arnold 2002; Geller 2005, 2008, 2009; Hollimon 2001, 2011; Sørensen 2000; Stockett 2005; Stone and Walrath 2006). Arnold (2002), for example, commented on distinctions between gender and sex in mortuary practices. She favored maintaining the distinction between the two while viewing sex and gender as part of an interconnected continuum rather than a distinct pair of binary opposites. Geller (2008), specifically focusing on bioarchaeological research, correlated important ideas derived from feminist inspired scholars, biomedicine, and bioarchaeology to gain a comprehension of sex through time. She promoted the contextualization of bodies from the larger archaeological setting. Geller (2008) suggested that bioarchaeologists should tap into the sizable body of feminist-inspired theory, a critique that I share. Within studies of gender differences in archaeology, the body itself began to gain center stage and studies of embodiment began to appear.

Researchers influenced by queer and embodiment theory have explored the production of gender by examining the life experiences of individuals inferred by the analysis of archaeological materials. Embodiment is how the physical body is shaped. The study of embodiment explores the human subject and the production of materialized actions and discourse (Joyce 2001a, 2001b, 2002). Several researchers juxtaposed identity and embodiment using a variety of data from the archaeological record (Fisher and Loren 2003; Joyce 2000, 2001a, 2005; Lee 2000; Meskell 1999; Meskell and Joyce 2003). Other researchers explored embodiment by analyzing variability in material culture and osteological studies of human remains (e.g., Fisher and Loren 2003; Joyce 2001b, 2002, 2005, 2008; Meskell 1996; Perry and Joyce 2001). Joyce used embodiment as an analytical tool in several very interesting papers (2001a, 2001b, 2002) inspired by Judith Butler's theoretical framework. Joyce examined gender constructions within Classic period Maya and other Mesoamerican populations.

Judith Butler (1990, 1993), one of the central figures questioning the notions of sex and gender as analytical categories, is an important philosopher, feminist, and queer theoretician. Her work is influenced by figures such as Jacque Lacan, John Searle, and Michel Foucault. She has influenced the work of several archaeologists (e.g., Joyce 2001a, 2001b, 2002, 2005, 2008; Perry 2004; Perry and Joyce 2001). Among the most important debates that influenced archaeological thought is Butler's discussion of the uses and constructions of fixed categories of gender and sex and the concept of performativity. Perfomative behavior is not a singular act performed through the voluntary will or creativity of an individual, but is rather a citation of iterable, regulatory norms which have binding power (Butler 1993). Butler suggests that these behaviors are continually created and recreated by our daily acts. Performing these acts creates the social reality in which we live, but this reality is still a social construction. One way in which she explored these performative acts was by deconstructing the use of fixed categories of gender and sex and by exploring what aspects of these terms are considered "biological." Some authors commented on the practical problems of questioning the construction of sex, particularly when used for the estimation of sex on human remains (e.g., Sofaer 2006). It is impractical and perhaps erroneous to completely ignore "biological" data when interpreting the past, but these data should be evaluated within a particular culture. Nonetheless, Butler's work on performativity has been influential in this research as has allowed me to explore repetitive practices and citations inferred from the archaeological record, particularly in exploring particular funeral customs, such as inhumations from 2100 B.C. to A.D. 475 in the Tucson Basin (as ilustrated on Appendix A).

Moving away from Butler's work, Perry (2004), for example, explored embodiment and sexual division of labor in the Greater Southwest. She used archaeologically and ethnographically documented sex-based differences in habitual labor and juxtaposed them with muscular-skeletal stress markers inferred in the human remains. She successfully explored relationships between operations of social power in the construction of sex, gender, and status in the North American Southwest. Sofaer (2006) also centered on the physical body in the book *The Body as Material Culture*. In this book, she proposed to view human remains as material culture and historical phenomena in order to bridge osteological studies and social theory. Her approach emphasizes that analytically the body should be conceptualized as the union between the biological body and the material body and both are social constructed. She proposed to analyze the body as material culture. Her view is interesting, but care is needed when evaluating the distinction between the biological body and the material body, in order to avoid ignoring biological realities that clearly influence the way bodies are treated and
were perceived in the past by ancient populations. These distinctions should be evaluated case by case and in a contextual manner, without assuming that they are universals.

In archaeology, studies of gender identity intersections and different overlapping spheres of social affiliation have slowly begun to replace studies in which single attributes of identity were the focus. Casella and Fowler (2005a) suggest that it is possible to employ one or many potential labels in describing the identities of an actor on two main axes. They argue that identity could be understood as multiple identities during one moment, over the span of a lifetime, or over a specific historical trajectory. Archaeologists typically explore two or three intersections of identity synchronically or diachronically. Studies often clearly differentiate gender and sex, but position gender as relationally intersected to other identities such age, class, life cycle, and life course (e.g., Gilchrist 2000; Meskell 1999, 2002; Rega 2000; Sofaer 1997a, 1997b; Sofaer Derevenski 2000). For example, Sofaer (1997b) explores the relationship between age, life course stages, and gender in the Copper Age cemetery of Tiszapolgar-Basatanya, Hungary. She suggests, through her analysis of mortuary customs, that gender roles changed throughout the life course and proposes that identifying age-related trends that differed between men and women was a way to recognize gender difference in the archaeological record. Other researchers examine gender in relationship to kinship (Brumfiel 1992; Joyce 2000b; Meskell 2002). Other examples exploring multiple intersecting identities include the interesting edited volumes by Casella and Fowler (2005b) and Díaz-Andreu et al. (2005). Studies of gender-identity intersections and different overlapping spheres of social affiliation have proven to enrich the discussion on past social relationships between groups and individuals.

The value of these types of approaches is significant. Wylie (1992, 2002) pointed out that feminist initiatives illustrated how a range of empirical and conceptual resources can be used to critically evaluate not only conventional interpretations of the past but also how our own assumptions inform our interpretations. However, these approaches have not been without their critiques. For example, Tiesler (2012), commenting on studies by Meskell and Joyce (2003) and Sofaer (2006), considered the datasets insufficient to

properly evaluate the interpretations. These types of critiques are important, and adequate datasets are necessary to properly infer and interpret social practices in the past.

Aging, Life Course, and Life Cycle

Interest in observing gender differences and documenting the roles of women in the past influenced the study of other specific intersections of identity in archaeology, such as those related to aging and children. Archaeological studies on aging and children in particular began to gain populatiry after the 1970s. The role of children's play in the possible displacement of artifacts has been addressed by authors such as Hammond and Hammond (1981) and Sutro (1991). Lillehamer (1989) discussed classification problems and limitations in terms of visibility for distinguishing children in the archaeological record. She also proposed an approch which concentrated on exploring the relationship of children to their enviroment and to the adult world. Edited volumes, such as those by Morre and Scott (1997), and Sofaer Derevenski (2000), also influenced the study of children in ancient populations. The primary interest of these volumes was recontructing the materiality of children's lives, socialization, and learning.

Sofaer (1994; Sofaer Derevenski 2000) commented on the lack of research on children and their attributes in archaeological studies. One reason is that children exist only in relation to concepts of *adults, maturity,* and western notions of compartmentalisation of the human life cycle (Sofaer 1994; Sofaer Derevenski 2000). She suggested that in order to access children in the past it is useful to examine the intersections of age, gender, and status (Sofaer 1994; Sofaer Derevenski 2000). Sofaer mentions that by studying children in the past, access can be gained to understanding how gender is aquired throughout life as chidlren are the learners and practitioners of gender (Sofaer 1994, 1997; Sofaer Derevenski 2000). This approach is fine and very useful; however, centering only on chidren as a way to understand adults does not allow for understanding children in their own sense. Children can be perceived in these types of studies as passive agents or even passive appendages to women, a critique pointed out by researchers such as Lillehammer (2000), Wilkei (2000), and Lewis (2006), which I share.

Another important work entitled *The Archaeology of Childhood: Children*, *Gender, and Material Culture* is by Baxter (2005). This book aimed to recognize and problematize the study of childhood in the archaeological record. The work employed the concepts of socialization and gender in order to understand the relationship between ontological and social development. Baxter noted that the definition of childhood varied among cultures, and that members of each culture hold a unique set of expectations for the roles and behaviors appropriate during childhood. She stated that the notion of childhood is usually perceived as a dualism between nature and nurture and is often related to age-change categories. Baxter (2005) suggested that one could not study childhood as a *tabula rasa*, nor as simply part of a stage in a human life cycle. The study of children needs to be more contextualized and culturally specific in order to center on the children themselves and not as future adults.

Other studies, such as the innovative study by Crown (1999), explored craft production by children using knowledge of the psychology of development as a way to distinguish between child and novice artisans. Researchers also identified children using measurements of fingerprints left on material culture, such as ceramic containers (Kamp 1998; Kamp et al. 1999; Stinson 2004). A critical approach is necessary when defining children using the body as a universal development phenomenon, as specific cultural notions of "children" could be ignored. This critical approach is necessary in order to avoid uncontextualized interpretations of the past (Baxter 2005; Joyce 2000; Joyce and Claassen 1997; Kamp 2001; Lucy 2005a; Sofaer 2011). It is also important to recognize developmental and biological phenomena, as they are important and affect how children related to the world and were treated by others. However, archaeological studies on aging expanded through time and have explored the growth and development in many different ways.

Researchers within aging studies have also use life cycle approaches, and these types of research have moved beyond children to analyzing individuals throughout their

life couses (Appleby 2010, 2011; Gilchrist 2004; Meskell 1999, 2000). Approaches to studying past life course and life cycle are different; however, their distinctions are not always very clear (e.g., Gilchrist 2000). Studies of life course center on stages of an individual's development (e.g. childhood, adulthood, old age). On the other hand, life cycle studies attempt to understand human life as a continuum (Gilchrist 2004). In a similar vein of studies on life cycle but focusing on an individual level, the osteobiographic approach originally proposed within physical anthropology has also been used. Reconstructing individual identity in physical anthropology has a long tradition, probably influenced by the rise of forensic anthropology as a subdiscipline.

Reconstructing individual identity in past populations is apparent in the works of Frank Saul (1972) and Frank and Julie Saul (1991). In these works, Frank and Julie Saul introduce the term *osteobiography* inspired by methods for positive identification used in forensic anthropology. In this approach, the main goal is to identify an individual by reconstructing the biological profile of human remains through the estimation of age at death, sex, stature, and pathological conditions, among others. This approach centers on the individual and is mainly methodological, with minimum theoretical engagement. Several researchers in bioarchaeology explored single issues of identity using the osteobiography approach; however, it was not until recently that this approach engaged theoretical developments within archaeology (Goldstein 2006). Studies on identity, disability, disease and care are among those that have been more engaged in the social implications of a particular identity (e.g., Hawkey 1998; Knüsel 1999; Mollenson 1999; Roberts 1999; Tilley and Oxenham 2011). These studies seek to understand the reaction of both the individual and society (Buikstra and Scott 2009). For example, Hawkey (1998) used the osteobiography approach to examine an adult male from the Gran Quivira Pueblo, New Mexico. She discussed how this male had a debilitating disease that began in childhood and lasted until death in his middle adult age, and how due to the severity of his condition he was dependent on at least one group member for his wellbeing throughout his life. Her study diverged from the original osteobiography approach

by being more engaged in the social implications of this individual's particular identity and interaction(s) within the community.

Along a similar theoretical line and building on the work of the Sauls (1972; Saul and Saul 1989) and Hawkey (1998), John Robb (2002) proposed the use of the term osteobiography as a cultural narrative. Similar but more explicit than previous studies, Robb (2002) suggested that through the study of human skeletons as biographies and cultural narratives one could understand past life events and the history of human remains after death. He illustrated his approach with a case study of an individual from the Neolithic village of Catignano in the lowlands of Abruzzi, Italy. He suggested that a "cultural osteology" must carefully evaluate the relationship between biology and culture in these interpretations. For example, Robb (2002) stated that we cannot draw direct connections between age, cultural status, and paleopathology, and similarly we cannot draw direct connections between sex and gender. We cannot assume that there was a relationship between these biological phenomena and their cultural expressions. A middle ground is necessary in which biological processes are recognized but contrasted with contextual cultural interpretations without rigidly dictating the way they were understood in the past (Robb 2002).

Most recently within bioarchaeology, an edited volume by Stodder and Palkovish (2012), *The Bioarchaeology of Individuals*, emphasizes the osteobiography approach as a methodological and theoretical tool. However, the original ideas of the Sauls (especially Saul 1972; Saul and Saul 1989) were the main influence on contributors to this book. Interestingly, none of the seventeen contributions in the volume of Stodder and Palkovish (2012) cited the work of Robb (2002). Nonetheless, this volume presents different case studies that described the biographies of individuals throughout their life by careful examination of the human remains and archaeological contexts.

Archaeological studies of life cycles focusing on a population level began to be promoted by researchers such as Stoodley (1997, 2000), Meskell (1999; 2000), Gowland (2006; 2002), and Gilchrist (2004), among others. Stoodley (1997, 2000), studying early Anglo-Saxon burial rites in England, correlated burial objects, age at death, sex, and

burial rites to understand social life cycles. Stoodley (1997) used osteological and DNA analysis to determine an individual's sex, although his methods are not described in detail. Meskell (1999; 2000) for example, explored narratives of life experiences from pregnancy to death from the New Kingdom village of Deir el Medina (c. 1500-1100 BC), in Egypt. Other studies explored childhood transitions through time by using burial location and presence of burial objects of Romano-British children from Hampshire (Gowland 2001, 2002, 2006). However, other age categories such as adolescents are still understudied and require similar levels of attention (Gilchrist 2004). Some studies on aging suggested that we should avoid the use of age categories in order to avoid imposing our own perceptions of important age, social, or developmental transitions (e.g., Baxter 2005, 2008; Gowland 2006). Other research has drawn parallels between children and the archaeology of gender to understand cultural constructions of children in different ways (e.g., Ardren 2006; Baker 1997; Baxter 2005, 2008; Joyce 2000; Kamp 2001, 2006; Rothschild 2002). In these studies, aging was not simply a biological process; aging was a cultural construct characterized by different forms of knowledge, social roles, and symbolic meanings (Baxter 2008; Buikstra and Scott 2009). Research using intersections between different ages and gender also has been popular and promises to be an area of great growth in the near future (e.g., Arnold and Wicker 2001; Babić 2005; Baxter 2008; Díaz-Andreu et al. 2005; Geller 2008; Joyce 2008; Sofaer Derevenski 2000; Sofaer 2011; Sørensen 2000).

Ethnicity Identity Intersections

Ethnicity is another single identity attribute studied for a long time in archaeology. Ethnicity is defined as the feeling of social belonging based on culturally constructed notions of shared origins, and other types of communal identity, such as those based on territory (Lucy 2005b). However, only relatively recently have archaeological studies examined ethnicity in a fluid and changeable manner. Earlier archaeological studies mainly based group identification on studies of material culture

and conceived of groups as sharing biological affinity, a language, and/or a whole suite of material culture (Lucy 2005b). Gordon Childe for example stated that a culture could be identified by the presence of certain types of remains such as pots, ornaments, and implements, and subsequently "people" could be identified by studying these types of material culture (Jones 1997). In doing this, he establishes the basis for the idea that a limited number of "diagnostic" features could identify the presence of distinct "people" in the landscape. Childe also pointed out that culture defined the "people" but that the "people" forming a culture would not necessarily speak the same language, act as a political unit or were related (Childe 1951). During the 1960s, researchers such as Binford (1965; 1962) and Clarke (1968) questioned normative concepts of culture as a simple reflection of norms and suggested that culture constituted cultural processes. However, there was a lack of interest in ethnicity as archaeological research during this period (Lucy2005b), with the exception of a few examples such as the debate between Binford (1973) and Bordes (1973) on Mousterian "facies" (Lucy 2005b). Bordes (1973) identified several Mousterian facies (stylistic groups) and attributed them to different human groups or ethnic groups. On the other hand, Binford (1973) interpreted the Mousterian facies as representing functionally different occupations within the same group. The emphasis in these types of research, however, was on socio-economic factors such as subsistence strategies rather than ethnicity. Despite these developments, some more recent processual and post-processual research still assumes the existence of homogeneous bounded societies or socio-cultural entities, which are correlated to ethnic entities (Jones 1997). Wider debates within anthropology followed the works of Bourdieu (1977, 1990), Richard Jenkins (1996), and Barth (1969). The work by Frederick Barth has been particularly influential in archeological studies of ethnicity.

Frederick Barth's (1969) *Ethnic Groups and Boundaries* questioned the processes involved in generating and maintaining ethnic groups, and how material culture differences related to group identity. This seminal work is probably one of the most cited references in ethnicity studies (Rowlands 1998). Barth suggested that ethnic groups and cultural units are not the same, and that the study of ethnic groups primarily should focus on how ethnic boundaries are constructed and maintained. Several subsequent authors have suggested that the use of material culture was one way in which groups created, contested, and recreated their own cultural identity (Hodder 1978, 1982a, 1982b, 1982c; Shennan 1978; Ucko 1969). However, many critiques are directed at studies that analyzed material culture as "text" that directly reflects ethnic groups, without questioning underlying theoretical assumptions adopted by the researchers (Lucy 2005b). One example of this type of study in which material culture is used as "text" is the work by Sackett (1970, 1990). Sackett suggested that style and decorative aspects of material culture were passive aspects of artifacts intended to communicate group identity. However, he did not consider the different processes of manufacture or production nor the contexts in which the objects were used (Lucy 2005b).

Throughout the 1970s and 1980s, researchers accepted the idea of culture as a multivariable phenomenon that could result from several different factors and tested this idea through spatial and statistical analyses (e.g., Hodder and Orton 1976; Shennan 1988). Other researchers also began to question fundamental assumptions of archaeological studies of ethnicity. An example of this type of work is the volume edited by Shennan (1989), *Archaeological Approaches to Cultural Identity*. Contributions to this volume questioned what material culture tells us about social groups as well as the fundamental assumptions about the relationship between social and biological entities and group affiliation. For example, DeCorse (1989) studied three groups from Sierra Leone in Africa to explore relationships between material culture and group affiliation. He found that material culture patterns provided only limited indications of division among the three groups and that different social groups shared similar material culture.

In the 1990s and more recently, research themes have centered on correlating material culture differences with different ethnic groups by considering all the stages of production, or the *chaîne opératoire*, rather than just looking at static aspects and the object's final form (e.g., Conkey 1990; Díaz-Andreu 1998; Dietler and Herbich 1998; Edmonds 1990; Lemonnier 1993; Lucy 2005b). Díaz-Andreu (1998), for example, examined the use of Llíria pottery, considered diagnostic of the Iron Age Edetanian

territory. However, she found that Llíria pottery is highly associated with male elites and only used for a limited time span. Studying this pottery type in context revealed it was not just an ethnic indicator, but rather that its usage was more complex. Stone's work (2003) is more recent but followed a contextual analysis similar to that of Díaz-Andreu (1998) by employing different stages of material culture production. Her work was influenced by theoretical frameworks from Barth, Bourdieu, Jones, and Giddens, and explored social identity and ethnic interaction in the Western Pueblos of Arizona in a dynamic way. She used multiple lines of evidence derived from isochrestic styles and technology in architecture and utilitarian ceramic production at the Grasshopper Pueblo and Point of Pines sites and within the Silver Creek area. Her research focused on evaluating the nature of social interactions between migrants and indigenous populations, and she concluded that these differed between sites. In some areas, ethnicity was emphasized, in other areas ethnicity was de-emphasized, while in still other areas it was completely ignored.

As mentioned earlier, the landmark publication on the archaeology of ethnicity by Jones (1997), *The Archaeology of Ethnicity*, was particularly influential on Stone, among other researchers. In this publication, Jones argued that the construction of ethnicity is grounded in the shared subliminal disposition of social agents, which shape and at the same time are shaped by their commonalities in practices, or *habitus*, using the concept of Bourdieu. However, she suggested that *habitus* and ethnicity are not congruent. Different from *habitus*, ethnic identification involves an objectification of cultural practices in the recognition and signification of differences in opposition to others. Jones (1997), commenting on the works of Hodder (1979) and Kimes et al. (1982), suggested that only a few archaeologists questioned the very existence of ethnic groups as monolithic territorial entities and bounded units.

There are many interesting ways in which archaeologists and bioarchaeologists have studied ethnicity through time, such as examining mortuary customs, material culture, body modifications, diet, and biological ancestry. In Beck's edited volume, *Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis* (1995a), contributors such as O'Shea (1995), Fisher (1995), and Beck (1995b) centered on the study of identities and boundaries. They focused upon representations of specific burial customs at multiple sites across single regions and the determination of cultural boundaries. Beck (1995b), influenced by the works of Goodenough on *social persona* and Barth (1969) on distinguishing ethnic boundaries, studied Copena burials along the Tennessee River and its tributaries. She examined these burials at a regional level and found differences in burial assemblages, biological data, and locations. Beck (1995b) also found that similarities in the divisions of groups based on material culture and site structure suggested that multiple community groups participated in a broader regional mortuary cult. Rowlands (1998) examined changes in textile, clothing ornaments, and burial customs in northern Germany from the early to middle Bronze Age. In the early Bronze Age he found great similarities in burial customs and ornaments, while in the middle Bronze Age there were much clearer distinctions and the development of regional divergence probably caused by trade and movement of people on the landscape.

In a very interesting study, Chesson (1999) examined ethnographic studies in conjunction with archaeological data to investigate patterns of material culture, skeletal remains, and built environments. She did this to reconstruct social organization of the early urban community of Bad edh-Dhra' in the Early Bronze Age Levant. Using ideas from Weiner (1976), she discussed the occurrence of social negotiation as well as the display and negotiation of both individual and group identity in the creation of both primary and secondary mortuary rituals. Another example is the work by Megoni (2010) who, working within the theoretical framework of Barth (1969), explored identity formation in three cemeteries in Baoxing, Sichuan province, China. She analyzed the integration of non-local elements in grave goods, differences in burial structures, and mixed patterns in funeral customs.

A significant and important area of research correlates cultural body modification patterns with ethnic identity in an interesting way (e.g., Blom 2005; Torres-Rouff 2002). For example, Blom (2005) studied regional differences in patterns of cranial modification in Tiwanaku society. She found that populations in the Miquegua valley of southern Peru employed fronto-occipital cranial modification while populations in the Katari valley practiced annular cranial modification on a more regular basis. Her results indicated that diverse groups were drawn to the Tiwanaku capital and that cranial shape modification defined symbolic boundaries of the geographical area. Recent studies employed multiple lines of evidence and intersections to analyze ethnicity. Some studies explored intersections of ethnicity with landscape, architecture, and/or migration (e.g., Bender 2001; Blake 1999; Laviolette 2003; Owoc 2005; Wallis 2008).

Food consumption and preparation were other attributes used as signals of ethnic differences, again employing multiple lines of evidence and a variety of archaeological materials and methods, including isotope studies and zooarchaeological analysis (e.g., Barrett et al. 2001; Crabtree 1990; Knudson and Blom 2009; Montgomery and Evans 2006; Sutter 2009; White et al. 2009). For example, Montgomery and Evans (2006) used multiple lines of evidence to explore patterns relating funerary customs with isotopic signatures in order to discuss differences among immigrants from the Outer Hebrides of Scotland. They questioned whether "the 'hard' geological evidence [is] more reliable than the archaeological, given the fluid nature of human ethnicity, belief and culture, or is it also subject to uncertainties and unknowns in how it is manifested itself in the human tissue" (Montgomery and Evans 2006:122). In this work, they successfully problematized differences between the isotopic and archaeological results without automatically equating both results and were able to identify migrants through time in the Outer Hebrides. Other researchers, such as Stojanowski (2005, 2009), Nystrom (2009), Zakrzewski (2011), and Sutter (2009) integrated ethnicity and ethnogenesis in theoretical discussions with archaeological data, biodistance, and/or craneometry data. Zakrzewski (2011), using multiple lines of evidence from mortuary customs, strontium isotopes, and metric and nonmetric skeletal traits, explored ethnic identity among the medieval Islamic population of Écija, Andalucía. She concluded that ethnic identity among the population of Écija comprised intersections of religion, age, sex, and ethnicity allowing for new insights on within group variations. Studies that analyzed human remains within critical theoretical frameworks to understand social processes and identity formation proved to

have great insights into past ethnicities. Research that used multiple intersections of identity and multiple lines of evidence showed the greatest interpretative power and promise for future understanding of the complex ways in which past ethnicities can be studied.

New Directions in Identity(ies) Research

Archaeological approaches to identity have broadened considerably in the past decade. They have moved beyond single attributes of identity to investigate the multiple and overlapping ways in which identity was constructed in the past. These new ways for exploring multiple intersections of identity and its various relationships have proven to be more informative and useful than looking at single attributes. I agree with Meskell (2001a), among other researchers, who noted that concentrating on a single issue such as ethnicity or gender, without interpreting it along other axes of identity, is too simplistic and narrow. By using these new approaches, individual identities are better defined and consideration is given to the multiple ways in which identities can be formed, reformulated, and transformed within particular social practices and through time. Social actors belong to multiple identity groups at any moment in their lives (Casella and Fowler 2005a). These are new and innovative discussions in archaeological research that bring a balance between agency and structure, where emphases are on notions of actions and relationships that move toward broader spheres of interpretation. Individuals can be interpreted by the way they participate at different levels and scales in society and by looking at repetitive and innovative actions (Joyce and Lopiparo 2005; Pauketat and Alt 2005).

This review emphasizes research that breaks rigid boundaries and deconstructs classifications of previous identity studies in archaeology. However, the "usefulness" of viewing identities as fixed "hard" categories, as opposed to more "soft constructions" or fluid sets of identifications open to re-evaluation and reflexivity, has long been a topic of debate and still lacks consensus (Brubaker and Cooper 2000; Meskell and Pruecel 2006).

Meskell and Pruecel (2006) suggest that we should view past identities through the practices that occurred. Archaeological studies on identity have grown considerably over time and the new directions taken in many studies are exciting and promising. Studies of intersections between social memory and identity have gained popularity and are now a major theme in mortuary studies (Joyce 2001a; Knudson and Stojanowski 2008; Kuijt 2001; Meskell 2001b; Peleg 2002; Williams 2005). The integration of subdisciplinary research and approaches between archaeologists and bioarchaeologists is a specific direction that I consider one of the most exciting.

The integration of archaeological and bioarchaeological studies to address past identities is not a new trend and has been strongly promoted since the 1970s by Jane Buikstra (1977, 1991). The edited volume *Bioarchaeology and Identity in the Americas* (Knudson and Stojanowski 2008) is a clear example of the integration of bioarchaeology and identity theories in the study of past populations. This volume included the use of historical and archaeological data in conjunction with population genetic analysis, biogeochemical analysis of human remains, and analysis of bone modifications to understand the integration of both multiple individual identities and community identity. One contribution to this volume addressed particular intersections of identity using multiple lines of evidence from bioarchaeological research (Knudson and Stojanowski 2008). Additional research on more specific attributes of identity and bioarchaeology include the publication of Stojanowski (2005), and chapters by Hollimon (2011) and Roberts (2011) in the edited volume Social Bioarchaeology. Using multiple lines of evidence, these authors addressed specific aspects of identity such as sex, gender, ethnicity, and disability. Contributions to the volume Social Bioarchaeology and publications previously discussed in this chapter illustrate the importance of analyzing different aspects of identity at multiple spatial and social scales as well as the importance of using clearly defined terms. Furthermore, these types of work emphasize the interpretation of past social practices within their contexts without ignoring biological attributes that also influenced how people behaved and were treated and perceived by others.

General Overview of Personhood Studies

There is a general lack of concern in the definition and characterization of individuals or agents in archaeology (Dobres and Robb 2000: 8-9). Agents are too often portrayed as self-interested, rational, and pragmatic (Gillespie 2001; Ortner 1984; Robb and Dobres 2000). Joyce and Lopiparo (2005: 367), specifically commenting on the work of Clark (2000), mentioned that researchers "have posited a class of super-agents who act as if provided with perfect knowledge and unfettered self-centered intentions, the hyperactive agents are self-diagnosed and auto-critiqued." These authors noted that this perspective derived from evolutionary ecology and Darwinian archaeology, narrowly focused on rationality, and assumed that the motivation was universally dominant for all actions. Many past societies were not individualistic and were more socio-centric, meaning the web of social relationships connected to a person constituted a significant portion of their individual identity (Brück 2006a, 2006b; Gillespie 2001; Meskell 2001a; Meskell and Pruecel 2006; Williams 2004). With these observations in mind, it is important to recognize that there exist alternative and variable conceptions of what constitutes personhood among different cultures, both in the past and at present. These observations require problematizing the concept of *person* with various researchers suggesting that persons are formed only through complex relationships (Douglas and Ney 1998; Fowler 2010). Determining what constituted a social person in the past is fundamental to any investigation of past identity(ies). It also is important to note that identity and personhood are not the same; some aspect or quality may become an identity marker, however, it does not mean that it therefore denotes a person (Fowler 2010). Following these observations and critiques, this research employs the notion of *personhood* or *person*, which is concerned with the construction of diagnostic or indexical relationships and linking people in a society to elucidate the portrayal of individuals in the past.

Marcel Mauss in the early part of the 20th century was one of the first anthropologists to question and problematize the notion of *person* or *self*. Mauss (1985) worked with data from many native groups across the world, including the Zuni; Native Americans from the Northwestern United States, such as the Kwakiutl; and several Native Australian groups, such as the Arunta, the Loritja, and the Kakadu. From this cross-cultural work, he suggested that frames of reference for personhood changed through time and space. Fowler (2010) emphasized that Mauss' work was not simplistic and argued that the terms of reference for personhood varied, as did the formulation and experience of being a person, according to distinct cultural ideologies. Fortes (1987) used the notion of *personhood* proposed by Mauss in his ethnographic work with the Tallensi. Fortes (1987) found that within this group individuals fully achieved personhood only at completion of the life cycle, e.g., maturation, marriage, procreation, death, and concomitant conversion into an ancestor. However, personhood was not conferred to all individuals. Personhood also was not exclusively conferred to humans, but sometimes also extended to special animals, such as crocodiles, used in rituals. Fortes (1987) also suggested that personhood among the Tallensi was also negotiated and dependent upon social relationships and in light of specific moral codes. This idea suggests that personhood is a social category, that it is inherently dynamic and relational, and that it only takes on meaning through the enactment of relationships.

Concern with the relational aspects of personhood is not new and goes back to the 1980s (e.g., Daniel 1984; Marriott 1976; Strathern 1988). Social anthropologists, such as McKim Marriot (1976), and in more recent years Debbora Battaglia (1983, 1990, 1995), Marilyn Strathern (1996; 1988, 1999), Grace Harris (1989), Nurit Bird-David (1993, 1999), and Bird-David and Israeli (2010), among others, explored the notion of *personhood*. In some of these works, they used the notions of *dividual* versus *individual* to argue that individuals rather than being indivisible units were composed of transferable substances or relations. For example, Harris (1989) defined person and personhood in terms of the possession of agency and social recognition (Buikstra and Scott 2009). She further defined the self as a locus of experiences, or "psychologistic," and the individual

as a single human being, or "biologistic" (Buikstra and Scott 2009). Buikstra and Scott (2009) mentioned that Harris' definition of personhood extended to deceased individuals treated as an "agent-in-society." Ancestors, deities, nonhuman animals, and objects considered inanimate may also be persons if their actions affect human lives. Marilyn Strathern (1988, 1999) suggested that individuals are a specified form of personhood derived from specific sets of relationships, beliefs, practices, and experiences. In addition, they are influenced by exchange, kinship and other economic concerns that produce personal experiences. These persons are dividuals and "they are separable into particular parts, relations, flows or elements" (Fowler 2001: 139). This implies that cognition, self-awareness, and autonomy are not prerequisites for personhood.

Conklin and Morgan (1996: 658) argued that "personhood is a social category that is inherently dynamic; people invoke certain ideas about how persons are constituted to legitimize their actions and position themselves in relation to others." Conklin and Morgan (1996: 659) also mentioned that in anthropological literature, Western *individualism* has often been described as *egocentric*, differentiated, bounded, and autonomous. This contrasts with non-Western persons that are described as *sociocentric* or less individuated, less autonomous, and more interdependent or relational (Glaskin 2012; Spiro 1993). Conklin and Morgan (1996) argued, and I concur, that the terms *relationality* and *individualism* are appropriate for describing the relative value ascribed, respectively, to social ties and autonomous agency. In addition, either could be explored within the notion of self in the particular culture and time under study without preconceived ideas that non-Western cultures are going to be *de facto* sociocentric. In much of the current work on personhood, this important critique has not been considered. Fowler (2010: 368) noted that when operating in an anthropological framework we should consider individuality as an aspect of personhood that is similar to the way that being biologically female is one aspect of a person's gender. I interpret these two observations from Conklin and Morgan and Fowler to suggest that archaeologically it is necessary to ground the analysis of social practices within a specific time and context in order to explore personhood from a relational perspective.

There are many different ways that persons may be relational in a society, and material culture can play a central role in the production of personhood in individuals. In addition, personhood can be given to non-human beings such as animals, objects, places, and natural phenomena. For example, Nance Munn's *The Fame of Gawa* describes how personhood was generated among the Gawa through an intersubjective field of social *spacetime*. In addition, "bodies, along with gardens, food, shell goods, and canoes, can be seen as 'qualisigns' with certain types of value, 'that is they exhibit something other than themselves *in* themselves'" (Fowler 2010:369). This suggests that in order to evaluate what constituted personhood it is important to consider the role of material culture and human bodies as media through which personhood forms.

Fowler (2001) suggested that ethnographic research documents the significance of different spheres of agency in producing personal identity, whereas archaeology rarely engages at the same level of complexity in interpreting personhood. Nonetheless, in the last ten years archaeological research has increasingly emphasized the concept of personhood as an analytical tool for interpreting the past. These studies included research exploring relational personhood through the treatment of human remains, material object placements, and landscapes (Fowler 1999, 2001, 2004; Giles 2008; Jones 2005). Fowler (1999, 2001), working with data from the British Neolithic particularly on the Isle of Man, studied social relationships between different aspects of life, including humans, animals, objects, and places, to understand the creation of persons through activities. He considered that these social relationships presented a struggle for different kinds of ideological regulation, fictions about personal identity, and social relations. He stated that his intention was not to provide a unified interpretation or to homogenize all the different sites, as they represent distinctive local trends. I consider this distinction very important and take it as a cautionary note. He further stated that he wanted to call attention to the composition of the person as a set of social relations, and to highlight the under-studied relationships between complete bodies, body parts, animal bones, and objects. Sarah Tarlow (1999) also used the concept of *selfhood* and individual identities in the context of material culture, mortuary patterns, and life histories of named persons in her work on the Orkney Islands during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries A.D.

Gillespie (2001) has presented an insightful discussion of personhood. Based on the work of Mauss (1954), she suggested that the concept of personhood recognizes the importance of collective and individual identity and provides a critical sociocultural context for understanding relationships between groups and individuals. Similar to other researchers, she stated that personhood derived from the enactment of relationships in society, which included relationships between different individuals, groups, objects, and the living and dead, among others. These relationships should not integrate old notions of group identities or roles, but rather should be considered within a system of context or form of social actions. These relationships are open to negotiation, subversion, and transformation (Gillespie 2001). Such relationships will be apparent in social interactions, and through these interactions, the structure will be internalized. Furthermore, as people performed these actions they also reproduced and transmitted them. In this way, linkages to others in a group shaped social constructions that symbolized and denoted persons. Gillespie (2001) illustrated this well in her case study from the Classic Maya civilization, in which she evaluated mortuary events, artistic depictions, and texts from the perspective of the social collectivity to derive personhood. She suggested that the Maya corporate kin-based groups, known as *houses*, were a major source of social identities expressed in political actions and represented in mortuary customs and monumental imagery.

Jones (2005) evaluated the constitution of the person during the European Neolithic to explore the development of sedentism, agriculture, and construction of monuments. He also explored the transformations of people during these processes by considering the role that materiality played in forming social relationships. In his work, the emphasis was on social relationships and context. However, he covered an extensive geographic area (southeastern Europe, central Europe, and northwestern Europe), only briefly describing each region. The problem with this type of extensive regional analysis is that it blurs differences within each region. However, Jones's work is a good starting point for exploring the constructions of personhood in more depth by exploring variability within each region.

Other studies focused on the analysis of social relationships by considering the use of human remains, objects, and places in the past (Brück 2001, 2004, 2006a; Williams 2003). Joanna Brück (2001) reevaluated the dominant discourse on monuments, power, and their relationship with personhood in the British Neolithic. She commented on the idea that the ordering of space in British Neolithic monuments contributed to the production and maintenance of the dominant discourse. Her main critique was that the principal idea behind this interpretation was a post-enlightenment and individualistic conception of personhood. She examined this issue using a sociocentric notion of personhood in which the self is fluid and relational. Brück (2001) suggested that the application of this alternative framework to her case study provided information on a shift to a contextual conception of power relations that are more easily reconciled with the evidence from Neolithic monuments and the continuous creation and reinterpretation of spatial meaning. In another work, Brück (2006b) examined different practices of the deliberate fragmentation of human bodies and objects in Middle and Late Bronze Age Britain. She examined the productive processes of potting and metallurgy as potent metaphors for the construction of the human self, focusing on evidence from settlements and mortuary sites (Brück 2006b). She suggested, "the rise of an ideology of the 'individual' during the Bronze Age may be inappropriate in this cultural context" (Brück 2006b:297). I find both of her works useful since they examine variation in body treatment and the different ways in which these variable treatments can be interpreted using not only the concept of "bounded" bodies, but also what these treatments meant in terms of a wider set of social relations.

Chapman (2000; Chapman and Gaydarska 2007) focused on the complementary practices of fragmentation and accumulation of objects and human remains. He used, in a very novel way, the concept of personhood derived from social relationships and transactions, material objects, and landscapes to understand wider themes of exchange and consumption. This work, however, did not provide an in-depth discussion of the social significance of the relationships and transactions during the process of fragmentation. Casella and Croucher (2011) have noted that works on fragmentation and personhood led to innovative ways in which archaeologists interpret the division and breakage of objects in the past (Brück 2005; Chapman 2000). I consider this concept useful in addressing and exploring the practice of fragmentation and distribution of cremated human remains in the Preclassic Hohokam Period (Cerezo-Román 2013a, 2013b). These ideas build on those presented in Weiner's (1992) book *Inalienable Possessions: The Paradox of Keeping-White Giving*.

The book Inalienable Possessions: The Paradox of Keeping-White Giving (Weiner 1992) centered on the analysis of the norm of reciprocity, incest taboo, and women's roles in production. Weiner, originally exploring mapula or "repayments or equivalent" following ideas of Malinowski, went to the Trobriand Islands and discovered that the original ideas proposed by Malinowski were inaccurate and underdeveloped. She explored more deeply acts of reciprocity and complex transactions that they involved, and proposed the concept of *inalienable possession*. The concept of *inalienable possessions* has been used in archaeological studies, and is defined as "objects made to be kept (not exchanged), have symbolic and economic power that cannot be transferred, and are often used to authenticate the ritual authority of corporate groups" (cited in Mills 2004: 238). These types of objects are broken and circulated but retain meaning derived from their original relationship(s) where they became imbued with the intrinsic and ineffable identities of their owners (Weiner 1992). Inalienable possessions do not just control the dimension of giving, but their historicities are also retained for the future and have memories from the past (Weiner 1992). Transformation of the original objects into fragments and distribution of these fragments suggest a different way to maintain, reinforce, or form new social relations. When applied to the treatment of human remains, this transformation shifts from the personhood of the deceased as a complete bounded unit to that of part-object and part-person (Cerezo-Román b).

Living and Dead Social Relationships

One of the main postprocessual critiques (Hodder 1980, 1982a, 1982b, 1982c; Miller and Tilley 1984; Shanks and Tilley 1982; Tilley 1984) of archaeological mortuary studies is that the attitudes of the living can be observed in their attitudes toward the dead, but in an inverted, diffuse, distorted way. Therefore, we are not going to have an exact map of the living community in mortuary evidence. In addition, burials are a medium where the living negotiated and/or controlled the display of power. These critiques suggest a more active role by the mourners but diminish the role of the deceased as an individual and source of remembrance in mortuary customs (Meskell 1996; Tarlow 1999; Williams 2004). As previous bioarchaeological studies on identity and this chapter demonstrate, the dead are a very important source of relevant information for studying past identities.

The dead and the living are closely connected throughout the funeral ritual. The presence of the deceased's body in the funeral affects the decision-making process of the mourners, as documented in many societies (Bloch and Parry 1982; Hertz 1960; Malville 2005; Metcalf 1982; Metcalf and Huntington 1991; Robben 2004). These works suggest that researchers often underestimate the complex relationships between people and objects, including the mourners, the dead, material culture, and the concomitant transformation of social practices and structures (Williams 2004). In addition, based on the assumption that death in the past was seen as a biological event in which the body was preserved as a bounded unit, there is an overemphasis on the agency of the mourners. This assumption may be incorrect; many past societies held different perceptions of the body and death, including a view that the body was not necessarily a bounded unit and that it endured when an individual died (Brück 2006b; Conklin and Morgan 1996; Fowler 1999, 2001, 2004; Giles 2008; Jones 2005). This critique is analogous to those offered above with regard to *individualistic* as opposed to *sociocentric* notions of the self.

In 2004 Howard Williams presented a view, applied in this dissertation, which observed the dead as agents. Following the work of Hertz (1960), van Gennep (1960),

Metcalf (1982), Metcalf and Huntington (1991), and Robben (2004), Williams reiterated the point that death might not be seen in society as a termination event but as a transition. In this transition, the identity of the dead could be transformed but nonetheless continued to be closely connected to the living throughout the funeral ritual. In addition, the dead might influence the way(s) in which the mourners treated and buried the body. The identity of the dead and the way in which the living remembered the dead is the basis of the influence. By its presence, the body of the deceased provokes an agency that affects experiences, memories, and decision-making of the mourners and community (Chesson 2001; Tarlow 1999; Williams 2004). The way in which this agency is manifested varies, depending on the social context and culture. The deceased could leave instructions for the living concerning their treatment in death. In mortuary customs, the dead may also have a direct perceived influence via dreams, or visions, or in other forms. The mourners can be acting as agents for the dead by spirit possession or just by acting on behalf of the dead person. In all these occasions, the deceased have agency and retain an active role, through the living, in directing the form and character of the mortuary customs. This suggests that the physicality and materiality of the deceased and associated objects, structures, and places where the dead are disposed can be seen as extensions of the personhood of the dead that affect the remembrance of the deceased by actions of the mourners and society.

Elizabeth Hallam and Jennifer Hockey (2001) were also influenced by Howard Williams' (2004) agency approach to the living and the dead. Following Alfred Gell, Hallam and Hockey theorized the nature of the deceased as both person and object, and suggested the incorporation of the agency of art and artifacts. Although Williams notes that the use of this approach in the study of objects is still under debate, he believes that it has value for understanding the special role of the corpse as both person and object. The dead body has social agency through its relationship with associated artifacts, monuments, places, and the living.

The above perspective is especially interesting because the study of skeletal remains, mortuary customs, and posthumous treatments of the body can be integrated to understand how different aspects of personhood and identity are portrayed, emphasized,

and contested throughout the different stages of ancient funeral customs. The study of skeletal remains can be a valuable source of information for studies of identity and personhood. Data analysis can reveal whether the remains were female or male, estimate age at death, and examine the state of health and evidence for disease. In addition, as previously noted, mortuary research can address other intersections of identity such as ethnicity and group affiliation. Furthermore, it can contribute to the study of biological relationships between individuals and residential patterns through the study, for example, of epigenetic traits and strontium isotope applications. In addition, such studies can provide information on nutrition and diet. Studying the treatment and biological profile of skeletal remains can contextualize the notion of person. The body as an object can be contextualized by reconstructing the treatment the individual received in death from the mourners and community. As Buikstra (1977) proposes, the dead body and the context are intrinsically connected and should not be studied separately. Mortuary customs, mortuary objects, body position in the landscape, and positioning of the burial with respect to other internments all reflect the importance of the relationships and aspects of social identity.

This approach can contextualize the nexus of social relationships, objects, and exchanges in which personhood and remembrance are distributed and constituted. However, these elements vary between groups, through time, and through different stages of the funeral custom. In some groups, the agency of the dead contributed to the management and control of the body, such as allowing putrefaction, trying to prevent it, as in cases of artificial mummification, or not permitting it at all, as in cases of cremation (e.g., Rakita and Buikstra 2005b). In other instances, the agency of the dead contributes to the type of objects placed in burials that reflect constructions of the person based on past relationships, for example personal possessions of the deceased, ritual objects, or gifts from mourners or others. As part of the mortuary customs the person also is constructed symbolically by relationships and linkages expressed in the practices of the mourners and the group in which they lived. The deceased, the mourners, and the group all hold agency in these interactions. In identity studies of past populations, it is important to not over-emphasize single approaches, such as the mortuary treatment or the analysis of the body, but to integrate analyses with other types of evidence, such as intentional deposits, technological production, and uses of space and landscape. Authors such as Brück (2006b) illustrate the importance of not limiting the study of mortuary customs to the remains and mortuary treatment but to also include other types of deposits in order to generate a more integrated perspective in the study of past societies and identities.

Mortuary Customs in the Southwest: Previous Studies, Review, and Critiques

Social organization was one of the primary concerns of Southwestern archaeological research from the 1960s through the latter part of the twentieth century (e.g., Hill 1970; Lightfoot and Upham 1989; Longacre 1970; McGuire and Saitta 1996). This interest was also reflected in the study of mortuary customs in the region (Goldstein 2001). Such studies largely centered on examining stratification and ranking with a strong emphasis on the analysis of mortuary goods. Goldstein's important critique (2001) mainly addressed contributions in an edited volume by Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley (2001a; hereafter M-BH), but her point extends to most Southwestern mortuary studies. Themes covered in the M-BH volume included ideology and power (McGuire 2001), social organization (Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001b; Whittlesey and Reid 2001), morbidity and mortality (Sheridan 2001), and inequality as indicated by a study of trauma (Martin and Akins 2001). Goldstein noted that research in the Southwest has a general tendency to focus on past social complexity, as well as themes within biological anthropology, such as warfare and cannibalism.

Studies published in the M-BH volume reflect the authors' biases in that they attempt to fit their work into processual frameworks of mortuary studies centered on rank and status (Goldstein 2001). When these models did not fit the categories of ranked societies, there was a tendency to present the societies as egalitarian. These authors found differences between groups of people at individual sites, but did not adequately explain what the differences represented. Goldstein (2001) noted, and I agree, that McGuire

(2001), Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley (2001b), Whittlesey and Reid (2001), and Martin and Akins (2001) went beyond these classical studies of social organization; their works focused more attention on ritual and symbolic behavior. However, their scope was still too narrow when compared with the contemporary state of theory in mortuary customs studies. There are plenty of interesting questions about variability, such as how and why people employed a particular social structure, or why ritual changed through time (Goldstein 2001). Mortuary studies need to be broader with less focus on ranking and stratification, including more comprehensive comparative frameworks (Goldstein 2001). In addition, we can ask many other interesting questions. Goldstein (2001) cited the voluminous information available in ethnographies of historic and modern groups, and the willingness of tribes to work with archaeologists. However, the M-BH authors only used ethnographies and ethnohistoric data to confirm archaeological interpretations, rather than developing their expectations based on these data. Goldstein further argued that neither the quality of these data nor considerations of the amount of disturbance of the remains in Southwest studies are fully explored. She stated that the amount of disturbance would be an interesting focus of study. Mortuary custom variability, in terms of cremation vs. inhumations, was another aspect of inquiry that Goldstein believed needed further study.

Goldstein's critiques also pointed out that the majority of mortuary analyses focused on grave goods, which she argued limits the interpretation of mortuary and social behavior. She noted that while the paper by Martin and Akins (2001) exemplified her argument and was one of the exceptions, the great majority of papers only considered the kind and number of mortuary goods. The M-BH authors did not consider what the mortuary goods symbolized or the stages of mortuary customs. They likewise ignored postprocessual critiques of funerary studies. McGuire's article (2001) was an exception, but a more detailed and in-depth analysis is necessary in his work. Goldstein also argued for more attention to spatial and landscape approaches in the study of mortuary customs. The M-BH authors only considered variables such as the specific location in a room, cemetery area, or midden. They did not explore the relative positions within those contexts, or within the community and landscape. Research focused on the type and quantity of mortuary goods is a worldwide tendency and not exclusively a tendency of the M-BH researchers (Goldstein 2001). However, the inclusion of other variables is equally important, including body position, spatial placement of items, the relative position of burials to each other, as well as the invaluable information concerning the biology of individuals. These and other SW mortuary studies that were not part of the M-BH volume mainly used the Saxe-Binford approach with only minor consideration given to subsequent critiques (e.g., Akins and Schelberg 1984; Creel 1989; Effland 1988; Mabry 1988; MacDonald 2001; McGuire 2001; Mowrer 2006; Ravesloot 1984, 1988).

There are other Southwest mortuary studies that focused upon social organization but only considered specific aspects, such as leadership roles, kinship, group membership, and social inequalities (e.g., Howell 1994, 1995; Martin and Akin 2001; Mitchell 1994; Simon and Ravesloot 1995). More recent analyses have begun to examine different themes such as gender roles, migration, co-residence patterns, and different phases of mortuary customs such as extended ceremonies and ancestorhood (e.g., Beck 2000, 2005, 2008; Clark 2001; Crown and Fish 1996; Howell 2001; Loendorf 1998; Neitzel 2001; Potter and Perry 2012; Rakita 2001; Rakita and Buikstra 2005b). In many of these studies, analysis of mortuary customs was a minor portion of the research. Most still focused on specific aspects of social organization, but analyses were contextual. Several authors have used variables such as cross-cultural comparison, burial items, and age at death to examine sex-gender hierarchies and leadership roles (e.g., Neitzel 2001; Simon and Ravesloot 1995). However, many still evaluated the items found in a burial as a direct reflection of the status of the deceased. Simon and Ravesloot (1995) examined the chemical composition of Salado ceramic vessels placed in burials and their relationship to age and gender. They successfully explored some of the patterns between local and non-local ceramics and social relationships between burials. However, they did not find direct correlations between gender and age and the abundance and variety of ceramic vessels. These analyses could be improved if sex was not equated to gender and physiological age was not equated to social age. Comparisons to other sites with larger

samples and dating to different periods, and a more in-depth theoretical discussion of alliance networks, could also improve the Simon and Ravesloot (1995) analysis.

Crown and Fish (1996) examined the intersection of sociopolitical organization and gender among the Preclassic and Classic period Hohokam. They did this by correlating energy allocated to productive tasks, domestic architecture, access to ritual spaces in structures, and sex. Today, it is one of the most frequently cited studies on gender differences among the Hohokam. Howell (1994, 1995) identified kinship and leadership roles among the Zuni using variables such as differential treatment of the individuals, spatial and dental characteristics, age at death, sex, stature, and non-specific physiological stress indicators. He used a multivariate approach to study kinship and leadership roles, but he did not thoroughly discuss the differences between biological affinity and social construction of identity and ethnicity, nor did he discuss differences between gender and sex or social age and biological age.

Mitchell (1994) studied group membership based on burial attributes at Pueblo Grande. He tried different methods to find indicators of group membership and to explain spatially grouped burials. He found patterns that corresponded to age group differences in variables such as grave type, grave orientation, and body preparation. Mitchell's findings were interesting in that he used different strategies to analyze group membership. However, his definition of group membership was not clear. His study leaves the reader wondering what types of group affiliation are being sought. One possibility is that he was looking at group membership based on biological affinity within a site; if this was the case, then this could be explored more in-depth using nonmetric traits in teeth, as demonstrated in the study of McClelland (2003).

Several studies have looked at social inequality based on mortuary variability. The study by Martin and Akin (2001), as Goldstein pointed out, went beyond the classic Saxe-Binford approach, and applied a multivariate approach using variables such as mortuary customs, trauma, age at death, and sex to explore aspects of inequality. Neitzel (2001) performed a study to understand how sociopolitical organization and gender relations intersected. She utilized ethnographic research and mortuary data to analyze the value of grave goods interred with females and males and to produce a cross-cultural comparison of societies with different kinds of gender hierarchies. She based her analysis on the assumption that social organizational complexity equaled high elaboration of mortuary customs. Her work used the grave lot value approach and did not take into consideration problems of sample size (Orton and Hodson 1981), differences in complex artifacts, and differences between cremations and inhumations.

Migration and co-residence patterns have been explored to some extent using mortuary data. Clark (2001) examined the Pueblo migration from the Tonto Basin, as well as co-residence with other indigenous groups, by studying changes in mortuary custom patterns and decorated ceramics. Lowell (2007) examined warfare refugee populations, mainly of women, at Grasshopper Pueblo. She did not exclusively rely on mortuary customs but also used other lines of evidence such as trauma, burial, sex distribution, and continuity and discontinuity of material culture in an interesting way to support her conclusions. Martin (2008; Martin et al. 2008; Martin and Akins 2001) focused on the identification and condition of captives and slaves, mainly of females, among Ancestral Pueblo communities. They integrated skeletal analysis, mortuary context, archaeological reconstruction, and neuropathology.

Other areas receiving attention in Southwest mortuary studies include the roles of ancestors and the dead, and how they influenced the lives of the community and individuals (e.g., Howell 2001; Loendorf 1998; Rakita 2001). Howell (2001) used mortuary data from the ancestral Zuni settlement of Hawikku to identify burials of possible leaders. He used skeletal indications of diet and general health for comparisons between leaders and the rest of the population to assess whether these leaders controlled aspects of the economy as a foundation of their power. Skeletal indicators, such as porotic hyperostosis to infer iron-deficiency anemia and stature, provided information on general diet and health. Howell found that leaders did not benefit from longer and healthier lives than the rest of the population. Different types and quantities of grave goods suggested that leaders did not control trade or access to nonlocal materials. This provided support for the contention that the basis of the social control and power of

leaders was access to supernatural forces, esoteric knowledge, and possibly coercive ability.

Howell's results de-emphasized the role of economic control as a foundation of power. Based on the theoretical perspective proposed by Whittlesey (1978), among others, Howell utilized certain methods to identify leaders. In this approach, a "dimension" is defined as an attribute of mortuary treatment that survivors used to identify leaders, under the assumption that different roles are related to different social behaviors. Howell defined leaders as the apex of the decision-making structure. He argued that leaders had more social roles than the rest of the population. Accordingly, to identify these individuals, he used a diversity measure that included a count of the number of different types of grave goods and special body and grave preparations. Again, he stated that these are potential symbols of social roles; as such, the diversity score should indicate the number of social roles held in life. He did not consider in his diversity score calculations of age, sex, body position, orientation, degree of flexure, or temporal assignments. Howell's study certainly provided insights into social organization, mainly in terms of religious and political control. His discussion of health conflated indicators, particularly stature, which occurred when individuals were growing up and not as adults. He did not discuss dietary differences within his sample, even though he explicitly mentioned this as an objective. He also used indicators such as porotic hyperostosis that could have different etiologies, but he did not discuss the possible etiologies. He did not take into consideration other indicators, such as *criba orbitalia*, that are usually used in conjunction with porotic hyperostosis when assessing the presence of iron-deficiency anemia.

After 2001, the study of funerary customs in the Southwest continued to go beyond studies of social organization, stratification, and ranking. Themes such as phases of mortuary customs, extended ceremonies, and ancestorhood assumed increased visibility. Another very important contribution was made to this field with publication of *Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium* (Rakita et al. 2005). In this book, researchers expanded their analyses and

used models and theories from ethnohistory, bioarchaeology, and sociocultural anthropology. Researchers also examined specific themes, such as variability through time and space, extended and secondary mortuary ceremonialism, individual agency, and ancestorhood. Two articles focused on the Southwest explored these themes (Beck 2005; Rakita and Buikstra 2005b). Rakita and Buikstra (2005b) reexamined Hertz's perspective on secondary mortuary treatment. They evaluated this perspective using Pueblo cremations and the relationship between ancestors and the Katsinas. They discussed Andean mummification, especially the royal Inca mummy bundles, and the methods used to sustain the position of the soul in a liminal phase. Other important contributions to the study of mortuary customs in the Hohokam area were conducted by Beck (2000, 2005, 2008), who focused on cremation at different Preclassic Hohokam sites. In these excellent studies, she examined ethnographic documents, degree of incineration, and fragmentation to explore low bone weights of Hohokam cremations. She suggested that after initial burning, the remains were left in place, placed in a secondary deposit, or reburned as part of a memorial ceremony. However, it is not very clear how to identify reburning in cremated bones or how to distinguish reburning features and reburned deposits, other than as deposits of low bone weight. This very interesting theory should be tested in the future through experimental replication of the osteological characteristics proposed by Beck. Cerezo-Román and McClelland (2009) explored, with a limited dataset, differential treatments between inhumation and cremation in the Hohokam Classic Period (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) of the Tucson Basin. They found that cremation was the dominant custom, with emphasis upon secondary cremation deposits. This finding differs from data on the Phoenix Basin Hohokam, for whom inhumation was the prevalent mode of interment during this time period (Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001b; Ravesloot and Regan 2000).

Mowrer (2006), on the other hand, examined social differentiation and regional variation among Basketmaker II sites. Her work continued a traditional theme of social differentiation, but she mainly focused on differences between age and sex by analyzing mortuary patterns and differences. She concluded that two distinct Basketmaker II groups

inhabited the northern Southwest and found clear social differentiation patterns within and among sites. However, her study equated sex and gender. She also used a static model to analyze sex and age differences with only minor consideration of current debates regarding identity. Nonetheless, Mowrer selected important variables in her study and the patterns contributed to expanding the knowledge of mortuary differentiation in the region. Rakita (2008), in an interesting work, explored the spatial and contextual distribution of different mortuary treatments observed in non-burial deposits and inhumations at Casas Grandes. He concluded that non-burial deposits containing human remains related to the transformation of ritual practice and the role of ritual specialists, which was then used to interpret ancestor worship and veneration.

Potter and Perry (2011) examined relationships among mortuary features, individual identities, and group identities in the context of the Ridges Basin community. They found that architectural and biodistance data indicated the presence of more than one ethnic group at this Pueblo I community. The patterns found in body arrangement, interment context, and treatment of the dead corroborated the presence of different groups. They concluded that groups and individuals performed mortuary rituals, incorporating exotic objects to help in the construction of gender identities that ultimately came to represent and reify group distinctions. Potter and Perry (2011) also suggested that elaborations of both gender and ethnicity provided visible and noticeable avenues of identity distinction. More recently, Harrod (2012) explored the use of violence as a means of social control among higher status members of Ancestral Pueblo society by using burial data derived from several sites. He analyzed and compared the demographic (age and sex), nutritional (stature), activity (robusticity and entheses), health (pathological conditions), violence (cranial trauma), and cultural (mortuary pattern) patterns of human remains and burials from Chaco Canyon and other sites in the region. He found that the hierarchy at Pueblo Bonito might have been able to suppress some violence. There was, however, evidence for interpersonal violence and biological stress, suggesting that the authority of high status individuals was limited. His approach is interesting but synchronic. His analysis conflated cumulative health markers, such as

stature, and various pathological conditions that occur at different stages of life (e.g., infant, childhood, subadults) with evidence of violent encounters. This approach may not adequately examine fluctuations of power and social control through time given that he used burials dating from approximately 520 years of Chaco prehistory. However, the use of multiple lines of evidence in these studies is promising.

As this summary of Southwestern U.S. archaeological mortuary studies indicates, there have been many important contributions, although many areas of inquiry remain open and are in need of further study. One area that requires further study is regional variation in cremation customs, particularly contrasts in Hohokam cremation customs between the Tucson and Phoenix basins. There is a need for an in-depth understanding of cremation funerals in past societies. These complex, multistage rituals are infused with elements that reflect individual and (sub)group identities. The rapid repatriation of skeletal remains in the Southwest is creating a great urgency to study burned human remains from museum collections, because previously collected osteological data are frequently limited in scope. Another area that is in need of further study is aging and lifecourse studies. Specifically, it would be productive to integrate historic and ethnographic data from Southwestern Native American groups. There is also a need for more comprehensive integration of current theoretical approaches to the study of different intersections of identity. Archaeological data in the Southwest are rich and diverse; however, many analyses still do not include a discussion of alternative discourses or attempt to understand the past beyond leadership and power relationships. The abundance of archaeological data in the Southwest should facilitate the exploration and testing of complex theoretical questions. Studies of mortuary customs in the Southwest will benefit from current research on different intersections of identity and the multiple and complex ways in which identity(ies) were constructed, destroyed, and reinforced.

Dissertation Research

This dissertation research follows the article format and structure of the Graduate College and the School of Anthropology, The University of Arizona. The dissertation is organized into six parts (Chapter One, Chapter Two, Chapter Three, or conclusions Appendix A, Appendix B, and Appendix C,).

This chapter (Chapter One) of the dissertation has presented a literature review of the main studies of identity, particularly those related to status, sex and gender, aging, life course and life cycle, and ethnicity and group identity. Also in this chapter, I have presented a literature review of the main studies of personhood in archaeological research used in this dissertation. In addition, this chapter has presented a review and critique of Southwestern U.S. mortuary practice studies, followed by a general outline of the dissertation research and how this research operationalizes the concepts of personhood and intersecting identities.

Chapter Two presents the sample, methods, and main findings of the dissertation research. Chapter Two explains the sample size and criteria used to select individuals included in the analysis. In order to evaluate the different research questions, each paper addresses two principal data types: (1) data on the human skeletal remains themselves, and (2) data on the posthumous treatment of the dead, including associated burial objects. The data collected on the human skeletal remains consist of a skeletal inventory, estimation of sex, estimation of age at death, estimation of pathological conditions, degenerative joint disease, and trauma. Information collected on the posthumous treatment of the dead include thermal alterations on burned human bone such as color, fractures and shrinkage caused by fire, and bone weights. Additionally, recorded variables include the deposit type (primary or secondary), body position, body orientation, and a detailed description of the associated burial objects. Chapter Two also presents the main findings of the research.

Appendix A consists of an article entitled "Transformation by Fire: Changes in Funerary Customs from the Early Agricultural to Preclassic period among the Hohokam of southern Arizona" by Jessica I. Cerezo-Román and James T. Watson, and corresponds to the first part of the research. This article was submitted for publication in the *Journal* of Anthropological Archaeology. This article looks at data from the Early Agricultural/Ceramic Period (2100 B.C.-A.D. 475) through the early phases of the Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750) in southern Arizona. In this article, we use the notion of citation from Butler (1990, 1993). Theories on social practice proposed by Richard Jenkins (1996) also influence our theoretical framework. We address two main research questions: 1) what was the variability in inhumation and cremation mortuary customs within and between the Early Agricultural/Ceramic and the early phases of the Preclassic periods; and, 2) how did changing mortuary customs modify social relationships between the dead, the families of the deceased, and the community? We characterize mortuary customs and biological traits as variables designed to explore how and why early Formative period residents of the area altered their mortuary treatments from solely inhumation to an increased frequency of cremation. Collected data consist of 148 burials from 18 archaeological sites in southern Arizona. Variables include biological traits (sex and age at death), posthumous treatment of the bodies inferred from the archaeological contexts in which they were found, and osteological analysis.

Appendix B, and second part of the research, is a paper entitled "Pathways to Personhood: Cremation as a Social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam" by Jessica I. Cerezo-Román. This paper will be published in the book *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Gabriel Cooney, Ian Kuijt, and Colin Quinn, published by the University of Arizona Press, Tucson. This second phase of research focuses on the Tucson Basin during the Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-1150). The goal of this paper is to explore how the Preclassic Hohokam of the Tucson Basin created different pathways to personhood for their dead. This paper is influenced by theories on personhood from Mauss (1985) and several anthropological and archaeological studies of personhood (e.g., Brück 2006b; Conklin and Morgan 1996; Fowler 2005; Gillespie 2001; Jones 2005). Annette Weiner's (1992) concept of "inalienable possessions" is also used to infer treatment of the cremated human remains. These concepts helped in examining cremation customs at four Tucson Basin Hohokam archaeological sites. The four recently excavated archaeological sites from the Tucson Basin that I use are Honey Bee Village, Sleeping Snake Village, Fagan Ranch, and Los Morteros. In this research, I analyzed human remains from 415 individuals, including cremations, inhumations, and burial deposits which contained both burned and unburned bone. This investigation used ethnographic and ethnohistoric accounts of cremation customs mainly from the Pima (Akimel O'odham), Tohono O'odham, and Yuman-speaking Native American groups of the Southwestern U.S. These accounts, provide a range of options for interpreting and reconstructing the possible processes behind the formation of mortuary deposits.

The third part of the research (Appendix C) consists of the article entitled "Unpacking Personhood and Identity in the Hohokam Area of Southern Arizona" by Jessica I. Cerezo-Román. This article was submitted for publications in American Antiquity. This phase of the research focuses on the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to Classic (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) period transition in mortuary customs among the Tucson Basin Hohokam of southern Arizona. This paper principally explores temporal variation in mortuary customs by examining how this variation relates to broader aspects of personhood within Hohokam society. This is done by exploring two overarching questions: 1) are there temporal variations in mortuary customs and, if so, what are they; and, 2) how do these variations relate to broader aspects of personhood among Hohokam society? The theoretical background for this paper follows ideas on social relationships proposed by Bourdieu (1977, 1990), Giddens (1984), de Certeau (1988), and Richard Jenkins (1996), in conjunction with mortuary customs models from Hertz ([1907] 1960) and van Gennep ([1908] 1960). Concepts of personhood used in this article follows those proposed by Mauss (1985) and later reformulated and applied by Fowler (2005), Gillespie (2001), and Jones (2005). This research explores how a person is represented throughout the funerary sequence by examining two primary datasets: 1) biological profiles of the human skeletal remains; and 2) posthumous treatments of bodies inferred from the analysis of human remains and their contexts. A total of ten archaeological sites and 764 individuals from single graves were selected for this study.

Putting it All Together: Operationalizing Personhood and Intersecting Identities

Current identity studies emphasize research that breaks rigid boundaries and deconstructs classifications to study identity through past social practices (e.g., Brubaker and Cooper 2000; Meskell and Pruecel 2006). It is therefore important in this dissertation research to incorporate the works of Michael de Certeau (1988) and Richard Jenkins (1996). The works of de Certeau and Jenkins centered on relationships rather than individuals or society alone. These authors provided fresh perspectives and a balance to discussions of agency and structure to emphasize ideas about actions and relationships. This dissertation explores the ways in which individuals participated at different levels and scales in society by looking at citations and innovative actions in different contexts. The term *citation* refers to objects and actions considered to have been components of individual and multidimensional networks of other actions performed in the past (Gillespie 2011:103:103). Gillespie (2011:103) suggests that objects and actions "invoke an orientation to the past via memory, recapitulating past actions to create a sense of similarity or identity with precursors." Focusing on the contexts of practices and their interactions facilitates an understanding of social relationships within and between communities and of how individuals and collectives were distinguished through their social relations (Meskell and Pruecel 2006). In addition, it facilitates comprehending and operationalizing how past identities were constructed, contested, and transformed. This avoids oversimplifying human behavior and resorting to using hard, fixed Western categories of identity.

I discuss the methods used in this dissertation in the next chapter, but they are used to both reconstruct a biological profile of the individuals and to infer how individuals were treated at death. The data generated from the biological profiles allow for the examination of specific physiological characteristics and changes observed in the body. The analytical data suggest that these played an important role in the social
construction of personhood. Characteristics and changes occurring throughout the life of an individual, such as infancy, adulthood, or becoming a woman/man, were usually socially differentiated in funerals, and it was possible to infer these characteristics. In addition, it was possible to evaluate how personhood changed through time in funeral customs by combining these data and reconstructing the patterns observed in each period (e.g., Appendices A, B and C). Operationalization of the variables in the biological profiles was accomplished through combination with the other data set, posthumous treatment of the body, and with spatial and temporal aspects of the specific archaeological contexts. Combining these different lines of evidence helped to elucidate cultural practices shared between group members, and to identify which are particular to specific groups and which were changed or maintained through time.

Attributes of personhood that relate to unique individual identity

Attributes of personhood that relate to unique individual identity were explored by correlating deviant posthumous treatment of the body and/or burials with sex and age at death. Individuals classified as "deviant burials" were not discussed or used in any of the articles. The type of burial object placed with the remains was also informative for exploring attributes of personhood that relate to unique individual identity. Different types of objects were found in inhumations, as well as in both primary and secondary cremations, and these objects may have been directly associated with the body and/or rituals during the fire (Cerezo-Román 2013a, 2013b; Cerezo-Román and Watson 2013).

In the case of cremations, different objects entered the archaeological record in at least three ways: as decorative ornamentation related to the clothing or accessories, as objects accompanying the body in the pyre, and/or as objects deposited with the body after burning (Appendices B and C). Other objects may have entered the archaeological record in later mourning rituals. In the Hohokam Preclassic Period, secondary deposits of cremated remains have more variability in associated objects than do primary deposits. Objects collected from the pyre area may have been placed in the secondary deposit later with the cremated bone. Many burned objects recovered in secondary deposits of cremated remains may have accompanied or decorated the body during the original burning of the body on the pyre. In very few cases, objects did not present evidence of fire (e.g., vessels and hammerstones), and thus were added to the secondary deposits of cremated bone (Appendix B).

There was no statistically significant correlation between the quantity of objects, type of cremation, and age or sex of individuals (Appendices B and C). Objects such as beads, shell, bracelets, pendants, and quartz crystals may have decorated the bodies and been part of this initial stage of the ritual of preparing the body for the funeral. Other objects such as figurines, quartz crystals, stone tools, and ceramic vessels were burned with the body or placed after burning the body. These objects may have been possessions of the deceased or gifts from mourners. It is very difficult to exclude either possibility. However, I think (Appendix B) that through their selection these objects acquired capacities to sustain memory relationships between the survivors and departed as well as to represent multidimensional networks of reference for both the deceased and mourners, thereby giving agency both to the dead and living. If associated objects were former possessions of the deceased, they were designated as aspects or extensions of the personhood of an individual and thus became potent sources of memory because of the way in which object biographies become entangled with the biographies of the associated person(s) (Brück 2006a: 76; Gosden and Marshall 1999; Hallam and Hockey 2001; Hoskins 1989). It can also be inferred (Appendix B) that burned houses as well as burned and fragmented objects found in caches could present similar characteristics and acquire an extension of personhood once the individual died, following ideas presented by Murray and Mills (2013).

Mortuary attributes of personhood that relate to social age

In order to examine social age differences, I used a more nuanced approach for exploring mortuary treatment variation within and between sites and through time.

Mortuary attributes of personhood that relate to social age were obtained by contrasting physiological age with sex and posthumous treatment of the body without restricting comparisons to physiological age ranges (e.g., Baxter 2005; Gilchrist 2004; Gowland 2006; Lucy 2005a; Sofaer Derevenski 2000; Sofaer Derevenski 2004).

Initially, individuals were grouped using biological age groups (see Appendix C). Later, I regrouped these individuals using other attributes, such as funerary treatment and burial objects, and contrasted these data with biological ages to produce contextualized age group inferences. For example, if posthumous treatment and burial offerings associated with an individual of a subadult physiological age (12 to 18 years at death) are similar to males/females of adult physiological age (older than 18 years), this suggests that the subadult individual presented an adult social age and likely participated in the same networks as adults (e.g., Cerezo-Román and McClelland 2007; Cerezo-Román and Wallace 2008). Previous studies (e.g., Di Peso 1956; Hayden 1970; McGuire 1992) did not make any distinctions between different ages within Preclassic Period inhumations and considered all inhumations from a given site as a homogeneous group. However, this study recognized that inhuming an individual depended on several factors of the individual's identity, including social age, in cases of infants, and other identity attributes, in adult cases (Appendices A, B and C). Treatment of individuals with a social age younger than two years was similar to individuals of the biological age categories neonate and infant (see Appendices B and C). Treatment of subadult individuals as adults suggested that, among the Hohokam, they were considered to have an adult social age (see Appendices B and C). This research was done in order to break rigid boundaries and deconstruct age classifications and to construct social age groups contextualized for the Preclassic and Classic Hohokam of the Tucson Basin.

In cases of adult individuals, it was possible to infer a change in cremation customs through time. In the Preclassic Period, cremation deposits are mainly characterized by the presence of low quantities of bone, while in the Classic Period this changed drastically and deposits with higher bone quantities dominate the assemblages (Appendix B). However, it was not possible to evaluate this change in children or subadults, as there are no comparative literature references for bone weights from these age groups. Nonetheless, these findings suggest a change in practices toward the body and a possible change in perception toward the personhood of adult individuals. Drawing from these examples, the utilization of comparative techniques for all individuals within and among sites was necessary to understand social age.

Consideration of sex attributes of personhood

Sex attributes of personhood were evaluated by analyzing patterns that relate to the individual's biological sex (e.g., Cannon 2005; Díaz-Andreu 2005; Geller 2005; Gilchrist 2004; Ginn and Arber 1995; Marcus 1993; Sofaer Derevenski 2000). Treatment at death in the analysis of sex differences in Hohokam mortuary customs has not been significantly integrated. However, the sex of these individuals possibly could influence the way individuals at death were treated. Based on the observations, patterns related to sex attributes or to other aspects of personhood were inferred. Most previous studies of sex differences in mortuary customs among the Hohokam were made on Phoenix Basin collections and focused particularly on the burials' spatial distribution and associated objects (Brunson-Hadley 1989; Crown and Fish 1996; McGuire 1992; Mitchell 1994). For example, males tended to be buried with higher frequencies of shell ornaments and ritual related items, while females were buried with higher frequencies of ceramic vessels among the Phoenix Basin Preclassic period Hohokam (Crown and Fish 1996).

Preliminary evidence from the Tucson Basin (Cerezo-Román 2010) suggests that the frequency of shell in burials was mainly associated with courtyards that contained the highest densities of shell at the site. In addition, differences in connections between the dead, living, and particular communities of practice included different socio-economic networks of shell manufacture among households at Sleeping Snake Village – a pattern recognized at other Tucson Basin Hohokam sites (Mills 2001; Seymour 1988). However, I did not problematize or analyze the relationship between gender and sex in depth in this research. The remains were fairly fragmented and it was not possible to estimate sex for many individuals. Taking this into consideration, I only explored the relationship between sex and mortuary customs in general, and no statistically significant differences were found between sex and funerary customs as indicated by inhumations versus cremations (Appendices B and C).

Mortuary attributes of personhood that relate to group identity

Community- and regional-scale identities were explored by observing contemporaneous (dis)similarities between sites (Appendices A, B, and C). Repetitive patterns inferred from the archaeological record were analyzed by drawing from social theories proposed by Bourdieu (1977, 1990), Giddens (1984), de Certeau (1988), and Richard Jenkins (1996), and from notions of citation and "performativity" from Judith Butler (1990, 1993). Creation of a data set facilitated statistical comparisons and observations of patterns between the different sites. The data set allowed for identification of patterns of practices that relate to community identity, as well as the range of regional variability in those practices. In addition, it was possible to identify changes through time at these same scales. If a community participated in similar networks, there are shared patterns in the mortuary practices among the sites included in this group. The different variables explored in this research allow for a better understanding of the broader issues of personhood in Hohokam times by identifying changes in intersecting identities.

CHAPTER TWO: PRESENT STUDY

Unpacking Personhood and Intersecting Identities: Methods and Main Findings

This chapter presents a detailed description of the analytical methods and the most important findings for the research described in Appendices A, B, and C. I selected and designed methods in this dissertation to bridge theory and method by unpacking and operationalizing the concepts of personhood and multiple intersecting identities in mortuary assemblages. It is not practical to present a general, universal approach to examining personhood in prehistory, as personhood will normally change within the lifetime of an individual, change through time within a culture, and could be culturally specific. In addition, it is unrealistic to aim to identify all multiple intersecting identities of an individual as many are situational and many may not leave any archaeological traces. This is true also in cases of mortuary customs, which "transform the dead and may present them in ways which are not typical of other spheres of life" (Fowler 2010: 358). Additionally, some variables are potential indicators of multiple dimensions of identity, but not all of these dimensions are archaeologically distinguishable. Keeping these limitations in mind, this chapter will present the methods used to infer specific intersections and aspects of personhood construction through time.

Materials and Methods

Time Periods and Samples

This research focuses on collections consisting of 884 cremation and inhumation burials from 25 different archaeological sites in the Sonoran Desert, Arizona, from the Early Agricultural (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50) through the Classic (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) periods. The Appendix A article, "Transformation by Fire: Changes in Funerary Customs from the Early Agricultural to Preclassic period among the Hohokam of southern Arizona," covers the Early Agricultural Period (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50), the Early Ceramic Period (A.D. 50-475), and the Early Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750). In this article, 149 individuals were selected from single inhumation and cremation deposits. The article in Appendix B covers the Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-1150) exclusively. In this paper, a total of 415 individuals were selected. The article in Appendix C covers the transition period from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to the Classic periods (A.D. 1150-1450/1500). In this article, a total of 764 inhumation and cremation deposits were selected.

The sites that were selected for each article were chosen because they have fairly complete site reports and field notes available for use, and because sample sizes consisted of at least 20 burials. Intrasite and intersite comparisons were made between contemporaneous assemblages based on dated features, which had diagnostic ceramics and independent dates. Site and burial chronologies were generated from published data and site reports, mainly following chronology classification from Wallace (2012). The reliability of dating criteria provided the basis for assigning a rank order variable in each case. Burials that could not be assigned to a specific date were placed into broader categories - early, middle, or later components of each general subperiod (e.g., Early Agricultural Period, Late Classic) or period (e.g., Preclassic, Classic) depending on associated ceramics (e.g., Wallace 2001, 2004, 2012). This study excluded burials that did not present any firm date. Chronological assignments were used to analyze contemporaneous practices and changes in burial customs through time.

The collected site data were the subject of intra- and intersite comparisons. The use of Microsoft Excel 2007 allowed for analyzing, manipulating, and storing data, as well as for generation of a regional database. The database design allowed easy export into statistical programs such as SPSS Statistics 19. The statistical analysis included descriptive statistics, exploratory data, non-parametric tests, and bivariate analysis. Data collection focused around two principal types: 1) those on the human skeletal remains

themselves, and 2) posthumous treatment of the dead, including associated burial objects inferred from the archaeological context and analysis of the human remains.

Human Skeletal Remains and Biological Profiles

Analysis of the human skeletal remains consisted of a reconstruction of the individuals' biological profiles. The osteological analysis was morphoscopic and metric. The individuals' biological profiles in this study consisted of the physiological age at death, sex, and pathological conditions, which were determined using standard data collections protocols. These protocols will be discussed briefly in this chapter, and more in-depth discussions will be provided concerning how thermal alterations were recorded in burned bones and how data and theory were combined.

Burned and unburned bones were analyzed in a similar manner when reconstructing the biological profiles, in order to acquire comparable results. The degree of fragmentation of remains, particularly cremated bone, limits some analytical observations, particularly in the determination of sex and the clinical diagnosis of pathological conditions. However, less fragmented burials allowed for evaluation of element presence, physiological age at death, sex, and pathologies.

The protocols for osteological data collection are mainly based on those proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994) and research protocols from the Arizona State Museum's (ASM) Bioarchaeology Laboratory (McClelland 2012), where most of the remains are currently housed. The thermal alteration and posthumous treatment of cremated bones were evaluated in detail. Previous Hohokam research on mortuary practice largely relied on the study of inhumations, with little or no attention paid to cremations. This was largely due to challenges involved in working with this type of material. However, a careful examination of this material provided the means necessary to maximize cremation analysis and acquire significant additional information. This added another dimension of analysis not previously considered with Southwestern mortuary materials, and allowed for new and innovative ways to study personhood and identity through mortuary customs.

Skeletal Element Inventory

The first step in skeletal data collection consisted of a detailed skeletal inventory of each burial, which included recording elements present, including side (left or right), and preservation condition. These analyses allow for interpretations of body completeness at the moment of burial and the number of individuals represented in each deposit. Standard protocols for data collection used to produce a skeletal inventory of the unburned bones were established by the ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory (McClelland 2012). However, a similar but more in-depth skeletal inventory was used for the burned human remains. This allows for easy comparison of results between burned and unburned individuals. Recording of skeletal elements was by degree of preservation (complete > 75 percent present, partial = 75-25 percent present, and fragmentary < 25 percent present). The side (left, right, or unsided) for elements also was recorded. For the appendicular area of the skeleton, skeletal elements of each individual were recorded by anatomical segments, such as the proximal epiphysis, proximal midshaft, midshaft, distal midshaft, and distal epiphysis. The Bioarchaeology Laboratory has subsequently adopted this methodology to record burned bone, and it is now part of their standard protocol for data collection (www.statemuseum.arizona.edu/crservices/forms.shtml#burial).

Two main indicators, the presence of duplicate skeletal elements and differences in development and morphology related to age (subadult vs. adult), were used for determination of minimum number of individuals (Fairgrieve 2008; McKinley 2000; McKinley and Bond 2001). Researchers have suggested that in cases of cremated remains, differences in the size of the elements and differences in color also may be indicators of the minimum number of individuals (Correia and Beattie 2002; McKinley and Bond 2001). However, using differences in the size of the elements and differences in color to determine minimum number of individuals could be very misleading. Burned skeletal elements from a single individual can shrink differently depending on the soft tissue shield that was protecting them in the fire (Gonçalves et al. 2011). Differences in color are also problematic, as is clearly exemplified in many forensic cases (e.g., Symes et al. 2008), since a single individual may have drastic color differences within even a single bone, depending on the body position in the fire, tissue shield, duration and intensity of the fire, and the pyre technology.

Estimation of Sex in Individuals Older than 18 Years at Death

Sex was only estimated for individuals older than 18 years at death, or for very gracile older subadults. Sex was estimated before the age at death estimate, as many methods used to estimate age at death are sex-specific. In general, the secondary sexually dimorphic characteristics begin to show in the skeleton at puberty and tend to present earlier in females than in males (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994; Coleman 1969). Sex was estimated primarily based on secondary sexual characteristics that presented in the pelvis and cranium. The hipbone presents the most reliable indicator of sex in the skeleton (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). Metric analyses of skulls and postcranial elements were also considered.

The observed morphological characteristics of the pelvis were the ventral arc, subpubic concavity, and the ischiopubic ramus ridge. These were recorded using the method proposed by Phenice (1969). In this case, the female represented the positive expression of these features, while the males did not present these features. The greater sciatic notch and the preauricular sulcus were also used to estimate the sex of individuals (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). The greater sciatic notch is broader in females than in males. Scores from one to five were assigned based on differences in the angle of the greater sciatic notch (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994), with a lower score representing a wider notch. The preauricular sulcus was also taken into consideration when estimating sex. This sulcus is more commonly present in females than males. The expression of the preauricular sulcus was scored from one to four. When this attribute was absent, this was

noted. All of these characteristics were scored following accepted recording protocols proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994).

Morphological characteristics observed in the skull were the robusticity of the nuchal crest, size of the mastoid process, sharpness of the supraorbital margin, prominence of glabella, and projection of the mental eminence. A five-point scale was used, reflecting a range from more gracile to more robust. The more gracile individuals were estimated to be females, while the more robust individuals were estimated to be males. These features were recorded using accepted standard recording protocols proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994). The main metric analyses used were the femoral and humeral head diameter, radial head diameter, and the epicondylar breadth of the humerus (France 1998). In cases where the bones were burned, caution was taken to estimate sex, as shrinkage could affect the observation of sexually dimorphic characteristics (Fairgrieve 2008). In this case, males may be underrepresented, and a disproportionate number of individuals may be identified as females (Fairgrieve 2008). In order to avoid this problem, no heavily shrunken skeletal elements were used to estimate sex. Others have proposed the use of a measurement scheme to estimate sex (Gejvall 1969, 1981; McKinley 2000; McKinley and Bond 2001; van Vark 1975). Use of these measurements requires that the remains need to be fairly complete in order to compare samples. This necessity limits the use of such methods. Cremations analyzed in this study were highly fragmented and therefore comparisons between samples could not be performed.

Estimation of Age at Death

The third step in reconstructing biological profiles was estimation of physiological age at death. First, methods used to estimate physiological age of individuals younger than 18 years at death will be explained. Next, methods used to estimate physiological age of individuals older than 18 years at death will be discussed. Age estimations were defined as narrowly as possible. In Appendix A, the age categories, suggested by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994), comprised: infant (birth-3 yrs.); child (3-12 yrs.); adolescent (12-20 yrs.); young adult (20-35 yrs.); middle adult (35-50 yrs.); old adult (50+ yrs.), or general 'adult' (20-50+ yrs.). In Appendices B and C individuals were classified into age categories such as fetus (<– newborn), infant (birth-2 yrs.), children (2-12 yrs.), subadult (12-18 yrs.), young adult (18-34 yrs.), middle adult (35-49 yrs.), old adult (50 + yrs.), and indeterminate, following standard protocols for data collection established by the ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory (McClelland 2012) and Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994). However, if it was not possible to estimate a narrow age at death, individuals were classified into much wider categories, such as older than 15 years at death or adult (\geq 18 yrs). The estimation of age at death was made using a variety of techniques that approximate a physiological age range and allow a more precise estimation using multiple lines of evidence.

For individuals younger than 18 years at death, three sets of attributes were observed: tooth formation and development, cranial and postcranial osteometrics, and skeletal maturation estimates based on epiphyseal formation, development, and fusion. The first set of techniques used focused on formation and eruption of each deciduous and permanent tooth, as proposed by Smith (1991) and Ubelaker (1989, 2000). The technique proposed by Smith is based on evaluation of stages of formation of the crown, roots, and apex of the teeth. In this technique, stage of formation of each tooth is evaluated first, and then an age estimate assigned. Ubelaker (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994; Ubelaker 1989, 2000) proposed a different technique based on dental formation and eruption of deciduous and permanent dentition. The different stages of development correspond to estimated age ranges. This technique also was used in the present study.

The second set of techniques that was used was the correlation between estimated age ranges and cranial and postcranial measurements. Cranial measurements used included the length and width of the greater wing of the sphenoid, the length and width of the petrous and mastoid portion of the temporal, and length and width of the basilar part of the occipital. Estimated age ranges for these elements were based on the work of Scheuer and Black (2000). Postcranial measurements used were length and width of the

scapula, as proposed by Scheuer and Black (2000), and correlation between chronological age estimates and maximum diaphyseal lengths proposed by Ubelaker (1989). Elements used to calculate diaphyseal length included the humeri, radii, ulnae, femurs, tibiae, fibulas, and ilia. Only complete elements from both the right and left sides were used. These techniques were very rarely applied to cremated remains. Most of the cremated remains were fragmented, and therefore shrinkage could have affected the measurements (Fazekas et al. 1978; Huxley 1998; Huxley and Kósa 1999; Petersohn and Köhler 1965).

The third set of data used to estimate age at death was based on the analysis of skeletal maturation and epiphyseal union and fusion. Skeletal maturation stages were evaluated following the chart proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994:43). This chart focuses on the epiphyseal union and fusion of primary ossification centers for several skeletal elements. The rate of epiphyseal fusion and skeletal maturation was also used (Scheuer and Black 2000).

Age at death for individuals over 18 years old was estimated using several accepted protocols proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994). These methods were used to estimate age categories based on morphological characteristics observed on the auricular surface, pubic symphysis, obliteration of the cranial sutures, morphological changes of the sternal end of the fourth rib, and general size, morphology, and development. Additionally, epiphyseal fusion of the clavicles, iliac crest, and basioccipital synchondrosis were observed to estimate the age of adults, and are based on changes that occur in the skeleton after bones stop growing in length and the epiphyses fuse. Genetic predisposition, nutrition, physical activity, and other factors can affect the changes that occur with age, as well as the process of deposition and resorption of bone. However, the methods for estimating age at death that were selected in this study are based on accepted data collection protocols (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). Once age at death estimates were obtained from the different methods, minimum and maximum age estimates were chosen for each individual.

Morphological changes in the pubic symphysis were scored according to systems proposed by Todd (1921a, 1921b) and Suchey-Brooks (Brooks and Suchey 1990; Suchey and Katz 1986; Suchey et al. 1979). These methods focus on the observation of key features, such as the ridge-and-furrow system, dorsal margin, dorsal platform, ventral rampart, ossific nodules, rim, and delimited extremities (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). The evaluation of the morphological changes of the auricular surface mainly focuses on the apex, superior demiface, inferior demiface, retroaricular area, degrees of granularity, billowing, density, and porosity (Bedford et al. 1989; Lovejoy et al. 1985; Meindl and Lovejoy 1989). Changes that occur in this area are correlated with physiological age changes, and an age range is assigned. Another method that was employed to estimate the age at death in individuals older than 18 years was obliteration of the cranial suture. This method is based on the premise that cranial sutures generally fuse with age. However, the rate at which the suture closes varies widely (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). The degree of fusion was recorded for 10 ectocraneal, four palatal, and three endocranial locations. Each segment was recorded according to specific stages, and an age range was assigned (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994; Meindl and Lovejoy 1985). This technique is based on a composite of methods developed by several researchers (e.g., Baker 1984; Mann et al. 1991; Meindl and Lovejoy 1985). Estimations of age at death were also made using the technique proposed by Iscan and colleagues (1984; 1987) and Iscan and Loth (1986), which estimates the age at death based on degenerative processes that occur with age in the sternal end of the fourth rib. This technique defines nine phases of degenerative progression, graded from zero to eight, to assign a physiological age range at death (İşcan et al. 1984; İşcan et al. 1987).

Each of these techniques to estimate age at death was used, depending on the skeletal elements present and their state of preservation. Where none of these techniques were possible due to fragmentation of the material and/or absence of specific elements, other indicators, such as dental wear, antemortem tooth loss, presence and degree of degenerative joint disease, and size and thickness of the skeletal elements were taken into

consideration. In these cases, individuals were assigned to wider age range categories, such as older than 15 years at death and/or adult (older than 18 years at death).

Estimation of Pathological Conditions, Degenerative Joint Disease, and Traumas

Pathological lesions observed in human skeletal remains were recorded following standard data collection protocols proposed by Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994) and the ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory (McClelland 2012). Pathological lesions were recorded as present, absent, or unobservable, and each lesion was described in detail, measured, and drawn. When possible, trauma was recorded as antemortem or perimortem. Protocols from the ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory (McClelland 2012) limited photographic documentation of the skeletal elements, and therefore photographs were not taken. Pathological lesions documented in the cranial area included porotic hyperostosis, criba orbitalia, premature synostosis, osteomas, periosteal reaction, lytic reactions, proliferative reactions, and trauma. Degenerative joint diseases in the cranial area were recorded on the articulations of the temporomandibular joint, mandibular condyles, and occipital condyles, following data recording protocols proposed by Ubelaker (1999). Dental pathologies were also recorded following protocols from the ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory (McClelland 2012) and Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994). Dental pathologies were recorded as present, absent, or unobservable. Where applicable, the degree of pathology was noted. The main dental pathologies recorded were caries, abscesses, hypoplasia, calculus, periodontal disease, and hypocalcification. Lesions of the axial area of the body that were recorded included ankylosis, arch defects, compression fractures, Schmorl's nodes, periosteal reactions, lytic reactions, osteoporosis, and trauma. The different stages of osteophytosis on the superior and inferior surface of the vertebral bodies of the cervical, thoracic, and lumbar were recorded following standards proposed by Ubelaker (1999).

Degenerative joint disease was recorded in the superior and inferior articular surface of both sides of the cervical, thoracic, lumbar, and sacral vertebrae. Lesions recorded for the appendicular area of the body included periosteal reactions, lytic reactions, proliferative reactions, osteoporosis, trauma, osteomyelitis, and exostoses. Degenerative joint disease recorded on the appendicular area of the body was in the following articulations: right and left glenoid fossa, medial and lateral epiphysis of the clavicles, proximal and distal epiphysis of the humeri, ulnae, radii, femurs, tibiae, patellae and fibulas, left and right acetabulum, and left and right greater and lesser trochanter of the femurs. Lesions recorded from the extremities included lytic reactions, proliferative reactions, periosteal reactions, trauma, and exostoses. Degenerative joint diseases in the extremities were recorded on the proximal and distal epiphysis of the carpal and tarsal phalanges, carpals, metacarpals, tarsals, and metatarsals. Most of the remains analyzed in this research were cremations. The degree of fragmentation, particularly of cremated bone, limited some analytical observations. The frequencies of these pathological conditions represent the minimum that could be present in the population. Clinical diagnoses of pathological conditions and the etiology of trauma were particularly affected. In most cases, skeletons were not complete, and therefore it was not possible to evaluate the distribution of lesions throughout the remains in a homogenous way.

Posthumous Treatment of the Body and Archaeological Context

Posthumous treatment of the body was evaluated using primary and secondary data. Primary data were collected from the osteological analysis and archaeological record to infer posthumous practices. Secondary data were obtained from archaeological reports, field notes, and published analyses. For both types of data, remains were analyzed from intentional, undisturbed, or only slightly disturbed deposits.

Deposit Type (Primary vs. Secondary)

Deposits were classified as primary, secondary, or undetermined. Primary inhumations refer to deposits in which the remains were first deposited and where decomposition occurred. The term "primary" is used similarly for cremation deposits and refers to the pyre site, crematorium, or primary cremation locality – the feature that contains burned human remains and has direct evidence of fire. The implication is that the body is placed and burned *in situ*, but this does not mean that the remains were found articulated and/or the deposits contained all the skeletal elements. Secondary deposits refer to deposits in which human remains, these deposits are identified based on the lack of articulated skeletal elements and no evidence of fire in the earthen pit. Secondary deposits of burned bones consist of deposits that contain unarticulated bone fragments in urns within earthen pits, or bone fragments placed directly in earthen pits. One of the main attributes of these secondary deposits of cremated bone is that the earthen pits do not have any evidence of fire. These deposits may contain high to very low bone weights.

Body Position and Body Orientation

When available from site reports and/or field notes, anatomical orientation and cardinal direction of the body position were recorded. However, more general classifications were used for statistical analysis and intersite comparisons (Appendix A). Cerezo-Román and Watson (Appendix A) used a general classification of the orientation of the body, such as right, left, supine seated, prone, and head down, and a very general classification of the position of the appendicular area of the body, such as flexed, semi-flexed, and extended.

Thermal Alterations of Burned Human Bone

Thermal alteration and body manipulation were analyzed to provide a detailed reconstruction of posthumous treatment of cremated bones from primary and secondary deposits. These variables allow one to infer how bodies were treated in both primary and secondary cremation mortuary rituals and to correlate these findings with biological data. The thermal alteration recording procedure used in this research built on existing standard data collection procedures established by the ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory. The ASM data collection procedures for burned bones were established to inventory the elements present and provide a general evaluation of the thermal alteration. For example, ASM recording forms include variables such as color, bone weight, maximum length of fractures caused by fire (cm), and average length of the entire skeleton. ASM recording forms also include approximate percentages to describe the general representation of the different anatomical areas of the body such as cranial, axial, appendicular, and extremities.

The present study provides an in-depth analysis of thermal alteration. In this research, color, bone weight, type, and degree of fractures cause by fire, maximum length (mm), average length (mm), and quantification of bone fragments ≥ 2 mm in length were recorded for the cranial, dental, axial, upper appendicular, and lower appendicular anatomical regions, and for the extremities (see Appendix D). In addition, a general evaluation of thermal alteration summarized all of the data. Bone counts of all the bone fragments ≥ 2 mm in length were subsequently divided by the total weight to determine quantitatively the average bone weight and as an overall indicator of degree of fragmentation (McClelland pers. comm.). The ASM's Bioarchaeology Laboratory integrated collection data protocols proposed in this research, and these protocols currently are used as standard collection information on thermal alterations (www.statemuseum.arizona.edu/crservices/forms.shtml#burial).

Color

There have been many studies of bone color changes due to thermal alterations (e.g., Buikstra and Swegle 1989; Gejvall 1969; Shipman et al. 1984; Ubelaker 1978). Bone color indicates the variation in heat exposure and oxidation related to the tissue shield of the body, anatomical region, and body position (Symes et al. 2008). In addition, it indicates temperature, duration, combustion circumstances, and fuel load (e.g., Buikstra and Swegle 1989; Devlin and Herrmann 2008; Fairchild 2005; Fairgrieve 2008; Gejvall 1969; Shipman et al. 1984). Factors such as the stirring of the bones during burning would alter these variables. In this study, the Munsell soil color chart was used for the documentation of color (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994; Shipman et al. 1984). However, the use of Munsell soil color charts has been critiqued, because it depends on matching bone color to a color in the chart. The technique introduces interobserver error, and variations in lighting can affect color interpretation and produce errors. Some authors therefore suggest use of the CIELAB system (Devlin and Herrmann 2008; Fairchild 2005). The use of the CIELAB system could minimize interobserver error. However, to use the CIELAB system, an appropriate measuring instrument is required, such as a colorimeter, spectrometer, or spectrodensitometer. In addition, visualization software is needed.

Considering these factors, it was decided that the Munsell soil color chart would be used in this research. The Munsell soil color chart is well known, transportable, and easily accessible. Most archaeologists and physical anthropologists around the world have access to one and can compare the results. To minimize some of the limitations of the Munsell soil color chart, a detailed narrative accompanied the observations of color, and all remains were analyzed under the same artificial lighting. Predominant and secondary colors were recorded for the cranial, dental, axial, upper appendicular, and lower appendicular anatomical regions, and for the extremities (see Appendix D). Most remains were consistent in color; most of them presented white and gray colors (Appendix B). Homogeneity in color may suggest that someone with expertise, perhaps a specialist, burned the remains (Appendices B and C). In addition, there was no evidence that the degree to which the bodies were burned changed through time (Appendices B and C).

Under different circumstances where time constraints were not an issue, and with a smaller sample, a reconstruction of each element would be ideal to infer in more detail the body position of the remains. Subsequent to the reconstruction of each element, drawing the color of each fragment in a skeletal chart also would be beneficial in order to visualize the color of each element. However, both exercises are time consuming and not suitable for larger samples, especially when the remains are highly fragmented. Nonetheless, this type of exercise should be performed in certain contexts, and particularly in forensic settings.

Fractures and Shrinkage Caused by Fire

Fractures and shrinking caused by fire also were analyzed in this research. Many researchers have used time and degree of fractures and shrinkage as an indicator of whether the bodies were burned with flesh, partially moist, or dry (e.g., Baby 1954; Binford 1963; Buikstra and Swegle 1989; Fairgrieve 2008; McKinley 1989; Symes et al. 2008). In this research, fracture types were analyzed by anatomical region (cranial, dental, axial, upper appendicular, lower appendicular, and extremities), and their presence and frequencies were recorded (see Appendix D). Fracture types, such as longitudinal, concentric/thumbnail, and vertical, were recorded. Fracture degree was based on approximate divisions: minor (<25 percent), moderate (25-75 percent), and heavy (>75 percent). The degree of shrinkage was also recorded by anatomical areas and classified as minor (< 25 percent), moderate (25-75 percent) and heavy (>75 percent). The degree of shrinkage is a bit subjective as its assessment is based on a degree of distortion that deviates from the regular shape of a particular bone. Type and degree of fractures and shrinkage caused by fire were used as a proxy to infer whether or not the bodies were burned with flesh. However, it is suggested that fractures and shrinkage are not very reliable when used as the sole indicators of the condition of the body

immediately prior to burning. Multiple lines of evidence such as the skeletal inventory, absence/presence of cutmarks, and color of the remains were also assessed.

Physical anthropologists have debated how to distinguish between burning of fresh bone, bone with moisture or "green" bone, and dry bone. Baby (1954), using works by Krogman (1939) and Webb (1945), suggested that dry bone could be differentiated from bone burned with flesh, or at least moisture, by the presence of superficial checking, fine longitudinal striae, deep longitudinal fracturing, and the absence of warping.

Buikstra and Swegle (1989) suggested that the characteristics presented by Baby were not exclusive to dry, fresh, or green bone, but rather that warping was observed in both circumstances. They suggested that it is better to use color differences and to focus on variability in fracture patterns. Buikstra and Swegle (1989) mentioned that in the case of the femur, the appearance of concentric rings of curved fissures in the popliteal region on fleshed femora was a diagnostic characteristic that the bone was burned with flesh. However, the absence of this does not mean that the element was not burned with flesh. In bones that are burned to a smoked condition, fracture or cracking patterns are less diagnostic than the distribution of color changes. Due to differential combustion of soft tissue, fleshed bone develops marked variation in coloration and one cannot assume that uniform blackened conditions are a characteristic of the specimens. Dry bone showed less extreme color changes than did fleshed or green remains. Color changes were not diagnostic in separating green from fleshed remains. Color changes did help to distinguish dry bones from the fleshed and green specimens (Buikstra and Swegle 1989). Buikstra and Swegle (1989) suggest that the difference in cracking patterns is a matter of degree and not of kind. Both fleshed and green specimens showed deep longitudinal cortical fissures. Transverse cracks occurred in both groups, but were more common in fleshed specimens. The most significant change in dry specimens was the tan color. However, Buikstra and Swegle (1989) mentioned that the different stages must be studied, taking into consideration the variability rather than expected attributes of a particular stage. Other studies suggest that the presence of warping and thumbnail

92

fractures can be observed in dry bone, and that their presence is not restricted to the burning of non-dried bones, as has generally been believed (Gonçalves et al. 2011).

Gonçalves et al. (2011) mention that warping and thumbnail fractures are an indicator of the preservation of collagen-apatite links that also could be present in dry bone. However, in their study, bone warping, thumbnail, and concentric fractures were found in very low frequencies. Considering the pattern of fractures and shrinkage caused by fire, it is suggested in this research that they should not be used as the sole observations from which to infer whether bodies were burned with flesh, moist, or dry. Their presence and frequencies should be recorded for the entire skeleton rather than for single bones. In addition, in order to make an accurate assessment, it is necessary to consider the degree of tissue that covered each element. In areas where muscle attachments are bigger, an increase in concentric fracture, such as concentric or thumbnails should not be considered as the sole indicator of the pre-burning condition of the body. It is necessary to complement the fracture data with the skeletal inventory, presence/absence of cut marks, and color of the remains.

Weights

Cremation bone weights were taken for each anatomical region (e.g., cranial, dental, axial, upper appendicular, lower appendicular, and extremities), and for all bone for an individual (see Appendix D). The bones were weighed after the inventory and biological profile of individuals were concluded in order to avoid commingling remains and only include weights for single individuals. The weights were measured in grams on a high precision electronic scale. Cremation bone weights, in conjunction with the skeletal inventory, informed inferences about the division and fragmentation of remains as a whole and by anatomical region in the primary cremation fire, or removal into secondary deposit(s). Cremation weights were used as a proxy to analyze how much bone belonging to a single individual was found in a single deposit. These values were used as approximations, as many factors can contribute to bone loss. Post-depositional disturbances and cultural practices can result in bone loss and can obscure what can be understood from burials. In order to minimize bone loss, most researchers excavating Hohokam burials employ ¹/₄-inch and ¹/₈-inch mesh screens. Storage and analysis methods can potentially bias skeletal element identification and bone weight by increasing fragmentation of the remains and by loss of fragments and dust through handling. However, procedures are "relatively standardized," which makes possible comparisons between cremation deposits within and between sites. Several other factors can contribute to bone loss, such as ancient secondary ritual practices, especially in the creation of secondary deposits. One of the major biases could be natural processes, such as soil condition (e.g., pH) and bioturbation; however, these are random and are not expected to bias the analysis of large samples. In addition, no weight information from disturbed burials was used in this research.

The archaeological recovery procedures and field notes that describe the disturbance of a burial were evaluated before considering the analytical use of bone weight. This information was essential before considering the use of bone weight to make any inferences about past practices. Cremation weights should not be used to determine either the sex or the minimum number of individuals (Fairgrieve 2008). Published procedures used to weigh elements vary. Some researchers weigh the complete cremation, while others weigh the elements by anatomical region (Brothwell 1963; McKinley 1989; Trotter and Hixon 1974). Both methods are considered useful as ways to quantify the remains that are present. Recording the weight of the complete cremation and the weight by anatomical regions allows one to include bone fragments that cannot be specifically identified due to their advanced degree of fragmentation and small size (e.g., minor long bone fragments, vertebra fragments, unknown fragments).

A cremated adult individual's total bone weight is expected to be approximately more than 1,500 grams. Cremations weighing more than 1,500 grams from a single individual are expected to represent a fairly complete individual, while bone weights below this imply an incomplete individual (e.g., Bass and Jantz 2004; Brothwell 1963; McKinley 1989, 1994; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974). This value varies between subadults and adults. In addition, bone weights from an adult will differ based on sex, stature, ancestry, and the presence of pathologies, such as osteoporosis (Bass and Jantz 2004; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974). As found in this research, there is great variation among prehistoric cremation deposit bone weights (Appendices A, B and C). McKinley (2000; 2001) found that an ancient cremation of a single individual could produce a bone weight from 57 to 3000 grams. McKinley (2000; 2001) suggested that these values varied from a single deposit containing only a fraction of an individual to the remains of multiple individuals. Information from modern cremations is useful to contrast with prehistoric cremations. Modern cremation customs are controlled and minimal bone is lost in the process. It is probable that less care was taken during ancient cremation, where there were not legal implications for having incomplete individuals. Conceptions of the body are time- and culture-specific. In the United States, there are many regulations that prohibit the mixing and loss of human remains in funerary homes. There are cases in which funerary homes have been sued as a result of improperly handling human remains (Murray and Rose 1993). Regulations promote minimizing bone weight loss. Modern examples serve as proxies for bone representing one individual, and when compared with ancient samples, they allow the study of the influence of post-depositional disturbances and/or cultural customs on bone loss.

Associated Burial Objects

The analysis of burial objects was based on published data, unpublished site reports, and field notes from each site. For each burial object, the functional category, and, if available, location in relationship to the body, were recorded. The classification system proposed by McGuire (2001) was used for Preclassic Period samples, and the classification system used by Mitchell (1994) and Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley (2001) was used for Classic Period samples. These classification systems are the most complete published classification systems for Hohokam burial objects and are frequently used by Hohokam archaeologists in published reports. These systems employ general categories, such as utilitarian, ornamental, ritual, and miscellaneous items, to classify different objects. These studies also explored whether objects were placed in burials whole or as fragments, in order to examine potential correlations between object condition and treatment of cremated remains (Appendix B). A determination was made as to whether objects were placed and burned in the cremation pyre or placed subsequent to burning (Appendix B).

Difficulties in Studying Associated Objects from Burial Contexts

Many inconsistencies in how associated objects were described were found in the published data, site reports, and field notes. No in-depth analysis of all objects was performed. This represented a challenge for the comparison of the results among different sites. Usually the objects recovered from the archaeological sites were analyzed in depth, but this was not always the case with objects associated with burials. The minimum number of objects was difficult to obtain. In addition, it was difficult to discern whether fragments of sherds correspond to a single vessel. Most reports do not mention whether the objects were burned or the exact position of the objects in the burial. However, it was generally possible to evaluate the presence of certain types of objects, using raw material as a general category, as most published data, site reports, and field notes contained this information (Appendices A and B).

Main Findings

Appendix A: Transformation by Fire: Changes in Funerary Customs from the Early Agricultural yo Preclassic Period among the Hohokam of Southern Arizona

The article entitled "Transformation by Fire: Changes in Funerary Customs from the Early Agricultural to Preclassic period among the Hohokam of southern Arizona" examines changes in funeral customs from the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50 and A.D. 50-475) to the early phases of the Hohokam Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750). These changes in practice suggest a change in social relationships among the dead, their families, and the community. The research focuses on two main research questions to explore changes in mortuary rituals: 1) what was the variability in mortuary customs within and between the Early Agricultural/Ceramic and early phases of the Preclassic Period; and, 2) how did changing mortuary customs modify social relationships between the dead, the families, and the community?

A total of 18 archaeological sites and 148 burials were examined. Variables examined include biological traits (sex and age at death), posthumous treatment of the bodies inferred from the archaeological contexts in which they were found, and osteological analysis. Cerezo-Román and Watson (2013) found that inhumation was the dominant mortuary custom during the Early Agricultural Period. These inhumations were characterized by variation in body position and location, which may have emphasized individuality. Inhumations were not exclusive of age or sex, as most members of the community were inhumed. Inhumation funeral customs in general did not change dramatically from the Early Agricultural Period to the Early Preclassic Period. A decrease in the variation of burial orientation was noted for Early Preclassic Period inhumations. However, variation in objects found with the remains and frequency of ceramic vessels increased during this period. Bodies were not destroyed in inhumations, and it is suggested that this type of funeral ritual preserved the individual social persona and its physicality. The citation and performative aspects of these inhumations suggest a more homogeneous regional identity that emphasizes both individual and group identity. However, inhumations decreased in frequency through time and were mainly used for infants and a few adult individuals in later times.

Cremation became the prevalent funeral custom during the Early Preclassic Period. These cremations were mainly secondary deposits that contained very low quantities of bone located within habitation courtyard groups. The secondary nature of these deposits suggests a new treatment of the dead, with an additional community investment in the funeral custom. The bodies in this ritual were destroyed by fire and converted into bone fragments. This type of treatment created commonality and a certain level of homogeneity among individuals, maintaining levels of corporate similarity. In addition, a transformation of the body that occurred during the ritual implies a different way of dealing with the dead. Changes in funeral customs can occur as a result of many factors and are usually not monocausal.

The gradual change in mortuary customs from inhumation to cremation suggests a gradual change in perception of the dead body through time and an additional community investment. It is possible that this change in funeral custom was related to broader changes in society in terms of individual and group identities. These changes are reflective of the emergence and reaffirmation of more social cohesion than was previously observed. This is consistent with contemporaneous changes in material culture, architecture, and social organization inferred from other archaeological investigations at Hohokam sites in the Tucson and Phoenix basins.

Appendix B: Pathways to Personhood: Cremation as a Social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam

The article entitled "Pathways to Personhood: Cremation as a Social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam" examines how the Preclassic Hohokam of Southern Arizona created different pathways to personhood for the dead. This includes examining how bodies were treated within cremation customs at four Tucson Basin Hohokam

archaeological sites, and through comparison with different ethnographic accounts of cremation customs among Native American groups of the Southwestern United States. The goal was not to use ethnographic cases as direct analogy, but rather to use these case studies to show the different pathways through which the dead and living interact during the transition process from life to death. Here, Cerezo-Román uses the concept of personhood to explore complex relationships between the dead, the living, and material culture among the Preclassic Hohokam of Southern Arizona. The comparative data come from four recently excavated archaeological sites in the Tucson Basin: Honey Bee Village (AZ BB: 9:88 [ASM]) (Craig 1989; Wallace 2012), Sleeping Snake Village (AZ BB: 9:104 [ASM]) (Ezzo 2005), Fagan Ranch (AZ EE: 1:345 [ASM]) (Ezzo 2008), and Los Morteros (AZ AA: 12:57 [ASM]) (Wallace 1995a, 1995b). In this research, I analyzed human remains of 415 individuals, consisting of cremations, inhumations, and other burial deposits that contained both burned and unburned bone. Most of these individuals were found in cemeteries associated with courtyards. Courtyard groups are spatially patterned regions and facilities within sites (Fish and Fish 1991:159) that are generally believed by Hohokam archaeologists to represent households and extended family households (e.g., Fish and Fish 1991; Wallace et al. 1995; Wilcox et al. 1981). Historical accounts of cremation customs utilized in this paper originated from the Pima (Akimel O'odham), Tohono O'odham, and several Yuman-speaking groups. Based on archaeological and linguistic evidence², ancestors of these groups had contact with the Hohokam in the past (Ezell 1963; Shaul and Andresen 1989; Shaul and Hill 1998). The Pima and the Tohono O'odham consider the Hohokam to be their ancestors, although the "Pima-Hohokam continuum" is a source of debate among Hohokam and Southwestern archaeologists (e.g., Ezell 1963; Jill 2001).

Hohokam Preclassic Period cremation customs are overwhelmingly characterized by the presence of both primary and secondary deposits of cremated bones. Typically, variable amounts of bone, from a small amount to a whole individual, were collected

²Shaul and Hill propose that the Proto-Tepiman speech community incorporates attestation of language contact with Proto-Yuman based on data from phonology, syntax and lexicon (Shaul and Hill 1998). This suggests that the Hohokam were a multi-ethnic community who spoke both Proto-Tepiman and Proto Yuman ca. 1000 years ago.

from the primary cremation (pyre site) and placed in secondary deposits. Relationships between the living and dead were transformed at this point, and based on archaeological evidence there was no intent to keep the remains of an individual together. Interestingly, no significant differences were found between cremation types based on age group (except infants, which were not cremated), or based on sex. This homogeneity in cremation regardless of age or sex does not mean that the multiple intersecting identities of the dead ceased to exist, but rather that they were extended and transformed during these rituals.

During the Preclassic Period, it seems that subsequent to burning, cremated remains were fragmented, divided, and distributed. However, no reburning episodes of secondary cremated deposits have been documented, and it is likely that remains were disposed in one or multiple separate pits. In the Preclassic Period, after the body was burned, it continued to evoke the personhood of the deceased but was transformed into "body-objects," which could be divided and circulated as inalienable possessions. Inalienable possessions are objects meant to be kept and not exchanged. These objects have symbolic power (Weiner 1992). They are usually used to authenticate the ritual authority of particular corporate groups (Mills 2004). The Preclassic Hohokam practice of dividing human remains varied between archaeological sites and even within courtyard groups at specific sites. At these sites, it is possible that low cremation weights indicate that remains were fragmented and divided within/between the different levels of Hohokam organization. Organizational levels among the Hohokam consist of courtyard groups, suprahousehold units, sites, and communities (Fish and Fish 1991, 2007). These levels of organization comprise different networks tied together by different social affiliations, such as biological, civic, political, social, economic, and religious groups, among others. The specific relational network of the deceased and family would dictate how the remains were distributed.

Remains had symbolic power as sources of remembrance of the personhood of the deceased, and as a material enactment of connections and networks that previously existed between the deceased and mourners. Value could be transferred by participation

in distribution of the remains, with ritual and symbolic values imbued by participation in the event, and possibly through the act of placing remains in the final deposition as secondary deposits. It is uncertain how many people could participate in distribution of the remains. However, it seems likely that the more connections the deceased had in life, the larger the number of people who participated in distribution of the remains, and therefore the smaller the amount of bone each participant obtained in the distribution. In this paper, it was concluded that in mortuary customs, a transition occurred for both the dead as well as the living. In these transitions, relationships and networks were reconfigured between different individuals, individuals and groups, individuals and objects, and the living and dead. Bodies were converted into "body-objects," but continued to evoke memories of the deceased person's life. Objects became extensions of personhood, and mourners' relationships were reconfigured. Rather than adopting a static, stage-oriented approach, bodies can be viewed as part of different sets of interactions – interactions that defined the personhood of each individual involved.

Appendix C: Unpacking Personhood and Identity in the Hohokam Area of Southern Arizona

This paper attempts to link mortuary customs observed in the Hohokam Preclassic Period with changes in the Classic Period. The identification of and changes in aspects of identity and personhood among the Hohokam are examined from a regional perspective. The chronological and geographical foci were the Tucson Basin Hohokam of Southern Arizona from the Preclassic to Classic Period. This research mainly explores two questions: What are the temporal differences/similarities in mortuary customs, and how do these relate to broader aspects of personhood within Hohokam society? To answer these questions, differences between sites by time period were analyzed to look at patterns on a regional scale. The concept of personhood was used to explore complex relationships between the dead and living using remains from ten Preclassic and Classic Period Hohokam archaeological sites in Southern Arizona. A multidimensional approach was used in this research, and a regional database was created for the Tucson Basin Hohokam. The goal was to explore how a person was represented in mortuary customs through two main data sets: 1) biological profiles of the human skeletal remains; and, 2) posthumous treatment of the body inferred from archaeological context and analysis of the human remains. A total of 764 individuals recovered from single graves were examined from the ten archaeological sites.

During the Preclassic Period, the majority (n=278, 69.8 percent) of burials were secondary deposits of cremated bone or unspecified deposits containing cremated human remains. The remainder consisted of primary and secondary inhumations (n=67, 16.8 percent), primary deposits of cremated bones (n=52, 13.1 percent), and a new burial deposit type - a combination of primary and secondary deposits of cremated bone (n=1, 0.3 percent). Likewise, in the Classic Period, most cremated remains were secondary deposits (n=178, 63.3 percent), while 25.3 percent (n=71) were primary deposits of cremated bones. The new burial type, "primary/secondary cremation deposits," also became more frequent in the Classic Period (n= 32, 11.4 percent). The relationship between burial pattern and time period was statistically significant.

Cremation, in general, was the primary mortuary practice in both the Preclassic and Classic periods. This differs from what has been reported in the Phoenix Basin, where inhumation became the prevalent mortuary practice in the Classic Period. In both the Preclassic and Classic periods in the Tucson Basin, infants usually were not cremated, probably because they had not reached the social age necessary to be considered full members of the society. This pattern is also statistically significant. In addition, only a few adults were not cremated. However, as Cerezo-Román reports elsewhere, the reasons for not cremating infants were very different from the reasons for not cremating adults (2013a).

Using accepted protocols, sex was estimated for few individuals (n= 128, 16.7 percent), but no observable patterns were apparent between sexes by time period or within burial type. The quantity of cremated bone placed in secondary deposits changed from the Preclassic to Classic Period, and these differences are statistically significant.

During the Preclassic Period, most bone weights were less than 50 grams. However, during the Classic Period, there are less drastic differences between bone weights found in secondary deposits and there was a general tendency toward higher bone weights in those deposits. During the Classic Period, there is an increase in burial deposits containing 500 to 1000 grams of bone and a decrease in deposits containing less than 10 grams of bone. In the Preclassic Period, primary deposits of cremated remains present lower weights than the Classic Period.

The statistical mean of bone weights from secondary deposits in the Preclassic Period was much less than in the Classic Period, but the minimum and maximum ranges were similar for the two periods. These differences cannot be explained solely by differential excavation and recovering techniques, as most burials were excavated using similar protocols and techniques that optimized the recovery of the human remains. It is more likely that what is observed is a change in how the living treated the cremated remains of the dead. The evidence indicates that in the Classic Period, the practice of dividing the remains declined. Bodies were burned and later placed in secondary deposits, but were not divided. On several occasions, it was observed that remains were not placed in a secondary deposit, but rather were left in the pyre site and placed inside an urn and/or a pit in the same deposit. This suggests an emphasis in practice on a relational self – part-person and part-object.

During the Classic Period, this practice decreased in frequency, and the remains were not divided, but rather left in place or transferred to a secondary deposit. In the Classic Period, it is probable that networks were more private within each level of organization at a site, and that relational networks of people were less extensive. In addition, not as many people participated in these rituals. Furthermore, it is possible that there was a decrease in the extent of "emotive" or remembrance networks with other individuals. The perceptions of self changed to a more whole and bounded unit even after the self's transformation through the cremation fire. Platform mounds and adobe compounds began to appear among the Classic Period Hohokam. These new types of architecture imply limited access to spaces, as well as an increase in social differentiation. In contrast, Preclassic Period public and social spaces, such as plazas and ball courts, were more open and available, suggesting broader networks and interactions of people within and between sites and communities. The creation of social divisions and segmented spaces reduced interactions between members of the community, and it is possible that this was also reflected in funeral ritual during the Classic Period. The funeral customs of the Classic Period are the result of a more segmented population but possibly closer alliances within the networks. This suggests a change in conceptions of personhood through time not limited to funeral customs, but rather extending to broader aspects of personhood and conceptions about the self among the Tucson Basin Hohokam. These changes in mortuary customs are parallel to broader sociopolitical changes observed in the Classic Period, where an increase in social differentiation and complexity has been recorded.

CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSIONS

My research centers on changes in personhood, identity and funerary rituals from the Early Agricultural Period to the Classic Period in the Tucson Basin, Arizona. This concluding chapter presents a summary of the dissertation and its overarching findings. This dissertation was organized into six parts. The First Chapter presents the background and overarching research problem and describes the unique contribution of this dissertation to the field of study. This was done by explaining the research problems and their contexts. In addition, a literature review was presented. The main overarching research problem of the dissertation is to investigate ancient identities among the Tucson Basin Hohokam by applying the concept of personhood as expressed in mortuary customs through time and space. This concept was used to understand the ranges of identity practices found within site mortuary assemblages, and the ways in which these revealed different aspects of personhood and identity associated with an individual's social networks. In addition, I evaluated how these relate to broader changes in Hohokam society. To explore this overarching research question three papers were produced (see Appendix A, B and C). Different time periods were analyzed in each paper. The first paper focuses on changes in funeral rituals from the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50 and A.D. 50-475), to the early phases of the Hohokam Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750) in Southern Arizona (Cerezo-Román and Watson 2013). The second paper examines how bodies were treated within cremation customs at four Hohokam Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-1150) sites using comparisons with different ethnographic accounts (Cerezo-Román in press). The third article focuses on funeral customs among the Tucson Basin Hohokam from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to the Classic (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) periods (Cerezo-Román 2013).

Chapter One of the dissertation presents a literature review of the main studies of identity and personhood in archaeological research used in this dissertation. In addition, as the research centers on mortuary customs, a general overview of the main studies exploring identity and personhood in mortuary customs is presented. This chapter also

presents a review and critique of Southwestern U.S. mortuary practice studies. My research builds on significant advances in identity studies of past populations, particularly by looking beyond the study of a single attribute of identity to the multiple ways a person's identity was constructed in the past. It employs an original multidimensional approach that has implications for the refinement of archaeological and anthropological method and theory. The results also have a broader anthropological impact because they emphasize a better understanding of broader issues of personhood through time and space. This broader understanding of how personhood changes through time is tied to broader social changes that occurred in the Greater Southwest that have already been documented for the Preclassic and Classic Hohokam. The dissertation research also advances reconstruction of the histories of past populations in the Hohokam region. Although extensive archaeological research has been conducted in the Tucson area, and several large-scale excavations projects have recently been completed, there are as yet no syntheses of mortuary behavior. The present study fills this gap in our knowledge of mortuary customs by incorporating recent archaeological results with previously documented data.

Chapter Two presents the methods, results, and conclusions of the dissertation research. In this chapter, the sample size and criteria used to select individuals included in the analysis are explain. In addition, chronology factors and criteria behind exclusion of burials that did not present chronological information are discussed. In order to evaluate the different research questions, each paper addresses two principal data types: (1) data on the human skeletal remains themselves; and (2) data on the posthumous treatment of the dead, including associated burial objects. These data collected on the human skeletal remains consist of a skeletal inventory, estimation of sex, estimation of age at death, estimation of pathological conditions, degenerative joint disease, and trauma. Information collected on the posthumous treatment of the dead include thermal alterations on burned human bone such as color, fractures and shrinkage caused by fire, and bone weights. Additionally, the deposit type (primary or secondary), body position, body orientation, and a detailed description of the associated burial objects were recorded. Chapter Two

also includes a description of how data are interpreted theoretically, and how the concept of personhood is operationalized. Data generated from the biological profile allows for the examination of specific physiological characteristics in the body that played important roles in the social construction and perception of personhood by the mourners. These variables are combined with those on the posthumous treatment of the body and temporal aspects of the specific archaeological context to help elucidate how bodies were treated after death, as well as the social practices relevant to identity and personhood constructions through time.

Appendix A discusses the change from inhumation to cremation funerary rituals during the formative transition in Southern Arizona – from the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50 and A.D. 50-475), to the early phases of the Hohokam Preclassic Period (A.D. 475-750). In this paper, 146 individuals were evaluated to understand how changes in funerary rituals related to changes in social relationships between the living and dead. During the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods, mortuary customs likely emphasized both group and individual identities based on the preferential use of inhumations. However, cremation slowly became the dominant burial ritual in the early phase of the Preclassic Period. These changes in funeral custom likely reflect a greater investment in these customs and an emerging group identity with strong social cohesion, an observation that also is consistent with other archaeological evidence from the area.

Appendix B focuses on the Hohokam Preclassic Period when cremation was the predominant mortuary ritual. This paper focuses on understanding how personhood was constructed both in life and at death through the different interactions between individuals and the deceased. Treatments of human remains within cremation customs and comparisons with different Southwestern Native American ethnographic accounts of cremation customs are examined. Ethnographic accounts were not used as analogies, but rather were used to see how groups that lived in the areas during historic times interacted with the dead. The results suggest that there was a dynamic transition of personhood for both the living and dead during different stages of the funerary ritual. Bodies were burned
in pyres and the deceased was transformed into "part-person and part-object" evoking both the deceased person's life and different materialities of the cremated remains. In addition, at these events mutually-identifying relationships between the community, family and deceased were created, transformed or destroyed.

Appendix C builds on the previous papers by using a bigger sample to explore the transition in funeral customs from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to Classic period (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) among the Tucson Basin Hohokam. Changes in aspects of personhood through time are examined. In the Preclassic Period, as observed in Appendix B, cremation were the prevalent funeral custom used for most individuals, with the exceptions of neonates and infants. This differential treatment of neonates and infants is also observed in the Classic Period. This suggests that these individuals had not acquired a full personhood, but was still treated with care. The absence of burning does not indicate a disregard for neonates and infant, rather that they were commemorated in a different manner because they were too young to have developed all the requisite relationships that confer personhood for older individuals. On the other hand, children, subadults and adults usually were cremated. Among cremated adult individuals, once the bodies were burned the remains were distributed as inalienable possessions among families and within specific networks, emphasizing a relational social construction of self; part-person and part-object. In the Classic Period cremations continued to be the dominant funerary custom, but the ritual itself changed. Cremated bones were no longer divided, but transferred almost wholly to single secondary deposits. This suggests that perceptions of personhood at this time changed from those of the Preclassic Period, and that the self was considered as a bounded unit and was considered to be relatively whole, even after its transformation during the cremation fire. This change suggests that this transition through time occurred as a result of shifts toward more private rituals and a general decrease in "emotive networks" or "remembrance networks." The changes in mortuary customs through time are similar to broader sociopolitical changes observed among Classic Period Hohokam in other archaeological materials, where an increase in social differentiation and complexity has been postulated.

The findings and conclusions of this research are significant and innovative, as previous studies of mortuary customs among the Hohokam have not been as detailed or extensive in this region. The combined use of data collected from the human skeletal remains themselves, posthumous treatment of the remains, and archaeological assemblages are essential for more robust interpretations of past practices. Analysis of the human skeletal remains is particularly important, as cremated bones have typically been overlooked and understudied.

Cremation customs in past societies are not well understood. However, these complex multistage customs are filled with elements of individual and (sub)group identities. Funerals are events where relationships are formed and/or transformed through interactions between the community, family and deceased. Cremation rituals differ from inhumations by physically transforming the body into bone fragments that can be easily transported, stored and dispersed. The portability of cremated bone allows for very different treatments depending on perceptions of the deceased and how the body was transformed during the funeral (e.g., Williams 2011). Cremation also required extra community investment in the creation of secondary deposits. It is possible to infer these different treatments from a detailed analysis of thermal alteration and posthumous treatment of cremated bones. Previous Hohokam research on mortuary customs has largely relied on the study of inhumations, with little or no attention paid to cremations. This is largely due to the challenges of working with this type of material, which is particularly challenging to study as it presents a high degree of fragmentation and small bone sizes. However, this material was studied in detail in this research and it was possible to acquire significant additional information. This adds another dimension of analysis not previously possible with Hohokam material, allowing for new and innovative ways to study personhood and identity through mortuary customs.

In this research, it also was possible to bridge theory and method by unpacking and operationalizing the concepts of personhood and multiple intersecting identities as applied to past mortuary customs. It was not practical to present a general, universal approach to examining personhood in prehistory; not all intersecting identities or aspects of personhood can be fully identified from past contexts. Additionally, some variables are potential indicators of multiple dimensions of identity, but not all of these dimensions are archaeologically distinguishable. Nonetheless, it was possibly to identify and examine specific intersecting identities and aspects of personhood construction through time by observing the social contexts of change in ritual mortuary behaviors and object use, particularly as related to individual identity, social age and group identity.

Observing funeral rituals within broader social context was of great importance in this research. As the research presented in these different papers has pointed out, similar changes were observed through time in broader issues of personhood and identity. These changes also relate to broader social changes that were occurring in the Tucson Basin in the different time periods. These broader social and cultural changes were inferred from the analysis of other archaeological materials. In the future, it would be valuable to correlate attributes of these cultural changes in a systematic manner to gain more in-depth knowledge of variation within the region. The immediate study of burned human remains in the Southwest is at a critical stage, since skeletal remains are rapidly being repatriated from museum collections and osteological data previously collected from this type of remains are limited. By applying existing methods and those developed in this research and by establishing new data collection protocols that maximize information recovered from cremation analysis, significant new information can be acquired before the remains are gone forever. Expanding the focus to other areas in the American Southwest, Northern Mexico and California also would be of great interest for regional comparisons.

References

Akins, Nancy J. and John D. Schelberg

1984 Evidence for Organization Complexity as Seen from the Mortuary
Practice at Chaco Canyon. In *Recent Research on Chaco Prehistory*, edited by W.
James Judge and John D. Schelberg, pp. 89-102. Reports of the Chaco Center vol.
8. Division of Cultural Research U. S. Department of the Interior National Park
Service Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Ambrose, Stanley H., Jane E. Buikstra and Harold W. Krueger

2003 Status and Gender Differences in Diet at Mound 72, Cahokia, Revealed by Isotopic Analysis of Bone. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 22:217-226.

Andrews, Susan C. and James P. Fenton

2001 Archaeology and the Invisible Man: The Role of Slavery in the Production of Wealth and Social Class in the Bluegrass Region of Kentucky, 1820 to 1870. *World Archaeology* 33:115-135.

Appleby, Joanna

2010 Why We Need an Archaeology of Old Age, and a Suggested Approach. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 43(2):145-168.

2011 Bodies, Burials and Ageing: Accessing The Temporality of Old Age in Prehistoric Societies. *Oxford Journal of Archaeology* 30(3):231-246.

Ardren, Traci

2006 Setting the Table: Why Children and Childhood are Important in an Understanding of Ancient Mesoamerica. In *The Social Experience of Childhood in Ancient Mesoamerica.*, edited by Traci Ardren and Scott Hutson, pp. 3–24. University Press of Colorado, Boulder.

Arnold, Bettina

2002 A Landscape of Ancestors: The Space and Place of Death in Iron Age West-Central Europe. *Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association Special Issue: The Place and Space of Death* 11(1):129-143.

Arnold, Bettina and Nancy L. Wicker (editors)

2001 Gender and the Archaeology of Death. Altamira Press, Walnut Creek, CA.

Babić, Staša

2005 Status Identity and Archaeology. In *The Archaeology of Identity Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by

Margarita Díaz-Andreu, Staša Babić, David N. Edwards and Sam Lucy, pp. 67-85. Routledge, New York.

Baby, Raymond S.

1954 *Hopewell Cremation Practices*. Papers in Archaeology No. 1. Ohio Historical Society, Columbus.

Baker, Mary

1997 Invisibility as a Symptom of Gender Categories in Archaeology. In *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood into European Archaeology*, edited by Jenny Moore and Eleanor Scott, pp. 183–191. Leicester University Press, London/New York.

Baker, Ronald K.

1984 The Relationship of Cranial Suture Closure and Age Analyzed in a Modern Multi-Racial Sample of Males and Females, Department of Anthropology, California State University, Fullerton, California.

Barth, Frederick

1969 Ethnic Groups and Boundaries. Little Brown and Company, Boston.

Barrett, Autumn R. and Michael L. Blakey

2011 Life Histories of Enslaved Africans in Colonia New York: A Bioarchaeological Study of the New York African Burial Ground. In *Social Bioarchaeology*, edited by Sabrina C. Agarwal and Bonnie A. Glencross, pp. 212-251. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden, Massachusetts.

Barrett, James H., Roelf P. Beukens and Rebecca A. Nicholson

2001 Diet and Ethnicity During the Viking Colonization of Northern Scotland: Evidence from Fish Bones and Stable Carbon Isotopes. *Antiquity* 75(287):145–154.

Bass, William M. and Richard L. Jantz

2004 Cremation Weights in East Tennessee. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 49(5):901-904.

Battaglia, Debbora

1983 Projecting Personhood in Melanesia: The Dialectics of Artefact Symbolism on Sabarl Island. *Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland* 18(2):289-304.

1990 On the Bones of the Serpent: Person, Memory and Mortality in Sabarl Island Society. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.

1995 Problematizing the Self: A Thematic Introduction. In *Rhetorics of Self-Making*, edited by Debbora Battaglia, pp. 1-15. University of California Press, Berkeley.

Baxter, Jane Eva (editor)

2005 *The Archaeology of Childhood: Children, Gender, and Material Culture.* Altamira Press, Walnut Creek.

Baxter, Jane Eva

2008 The Archaeology of Childhood. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 37:159-175.

Beck, Lane Anderson (editor)

1995a Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis. Plenum Press, New York.

Beck, Lane Anderson

1995b Regional Cult and Ethic Boundaries in "Southern Hopewell". In *Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis*, edited by Lane A. Beck, pp. 167-187. Plenum Press, New York.

2000 Cremation Deposits from Sunset Mesa. In *Excavations at Sunset Mesa Ruin*, edited by Michael W. Lindeman. Desert Archaeology Research Series, Technical Report No. 2000-02. Desert Archaeology, Inc., Tucson.

2005 Secondary Burial Practices in Hohokam Cremations. In *Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp. 150-154. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

2008 Human Remains. In *Craft Specialization in the Southern Tucson Basin: Archaeological Excavations at the Julian Wash Site, AZ BB:13:17 (ASM), Part 1, Introduction, Excavation Results, and Artifact Investigations*, edited by Henry D. Wallace. Anthropological Papers No. 40. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.

Bedford, Martha E., Katherine E. Russell and Owen C. Lovejoy

1989 The Utility of the Auricular Surface Aging Technique. Paper presented at the 58th AnnuaL Meeting of the Arnerican Association of Physical Anthropologists, San Diego.

Bender, Barbara

2001 Landscapes on the Move. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 1:75-89.

Binford, Lewis R.

1962 Archaeology as Anthropology. American Antiquity 28(413-430).

1963 An Analysis of Cremations from Three Michigan Sites. *Wisconsin Archaeologist* 44(2):89-110.

1965 Archeological Systematics and the Study of Culture Process. *American Antiquity* 31(2):203-210.

1971 Mortuary Practices: Their Study and Their Potential. Paper presented at the Approaches to the Social Dimension of Mortuary Practices, Washington, D. C.

1973 Interassemblage Variability - the Mousterian and the "Functional" Argument. In *The Explanation of Culture Change: Models in Prehistory*, edited by Colin Renfrew, pp. 227-254. Duckworth, London.

Bird-David, Nurit

1993 Tribal Metaphorization of Human-Nature Relatedness—A Comparative Analysis. In *Environmentalism: The View from Anthropology*, edited by Kay Milton, pp. 112-125. Routledge, London.

1999 Animism" Revisited: Personhood, Environment, and Relational Epistemology. *Current Anthropology* 40:67-92.

Bird-David, Nurit and Tal Israeli

2010 A Moment Dead, A Moment Alive. How a Situational Personhood Emerges in the Vegetative State in an Israeli Hospital Unit. *American Anthropology* 112(1):54-65.

Blake, Emma

1999 Identity-Mapping in the Sardinian Bronze Age. *European Journal of Archaeology* 2(1):35-55.

Bloch, Maurice and Jonathan Parry (editors)

1982 *Death and the Regeneration of Life.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Blom, Deborah E.

2005 Embodying Borders: Human Body Modification and Diversity in Tiwanaku Society. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 24(1):1-24.

Bordes, Francois

1973 On the Chronology and Contemporaneity of Different Palaeolithic Cultures in France. In *The Explanation of Culture Change: Models in Prehistory*, edited by Colin Renfrew, pp. 217-226. Duckworth, London.

Bourdieu, Pierre

1977 *Outline of a Theory of Practice*. Cambridge Studies in Social and Cultural Anthropology 16. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1990 *The Logic of Practice*. Translated by Richard Nice. Stanford University Press, Stanford.

Braun, David P.

1981 A Critique of Some Recent North American Mortuary Studies. *American Antiquity* 46:396-416.

Brooks, S. T. and Judy Myers Suchey

1990 Skeletal Age Determination Based on the Os Pubis: A Comparison of the Acsádi-Nemeskeri and Suchey-Brooks Methods. *Human Evolution* 5(227-238).

Brothwell, Don R.

1963 *Digging Up Bones The Excavation, Treatment and Study of Human Skeletal Remains.* The Trustees of The British Museum, London.

Brown, James A. (editor)

1971a Approaches to the Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices, Washington, D.C.

Brown, James A.

1971b The Dimensions of Status in the Burials at Spiro. In *Approaches to the Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices*, edited by James A. Brown, pp. 92-112. Memoirs of the Society for American Archaeology Number 25. American Antiquity.

1995 On Mortuary Analysis with Special Reference to the Saxe-Binford Research Program. In *Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis*, edited by Lane A. Beck, pp. 3-26. Plenum Press, New York.

Brubaker, Rogers and Frederick Cooper

2000 Beyond "Identity." Theory and Society 29(1):1-47.

Brück, Joanna

2001 Monuments, Power and Personhood in the British Neolithic. *The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute* 7(4):649-667.

2004 Material Metaphors: The Relational Construction of Identity in Early Bronze Age Burials in Ireland and Britain. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 4(3):307-333. 2005 Homing Instincts. In *The Archaeology of Plural and Changing Identities: Beyond Identification*, edited by Eleanor Casella and Christopher John Fowler, pp. 135-160. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York.

2006a Death, Exchange and Reproduction in the British Bronze Age. *European Journal of Archaeology* 9(1):73-101.

2006b Fragmentation, Personhood and the Social Construction of Technology in Middle and Late Bronze Age Britain. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 16(3):297-315.

Brumfiel, Elizabeth M.

1991 Weaving and Cooking: Women's Production in Aztec Mexico. In *Engendering Archaeology: Women and Prehistory*, edited by Joan M. Gero and Margaret W. Conkey, pp. 224–253. Blackwell, Oxford.

1992 Distinguished Lecture in Archaeology: Breaking and Entering the Ecosystem - Gender, Class, and Faction Steal the Show. *American Anthropologist* 94:551-567.

Brunson-Hadley, Judy L.

1989 The Social Organization of the Los Muertos Hohokam: A Reanalysis of Cushing's Hemenway Expedition Data. PhD. dissertation, Arizona State University, Tempe.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Rachel E. Scott

2009 Key Concepts in Identity Studies. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity in the Americas*, edited by Kelly J. Knudson and Christopher M. Stojanowski, pp. 24-55. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Mark Swegle

1989 Bone Modification Due to Burning: Experimental Evidence. In *Bone Modification*, edited by Robson Bonnichsen and Marcella Sorg, pp. 247-258. Center for the Study of First Americans Institute of Quaternary Studies. University of Maine, Orono, Maine.

Buikstra, Jane E., Paula D. Tomczak, Maria Cecilia Lozada Cerna and Gordon F. M. Rakita

2005 Chiribaya Political Economy: A Bioarchaeological Perspective. In *Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp. 66-80. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Douglas Ubelaker

1994 Standards for Data Collection from Human Skeletal Remains: Proceeding of a Seminar at the Field Museum of Natural History. Arkansas Archaeology Survey Research Series No. 44, Fayetteville, AR.

Butler, Judith

1990 *Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity.* Routledge, London.

1993 Bodies That Matter. Routledge, London.

1995 Contingent Foundations: Feminism and the Question of "Postmodernism." In *Feminist Contentions: A Philosophical Exchange*, edited by Seyla Benhabib, Judith Butler, Drucilla Cornell and Nancy Fraser, pp. 35-57. Routledge, New York.

Cannon, Aubrey

1989 The Historical Dimension in Mortuary Expressions of Status and Sentiment. *Current Anthropology* 30:437-458.

2005 Gender and Agency in Mortuary Fashion. In *Interacting with the Death: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology of the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane Anderson Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp. 41-65. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Casella, Eleanor Conlin and Christopher John Fowler

2005a Beyond Identification: An Introduction. In *The Archaeology of Plural and Changing Identities Beyond Identification*, edited by Eleanor Conlin Casella and Chris Fowler, pp. 1-8. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, Boston, MA.

Casella, Eleanor Conlin and Christopher John Fowler (editors) 2005b *The Archaeology of Plural and Changing Identities: Beyond Identification.* Kluwer Academic and Plenum Publishers, New York.

Casella, Eleanor and Karina Croucher

2011 Beyond Human: The Materiality of Personhood. *Feminist Theory* 12(209):209-217.

Cerezo-Román, Jessica I.

2010 Mortuary Practices and Personhood among the Hohokam of Southern Arizona. Paper presented at the Symposium: The Performance of Mortuary Ritual in the American Southwest Society for American Archaeology 75th Annual Meeting, St. Louis, Missouri. 2013a Unpacking Personhood and Identity in the Hohokam Area of Southern Arizona. *American Antiquity* (under review).

2013b Pathways to Personhood: Cremation as a Social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam. In *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Gabriel Cooney, Ian Kuijt and Colin Quinn. University of Arizona Press, Tucson. (in press)

Cerezo-Román, Jessica I. and John McClelland

2007 Mortuary Practices at Yuma Wash and the Hohokam Classic World. *Proceedings of the Society for American Archaeology 72nd Annual Meeting*. Austin, Texas.

Cerezo-Román, Jessica I. and Henry D. Wallace

2008 Mortuary Practices at Honey Bee Village Paper presented at the Symposium: Beyond Status, Meaning, Metaphor, and Identity in New World Mortuary Practices Society for American Archaeology 73rd Annual Meeting, Vancouver, British Columbia.

Cerezo-Román, Jessica I. and James T. Watson

2013 From Inhumation to Cremation: Changes in Funerary Rituals in Southern Arizona from the Early Agricultural to Preclassic Periods. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*. (under review)

Chapman, John

2000 Fragmentation in Archaeology: People, Places and Broken Objects in the Prehistory of South-Eastern Europe. Routledge, London.

Chapman, John and Bisserka Gaydarska (editors)

2007 Parts and Wholes: Fragmentation in Prehistoric Context. Oxbow, Oxford.

Chapman, Robert

1977 Burial Practices: An Area of Mutual Interest. In *Archaeology and Anthropology, Areas of Mutual Interest*, edited by Matthew Spriggs, pp. 19-33. vol. 19. British Archaeological Reports.

1981 The Emergence of Formal Disposal Areas and the 'Problem' of Megalithic Tombs in Prehistoric Europe. In *The Archaeology of Death*, edited by Robert Chapman, Ian Kinnes and Klavs Randsbor, pp. 71-81. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Chapman, Robert, Ian Kinnes and Klavs Randsborg (editors) 1981 The Archaeology of Death. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Chesson, Meredith S.

1999 Libraries of the Dead: Early Bronze Age Charnel Houses and Social Identity at Urban Bab Edh-Dhra', Jordan. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 18:137-164.

Chesson, Meredith S. (editor)

2001 Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives in Mortuary Rituals. Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association Number 10

American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia.

Childe, V. Gordon

1951 Man Makes Himself. New American Library, New York.

Clarke, John

2000 Towards a Better Explanation of Hereditary Inequality: A Critical Assessment of Natural and Historical Human Agents. In *Agency in Archaeology*, edited by John Robb and Marcia-Anne Dobres, pp. 92-112. Routledge, London, New York.

Clark, Jeffery J. and Penny Dufoe Minturn

2001 *Tonto Creek Archaeological Project Life and Death Along Tonto Creek.* Anthropological Papers 24. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.

Clarke, David

1968 Analytical Archaeology. Methuen, London.

1972 A Provisional Model of an Iron Age Society and Its Settlement System. In *Models in Archaeology*, edited by David Clarke, pp. 801-869. Methuen, London.

Coleman, William H.

1969 Sex Differences in the Growth of the Human Body Pelvis. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 31:125-151.

Conkey, Margaret Wright

1990 Experimenting with Style in Archaeology: Some Historical and Theoretical Issues. In *The Uses of Style in Archaeology*, edited by Margaret Wright Conkey and Christine Ann Hastorf, pp. 5-17. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Conkey, Margaret Wright and Janet D. Spector

1984 Archaeology and the Study of Gender. In *Archaeological Method and Theory* 7:1-38. Academic Press, New York.

Conklin, Beth A. and Lynn M. Morgan

1996 Babies, Bodies, and the Production of Personhood in North American and a Native Amazonian Society. *Ethos* 24(4):657-694.

Correia, Pamela Mayne and Owen Beattie

2002 A Critical Look at Methods for Recovering, Evaluating, and Interpreting Cremated Human Remains. In *Advance in Forensic Taphonomy Method, Theory, and Archaeological Perspectives*, edited by William D. Haglund and Marcella H. Sorg, pp. 435-450. CRC Press, Boca Raton.

Crabtree, Pam J.

1990 Zooarchaeology and Complex Societies: Some Uses of Faunal Analysis for the Study of Trade, Social Status, and Ethnicity. *Archaeological Method and Theory* 2:155-205.

Craig, Douglas B.

1989 *Archaeological Testing at Honey Bee Village (AZ: BB:9:88 ASM).* Technical Report No. 89-6. Institute for American Research, Mesa, Arizona.

Creel, Darrell

1989 A Primary Cremation at the NAN Ranch Ruin, with Comparative Data on Other Cremations in the Mimbres Area, New Mexico. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 16(3):309-329.

Crown, Patricia L.

1999 Socialization in American Southwest Pottery Decoration. In *Pottery and People: A Dynamic Interaction*, edited by James M. Skibo and Gary M. Feinman, pp. 25-43. University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City.

Crown, Patricia L. and Suzanne K. Fish

1996 Gender and Status in the Hohokam Pre-Classic to Classic Transition. *American Anthropologist* 98(4):803-817.

Daniel, Valentine E.

1984 *Fluid Signs: Being a Person the Tamil Way.* University of California Press, Berkeley.

de Certeau, Michael

1988 *The Practice of Everyday Life.* Translated by Steve Rendall. University of California Press, Berkeley.

DeCorse, Christopher. R.

1989 Material Aspects of Limba, Yalunka and Kuranko Ethnicity: Archaeological Research in Northeastern Sierra Leone. In *Archaeological* *Approaches to Cultural Identity*, edited by Stephen J. Shennan, pp. 125-140. Unwin Hyman, London.

Derrida, Jacques

1978 Writing and Difference. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Devlin, Joanne B. and Nicholas P. Herrmann

2008 Bone Color as an Interpretative Tool of the Depositional History of Archaeological Cremains. In *The Analysis of Burned Human Remains*, edited by Christopher W. Schmidt and Steven A. Symes, pp. 109-128. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Díaz-Andreu, Margarita

1998 Ethnicity and Iberians: The Archaeological Crossroads between Perception and Material Culture. *European Journal of Archaeology* 2(2):199-218.

2005 Gender Identity. In *The Archaeology of Identity Approaches to Gender*, *Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by Margarita Díaz-Andreu, Sam Lucy, Staša Babić and David N. Edwards, pp. 13-42. Routledge, New York.

Díaz-Andreu, Margarita and Sam Lucy

2005 Introduction. In *The Archaeology of Identity: Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by Margarita Díaz-Andreu, Sam Lucy, Staša Babić and David N. Edwards, pp. 1-12. Routledge, New York.

 Díaz-Andreu, Margarita, Sam Lucy, Staša Babić and David N. Edwards (editors)
 2005 The Archaeology of Identity: Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion. Routledge, London, New York.

Dietler, Michael and Ingrid Herbich

1998 Habitus, Techniques, Style: An Integrated Approach to the Social Understanding of Material Culture and Boundaries. In *The Archaeology of Social Boundaries*, edited by Miriam T. Stark, pp. 232-263. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

Di Peso, Charles C.

1956 The Upper Pima of San Cayetano del Tumacacori: An Archaeological Reconstruction of the Ootam of the Pimeria Alta. The Amerind Foundation, No 7, Dragoon.

Douglas, Mary and Steven Ney

1998 *Missing Persons: A Critique of the Social Sciences.* University of California Press, Berkeley.

Edmonds, Mark M.

1990 Description, Understanding and the Chaîne Opératoire. *Archaeological Review from Cambridge* 9(1):55-70.

Effland, Richard W. Jr.

1988 An Examination of Hohokam Mortuary Practice from Casa Buena. In *Excavations at Casa Buena: Changing Hohokam Land Use along the Squaw Peak Parkway*, edited by Jerry B. Howard, pp. 693-794. Soil Systems Publications in Archaeology. vol. 2. Soil Systems, Inc., Phoenix, Arizona.

Ezell, Paul H.

1963 Is There a Hohokam-Pima Cultural Continuum? *American Antiquity* 29(1):61-66.

Ezzo, Joseph (editor)

2005 Ballcourt on the Bajada: Data Recovery at Sleeping Snake Village (AZ BB:9:104 [ASM] and Los Venados (AZ BB:9:186 [ASM]), Oro Valley, Arizona. SWCA Environmental Consultants, Tucson, Arizona.

2008 Archaeological Data Recovery at Fagan Ranch, Corona de Tucson, Pima County, Arizona. SWCA Environmental Consultants.

Fairchild, Mark D.

2005 *Color Appearance Models*. 2 ed. John Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester, West Sussex, England.

Fairgrieve, Scott L.

2008 *Forensic Cremation: Recovery and Analysis.* CRC Press Taylor and Francis Group, Boca Raton.

Fazekas, István Gyula, and Ferenc Kósa

1978 Forensic Fetal Osteology. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.

Fish, Paul R. and Suzanne K. Fish

1991 Hohokam Political and Social Organization. In *Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest* edited by George J. Gumerman, pp. 151-175. Amerind Foundation New World Studies Series. Amerind Foundation and University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, Arizona.

Fish, Paul R. and Suzanne K. Fish (editors)

2007 The Hohokam Millennium. School for Advance Research, New Mexico.

Fisher, Genevieve and Diana DiPaolo Loren

2003 Embodying Identities in Archaeology. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 13:225-261.

Fortes, Meyer

1987 *Religion, Morality and the Person: Essays on Tallensi Religion.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Foucault, Michel

1978 *The History of Sexuality*. Routledge, London.

Fowler, Christopher John

1999 On Discourse and Materiality: Personhood in the Neolithic of the Isle of Man. PhD, Department of Archaeology, University of Southampton.

2001 Personhood and Social Relations in the British Neolithic with a Study from the Isle of Man. *Journal of Material Culture* 6(2):137-163.

2004 *The Archaeology of Personhood: An Anthropological Approach.* Themes in Archaeology. Routledge, London.

2010 From Identity and Material Culture to Personhood and Materiality. In *The Oxford Handbook of Material Culture Studies*, edited by Dan Hicks and Mary D. Beaudry, pp. 352-385. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

France, Diane L.

1998 Observational and Metric Analysis of Sex in the Skeleton. In *Forensic Osteology: Advances in the Identification of Human Remains*, edited by Kathleen J. Reichs, pp. 163–186. Second ed. Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, IL.

Gejvall, Nils-Gustaf

1969 Cremations. In *Science in Archaeology: A Survey of Process and Research*, edited by Don R. Brothwell and Eric Higgs, pp. 379-389. Second ed. Thames and Hudson, London.

1981 Determination of Burned Bones from Prehistoric Graves: Observation on the Cremated Bones from the Graves at Horn. *Ossa Letters* 2.

Geller, Pamela L.

2005 Skeletal Analysis and Theoretical Complications. *World Archaeology* 37(4):597-609.

2008 Conceiving Sex. Fomenting a Feminist Bioarchaeology. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 8(1):113-138.

2009 Bodyscapes, Biology, and Heteronormativity. *American Anthropologist* 111(4):504-516.

- Gero, Joan M. and Margaret W. Conkey (editors) 1991 Engendering Archaeology. Blackwell, Oxford
- Gibbs, Tyson, Kathleen Cargill, Leslie Sue Lieberman and Elizabeth Reitz
 1980 Nutrition in a Slave Population: An Anthropological Examination. *Medical Anthropology* 4:175–262.

Giddens, Anthony

1984 *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration*. First ed. University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles.

1991 *Modernity and Self-Identity: Self and Society in the Late Modern Age.* Stanford University Press, Stanford, California.

Gilchrist, Roberta

1999 Gender and Archaeology: Contesting the Past. Routledge, London.

2000 World Archaeology: Life cycles. 31. Routledge, London.

2004 Archaeology and the Life Course: A Time and Age for Gender. In *A Companion to Social Archaeology*, edited by Lynn Meskell and Robert W. Preucel, pp. 142-160. Blackwell, Oxford.

Giles, Melanie

2008 Identity, Community and the Person in Later Prehistory. In *Prehistoric Britain*, edited by Joshua Pollard, pp. 330-350. Blackwell, Oxford.

Gillespie, Susan D.

2001 Personhood, Agency, and Mortuary Ritual: A Case Study from the Ancient Maya. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 20:73-112.

2011 Inside and Outside: Residential Burial at Formative Period Chalcatzingo, Mexico. In *Residential Burial: A Multiregional Exploration*, edited by Ron L. Adams and Stacie M. King, pp. 98-120. Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association, Number 20, Cathy Lynne Costin, general editor. Wiley Periodicals, Inc., Malden, MA.

Ginn, Jay and Sara Arber

1995 "Only Connect": Gender Relations and Ageing" In *Connecting Gender and Ageing: A Sociological Approach*, edited by Sara Arber and Jay Ginn, pp. 1-14. One University Press, Buckingham, Philadelphia.

Glaskin, Katie

2012 Anatomies of Relatedness: Considering Personhood in Aboriginal Australia. *American Anthropologist* 114(2):297-308.

Goldstein, Lynne

1976 Spatial Structure and Social Organization: Regional Manifestations of Mississippian Society. PhD Dissertation, Anthropology, Northwestern University, Illinois.

2001 Ancient Southwest Mortuary Practices: Perspectives from Outside the Southwest. In *Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology, and Native American Perspectives*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 249-256. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque, New Mexico.

2006 Mortuary Analysis and Bioarchaeology. In *Bioarchaeology The Contextual Analysis of Human Remains*, edited by Jane E. Buikstra and Lane A. Beck, pp. 357-387. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Gonçalves, David, Tim J. U. Thompson and Eugenia Cunha

2011 Implications of Heat-Induced Changes in Bone on the Interpretation of Funerary Behaviour and Practice. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 38:1308-1313.

Gosden, Chris and Yvonne Marshall

1999 The Cultural Biography of Objects. World Archaeology 31(2):169-178.

Goodenough, Ward H.

1965 Rethinking " Status" and " Role" Toward a General Model of the Cultural Organization of Social Relationships. In *The Relevance of Models of Social Anthropology*, edited by Jesus College Association of Social Anthropologist of the Commonwealth, University of Cambridge, pp. 1-24. A. S. A. Monographs, 1. F. A. Praeger, New York.

Gowland, Rebecca

2002 Age as an Aspect of Social Identity in Fourth- to Sixth-Century AD England: The Archaeological Funerary Evidence, Department of Archaeology, University of Durham, Durham. 2006 Ageing the Past: Examining Age Identity from Funerary Evidence. In *Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains*, edited by Rebecca Gowland and Christopher Knüsel, pp. 143-154. Oxford Books, Oxford, U. K. .

Greber, N'omi

1979 Variations in Social Structure of Ohio Hopewell Peoples. *Midcontinental Journal of Archaeology* 4:35-78.

Gruber, Jacob W.

1971 Death in a Late Prehistoric Village in Pennsylvania. *American Antiquity* 36:64-76.

Hallam, Elizabeth and Jennifer Hockey

2001 Death, Memory and Material Culture. Oxford, Berg.

Hammond, Gawain and Norman Hammond

1981 Child's Play: a Distorting Factor in Archaeological Distribution. *American Antiquity* 46:634–636.

Harris, Grace G.

1989 Concepts of Individuals, Self, and Person in Description and Analysis. *American Anthropologist* 91:599-612.

Harrod, Ryan P.

2012 Centers of Control: Revealing Elites Among the Ancestral Pueblo During the "Chaco Phenomenon." *International Journal of Paleopathology* 2:123-135.

Hastorf, Christine A.

1991 Gender, Space, and Food in Prehistory. In *Engendering Archaeology: Women and Prehistory*, edited by Joan M. Gero and Margaret Wright Conkey, pp. 132–159. Blackwell, Oxford

Hayden, Julian D.

1970 Of Hohokam Origins and Other Matters. *American Antiquity* 35(1):87-93.

Hawkey, Diane E.

1998 Disability, Compassion, and the Skeletal Record: Using Musculoskeletal Stress Markers (MSM) to Construct an Osteobiography from Early New Mexico. *International Journal of Osteoarchaeology* 8:326-340.

Hertz, Robert

1960 Death and the Right Hand: A Contribution to the Study of the Collective Representation of Death. Translated by Rodney Needham and Claudia Needham. Free Press, Glencoe, Illinois.

Hill, James N.

1970 Broken K Pueblo: Prehistoric Social Organization in the American Southwest. Anthropological Papers of the University of Arizona 18. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Hodder, Ian

1978 Simple Correlation between Material Cultural and Society: A Review. In *The Spatial Organization of Culture*, edited by Ian Hodder, pp. 3-24. Duckworth, London.

1979 Economic and Social Stress and Material Culture Patterning. *American Antiquity* 44(3):446–454.

1980 Social Structure and Cemeteries: A Critical Appraisal. In *Anglo-Saxon Cemeteries*, edited by Philip Rahtz, Tania Dickinson and Lorna Watts, pp. 161-169. BAR British Series 82. British Archaeological Report, Oxford.

1982a The Identification and Interpretation of Ranking in Prehistory: A Contextual Perspective. In *Ranking, Resource, and Exchange: Aspects of the Archaeology of Early European Society*, edited by Colin Renfrew and Stephen J. Shennan, pp. 150-154. New Directions in Archaeology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1982b *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1982c Symbols in Action. In *Ethnoarchaeological Studies of Material Culture*, pp. 194-201. Cambridge University Press, London.

1996 *Reading the Past: Current Approaches to Interpretation in Archaeology.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1991 Interpretive Archaeology and Its Role. *American Antiquity* 56(1):7-18.

Hodder, Ian and Clive Orton

1976 Spatial Analysis in Archaeology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Hodson, Frank Roy

1977 Quantifying Hallstatt: Some Initial Results. *American Antiquity* 42:394-412.

Hollimon, Sandra E.

1997 The Third Gender in Native California: Two-Spirit Undertakers Among The Chumash and Their Neighbors. In *Women in Prehistory*, edited by Cheryl Claassen and Rosemary A. Joyce, pp. 173-188. University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia, PA.

2001 Warfare and Gender in the Northern Plains: Osteological Evidence of Trauma Reconsidered. In *Gender and the Archaeology of Death*, edited by Bettina Arnold and Nancy L. Wicker, pp. 179-194. Gender and Archaeology Series, Sarah Milledge Nelson, general editor. Altamira Press, Walnut Creek, CA.

2011 Sex and Gender in Bioarchaeological Research: Theory, Method, and Interpretation. In *Social Bioarchaeology*, edited by Sabrina C. Agarwal and Bonnie A. Glencross, pp. 149-182. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden, Massachusetts.

Hoskins, Janet

1989 *Biographical Objects: How Things Tell the Stories of People's Lives.* Routledge, London.

Howell, Todd L.

1994 Leadership at the Ancestral Zuni Village of Hawikku. PhD Dissertation, Arizona State University, Tempe.

1995 Tracking Zuni Gender and Leadership Roles across the Contact Period in the Zuni Region. *Journal of Anthropological Research* 51:125-147.

2001 Foundations of Political Power in Ancestral Zuni Society. In *Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology and Native American Perspectives.*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 149-166. University of New Mexico, Albuquerque.

Huxley, Angie K.

1998 Analysis of Shrinkage in Human Fetal Diaphyseal Length form Fresh to Dry Bone Using Petersohn and Köhler's Data. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 43(2):423-426.

Huxley, Angie K. and Ferenc Kósa

1999 Calculation of Percentage Shrinkage in Human Fetal Diaphyseal Lengths from Fresh Bone to Carbonized and Calcined Bone using Petersohn and Köhler's data. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 44(3):577-583.

- İşcan, Mehmet Yaşar, Susan R. Loth and Ronald K. Wright
 1984 Metamorphosis at the Sternal Rib End: A New Method to Estimate Age at
 Death in White Males. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 65(2):147-156.
- İşcan, Mehmet Yaşar, Susan R. Loth and Ronald K. Wright
 1987 Biological Variation in Sternal Extremity of the Rib and its Effect on Age Determination. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 32(2):452-466.

İşcan, Mehmet Yaşar and Loth Susan R.

1986 Determination of Age from Sternal Rib by the Phase Analysis in White Females: A Test of the Phase Method. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 31:90-92.

Jenkins, Richard

1996 Social Identity. Routledge, London.

Jones, Andrew

2005 Lives in Fragments? Personhood and the European Neolithic. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 5(2):193-224.

Jones, Siân

1997 *The Archaeology of Ethnicity: Constructing Identities in the Past and Present.* Routledge, London.

Joyce, Rosemary A.

2000a Girling the Girl and Boying the Boy: The Production of Adulthood in Ancient Mesoamerica. *World Archaeology* 31(3):473-483.

2000b Heirlooms and Houses: Materiality and Social Memory. In *Beyond Kinship: Social and Material Reproduction in House Societies*, edited by Rosemary A. Joyce and Susan D. Gillespie, pp. 189-212. University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia.

2001a Burying the Dead at Tlatilco: Social Memory and Social Identities. In *Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives on Mortuary Rituals*, edited by Meredith S. Chesson, pp. 12-26. vol. No. 10. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia.

2001b Negotiating sex and gender in Classic Maya society. In *Gender in Pre-Hispanic America*, edited by C. F. Klein, pp. 109–141. Dumbarton Oaks, Washington, DC.

2002 Beauty, Sexuality, Body Ornamentation and Gender in Ancient Mesoamerica. In *In Pursuit of Gender*, edited by Sarah M. Nelson and Myriam Rosen-Ayalon, pp. 81–92. AltaMira, Walnut Creek, CA.

2005 Archaeology of the Body. Annual Review of Anthropology 34:139-158.

2008 *Ancient Bodies, Ancient Lives: Sex, Gender, and Archaeology.* Thames & Hudson, New York.

Joyce, Rosemary A. and Cheryl Claassen

1997 Women in the Ancient Americas: Archaeologists, Gender, and the Making of Prehistory. In *Women In Prehistory: North America and Mesoamerica*, edited by Cheryl Claassen and Rosemary A. Joyce, pp. 1-14. University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia.

Joyce, Rosemary A. and Jeanne Lopiparo

2005 PostScript: Doing Agency in Archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 12(4):365-374.

Kamp, Kathryn A.

1998 Social Hierarchy and Burial Treatments: A Comparative Assessment. *Cross-Cultural Research* 32:79-115.

2001 Where have all the Children Gone? The Archaeology of Childhood. *Journal Archaeological Method and Theory* 8(1):1–34.

2006 Dominant Discourses; Lived Experiences: Studying the Archaeology of Children. In *Children in Action: Perspectives on the Archaeology of Childhood*, edited by Jane Eva Baxter, pp. 115–122. Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association. vol. 15. University of California Press Berkeley.

Kamp, Kathryn A., Nichole Timmerman, Gregg Lind, Jules Graybill and Ian Natowsky 1999 Discovering Childhood: Using Fingerprints to Find Children in the Archaeological Record. *American Antiquity* 64(2):309-315.

King, Linda

1969 The Medea Creek Cemetery (Lan-243): An Investigation of Social Organization from Mortuary Practices. *Archaeological Survey Annual Report* 11:23-68.

Knudson, Kelly J. and Deborah E. Blom

2009 The Complex Relationship between Tiwanaku Mortuary Identity and Geographic Origin in the South Central Andes. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity in*

the Americas, edited by Kelly J. Knudson and Christopher M. Stojanowski, pp. 194-211. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Knudson, Kelly J. and Christopher M. Stojanowski

2008 New Directions in Bioarchaeology: Recent Contributions to the Study of Human Social Identities. *Journal of Anthropological Research* 16:397-342.

Knüsel, Christopher L.

1999 Orthopaedic Disability: Some Hard Evidence *Disability and Archaeology*. *Archaeological Method and Theory* 8:1-34.

Krogman, Wilson Marion

1939 *A Guide to the Identification of Human Skeleton Material.* The Law Enforcement Bulletin, Federal Bureau of Investigation 8, Washington.

Kuijt, Ian

1996 Negotiating Equality through Ritual: A Consideration of Late Natufian and Prepottery Neolithic Period Mortuary Practices. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 15:313-336.

2001 Place, Death, and the Transmission of Social Memory in Early Agricultural Communities of the Near Eastern Pre-Pottery Neolithic. In *Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives on Mortuary Rituals,* edited by Meredith S. Chesson, pp. 80-99. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia.

Laviolette, Patrick

2003 Landscaping Death: Resting Places for Cornish Identity. *Journal of Material Culture* 8(2):215-240.

Lee, Mireille M.

2000 Deciphering Gender in Minoan Dress. In *Reading the Body: Representations and Remains in the Archaeological Record*, edited by Alison E. Rautman, pp. 111-123. University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia.

Lemonnier, Pierre

1993 Introduction. In *Technological Choices: Transformation in Material Culture Since the Neolithic*, edited by Pierre Lemonnier, pp. 1-35. Routledge, London.

Lewis, Mary E.

2006 *The Bioarchaeology of Children Perspectives from Biological and Forensic Anthropology.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Lightfoot, Kent G. and Steadman Upham

1989 Complex Societies in the Prehistoric American Southwest: A Consideration of the Controversy. In *The Sociopolitical Structure of Prehistoric Southwestern Societies*, edited by Steadman Upham, Kent G. Lightfoot and Roberta A. Jewett, pp. 3-30. Westview Press, Boulder, CO.

Lillehammer, Grette

1989 A Child is Born: The Child's World in An Archaeological Perspective. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 22:89–105.

Loendorf, Chris

1998 Salado Burial Practices and Social Organization. In *A Synthesis of Tonto Basin Prehistory: The Roosevelt Archaeology Studies, 1989 to 1998*, edited by Glen E. Rice, pp. 193-230. Roosevelt Monograph Series, No 12 Anthropological Field Studies No. 14, Arizona State University, Tempe.

Longacre, William A.

1970 *Archaeology as Anthropology: A Case Study*. Anthropological Papers of the University of Arizona 17. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Lovejoy, C. Owen, Richard Meindl, Thomas R. Pryzbeck and Robert P. Mensforth 1985 Chronological Metamorphosis of the Auricular Surface of the Illiam: A New Method for the Determination of Adult Skeletal Age of Death. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 68:15-28.

Lowell, Julia C.

2007 Archaeology Women and Men in Warfare and Migration: Implications of Gender Imbalance in the Grasshopper Region of Arizona. *American Antiquity* 72(1):95-123.

Lucy, Sam

2005a The Archaeology of Age. In *The Archaeology of Identity: Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by Margarita Díaz-Andreu, Sam Lucy, Staša Babić and David N. Edwards, pp. 43-66. Routledge, New York.

2005b Ethnic and Cultural Identities. In *The Archaeology of Identity Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by Margarita Díaz-Andreu, Staša Babić, David N. Edwards and Sam Lucy, pp. 88-109. Routledge, New York.

Mann, Robert W., Richard L. Jantz, William M. Bass and P. S. Willey
 1991 Maxillary Suture Oblitetation: A Visual Method for Estimating Skeletal
 Age. *Journal of Forensic Science* 36:781-791.

Marcus, Michelle I.

1993 Incorporating the Body: Adornment, Gender, and Social Identity in Ancient Iran. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 3(2):157-178.

McClelland, John

2012 Human Remains Documentation Packet, pp. Access to Human Skeletal Collection Form. vol. 2013. Arizona State Museum, The University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona.

McGuire, Randall H.

1992 *Death, Society and Ideology in a Hohokam Community*. Investigations in American Archaeology. Westview Press, Boulder, Colorado.

2001 Ideologies of Death and Power in the Hohokam Community of La Ciudad. In Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology, and Native American Perspectives, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 27-44. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque, New Mexico.

McKinley, Jacqueline I.

1989 Cremations: Expectations, Methodologies and Realities. In *Burial Archaeology: Current Research, Methods and Developments*, edited by Charlotte A. Roberts, Frances Lee and John L. Bintliff, pp. 65-79. British Archaeological Reports, British Series 211. British Archaeological Reports, Oxford, England.

1994 Bone Fragment Size in British Cremation Burials and its Implications for Pyre Technology and Ritual. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 21:339-342.

2000 The Analysis of Cremated Bone. In *Human Osteology in Archaeology and Forensic Science*, edited by Margaret Cox and Simon Mays, pp. 403-421. Greenwich Medical Media Ltd., London.

McKinley, Jacqueline I. and Julie M. Bond

2001 Cremated Bone. In *Handbook of Archaeological Sciences*, edited by Don R. Brothwell and A. Mark Pollard, pp. 281-292. John Wiley & Sons, LTD, Chischester.

Meindl, Richard S. and C. Owen Lovejoy

1985 Ectocranial Suture Closure: A Revised Method for the Determination of Skeletal Age at Death Based in the Lateral-Anterior Suture. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 68. 1989 Age Change in the Pelvis: Implications for Paleodemography. In *Age Markers in the Human Skeleton*, edited by Mehmet Yaşar İşcan, pp. 137-168. Charles Thomas, Springfield, Illinois.

Mengoni, Luisa E.

2010 Identity Formation in a Border Area: The Cemeteries of Baoxing, Western Sichuan (Third Century BCE – Second Century CE). *Journal of Social Archaeology* 10(2):198-229.

Meskell, Lynn

1996 The Somatization of Archaeology: Institutions, Discourses, Corporeality. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 29:1-16.

1999 Archaeologies of Social Life: Age, Sex, and Class in Ancient Egypt. Basil Blackwell, Oxford.

2000 Cycles of Life and Death: Narrative Homology and Archaeological Realities. *World Archaeology* 31(3):423-441.

Meskell, Lynn M. and Rosemary A. Joyce

2003 *Embodied Lives Figuring Ancient Maya and Egyptian Experience*. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group, London.

Mills, Barbara

2001 Gender, Crafts Production, and Inequality. In *Women & Men in the Prehispanic Southwest: Labor, Power, & Prestige*, edited by Patricia L. Crown, pp. 301-344. School of American Research Press, Santa Fe.

2004 The Establishment and Defeat of Hierarchy: Inalienable Possessions and the History of Collective Prestige Structures in the Pueblo Southwest. *American Anthropologist* 106(2):238-251.

Mitchell, Douglas R.

1994 The Pueblo Grande Burial Artifact Analysis: A Search for Wealth, Ranking, and Prestige. In *The Pueblo Grande Project: An Analysis of Classic Period Hohokam Mortuary Patterns*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Christopher Carr. Soil Systems Publications in Archaeology Vol. 7. Soil Systems, Phoenix, Arizona.

Mitchell, Douglas R. and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley

2001 An Evaluation of Classic Period Hohokam Burials and Society: Chiefs, Priests, or Acephalous Complexity? In *Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology and Native American* *Perspectives*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 45-67. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Murray, K. A. and Jerome C. Rose

1993 The Analysis of Cremains: A Case Study Involving the Inappropriate Disposal of Mortuary Remains. *Journal of Forensic Science* 38:98-103.

Murray, Wendy F. and Barbara J. Mills

2013 Identity Communities and Material Practices: Logics of Ritual Deposition in the U.S. Southwest. In *Relational Archaeologies*, edited by Christopher Watts, pp. 135-153. Routledge Press, London.

Montgomery, Janet A. and Jane A. Evans

2006 Immigrants on the Isle of Lewis - Combining Traditional Funerary and Modern Isotope Evidence to Investigate Social Differentiation, Migration and Dietary Change in the Outer Hebrides of Scotland. In *The Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains*, edited by Rebecca Louise Gowland and Christopher L. Knüsel, pp. 122-142. Oxbow Books, Oxford.

Moore, Jenny and Eleanor Scott

1997 Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood into European Archaeology. Leicester University Press, London.

Morris, Ian

1991 Archaeology of Ancestors. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* VI(2):147-169.

1992 *Death-Ritual and Social Structure in Classical Antiquity*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Mowrer, Kathy

2006 Basketmaker II Mortuary Practices: Social Differentiation and Regional Variation. *Kiva* 72(2):259-281.

Neitzel, Jill E.

2001 Gender Hierarchies: A Comparative Analysis of Mortuary Data. In *Women & Men in the Prehispanic Southwest: Labor, Power, & Prestige*, edited by Patricia L. Crown, pp. 137-168. School of American Research Press, Santa Fe.

Nystrom, Kenneth C.

2009 The Reconstruction of Identity A Case Study from Chachapoya, Peru. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity in the Americas*, edited by Kelly J. Knudson and Christopher M. Stojanowski, pp. 82-102. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

O'Shea, John M.

1984 *Mortuary Variability: An Archaeological Investigation*. Academic Press, New York.

Ortner, Sherry B.

1984 Theory in Anthropology since the Sixties. *Comparative Studies in Society and History* 26:126–166.

Orton, C. G. and F. R. Hodson

1981 Rank and Class: Interpreting the Evidence from Prehistoric Cemeteries. In *Mortality and Immortality: The Anthropology and Archaeology of Death*, edited by Sarah C. Humphreys and Helen King, pp. 103-115. Academic Press, London.

Owoc, Mary Ann

2005 From the Ground Up: Agency, Practice, and Community in the Southwestern British Bronze Age. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 12(4):257-281.

Pader, Ellen-Jane

1982 *Symbolism, Social Relations and the Interpretation of Mortuary Remains.* BAR International Series 130. B.A.R., Oxford.

Parker Pearson, Mike

1982 Mortuary Practices, Society and Ideology: An Ethnoarchaeological Study. In *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*, edited by Ian Hodder, pp. 99-113. New Directions in Archaeology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1999 *The Archaeology of Death and Burial*. Texas A&M University Press, Texas.

Pauketat, Timothy R. and Susan M. Alt

2005 Agency in a Postmold? Physicality and the Archaeology of Culture-Making. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 12(3):213-236.

Peebles, Christopher

1971 Moundville and Surrounding Sites: Some Structural Considerations of Mortuary Practices II. In *Approaches to the Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices*, edited by James A. Brown, pp. 68-91. Memoirs of the Society for American Archaeology Number 25. American Antiquity.

Peebles, Christopher and Susan Kus

1977 Some Archaeological Correlates of Ranked Societies. *American Antiquity* 42:417-484.

Peleg, Yifat

2002 Gender and Ossuaries: Ideology and Meaning. *Bulletin of the American Schools of Oriental Research* 325:65-73.

Perry, Elizabeth and Rosemary Joyce

2001 Providing a Past for "Bodies That Matter": Judith Butler's Impact on the Archaeology of Gender. *International Journal of Sexuality and Gender Studies* 6:63-76.

Perry, Elizabeth Marie

2004 Bioarchaeology of Labor and Gender in the Prehispanic American Southwest. PhD Dissertation, Anthropology Department, University of Arizona, Tucson.

Petersohn, F. and J. Köhler

1965 Die Bedeutung der Veräderungen an Fetalen Röherenknochen Nach Trocknung und Hitzeeinwirkung für Die Forensische Begutachtung der Fruchgrösse. *Archive für Kriminologie* 134:143.

Phenice, Terrell Wayne

1969 A Newly Developed Visual Method of Sexing in the Os Pubis. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 30:297-301.

Potter, James M. and Elizabeth M. Perry

2011 Mortuary Features and Identity Construction in an Early Village Community in the American Southwest. *American Antiquity* 76(3):529-546.

Rakita, Gordon F. M.

2001 Social Complexity, Religious Organization, and Mortuary Ritual in the Casas Grandes Region of Chihuahua, Mexico. PhD dissertation, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, New Mexico.

2008 Mortuary and Non-Mortuary Ritual Practices at the Pre-Hispanic Site of Paquimé (Casas Grandes), Chihuahua, Mexico. In *Reanalysis and Reinterpretation in Southwestern Bioarchaeology*, edited by Ann L. Stodder, pp. 55-82. Anthropological Research Papers, Geoffrey A. Clark, general editor. Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona.

Rakita, Gordon F. M. and Jane E. Buikstra

2005a Introduction. In *Interacting with the Dead. Perspective on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp. 1-11. University Press of Florida, Gainesville. 2005b Corrupting Flesh: Reexamining Hertz's Perspective on Mummification and Cremation. In *Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp. 97-106. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

 Rakita, Gordon F. M., Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams (editors)
 2005 Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

Ravesloot, John C.

1984 Social Differentiation at Casas Grandes, Chihuahua, Mexico: An Archaeological Analysis of Mortuary Practices. PhD dissertation, Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, Illinois.

1988 Mortuary Practices and Social Differentiation at Casas Grandes, Chihuahua, Mexico. Anthropological Papers of The University of Arizona. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Rega, Elizabeth

2000 The Gendering of Children in the Early Bronze Age Cemetery at Mokrin. In *Gender and Material Culture in Archaeological Perspective*, edited by M. Donald and L. Hurcombe, pp. 238-249. Palgrave Macmillan, New York.

Renfrew, Colin

1973 Monuments, Mobilization and Social Organization in Neolithic Wessex. In *The Explanation of Culture Change: Models in Prehistory*, edited by Colin Renfrew, pp. 529-538. Gerald Duckworth and Co. Ltd., London.

Robb, John

2002 Time and Biography: Osteobiography of the Italian Neolithic Lifespan. In *Thinking Through the Body: Archaeologies of Corporeality*, edited by Yannis Hamilakis, pp. 153-171. Academic/Plenum Publishers, Kluwer.

Robb, John, Renzo Bigazzi, Luca Lazzarini, Caterina Scarsini and Fiorenza Sonegoa 2001 Social "Status" and Biological "Status": A Comparison of Grave Goods and Skeletal Indicators from Pontecagnano. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 115:213-222.

Robb, John E. and Marcia-Anne Dobres

2000 Agency in Archaeology. Routledge, London, New York.

Robben, Antonius C. G. M (editor)

2004 *Death, Mourning, and Burial: A Cross-Cultural Reader*. Blackwell Publishing, United Kingdom.

Roberts, Charlotte

1999 Disability in the Skeletal Record: Assumptions, Problems, and Some Examples. Special issue Disability and Archaeology. *Archaeological Method and Theory* 15:79-97.

2011 The Bioarchaeology of Leprosy and Tuberculosis: A Comparative Study of Perceptions, Stigma, Diagnosis, and Treatment. In *Social Bioarchaeology*, edited by Sabrina C. Agarwal and Bonnie A. Glencross, pp. 252-282. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden, Massachusetts.

Rothschild, Nan A.

1979 Mortuary Behavior and Social Organization at Indian Knoll and Dickson Mounds. *American Antiquity* 44:658-675.

2002 Introduction. In *Children in the Prehistoric Puebloan Southwest*, edited by Kathryn A. Kamp, pp. 1-13. The University of Utah Press, Utah.

Rowlands, Michael J.

1998 Consumption and Ethnicity in the Interpretation of Cultural Form. In *Papers from the EAA Third Annual Meeting at Ravenna 1997, Volume 1: Preand Protohistory*, edited by Mark Pearce and Maurizio Tosi, pp. 261-263. BAR International Series 717. British Archaeological Reports, Oxford.

Sackett, James R.

1977 The Meaning of Style in Archaeology: A General Model. *American Antiquity* 42(3):369-380.

1990 Style and Ethnicity in Archaeology: The Case for Isochretism. In *The Use of Style in Archaeology*, edited by Margaret W. Conkey and Christine A. Hastorf, pp. 32-43. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Saul, Frank P.

1972 *The Human Skeletal Remains of Altar de Sacrificios: An Osteobiographic Analysis* 63. Harvard University Press, Harvard.

Saul, Frank P. and Julie M. Saul

1991 Osteobiography: A Maya Example. In *Reconstruction of Life from the Skeleton*, edited by Mehmet Yaşar İşcan and Kenneth A. R. Kennedy, pp. 287-302. Alan R. Liss, New York.

Saxe, Arthur A.

1970 Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.

Scheuer, Louise and Sue Black

2000 Developmental Juvenile Osteology. Academic Press, San Diego.

Seymour, Deni Joanne

1988 An Alternative View of Sedentary View of Sedentary Period Hohokam Shell-Ornament Production. *American Antiquity* 53:812-826.

Shanks, Michael and Christopher Tilley

1982 Ideology, Symbolic Power and Ritual Communication: A Reinterpretation of Neolithic Mortuary Practice. In *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*, edited by Ian Hodder, pp. 129-154. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

Shaul, David Leedom and John M. Andresen

1989 A Case for Yuman Participation in the Hohokam Regional System. *Kiva* 54(2):105-126.

Shaul, David Leedom and Jane H. Hill

1998 Tepimans, Yumans, and Other Hohokam. *American Antiquity* 63(3):375-396.

Shennan, Stephen J. (editor) 1989 Archaeological Approaches to Cultural Identity. Unwin Hyman, London.

Shennan, Stephen J.

1978 Archaeological "Cultures": An Empirical Investigation. In *The Spatial Organization of Culture*, edited by Ian Hodder, pp. 113-139. Duckworth, London.

1988 *Quantifying Archaeology*. Edinburgh University Press, Edinburgh.

Sheridan, Susan Guise

2001 Morbidity and Mortality in a Classic-Period Hohokam Community. In Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology and Native American Perspectives, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 223-248. University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Shipman, Pat, Giraud Foster and Margaret Schoeninger

1984 Burnt Bones and Teeth: An Experimental Study of Color, Morphology, Crystal Structure and Shrinkage. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 11:307-325. Simon, Arleyn W. and John C. Ravesloot

1995 Salado Ceramic Offerings: A Consideration of Gender and Social Organization. *Journal of Anthropological Research* 51:103-124.

Smith, B. Holly

1991 Standards of Human Tooth Formation and Dental Age Assessment. In *Advance in Dental Anthropology*, edited by Kelley Marc and Clark S. Larsen, pp. 143-168. Wiley-Liss, New York.

Sofaer, Joanna

1994 Where are the Children? Accessing Children in the Past. *Archaeological Review from Cambridge* 13(2):7-20.

1997a Engendering Children, Engendering Archaeology. In *Invisible People and Processes: Writing Gender and Childhood into European Archaeology*, edited by Jenny Moore and Eleanor Scott, pp. 192-202. Leicester University Press, Leicester.

1997b Age and Gender at the Site of Tiszapolgar-Basatanya, Hungary. *Antiquity* 875(15).

2004 The Materiality of Age: Osteoarchaeology, Objects, and the Contingency of Human Development. *Ethnographisch-Archaologische Zeitschrift* 45(2-3):165-180.

2006 *The Body as Material Culture: A Theoretical Osteoarchaeology.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

2011 Toward a Social Bioarchaeology of Age. In *Social Bioarchaeology*, edited by Sabrina C. Agarwal and Bonnie A. Glencross, pp. 287-311. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden, MA.

Sofaer Derevenski, Joanna

2000 Rings of Life: The Role of Early Metalwork in Mediating the Gendered Life Course. *World Archaeology* 31(3):389-406.

Sonek, A.

1992 The Weight(s) of Cremated Remains. *Proceedings of the 44th Annual Meeting of the American Academy of Forensic Sciences*, pp. 17-22 New Orleans.

Sørensen, Marie Louise Stig

2000 Gender Archaeology. Polity Press, Cambridge, UK.

Spiro, Melford E.

1993 Is the Western Conception of the Self "Peculiar" within the Context of the World Cultures? *Ethos* 21(2):107-153.

Stinson, Susan Lynne

2004 Household Ritual, Gender, and Figurines in the Hohokam Regional System, Department of Anthropology, The University of Arizona, Tucson.

Stockett, Miranda K.

2005 On the Importance of Difference: Re-Envisioning Sex and Gender in Ancient Mesoamerica. *World Archaeology* 37(4):566-578.

Stodder, Ann L. and Ann M. Palkovich (editors)

2008 The Bioarchaeology of Individuals, Bioarchaeological Interpretations of the Human Past: Local, Regional, and Global Perspectives. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

Stewart, Julian H.

1955 Theory of Culture Change. University of Illinois Press, Urbana.

Stojanowski, Christopher M.

2005 The Bioarchaeology of Identity in Spanish Colonial Florida: Social and Evolutionary Transformation Before, During, and After Demographic Collapse. *American Anthropologist* 107(3):417-431.

2009 Bridging Histories The Bioarchaeology of Identity in Postcontact Florida. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity in the Americas*, edited by Kelly J. Knudson and Christopher M. Stokanowski, pp. 59-81. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Stone, Pamela and Dana Walrath

2006 The Gendered Skeleton: Anthropological Interpretations of the Bony Pelvis. In *The Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains*, edited by Rebecca Louise Gowland and Christopher L. Knüsel, pp. 155-167. Oxbow Books, Oxford.

Stone, Tammy

2003 Social Identity and Ethnic Interaction in the Western Pueblos of the American Southwest. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 10(1):31-67.

Stoodley, Nick

2000 From the Cradle to the Grave: Age Organization and the Early Anglo-Saxon Burial Rite. *World Archaeology* 31(3):456-472.

Strathern, Andrew J.

1996 Body Thoughts The University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor.

Strathern, Marilyn

1988 The Gender Gift: Problems with Woman and Problems with Society in Melanesia. University of California Press, Berkeley.
1999 Property, Substance and Effect: Anthropological Essays on Persons and Things. Athlone, London.

Suchey, Judy Myers and D. Katz

1986 Skeletal Age Standard Derived from an Extensive Multiracial Sample of Modern Americans. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 69:269.

Suchey, Judy Myers, D. V. Wiseley, R. F. Green and T. T. Noguchi

1979 Analysis of Dorsal Pitting in the 0s Pubis in an Extensive Sample of Modern American Females. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 51:517-539.

Sullivan, Amy

2004 Reconstructing Relationships among Mortality, Status, and Gender at the Medieval Gilbertine Priory of St. Andrew, Fishergate, York. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 124:330-345.

Sutro, Livingston Delafield

1991 When the Rivers Comes: Refuse Disposal in Diaz Ordaz, Oaxaca. In *The Ethnoarchaeology of Refuse Disposal*, edited by Edward Staski and Livingston Delafield Sutro, pp. 13-22. Arizona State University Research Paper No. 42, Tempe.

Sutter, Richard C.

2009 Post-Tiwanaku Ethnogenesis in the Coastal Moquegua Valley, Peru. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity in the Americas*, edited by Kelly J. Knudson and Christopher M. Stojanowski, pp. 103-125. University Press of Florida, Gainesville

Symes, Steven A., Christopher W. Rainwater, Erin N. Chapman, Desina Rachael Gipson and Andrea L. Piper

2008 Patterned Thermal Destruction of Human Remains in a Forensic Setting. In *The Analysis of Burned Human Remains*, edited by Christopher W. Schmidt and Steven A. Symes, pp. 15-54. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Tainter, Joseph A.

1975 The Archaeological Study of Social Change: Woodland System in West-Central Illinois, Northwestern University.

1978 Mortuary Practices and the Study of Prehistoric Social Systems. *Advances in Archaeological Method and Theory* 1:105-141.
Tainter, Joseph A. and Ross H. Corby

1977 An Archaeological Analysis of Social Ranking and Residence Group in Prehistoric Hawaii. *World Archaeology* 9(1):95-112.

Tarlow, Susan

1999 *Bereavement and Commemoration: An Archaeology of Mortality*. Social Archaeology. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.

Tiesler, Vera

2012 Studying Cranial Vault Modifications in Ancient Mesoamerica. *Journal of Anthropological Sciences* 90:1-26.

Tilley, Christopher

1984 Ideology and the Legitimation of Power in the Middle Neolithic of Southern Sweden. In *Ideology, Power and Prehistory*, edited by Daniel Miller and Christopher Tilley, pp. 111-146. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Tilley, Lorna and Marc Oxenham

2011 Survival Against the Odds: Modeling the Social Implications of Care Provision to Seriously Disabled Individuals. *International Journal of Paleopathology* 1:35-42.

Todd, T. Wingate

1921a Age Changes in the Pubic Bone I: The Male White Pubis. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 3:285-334.

1921b Age Changes in the Pubic Bone III: The Pubic of the White Female IV: The Pubic of the Female White-Negro Hybrid. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 4:1-70.

Torres-Rouff, Christina

2002 Cranial Vault Modification and Ethnicity in Middle Horizon San Pedro de Atacama, Chile. *Current Anthropology* 43(1):163-171.

Trigger, Bruce G.

1989 *A History of Archaeological Thought*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

1996 *A History of Archaeological Thought*. Second ed. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Trotter, Mildred and Barbara B. Hixon

1974 Sequential Changes in Weight, Density, and Percentage Ash Weight of Human Skeletons from An Early Fetal Period through Old Age. *Anatomical Record* 179:1-18.

Ucko, Peter

1969 Ethnography and Archaeological Interpretation of Funerary Remains. *World Archaeology* 1:262-280.

Ubelaker, Douglas

1978 *Human Skeletal Remains: Excavation, Analysis, Interpretation.* Third ed. Manuals on Archaeology. Smithsonian Institution, Taraxacum, Washington.

1989 *Human Skeletal Remains. Excavation, Analysis, Interpretation.* Second ed. Taraxacum, Washington.

1999 *Human Skeletal Remains: Excavation, Analysis, Interpretation.* Third ed. Manuals on Archaeology, volume 2. Taraxacum, Washington D. C.

2000 Methodological Considerations in the Forensic Applications of Human Skeletal Biology. In *Biological Anthropology of the Human Skeleton*, edited by Anne Mary Katzenberg and Shelley Rae Saunders, pp. 41-67. Wiley-Liss, New York.

van Vark, G. N.

1975 The Investigation of Human Cremated Skeletal Material by Multivariable Statistical Methods, II. Measures. *Ossa* 2:47-68.

Van de Velde, Pieter

1979 The Social Anthropology of a Neolithic Cemetery in the Netherlands. *Current Anthropology* 20:262-280.

Wallace, Henry D. (editor)

1995a Archaeological Investigations at Los Morteros, A Prehistoric Settlement in the Northern Tucson Basin. Part 2. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, AZ.

1995b Archaeological Investigations at Los Morteros, A Prehistoric Settlement in the Northern Tucson Basin. Part 1. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.

2012 Life in the Valley of Gold: Archaeological Investigations at Honey Bee Village, a Prehistoric Hohokam Ballcourt Village, Part 1. Archaeology Southwest, Tucson.

Wallace, Henry D.

2001 Time Seriation and Typological Refinement of the Middle Gila Buffware Sequence: Snaketown Through Soho Phase. In *The Grewe Archaeological Research Project, Volume 2, Part I. Ceramic Studies*, edited by David R. Abbot, pp. 177-262. Anthropological Paper No. 99-1. Northland Research Tempe. 2004 Update to the Middle Gila Buff Ware Ceramic Sequence. In *Hohokam Farming on the Salt River Floodplain: Refining Models and Analysis Methods*, edited by Kathleen T. Henderson, pp. 45-124. Anthropological Paper No. 43. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.

Wallace, Henry D., James M. Heidke and Wiliam H. Doelle 1995 Hohokam Origins. *Kiva* 60(4):575-618.

Wallis, Neill J.

2008 Networks of History and Memory Creating a Nexus of Social Identities in Woodland Period Mounds on the Lower St Johns River, Florida. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 8(2):236-271.

Watson, Patty J. and Mary C. Kennedy

1991 The Development of Horticulture in the Eastern Woodlands of North America: Women's Role. In *Engendering Archaeology*, edited by Joan M. Gero and Margaret W. Conkey, pp. 255-275. Blackwell, Oxford.

Webb, William S. and Charles E. Snow

1945 *The Adena People*. Department of Anthropology and Archaeology, University of Kentucky, Lexington.

Weiner, Annette B.

1976 Women of Value, Men of Renown. Univ. of Texas Press, Austin.

1992 *Inalienable Possessions The Paradox of Keeping-While-Giving.* University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, Oxford.

Whelan, Mary K.

1991 Gender and Historical Archaeology: Eastern Dakota Patterns in the 19th Century. *Historical Archaeology* 25(4):17-32.

White, Christine D., Fred J. Longstagffe, David M. Pendergast and Jay Maxwell
2009 Cultural Embodiment and the Enigmatic Identity of the Lovers from
Lamanai. In *Bioarchaeology and Identity in the Americas*, edited by Kelly J.
Knudson and Christopher M. Stojanowski, pp. 155-176. University Press of
Florida, Gainesville.

White, Leslie

1959a *The Concept of Evolution in Anthropology: Evolution and Anthropology: A Centennial Appraisal.* Anthropological Society of Washington, Washington DC.

1959b The Evolution of Culture. McGraw Hill, New York.

Whittlesey, Stephanie M.

1978 Status and Death at Grasshopper Pueblo: Experiments towards an Archaeological Theory of Correlates. PhD dissertation, University of Arizona, Tucson.

Whittlesey, Stephanie M. and J. Jefferson Reid

2001 Mortuary Ritual and Organization Inferences at Grasshopper Pueblo, Arizona. In *Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology, and Native American Perspective*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 68-96. University of New Mexico, Albuquerque.

Wilcox, David R., Thomas Randall McGuire and Charles Sternberg

1981 Snaketown Revisited: A Partial Cultural Resource Survey, Analysis of Site Structure and an Ethnohistoric Study of the Proposed Hohokam-Pima National Monument. Archaeological Series. Arizona State Museum, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona.

Wilkie, Laurie

2000 Not Merely Child's Play: Creating a Historical Archaeology of Children and Childhood. In *Children and Material Culture*, edited by Joanna Sofaer Derevenski, pp. 100–113. Routledge, London.

Williams, Howard (editor)

2003 Archaeologies of Remembrance Death and Memory in Past Societies. Kluwer Academic, Plenum Publishers, New York.

2004 Death Warmed Up: The Agency of Bodies and Bones in Early Anglo-Saxon Cremation Rites. *Journal of Material Culture* 9(3):263-291.

2005 Keeping the Dead at Arm's Length Memory, Weaponry and Early Medieval Mortuary Technologies. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 5(2):253-275.

Wylie, Alison

1992 Feminist Theories of Social Power: Implications for a Processual Archaeology. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 25(1):51-68.

2002 The Constitution of Archaeological Evidence: Gender Politics and Science. In *Thinking from Things: Essays in the Philosophy of Archaeology*, edited by A. Wylie, pp. 185–199. University of California Press, Berkeley.

Young, Amy L.

1995 Risk and Material Conditions of African-American Slaves at Locust Grove: An Archaeological Perspective, Department of Anthropology, University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

Zakrzewski, Sonia

2011 Population Migration, and Identity: An Islamic Population in Iberia. In *Social Bioarchaeology*, edited by Sabrina C. Agarwal and Bonnie A. Glencross, pp. 183-211. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden, Massachusetts.

APPENDIX A PREFACE PAGE

Breakdown of individual authors' contributions:	
Jessica I. Cerezo-Román	90%
James Watson	10%

APPENDIX A – TRANSFORMATION BY FIRE: CHANGES IN FUNERARY CUSTOMS FROM THE EARLY AGRICULTURAL TO PRECLASSIC PERIOD AMONG THE HOHOKAM OF SOUTHERN ARIZONA

Paper is pending review in Journal of Anthropological Archaeology

Jessica I. Cerezo-Román³ and James Watson⁴

Introduction

Explaining changes in mortuary customs, especially shifts between inhumation and cremation practices, is relevant to much New and Old World archaeological research. In this paper, we examine this important change, from the Early Agricultural (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50) to early Hohokam Preclassic (A.D. 475-750) period, in the Sonoran Desert of the American Southwest (Table 1). While previous studies of this transition have recognized a general shift in the dominant form of body treatment from inhumation to cremation burial (e.g., Bayman, 2001; Wallace et al., 1995), many significant issues have yet to be systematically studied. We focus on two: 1) how the major change in the funeral custom occurred, 2) social implications of alternative funerary treatments regarding attitudes about the dead, the body, and the community.

³ School of Anthropology, University of Arizona, P.O. Box 210030, Tucson, AZ 85721-0030, Tel. (520)248-6918 ; Email: <u>cerezorj@email.arizona.edu</u>

⁴ Arizona State Museum, University of Arizona, P.O. Box 210026, Tucson, AZ 85721-0026, Tel. (520)621-4794 ; Email: <u>watsonjt@email.arizona.edu</u>

Period	Phase	Dates		
Classic	Tucson	A.D. 1300-1450/1500		
	Tanque Verde	A.D. 1150-1300		
Sedentary (late Preclassic)	Rincon	A.D. 950-1150		
Colonial	Rillito	A.D. 850-950		
(early Preclassic)	Canada del Oro	A.D. 750-850		
Pioneer	Snaketown	A.D. 700-750		
(early Preclassic)	Tortolita	A.D. 475-700		
Early Ceramic	Agua Caliente	A.D. 50-475		
	Cienega	800 B.CA.D. 50		
Early Agricultural	San Pedro	1200-800 B.C		
	Unnamed	2100-1200 B.C		
Archaic		8500-2100 B.C.		
Paleoindian		10,000-8500 B.C.		

Table 1. Archaeological Chronology in the Sonoran Desert(modified from Wallace, 2012).

To this end, we characterize mortuary customs and biological traits as variables useful in exploring how and why Prehispanic residents of the area altered their mortuary treatments from solely inhumations to a dramatic increase in the frequency of cremations. Collected data consisted of 148 burials from 18 archaeological sites in southern Arizona (Fig. 1; Table 2). These sites were selected as they are the only well-documented ones in the area and which have available mortuary data for these time periods. Variables explored through these data include biological traits (sex and age at death), posthumous treatment of the bodies inferred from the archaeological contexts in which they were found, and osteological analysis. Analyses focused on remains recovered from site contexts dating from the Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic, and early Preclassic periods.



Figure 1. Location of sites in southern Arizona.

Table 2. Archaeological Sites by Period and Phase with References.

Early Agricultural Period (2100 B.CA.D. 50)			Early Ceramic Period (A.D. 50-475)					Early			
Sites	Phases	Inhumations	Cremations	References	Sites	Phases	Inhumations	Cremations	References	Sites	Phases
Clearwater	Cienga	15	-	McClelland et al. 2006	Houghton Road Site	Agua Caliente	3	1	Ciolek-Torrello 1998	Dairy Site	Tortolita, Snaketown
Coffee Camp	Cienaga	3	2	Dongoske 1993	Santa Cruz Bend	Agua Caliente	2	-	Mabry et al. 1997	Tortolita Mt. Area	Tortolita, Snaketown
La Paloma	Cienaga	1	-	Dart 1986	Square Hearth Site	Agua Caliente	2	2	Mabry et al. 1997	Hardy Site	Tortolita, Snaketown
Las Capas	San Pedro	15	-	McClelland 2005						Lonetree Site	Tortolita
Los Pozos	Cienaga	19	-	Gregory 2001a; McClelland 2005; Minturn and Lincoln-Babb 2001					Triangle Road site	Tortolita	
Santa Cruz Bend	Cienaga	7	-	Mabry et al. 1997; McClelland 2005						Snaketown	Tortolita
Stone Pipe	Cienaga	1	1	Mabry et al. 1997; McClelland 2005; Swartz and Lindeman 1997			Honey Bee Village	Tortolita, Snaketown			
Wetlands	Cienaga	23	-	Freeman 1998; McC	lelland 2005						

Repetition and Innovations Acts on Funerary Customs

Funerals involve carefully crafted ritual acts, which may have taken days to plan and execute (Parker Pearson 1999). Funerary customs are usually composed of several stages involving ceremonies that take place from just before the time of biological death through to and following the final disposition of the deceased's remains. We apply the works of van Gennep ([1908] 1960) and Hertz ([1907] 1960) as a framework to understand what happens at various funerary stages. These models have proven to be invaluable tools to explain mortuary customs through time in archaeological and anthropological studies (e.g., Bloch and Parry, 1982, Buikstra and Nystrom, 2003; Rakita and Buikstra, 2005). Van Gennep's universalist theory of the rites of passage, later elaborated by Turner (1967), set out a tripartite model based on processes of transition from one social stage to another (van Gennep [1908]1960). The model includes rites such as pregnancy, childbirth, marriage, and death. These transitions are accompanied by preliminal (separation), liminal (transition), and postliminal (reincorporation) rites. Van Gennep ([1908]1960) highlighted the symbolic importance of mortuary ritual performance to facilitate the rite of passage from death (preliminal), to funeral and burial (liminal), and eventually incorporation of the deceased into the world of the dead and the mourners back into society (postliminal).

Hertz ([1907]1960) focused on parallel transitions affecting mourners, the dead, and the soul within the different stages of funeral rituals. These transitions start with the death of the individual and end in the final stage of the burial with the soul departing to the land of the dead and the mourners being relieved of duties imposed upon them (Hertz [1907]1960). These models are not universal or static but can be modified and adapted depending on the funeral custom, the culture, and the time period. The models of van Gennep ([1908] 1960) and Hertz ([1907] 1960) are useful tools to deconstruct the elements of funerary customs and the sequence of these customs. However, typically only the last stage of the funerary custom, the burial, is preserved in most archaeological contexts. Regardless, by focusing upon the information contained in these deposits we can reconstruct some of the practices that occurred prior to burial, which could relate to other stages of funerary customs. In this research these models will be used to organize the discussion and reconstruct burial custom sequences inferred from archaeological evidence. In this paper, we have focused mainly on the funeral and burial, or what van Gennep ([1908] 1960) and Hertz ([1907] 1960) called the liminal stage.

In this study, we characterize funerary customs throughout the Formative period by analyzing repeated and innovative actions in burials customs in order to understand the social implication of these treatments and attitudes toward the dead, body and community. Repeated and innovative actions of burials customs had been studied in many ways using slightly similar approaches (e.g., Barrett 1990; Gillespie 2011; Jones 2001, 2003; Joyce 2001; Mizoguchi 1993; O'Shea 1984; Williams 2003, 2006, 2013). Mizoguchi (1993), for example, studied the role of time and memory reproduction by analyzing repeated actions in burial customs of the Late Neolithic and Early Bronze Age in Yorkshire. He mentioned that the dead can be seen as portable artifacts carrying bundles of symbolic meaning. The different memories are attached to each body by different individuals. The dead person's mother or sister, for example, would have different memories according to their personal relations with the deceased while still alive. In the funeral, these memories are reaffirmed, transformed or even challenged through the examination of their relationships to the dead. Mizoguchi (1993) mentioned that treatment of the dead, such as the position of the body and burial objects, can be thought of as a material residue of such acts.

Other researchers have focus on notions of memory⁵ and remembrance⁶, and proposed more structured analytical models to study repetitive or citational acts and innovations in mortuary customs, such as "technologies of remembrance" (e.g., Jones 2001, 2003; Williams 2003, 2006, 2013). "Technologies of remembrance", proposed by Jones (2001, 2003), builds from concepts of Derrida (1982), Butler (1993), and Gell

⁵ Memory can be considered "as the process involved in the transmission of knowledge and experience" (Jones 2006: 66).

⁶ Remembrance can be defined as the act of remembering something.

(1998), on citation, material performances and $oeuvre^7$. The notion of citation "captures" the sense that in order for a word or thing to make sense it must reiterate components of previous sentences or objects" (Jones 2001: 340). Jones (2001) mentioned that performance of a citation both encapsulates previous ideas or things while also rearticulating them afresh in order to create or define a new category. These citational actions are not going to be the same as past actions, but they instead will be a mix of actions influenced by the present and the past. Jones (2001, 2003) suggested that technological production is allied to the creation of collective memories and sequences of artifacts and monument production, and are highlighted as one means of promoting certain form of remembrance. These modalities are also constructive of specific narratives of identity (Jones 2003). Technologies of remembrance in mortuary studies served to evaluate "how mortuary practices are sequences of acts and practices ('techniques') that together create chains of actions that connect to transform the social persona and reconstitute them in a new form in death" (Williams 2006: 20). They often are the results of informed decisions and choices by the mourners. The mourners actively remember past funerals and at funerals they reproduce and reformulate them but also engage in new and innovating ways of treating their dead. Gillespie (2011) adopted a citational approach to investigate small-scale patterns evident in mortuary customs in residential burials. She found that the common burial location was under house floors while some other high status burials occurred in more open spaces. Despite the differences in location, both burial customs in the above two examples drew on claims of ancestral continuity by citation of past practices. More recently, Williams (2013) explored the interplay between two strategies, commemorative 'citations'⁸ and how material culture operated as commemorative 'catalyst'⁹, to analyze mortuary commemoration through the use of artifact deposition in early medieval graves. He

⁷ *Oeuvre* "consist of objects extended in space and time each related to their neighbor due to the possession of traces in common. Each object therefore possesses traces that embody retentions from a previous object or protentions to a future object" (Jones 2001: 340).

⁸ Commemorative citation is defined in this context as memory creation (Williams 2013).

⁹ Commemorative 'catalyst' is defined as actions not commemorating themselves but enabling commemoration to take place by protecting, transforming and regenerating the dead (Williams 2013).

illustrated his argument by using four early medieval archaeological case studies from England and Scandinavia.

By analyzing repeated and innovative actions in mortuary customs, we emphasize contexts of practices and their interactions, which open the analyses to understanding social relationships between people and communities, and how individuals and collectives were distinguished through their social relations (Meskell and Pruecel, 2004). Previously, mortuary studies that used the notion of citation, and repeated and innovative practices mainly centered on the study of material culture found in graves and/or placement of burial in the landscape. However, in this paper the analysis centers mainly on the bodies of the deceased and how these bodies were treated at death by analyzing repeated and innovative actions in burial customs. The treatment of bodies at death embodies certain processes of remembering and forgetting (Williams 2013). The steps that are taken in the preparations of the body, and their treatment in the funeral and burial will allow memories to be evoked in particular ways. Thus, this analytical approach unfolds and materializes these processes throughout the funeral and burial.

Funerary customs are usually a mix between practices that can be seen as repeated actions influenced by the identity¹⁰ and personhood¹¹ of the deceased, mourners and community as a whole. However, this depends on the cultural context, as well as the balance and/or emphasis of one or the other. Mourners follow cultural practices in executing funerary customs but also are influenced by the agency¹² of the deceased individual. The deceased possesses agency in the ritual that affects experiences which evoke memories and alter the decisions and actions of the mourners in the creation and production of funerals and burials (Chesson, 2001; Hallam and Hockey, 2001; Tarlow, 1999; Williams, 2004). This agency could be expressed by the choice of funerary

¹⁰ "Identity" in this research represents an individual's identification within a broader group based on shared similarities and differences. The term links to a sense of belonging, as well as to how we perceive others and ourselves as being part of some groups but not others (Díaz-Andreu and Lucy 2005).

¹¹ Personhood is the participation of individuals in mutually identifying relationships within and between communities as expressed through their actions. In addition, these relationships shape social constructions that reference and symbolize individuals (Gillespie 2011).

¹² Agency is defined as the strategic carrying out of intentional plans for purposive goals (e.g., Cowgill 2000, Walker and Lucero 2000).

customs, selection of particular objects to place with the deceased, and practices that may leave characteristic archaeologically visible traces. The differentiation of these different practices and finding those patterns is by no means straightforward and in many occasions impossible to differentiate.

It is not practical to present a general, universal approach to examining personhood in prehistory; not all intersecting identities or aspects of personhood can be fully identified in archaeological contexts. Additionally, some variables are potential indicators of multiple dimensions of identity, but not all of these dimensions are archaeologically distinguishable. Due to the formation and preservation processes of the archaeological record, only a few of these different interactions that could relate to particular intersections can be reconstructed in ancient populations. Specifically, particular intersections can be explored in depth from the biological profile of the skeletal remains and posthumous treatments of skeletal remains, such as age at death and sex, as well as more generalized patterns that relate to community- and regional-scale identities. Due to the small sample size within each time period in this research we could not explore in depth differences between age at death, sex, or other particular identity intersections. Considering this limitation, we still can address changes through time in body position and orientation, and type and frequency of burials objects, but we do not attribute these characteristics to particular identity intersection. We also explore regionalscale identity by observing contemporaneous (dis)similarities through time of repetitive patterns in burial custom types and how the body was treated (inhumation vs. cremation). Emphases on actions and relationships provide a more balanced way to understand how people participated at different levels and scales in society (Joyce and Lopiparo, 2005; Pauketat and Alt, 2005).

Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic and early Preclassic periods in Southern Arizona

This study uses the recent chronological summary compiled by Wallace (2012a) to temporally situate the data. We consider the early Formative ('Neolithic') transition in southern Arizona to encompass three archaeological periods: the Early Agricultural [EA] period (2100 B.C.-A.D. 50), the Early Ceramic [EC] period (A.D. 50-475), and the early Preclassic [PC] period (A.D. 475-750). These periods are further divided into phases, with samples in our research dating from about 1200 B.C. to A.D. 750. The Early Agricultural period is divided into three phases: an unnamed initial phase (2100-1200 B.C.), the San Pedro phase (1200-800 B.C.), and early and late components of the Cienega phase (800-400 B.C. and 400 B.C.-A.D. 50). The Early Ceramic period is divided into early and late components of the Agua Caliente phase (A.D. 50-350 and A.D. 350-475). The Preclassic period is traditionally divided into three periods by Hohokam archaeologists, each of which is additionally subdivided into phases. However, our primary concern for this analysis is the initial phase of the Pioneer period (A.D. 475-750), referred to as the Tortolita phase (A.D. 475-700) in the Tucson Basin (Tables 1 and 2). These time period divisions and chronological parameters used in this paper are based on existing chronological and dating sequence studies on changes in Hohokam archaeological material culture in the Tucson basin (e.g., Wallace 2012a). However, we do not suggest that these divisions are clear cut or that they mark completely different changes in mortuary practices through time. They are used in this study to facilitate the discussion of the results and present the patterns observed through time.

During the Early Agricultural period, populations in the Sonoran Desert became increasingly sedentary with a mixed subsistence economy of foraging and farming (Roth and Wellman, 2001; Watson, 2005; Watson et al., 2010; Wills, 1995). The earliest phase is characterized by the arrival and incorporation of cultigens into existing subsistence strategies along with some evidence for small villages on the floodplain of the Santa Cruz River (Mabry, 1998). The subsequent San Pedro phase is marked by increased farming of

the rich lowland floodplains, the initiation of canal irrigation, the presence of small oval habitation structures and ceramic figurines, increased varieties of ground stone, and the production of shell jewelry (Copeland et al., 2012; Roth and Wellman, 2001). The final phase of the Early Agricultural period is marked by a greater dependence on agriculture, local and long distance trade networks, larger villages and habitation structures (including communal structures), and larger storage pits. In addition, a greater diversity of artifacts also occurs including the earliest ceramic traditions, increasingly complex ground stone artifact types, and the introduction of the bow and arrow (Mabry, 1997, 2008; Roth and Wellman, 2001).

The presence of large communal-ceremonial structures and their spatial organization during the final EA phase represents the development of social integration above the level of the household (Gregory, 2001b; Mabry, 2008, 2005). This criterion has been used to define the threshold of "village" social organization in the prehispanic Southwest (Lightfoot and Feinman, 1982; Mabry, 2005; Wills and Windes, 1989). However, Wallace and Lindeman (2012:37) suggest that the evidence remains equivocal and more likely reflects a social structure consisting of households and weak local leaders.

The Early Ceramic period (A.D. 50-475) is marked by a slight break in occupational continuity in some areas, possibly the result of a period of floodplain instability and erosion (Wallace 2007; Waters and Haynes 2001). However, Wallace et al. (1995) suggest that, besides the beginning of formal ceramic production, there are many similarities in architecture, material culture, and settlement organization between the EA late Cienega phase and the EC early Agua Caliente phase. These indicate significant population continuity and large-scale communication networks (Doyel, 1991; Feiman, 1991; Gumerman, 1991; LeBlanc, 1982; Whittlesey, 1995; Wilcox, 1988).

Toward the end of the Early Ceramic period a shift in residential patterns is observed, as well as gradual increases in shell bracelet production, variation in food preparation, and storage options (Wallace and Lindeman, 2012). This era also is characterized by the appearance of increasingly permanent habitation structures such as rectangular pithouses with substantial walls and roof supports (Wallace and Lindeman, 2012). During this time, settlements were long-lived, had public architecture such as plazas, and were part of a settlement system that included multiple adaptations such as riverine villages, farmsteads, field houses, seasonal camps, and hilltop retreats (Wallace and Lindeman, 2012).

The Hohokam cultural sequence formally begins with the early Preclassic period (A.D. 475, the Pioneer period), which includes the production of red ware ceramics and the formation of large formal interconnected villages. Between A.D. 475 and 500, sites such as Valencia Vieja had become villages with residential areas formed in an arc that enclosed a central plaza displaying numerous rebuilding episodes.

Some suggest that the time period between A.D. 550 and 650 marks Hohokam origins and the first clear-cut indicator of corporate groups (Wallace et al., 1995; Wallace and Lindeman, 2012). They define a corporate group "as clusters of households that exhibit a recognizable degree of residential coherency" (Wallace and Lindeman, 2012: 39). However, in their use of the concept of corporate group they do not specifically indicate that it is a descent group, although they could be isomorphic. They mainly use the concept to imply that each group shares economic, social, political, and possibly ritual pursuits (Wallace and Lindeman, 2012). This is similar to the concept of courtyard groups, which are spatially patterned regions and facilities within Hohokam sites (Fish and Fish, 1991:159), but which are generally believed to represent simple and extended family households (e.g. Fish and Fish, 1991; Wallace et al., 1995; Wilcox et al., 1981). Wallace and Lindeman (2012) mention that between A.D. 550 and 650, larger square houses fronting the village plaza appear and these structures are associated with lineage leaders. They also suggest that smaller square structures near the leader's house, but not fronting the plaza, were associated with the next-in-line leaders. Alternatively, residences of the leader's other kin are smaller and rectangular and form courtyard groups behind the leader's house farther away from the plaza. Wallace and Lindeman (2012) also suggest that the presence of a plaza signifies social cohesion, village identity, and was a stage where political and religious leaders in the community could perform, providing an

initial mechanism for the emergence of formal corporate groups. In the early Preclassic period particularly between A.D. 550 and 650, cemeteries composed of secondary deposits of cremated bones began to occur adjacent to courtyard groups.

The Hohokam are characterized by widespread production and exchange of ceramics, such as red-on-buff and red-on-brown wares, widespread construction and use of ballcourts, plazas, mirrors, marine shell ornaments, palettes, and extensive and complex irrigation canal systems. During the Preclassic period, site structures became more "formalized" (Bayman, 2001). Groups of individual houses surrounded courtyards or plazas and courtyard groups—suggested to represent corporate descent groups (Bayman, 2001)—shared outside cooking ovens, formal refuse middens, and cemeteries. Several distinct groups of sites, referred to as "communities," are thought to have interacted with each other, and often shared irrigation systems and/or ballcourts (Bayman, 2001). Cultural attributes characteristic of the Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic, and Preclassic periods represent the Formative transition in the Sonoran Desert, effectively bridging Archaic period foraging and Hohokam agricultural intensification in the region (Wallace and Lindeman, 2012).

Materials & Methods for Unpacking and Operationalizing Funerary Customs

Data were recorded directly by the authors or extracted from previous analyses and publications. The sample consists of a total of 148 burials from eight Early Agricultural, three Early Ceramic, and seven early Preclassic period sites/or components of sites from southern Arizona (Table 2). The recorded variables consist of two main types: 1) archaeological data documented from mortuary features, and 2) biological data derived from the osteological analysis of the skeletal remains from these features.

Archaeological data comprise primary and secondary sources produced by analyzing the posthumous treatment of individuals within mortuary features. These data derive from archaeological reports, field notes, and published analyses. Variables characterizing posthumous treatment include deposit type (inhumation vs. cremation), orientation (side on which the body was placed such as left, right, supine, prone, seated and head down), position of body (flexed, semi-flexed and extended), and objects found associated with the remains. Dates associated with individual burials and site-specific chronologies were acquired from published data and site reports. Burials that could not be dated to a specific phase were placed in broader categories based on associated site dates and/or ceramic types (e.g., Wallace 2001, 2004). Several sites have multiple and/or continuous occupations from the Early Agricultural to early Preclassic periods and individual burials could not always be assigned a specific date. To avoid problems with chronological classification we only included burials from publications and site reports that were explicitly assigned to time periods using criteria other than the type of mortuary custom. The biological data include estimations of sex and age at death. They were recorded using research protocols for osteological data collection based mainly on Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994) and the Bioarchaeology Laboratory of the Arizona State Museum (ASM) (McClelland, 2013).

Analyses were performed based on trait frequencies for each variable, which were calculated using a simple dichotomy: presence or absence. These binary data were then converted into percentages based on the presence of the trait within each site sample by archaeological phase/period for use as continuous data in statistical comparisons. The statistical analysis evaluates frequency distributions across archaeological phase/period by means of a Pearson's chi-squared test for each variable. We expect that most of the variables change over time as social systems became more complex and populations grew.

Results

Variables

The results of the Pearson's chi-squared tests on frequency distributions of the variables identify a statistically significant difference in the proportion of inhumation burials ($\chi^2 = 62.352$, df = 3, p < 0.001) from the Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic and early Preclassic periods. The percentage of inhumation burial decreases significantly from the San Pedro phase (1200-800 B.C) of the Early Agricultural period (100%) to the Tortolita phase (A.D. 475-700) of the early Preclassic period (35%) (Table 3). There is a corresponding increase in the number of cremations in southern Arizona sites over this same time (Figure 2). This transition in the early Preclassic period also included the adoption of secondary deposition of cremated remains. Early Agricultural period sites have fewer numbers of cremations and more evenly distributed types (two secondary and one primary), while Preclassic period sites have increased numbers and the majority were secondary deposits (42 out of 44). This suggests that the shift in mortuary custom to cremation moved rapidly to investment in secondary cremation burial as a preferred form of final deposition.



Period	Early A	gricultural	Early Ceramic	Early Preclassic Tortolita	
Phase	San Pedro	Cienega	Agua Caliente		
Sample (n)	15	72	10	51	
Inhumation	15 (%100)	69 (95.8%)	7 (70%)	18 (35.3%)	
Prim. Dep. Cremation	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.2%)	1 (6.3%)	1 (2.8%)	
Sec. Dep. Cremation	0 (0.0%)	2 (2.4%)	2 (12.5%)	32 (59.2%)	
M:F Ratio	1.50 (N∂=6, N+=4)	0.54 (N∂=15, N♀ =28)	0.33 (N♂=1, N♀ =3)	1.17 (N∂=6,N♀ =7)	
Mean Age	30.5	34.0	29.0	29.0	
Flexed	15 (100%)	65 (89.9%)	4 (37.5%)	42 (83.3%)	
Side Oriented	11 (73.33%)	45 (62.3%)	4 (40%)	26 (50%)	
w/Grave Goods	9 (60%)	14 (19.4%)	9 (90%)	28 (54.9%)	

Table 3.Variable Frequencies by Archaeological Period/Phase.

Comparisons of the archaeological data collected from mortuary features are presented in Table 3 and Figure 3. The results indicate that body positions for inhumations also changed over time ($\chi^2 = 29.838$, df = 6, p < 0.001), and that the percent of individuals placed in a flexed and extended position decreased steadily through the Early Ceramic period, then rose again (Table 3 and Figure 3). In contrast, variability in body orientation (% Side Oriented) did not change appreciably over time in the sample ($\chi^2 = 17.490$, df = 12, p = 0.132). There is considerable variability in the orientation of inhumations during the Early Agricultural period, although there was a definite preference for placement on one side (either right or left), whereas during the initial phase of the early Preclassic period many individuals were placed supine.





The proportion of individuals interred with associated funerary objects or displaying body treatment also increased significantly across archaeological periods ($\chi^2 = 30.161$, df = 3, p < 0.001). During the Early Agricultural period, several individuals were buried with red ochre, but only a few were found with shells, animal bone, projectile

points, ground stone, ceramics, and/or with multiple artifacts. Similar objects, such as shell, animal bone, and ground stone, were found in the Early Ceramic and early Preclassic periods, however, the application of red ocher ceased as a funerary custom and the frequencies of ceramics and other artifact classes increased substantially (especially during the Early Ceramic period).

Discussion

Mortuary customs in the Sonoran Desert shifted from inhumation to cremation during the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods and Hohokam early Preclassic periods. In order to examine this transition, we address our first research question: 1) how did the change in funeral custom occur? In the discussion we subsequently address our second research question: 2) what are the social implications of the alternative funeral treatments regarding attitudes about the dead, the body and the community? We argue that the shift from inhumation to cremation mortuary customs over this Formative transition is best considered in terms of citation or innovation and the relationships among individual and group identities. We also suggest that the change, in terms of performance, of these mortuary customs relates to changes in social relationships between the living and dead.

Variability in Mortuary Customs within and between the Early Agricultural, Early Ceramic, and Early Phases of the Preclassic Periods

During the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods inhumation was the dominant burial custom. During this period inhumed bodies were placed in a variety of orientations (e.g., seated, on one side, prone, supine or head down). However, the dominant orientations were on either the right or left side or supine. Most individuals also were placed in a flexed position, and a few individuals were placed in semi-flexed or extended positions. Specific patterns of body positioning in the burial practice do not appear to have been codified. In general, few objects were placed with individuals but through time the number of objects placed within burials increased.

There are several possible interpretations for these developments. We suggest that the predominance of inhumation interment customs throughout the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods represents a reiteration of norms observed in the citationality of this custom at several sites. This was particularly expressed at the moment of interment when the body and burial objects were placed in the grave. These patterns and repetitions of practice suggest that the earliest inhumations from the Early Agricultural may have established precedents that were cited by subsequent burials. This type of patterning and continuity could be more than just commemoration of the dead itself by the mourners, it may also be similar to a 'cultural norm' comprising a reiteration of group identity within a site and at a regional scale in the Tucson Basin and southern Arizona. This 'regional identity' was also manifested by the longevity of this custom throughout the Early Agricultural period and into the Early Ceramic period, and could inscribe a link to identities of Early Agricultural population. However, these inhumations were not identical and it is not expected that they would be, as each inhumation will not exactly copy past actions. We think that the differences within inhumations could relate to particular identity intersections of the deceased and the mourners. Family, subgroup settings, and circumstances at death for each deceased individual are unique. In these early Formative time periods, variations in body positions and types and quantities of objects in inhumations suggest that the identity of the deceased and/or mourners also were emphasized in funerary customs. It is possible that variation in body position and burial objects could be used as a means of displaying and distinguishing the particular identity of each deceased and the mourners.

Inhumation customs in the early Preclassic period changed very little from those of the Early Agricultural and Early Ceramic periods; the custom of inhuming individuals in a flexed position persisted. However, in the early Preclassic period variation in body orientation decreased considerably; supine became more common and no individuals

were found in seated, prone, or head down orientations. In terms of citation, it appears that this inhumation pattern became more standardized over time, suggesting a more homogeneous regional identity or at least a more homogeneous burial custom. The use or placement of red ocher disappeared, suggesting the possibility that there was a shift in focus away from the body toward other aspects of the burial, such as the type and quantity of burials objects. One variable within inhumation that increased significantly in the Early Ceramic and early Preclassic periods was the type and quantity of objects placed in the grave. The increases in supine body orientation and grave objects could be link to the use of the grave as an arena for display for both a regional identity and the particular identity of the deceased. Objects placed with the remains could be possessions of the deceased and/or gifts and offerings from the mourners, and it is not possible to clearly distinguish between the two. Regardless, through their selection these objects acquired capacities to sustain memory relationships between the survivors and departed. These objects could represent multidimensional networks of reference for both the deceased and mourners, thereby giving agency both to the dead and living. If the objects were former possessions of the deceased, they were designated as aspects or extensions of the personhood of the individual, and thus they become potent sources of memory because of the way in which object biographies are interwoven with the biographies of the associated person(s) (e.g. Brück, 2006a:76; Gosden and Marshall, 1999; Hallam and Hockey, 2001; Hoskins, 1989). In these cases, identity markers also potentially changed from the Early Agricultural period where differences were found in body positions to early Ceramic and Preclassic period differences where more variation exists in burial objects found in graves.

Inhuming a body without burning declined through time, and inhumation burial at Preclassic period Hohokam sites existed as a custom almost exclusively for infants (<2 year at death) and few select adult individuals (Cerezo-Román in press). Inhumation funerary customs were subsequently largely replaced with cremations in the Tucson Basin of southeastern Arizona. Cremation first appeared as an innovation in burial customs during the Cienega phase of the Early Agricultural period and showed a clear increase in use that culminated during the Hohokam Preclassic and Classic periods. It is uncertain if cremation as a funerary custom began within a specific subgroup as it was not possible to identify one with the limited information available from the biological profiles and posthumous treatments of these cremation, but this custom type was adopted by the majority of Preclassic Hohokam individuals (>2 year at death) regardless of sex or age. This change in body treatment from inhumation to cremation created new dynamics between the dead and living.

Changing Relationships between the Dead, the Families, and the Community

This leads to the second research question presented in this study: what are the social implications of the alternative funeral treatments regarding attitudes about the dead, the body and the community? We suggest two main components of that change: first, the adoption of a funeral custom that is transformative in nature has implications regarding attitudes about the dead and the body, and second, an increase in community investment toward the funeral ritual has implication for the mourners and to the community as a whole. Based on archaeological evidence from the early Preclassic period, there is a gradual increase in burning bodies at funerals, a transformative funerary practice. We define transformative as creating changes in the form or appearance of a person and/or object. For example, in a cremation the physical appearance of the body is transformed into bone fragments as the flesh burns. After the bodies were burned the remains typically were removed to secondary deposits, an act differing from inhumations that were only buried in a primary deposit. The type of cremation funeral observed in this period suggests a stronger community investment through the use of secondary burials. The creation of a secondary burial is an extra step in the funeral ritual that requires extra effort and time devoted to the preparation and creation of these types of deposits. The use of secondary cremation burials also creates stronger social ties within sites and a distinct shared group identity not previously seen within the region. In order to illustrate this we discuss several key similarities and differences between open-air cremations and the

subsequent secondary deposits of cremated remains, and primary inhumations. To address similarities and differences we use the different stages of funeral rituals to facilitate discussion. Not all the different stages of funerals will leave archaeological traces but it is possible to reconstruct some essential differences based on reconstructed traces from the archaeological record and osteological analysis.

In both funerary customs, following the stages proposed by Hertz ([1907]1960) and van Gennep ([1908]1960), it is assumed that at the moment of death the bodies were prepared by family members or persons in charge of these proceedings and subsequently taken to the funeral pyre or burial pit. As an event both inhumation and cremation customs require advanced preparation. In a cremation, fuel needs to be collected and the pyre constructed prior to burning the remains. Similarly, with an inhumation, a burial pit must be excavated and prepared for deposition of the body. These practices of inhuming and burning human remains are documented among Southwestern Native American Groups, such as the Tohono O'odham and the Yuman speaking groups (e.g., Brew and Huckell 1987; Hanlon 1972; Russell 1908; Spier 1933). The Pima (Akimel O'odham) and the Tohono O'odham consider that the Hohokam were their ancestors, although the "Pima-Hohokam continuum" is a source of debate among Hohokam and Southwestern archaeologists (e.g., Bahr 1971; Bahr, et al. 1994; Ezell 1963; Jill 2001; Malhi, et al. 2003). Regardless of the specific connection, archaeological and linguistic evidence¹³ suggest that ancestors of these groups had contact with the Hohokam in the past (Ezell 1963; Shaul and Andresen 1989; Shaul and Hill 1998).

Depending on whether the body will remain intact and be inhumed or cremated and then buried, the spectators and/or mourners will have different sensorial experiences and different ways to physically relate to the deceased body throughout the entire funeral custom. Contrary to cremation, inhumation typically does not transform the body. No evidence of secondary treatment or body alteration prior to burial was found in inhumed deposits and the bodies were placed in the ground intact and with flesh. Taking this into

¹³Shaul and Hill (1998) propose that the Proto-Tepiman speech community incorporates attestation of language contact with Proto-Yuman based on data from phonology, syntax and lexicon. This suggests that the Hohokam were a multi-ethnic community who spoke both Proto-Tepiman and Proto-Yuman ca. 1000 years ago.

consideration we suggest that it is likely that the physicality of the deceased's body, in terms of facial and body characteristics, remained fairly intact and recognizable up to the point of burial. These physical attributes and the presence of the intact body would evoke memories that could be attributed to the deceased while still alive and/or the role that the deceased will take at death (Williams 2004). Inhumation preserves that physicality and association with a specific person until the body of the deceased is actually buried. Transformation in these cases typically occurs away from observation of the mourners, as the wholeness and integration of the body is preserved until it decomposes in the grave (underground) over a long period of time. However, it is possible that a metaphorical transformation could occur socially in the deceased and inhumed individual as they passed through the funerary rituals, especially from the liminal to the post-liminal stages. After the final interment, other rituals also may have occurred but no evidence was found that involved secondary burials or manipulation of the bodies of inhumed individuals.

Cremation, on the other hand, is dramatically and physically and transformative. Several researchers have commented on this process within Hohokam cremation customs, describing this transition as a transformational process (Beck, 2005; Cerezo-Román, in press, 2013; Rakita and Buikstra, 2005). The meaning of this transformation is cultural and time specific. Regardless of the meaning, the burning of the body and the fire in a cremation will create a different sensorial experience for the mourners, will physically transform the body, and will create a new way of dealing with the remains. Once the body began to burn, the smell, smoke, and heat associated with the fire would be readily noticeable among the audience (as well as the community), effectively creating active participation in the performance through a variety of sensorial experiences as has been documented in historic accounts of cremation rituals in some Southwestern Native American Groups (e.g., Kelly 1949; Moriarty 1965:12; Spier 1933). Human tissue passes through various degrees of burning, as is seen in clinical contexts of living individuals (Fairgrive 2008). The flesh of the body is destroyed in the pyre and the facial and physical attributes, previously recognizable by the living, are permanently transformed. As the flesh burns, the wholeness and integrity of the body is transformed in the

cremation ritual and the entire body is converted into small fragments of bone. Cremated remains recovered from sites dating to each of the archaeological periods discussed here are heavily burned, mostly calcined and significantly reduced in size and weight. The bones have a different and new materiality (i.e., bone fragments) that can be seen as part-person and part-object and that can be transported and treated very differently from a complete body (Williams 2004, 2011).

After the body was consumed and transformed in the cremation fire, the subsequent rituals also were different from inhumation rituals. Cremations in southern Arizona, beginning in the Early Agricultural period but widely adopted by the community in the early Preclassic period, were complex as they usually involved secondary rituals where the cremated bones are removed from the pyre site and redeposited in a secondary location(s) as the final resting place(s). This extra stage in the creation of the secondary burial deposit(s) marks an increase of community investment in the funerary custom resulting in stronger social ties. Secondary mortuary customs can be defined "as the social acts focused on the regular and socially sanctioned removal of all or part of a deceased individual from some place of temporary storage to a permanent resting place" (Kuijt 2008:84). Also, these secondary funerary customs "are highly visual social events within which personal and collective identities are defined and negotiated" (Kuijt, 2008:84), and we think this also was the case in our contexts. The majority of cremation features documented from each of the archaeological periods considered here represent secondary deposits (Early Agricultural = 66.7%; Early Ceramic = 66.7%; Preclassic = 97%). These deposit types and customs, well established in the Preclassic period at a regional level, were practiced regardless of the sex of the individual and for individuals older than two years at death. This is an important additional and intentional stage in the funerary custom.

Among the Preclassic Hohokam, secondary burials of cremated bone are usually characterized by deposits with very low bone weights, and some researchers have suggested that most cremated remains were divided between different social networks and likely buried in multiple secondary deposits (e.g., Cerezo-Román in press, 2013). It has been documented elsewhere that the custom of placing the remains into single or multiple secondary deposit(s) was the prevalent custom among the Tucson Basin Hohokam. However, information collected on bone quantities was limited by the fact that many cremations had previously been repatriated when this study began. Therefore, it is not possible to address how much bone from an individual was present in some deposits and what that meant in terms of social relationships. Nonetheless, the secondary nature of these deposits suggests a new treatment of the dead with additional community investment not seen with inhumed bodies. After the bodies were burned in these new secondary burial customs, the living collected the remains and deposited them within courtyard groups, plazas and/or in others places on the landscape. These new interactions between the deceased, living, and community could have created, reinforced, maintained, transformed, and/or destroyed social relationships as individuals participated in these new customs and in the secondary burials of the cremated remains.

We infer that through the act of creating these secondary cremated deposits the living actively displayed connection(s) with the deceased, family of the deceased, and community. The citation and standardized patterns observed at different sites in placing remains into secondary deposits, usually within cemeteries, created commonalities and homogeneities between individuals, thus maintaining certain levels of corporate similarity. This also would create shared social meaning and memory between members of the community. We argue that these types of cremation customs highlight the "collective identity", ultimately a shared social memory, and not so much the deceased individual themselves.

The gradual shift in predominant mortuary custom from inhumation to cremation indicates a significant but protracted change in perception toward the dead through time in southern Arizona. It is possible that changes in the way bodies were treated relate to broader social changes in terms of individual and group identity(ies). It is important to note that Preclassic period sites were larger and more socially complex landscapes than sites from earlier periods, typically including large community integrative structures, such as plazas and ballcourts. Cerezo-Román (in press) suggests that cremation customs complement these structures, representing expressions of more inclusive social networks and group cohesion among the Preclassic Hohokam population of the Tucson Basin. It is possible that the social triggers for changes in funerary customs reflect other larger social changes occurring in the greater region. These changes are associated with the development of cultural features archaeologically recognizable as Hohokam. We suggest that it was the performative and secondary extended treatment of cremations, particularly at increasingly larger settlements with more complex social structures, which inspired a more widespread adoption of these mortuary practices at this time.

Conclusions

A major change in funerary customs, from inhumation burial to cremation, occurred in southern Arizona during the early Formative period. The Early Agricultural period is characterized by the intact interment of the deceased, in a wide variety of positions and orientations, and with few funerary offerings. This early group, characterized by small villages, mixed subsistence economy and slowly increased dependence on farming, did not destroy the bodies of their deceased during the funeral, rather preserving the deceased's physicality throughout the funerary custom. Inhumation was not exclusive by age or sex and its form generally did not change significantly from the Early Agricultural to Early Ceramic periods. However, during the early Preclassic period, variability of body orientation in inhumation burials decreased significantly and the occurrence, number and types of associated objects, including ceramic vessels, increased. The patterning of these inhumation practices suggests a more homogeneous regional identity that emphasized both individual and group identity. As sites became larger and more socially complex in the early Preclassic period, including increased multisite networks and public architecture, inhumation burial decreased in frequency and was only practiced for individuals younger than two years old at death or a few isolated adults. By this time, cremation also had increased in frequency to become the dominant

burial custom for the remainder of the Tucson Basin Hohokam cultural sequence (Byrd et al., 2012; Cerezo-Román, 2013; Cerezo-Román and McClelland, 2009).

In this paper we argue that cremation physically transformed the body of the deceased, facilitated a secondary treatment of the remains, and implied a larger change in relationships between the living and dead. Although inhumation burial continued throughout the Hohokam cultural sequence, it becomes far less variable and frequent, and apparently was restricted to only particular segments of the population. Investment in cremation is costly, and a secondary custom is added to the funeral sequence, but it is symbolically powerful as a transformative agent for both the deceased and mourners. The sensory differences of cremation and the increase in community investment including the secondary mortuary customs could have been manipulated to build or reinforce stronger social ties. Small bones weights of Preclassic period cremations suggest dissemination of the remains within the community, which could have further functioned to support these relationships. The transformation and treatment of the bodies subjected to cremation customs imply a different way of treating and viewing the dead by the living. We suggest that possible triggers for these changes in funerary customs through time, particularly in southern Arizona, are multi-causal and complex, but are likely reflections of strong social cohesion and group identity.

Acknowledgements. We would like to thank Barbara Mills for her help, support, and advice. We also are grateful for suggestions made by Jane Buikstra, Suzanne Fish, John McClelland, Tom Sheridan and Howard Williams. We are grateful to Thomas Fenn and Jessica Munson for their edits and comments. Access to collections and documentary materials were granted by Lane Beck, Alan Ferg, the Bioarchaeology Laboratory at the Arizona State Museum, the library at the Arizona State Museum, and The Tohono O'odham Nation. We also are very grateful for the support of Henry Wallace and William H. Doelle of Desert Archaeology, Inc., and Joe Ezzo, SWCA Environmental Consultants. This research was financially supported by the William Shirley Fulton Scholarship (School of Anthropology, University of Arizona), the Raymond H. Thompson

Endowment Research Award (Arizona State Museum, University of Arizona), and a National Science Foundation Doctoral Dissertation Improvement Grant (Grant #: 1132395). Any errors remain ours.

References

- Bahr, D. M., 1971. Who were the Hohokam? The evidence from Pima-Papago myths. Ethnohistory 18, 245-222.
- Bahr, D. M., Smith, J., Smith Allison, W., and Hayden, J., 1994. The Short swift time of gods on
- Earth: The Hohokam chronicles. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Barrett, J. C., 1990. The monumentality of death: the character of early bronze age mortuary mounds in southern Britain. World Archaeology 22, 179-189.
- Barth, F., 1969. Ethnic Groups and Boundaries. Little Brown and Company, Boston.
- Bayman, J. M., 2001. The Hohokam of Southwest North America. Journal of World Prehistory 15, 257-311.
- Beck, L. A., 1995. Regional cult and ethic boundaries in "Southern Hopewell". In: Beck, L. A., (Ed.), Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 167-187.
- Beck, L. A., 2005. Secondary burial practices in Hohokam cremations. In: Rakita, G. F. M., Buikstra, J. E., Beck, L. A., and Williams, S. R., (Eds.), Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, pp. 150-154.
- Bernard-Shaw, M., 1990. Archaeological Investigations at the Lonetree Site, AA:12:120(ASM), in the Northern Tucson Basin, Technical Report No. 90-1. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.
- Bloch, M., and Parry, J., 1982. Death and the Regeneration of Life. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 236.
- Brew, S. A., and Huckell, B. B., 1987. A protohistoric Pima burial and a consideration of Pima burial practices. Kiva 52, 163-191.
- Brück, J., 2006. Fragmentation, personhood and the social construction of technology in Middle and Late Bronze Age Britain. Cambridge Archaeological Journal 16, 297-315.
- Buikstra, J. E., and Nystrom, K. C., 2003. Embodied traditions: the Chachapoya and Inca ancestors. In: Jeske, R., and Charles, D. K., (Eds.), Theory, Method, and Practice in Modern Archaeology. Praeger Publishers, Westport, pp. 29-48.
- Buikstra, J. E., and Ubelaker, D., 1994. Standards for Data Collection from Human Skeletal Remains: Proceeding of a Seminar at the Field Museum of Natural History. Fayetteville, Arkansas.
- Butler, J., 1990. Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. Routledge, London.
- Butler, J., 1993. Bodies that Matter. Routledge, London.
- Byrd R., Watson, J. T., Fish, P., and Fish, S., 2012. Architecture and the afterlife: a spatial analysis of mortuary patterns at University Indian Ruin. Journal of Arizona Archaeology 2 (1),101-111.
- Cerezo-Román, J. I., in press. Pathways to personhood: cremation as a social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam. In: Cooney, G., Kuijt, I., and Quinn C. (Eds.),
Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

- Cerezo-Román, J. I., 2013. Unpacking Personhood and Identity in The Hohokam Area of Southern Arizona, The University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona.
- Cerezo-Román, J. I., and McClelland, J., 2009. Mortuary practices at Yuma Wash and the Hohokam Classic world. In: MacWilliams, A. C., and Dart, A., (Eds.), Archaeological Investigations at Five Sites West of the Santa Cruz River in Marana, Arizona. Old Pueblo Archaeology Center, Tucson, Arizona, pp. 6.1-6.22.
- Cerezo-Román, J. I., and Wallace, H. D., 2008. Mortuary Practices at Honey Bee Village Symposium: Beyond Status, Meaning, Metaphor, and Identity in New World Mortuary Practices Society for American Archaeology 73rd Annual Meeting, Vancouver, British Columbia.
- Chesson, M. S., 1999. Libraries of the dead: Early Bronze Age charnel houses and social identity at urban Bab Edh-Dhra', Jordan. Journal of Anthropological Archaeology 18, 137-164.
- Chesson, M. S., 2001. Social memory, identity, and death: an introduction. In: Chesson, M. S., (Ed.), Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives in Mortuary Rituals. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia, pp. 1-10.
- Ciolek-Torrello, 1998. Early Farmers of the Sonoran Desert Archaeological Investigations at the Houghton Road Site, Tucson, Arizona, Technical Series 72. Statistical Research, Inc., Tucson, Arizona, pp. 344.
- Copeland, A., Quade, J., Watson, J. T., McLaurin, B. T., and Villalpando, E., 2012. Stratigraphy and geochronology of La Playa archaeological site, Sonora, Mexico. Journal of Archaeological Science 39, 2934-2944.
- Cowgill, G. L., 2000. "Rationality" and context in agency theory. In: Dobres, M.-A., and Robb, J., (Eds.), Agency in Archaeology. Routledge, London and New York, pp. 51-61.
- Dart, A., 1986. Archaeological Investigations at La Paloma: Archaic and Hohokam Occupations at the Three Sites in the Northeastern Tucson Basin, Arizona, Anthropological Paper 4. Institute for American Research, Tucson.
- Derrida, J., 1982. Signature, event, context. In: Derrida, J., (Ed.), The Margins of Philosophy. Harvester, Brighton, pp. 307-330.
- Devlin, J. B., and Herrmann, N. P., 2008. Bone color as an interpretative tool of the depositional history of archaeological cremains. In: Schmidt, C. W., and Symes, S. A., (Eds.), The Analysis of Burned Human Remains. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 109-128.
- Dongoske, K. E., 1990. Human remains at Lonetree. In: Bernard-Shaw, M., (Ed.), Archaeological Investigations at the Lonetree Site, AA:12:120 (ASM), in the Northern Tucson Basin. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, pp. 193-195.
- Dongoske, K. E., 1993. Burial population and mortuary practices. In: Halbirt, C. D., and Henderson, K. T., (Eds.), Archaic Occupation on the Santa Cruz Flats: The Tator Hills Archaeological Project. Northland Research, Inc., Flagstaff, pp. 173-182.

- Doyel, D. E., 1991. Hohokam exchange and interaction. In: Crown, P. L., and Judge, W. J., (Eds.), Chaco and Hohokam: Prehistoric Regional Systems in the American Southwest. School of American Research, Santa Fe, pp. 225-252.
- Ezell, P. H., 1963. Is there a Hohokam-Pima cultural continuum? American Antiquity 29, 61-66.
- Fairgrieve, S. L., 2008. Forensic Cremation: Recovery and Analysis. CRC Press Taylor and Francis Group, Boca Raton.
- Feinman, G. M., 1991. Hohokam archaeology in the eighties: an outside view. In: Gumerman, G. J., (Ed.), Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest. Amerind Foundation and University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, pp. 461-483.
- Fish, P. R., and Fish, S. K., 1991. Hohokam political and social organization. In: Gumerman, G. J., (Ed.), Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest Amerind Foundation and University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, Arizona, pp. 151-175.
- Freeman, A. K., 1998. Archaeological Investigations at the Wetlands Site, AZ AA:12:90 (ASM). Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.
- Gell, A., 1998. Art and Agency: An Anthropological Theory. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Gillespie, S. D., 2011. Inside and outside: residential burial at Formative Period Chalcatzingo, Mexico. In: Adams, R. L., and King, S. M., (Eds.), Residential Burial: A Multiregional Exploration. Wiley Periodicals, Inc., Malden, Massachusetts, pp. 98-120.
- Gladwin, H. S., Haury, E. W., Sayles, E. B., and Gladwin, N., 1937. Excavations at Snaketown: Material Culture. Gila Pueblo Globe, Arizona.
- Gosden, C., and Marshall, Y., 1999. The cultural biography of objects. World Archaeology 31, 169-178.
- Gregonis, L. M., 1997. The Hardy Site at Fort Lowell Park Tucson, Arizona. Arizona State Museum, The University of Arizona, Tucson.
- Gregory, D. A., 1984. Excavations at the Siphon Draw site. In: Teague, L. S., and Crown,
 P. L., (Eds.), Hohokam Archaeology Along the Salt-Gila Aqueduct, Central Arizona
 Project: Prehistoric Occupation of the Queen Creek Delta. University of Arizona,
 Tucson, pp. 15-218.
- Gregory, D. A., 2001a. Excavations in the Santa Cruz River Floodplain: The Early Agricultural Period Component at Los Pozos. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.
- Gregory, D. A., 2001b. Variation and trend during the Early Agricultural period. In: A., G. D., (Ed.), Excavations in the Santa Cruz River Floodplain: The Early Agricultural Period Component at Los Pozos. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona, pp. 255-280.
- Gumerman, G. J., 1991. Exploring the Hohokam Prehistoric Peoples of the American Southwest. Amerind Foundation Publication, University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, Arizona.
- Hallam, E., and Hockey, J., 2001. Death, Memory and Material Culture. Berg, Oxford. Hanlon, C. J., 1972. Papago funeral customs. Kiva 37, 104-113.

- Haury, E. W., 1976. The Hohokam: Desert Farmers and Craftsmen: Excavations at Snaketown, 1964-1965. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.
- Hertz, R., 1960. Death and the Right Hand: A Contribution to the Study of the Collective Representation of Death. Free Press, Glencoe, Illinois.
- Jill, J. H., 2001. Proto-Uto-Aztecan: A community of cultivators in central Mexico? American Anthropologist 103, 913-934.
- Jones, A., 2001. Drawn from memory: The archaeology of aesthetics and the aesthetics of archaeology in earlier Bronze Age Britain and the present. World Archaeology 33, 334-356.
- Jones, A., 2003. Technologies of remembrance. In: William, H., (Ed.), Archaeologies of Remembrance: Death and Memory in Past Societies. Kluwer/Plenum, New York, pp. 65-88.
- Joyce, R. A., 2001. Burying the dead at Tlatilco: Social memory and social identities. In: Chesson, M. S., (Ed.), Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives on Mortuary Rituals. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia, pp. 12-26.
- Joyce, R. A., and Lopiparo, J., 2005. PostScript: doing agency in archaeology. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory 12, 365-374.
- Kelly, W. H., 1949. Cocopa attitudes and practices with respect to death and mourning. Southwestern Journal of Anthropology 5, 151-164.
- Kuijt, I., 2008. The regeneration of life: Neolithic structures of symbolic remembering and forgetting. Current Anthropology 49, 171-197.
- LeBlanc, S. A., 1982. The advent of pottery in the Southwest. In: Schroeder, A. H., (Ed.), Southwestern Ceramics: A Comparative Review. Arizona Archaeological Society, Phoenix, pp. 27-51.
- Lightfoot, K. G., and Feinman, G. M., 1982. Social differentiation and leadership development in early pithouse villages in the Mogollon region of the American Southwest. American Antiquity 47, 64-86.
- Mabry, J. B., 1997. The Santa Cruz Bend Site, AZ AA:12:746 (ASM). In: Mabry, J. B., Swartz, D. L., Clark, J. J., Archer, G. H., and Lindeman, M. W., (Eds.), Archaeological Investigations of Early Village Sites in the Middle Santa Cruz Valley. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, pp. 229-280.
- Mabry, J. B., 1998. Conclusion. In: Mabry, J. B., (Ed.), Archaeological Investigations of Early Village Sites in the Middle Santa Cruz Valley. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.
- Mabry, J. B., 2005. Changing knowledge and ideas about the first farmers in Southeastern Arizona. In: Vierra, B. J., (Ed.), The Late Archaic Across the Borderlands: From Foraging to Farming. University of Texas Press, Austin, pp. 41-83.
- Mabry, J. B., 2008. Las Capas: Early Irrigation and Sedentism in a Southwestern Floodplain Anthropological Papers 28. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.
- Mabry, J. B., Swartz, D. L., Wocherl, H., Clark, J. J., Archer, G. H., and Lindeman, M. W., 1997. Archaeological investigations of early village sites in the middle Santa Cruz Valley descriptions of the Santa Cruz Bend, Square Hearth, Stone Pipe, and

Canal Sites, Anthropological Papers No. 18. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.

- Madsen, J. H., Fish, P. R., and Fish, S. K., 1993. The Northern Tucson Basin survey: research directions and background studies. In: Teague, L. S., (Ed.), Arizona State Museum Archaeological Series. Arizona State Museum, Tucson, pp. 283.
- Malhi, R. S., Mortensen, H. M., Eshleman, J. A., Kemp, B. M., Lorenz, J. G., Kaestle, F. A., Johnson, J. R., Gorodezky, C., and Smith, D. G., 2003. Native American mtDNA prehistory in the American Southwest. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 120, 108-124.
- McClelland, J., 2005. Bioarchaeological analysis of Early Agricultural period human skeletal remains from Southern Arizona. In: Diehl, M. W., (Ed.), Subsistence and Resources use Strategies of Early Agricultural Communities in Southern Arizona. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, pp. 153-168.
- McClelland, J., 2013. Human Remains Documentation Packet. Arizona State Museum, The University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona, pp. Access to Human Skeletal Collection Form.
- McClelland, J., Dayhoff, R., and Klimas, T., 2006. Human burials. In: Thiel, J. H., and Mabry, J. B., (Eds.), Rio Nuevo Archaeology Program, 2000–2003: Investigations at the San Agustín Mission and Mission Gardens, Tucson Presidio, Tucson Pressed Brick Company, and Clearwater Site. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona, pp. 18.11-18.15.
- Mengoni, L. E., 2010. Identity formation in a border area: The cemeteries of Baoxing, Western Sichuan (Third Century BCE – Second Century CE). Journal of Social Archaeology 10, 198-229.
- Meskell, L., and Pruecel, R. W., 2004. Identities. In: Meskell, L., and Preucel, R. W., (Eds.), A Companion to Social Archaeology. Blackwell, Malden, Massachusetts, pp. 121-141.
- Mills, B. J., 2004. Identity, Feasting, and the Archaeology of the Greater Southwest. University Press of Colorado, Colorado, pp. 339.
- Minturn, P. D., and Lincoln-Babb, L., 2001. Human Osteological remains. In: Gregory, D. A., (Ed.), Excavations in the Santa Cruz River Floodplain: The Early Agricultural Period Component at Los Pozos. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, pp. 303-304.
- Mizoguchi, K., 1993. Time in the reproduction of mortuary practices. World Archaeology 25, 223-235.
- Moriarty, J. R., 1965. Cosmogony, rituals, and medical practice among the Diegueño Indians of southern California. Anthropological Journal of Canada 3, 2-16.
- O'Shea, J. M., 1984. Mortuary Variability: An Archaeological Investigation. Academic Press, New York.
- Pauketat, T. R., and Alt, S. M., 2005. Agency in a postmold ? Physicality and the archaeology of culture-making. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory 12, 213-236.
- Pearson, M. P., 1999. The Archaeology of Death and Burial. Texas A&M University Press College Station, Texas.

- Rakita, G. F. M., and Buikstra, J. E., 2005. Corrupting flesh: reexamining Hertz's perspective on mummification and cremation. In: Rakita, G. F. M., Buikstra, J. E., Beck, L. A., and Williams, S. R., (Eds.), Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, pp. 97-106.
- Roth, B., and Wellman, K., 2001. New insights into the Early Agricultural period in the Tucson Basin: excavations at the Valley Farms Site (AZ AA:12: 736). Kiva 67, 59-79.
- Rowlands, M. J., 1998. Consumption and ethnicity in the interpretation of cultural form. In: Pearce, M., and Tosi, M., (Eds.), Papers from the EAA Third Annual Meeting at Ravenna 1997, Volume 1: Pre- and Protohistory. British Archaeological Reports, Oxford, pp. 261-263.
- Russell, F., 1908. The Pima Indians. Government Printing Office, Washington, D. C.
- Shaul, D. L., and Andresen, J. M., 1989. A case for Yuman participation in the Hohokam regional system. Kiva 54, 105-126.
- Shaul, D. L., and Hill, J. H., 1998. Tepimans, Yumans, and other Hohokam. American Antiquity 63, 375-396.
- Shipman, P., Foster, G., and Schoeninger, M., 1984. Burnt bones and teeth: an experimental study of color, morphology, crystal structure and shrinkage. Journal of Archaeological Science 11, 307-325.
- Spier, L., 1933. Yuman tribes of the Gila river. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Swartz, D. L., 2008. Life in the Foothills: Archaeological Investigations in the Tortolita Mountains of Southern Arizona, Anthropological Papers No. 46. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, AZ, pp. 627.
- Swartz, D. L., and Lindeman, M., 1997. The Stone Pipe Site, AZ BB:13:425 (ASM). In: Mabry, J. B., Swartz, D. L., Clark, J. J., Archer, G. H., and Lindeman, M. W., (Eds.), Archaeological Investigations of Early Village Sites in the Middle Santa Cruz Valley. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, pp. 281-418.
- Symes, S. A., Rainwater, C. W., Chapman, E. N., Gipson, D. R., and Piper, A. L., 2008. Patterned thermal destruction of human remains in a forensic setting. In: Schmidt, C. W., and Symes, S. A., (Eds.), The Analysis of Burned Human Remains. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 15-54.
- Tarlow, S., 1999. Bereavement and Commemoration: An Archaeology of Mortality. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Turner, V. W., 1967. The Forest of Symbols. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York.
- Van Gennep, A., 1960. The Rites of Passage. Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.
- Walker, W. H., and Lucero, L. J., 2000. The depositional history of ritual and power. In: Dobres, M.-A., and Robb, J., (Eds.), Agency in Archaeology. Routledge, London and New York.
- Wallace, H. D., Heidke, J. M., and Doelle, W. H., 1995. Hohokam origins. Kiva 60, 575-618.
- Wallace, H. D., 2001. Time seriation and typological refinement of the Middle Gila Buffware sequence: Snaketown through Soho Phase. In: Abbot, D. R., (Ed.), The

Grewe Archaeological Research Project, Volume 2, Part I. Ceramic Studies. Northland Research Tempe, pp. 177-262.

- Wallace, H. D., 2004. Update to the Middle Gila Buff Ware ceramic sequence. In: Henderson, K. T., (Ed.), Hohokam Farming on the Salt River Floodplain: Refining Models and Analysis Methods. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, pp. 45-124.
- Wallace, H. D., 2007. Hohokam beginnings. In: Fish, P. R., and Fish, S. K., (Eds.), The Hohokam Millennium. School of Advanced Research Press, Santa Fe, New Mexico, pp. 13-21.
- Wallace, H. D.,2012a. Site chronology. In Life in the Valley of Gold: Archaeological Investigations at Honey Bee Village, a Prehistoric Hohokam Ballcourt Village, Part 1, edited by H. D. Wallace, pp. 109-122. Anthropological Papers No. 48. Archaeology Southwest, Tucson.
- Wallace, H. D., 2012b. Life in the Valley of Gold: Archaeological Investigations at Honey Bee Village, a Prehistoric Hohokam Ballcourt Village, Part 1. Archaeology Southwest, Tucson.
- Wallace, H. D., Heidke, J. M., and Doelle, W. H., 1995. Hohokam origins. Kiva 60, 575-618.
- Wallace, H. D., and Lindeman, M. W., 2012. Hohokam village formation in the Phoenix and Tucson Basin. In: Young, L. C., and Herr, S. A., (Eds.), Southwestern Pithouse Communities, AD 200-900. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson, pp. 34-44.
- Waters, M. R. and C. V. Haynes, 2001. Late quaternary arroyo formation and climate change in the American Southwest. *Geology* 29 (5), 399-402.
- Watson, J. T., 2005. Cavities on the Cob: Dental Health and the Agricultural Transition in Sonora, Mexico, University of Nevada, Las Vegas.
- Watson, J. T., Fields, M., and Martin, D. L., 2010. Introduction of agriculture and its effects on women's oral health. America Journal of Human Biology 22, 92-102.
- Weiner, A. B., 1976. Women of Value, Men of Renown. Univ. of Texas Press, Austin.
- Whittlesey, S. M., 1995. Mogollon, Hohokam, and O'otam: rethinking the Early Formative period in Southern Arizona. Kiva 60, 465-480.
- Wilcox, D. R., 1988. The regional context of the Brady Wash and Picacho area sites. In: Ciolek-Torrelllo, R., and Wilcox, D. R., (Eds.), Synthesis and Conclusion, Hohokam Settlement Along the Slopes of the Picacho Mountains, Tucson Aqueduct Project. Museum of Northern Arizona, Flagstaff, pp. 244-267.
- Wilcox, D. R., McGuire, T. R., and Sternberg, C., 1981. Snaketown Revisited: A Partial Cultural Resource Survey, Analysis of Site Structure and an Ethnohistoric Study of the Proposed Hohokam-Pima National Monument. Arizona State Museum, University of Arizona, Tucson.
- Williams, H., 2003. Remembering and forgetting in medieval dead. In: Williams, H., (Ed.), Archaeologies of Remembrance: Death and Memory in Past Societies. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York, pp. 227-254.
- Williams, H., 2004. Death warmed up: the agency of bodies and bones in Early Anglo-Saxon cremation rites. Journal of Material Culture 9, 263-291.

- Williams, H., 2006. Death and Memory in Early Medieval Britain. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Williams, H., 2011. Cremation & present pasts: A contemporary archaeology of Swedish memory groves. Mortality 16, 113-130.
- Williams, H., 2013. Death, memory, and material culture: Catalystic commemoration and the cremated dead. In: Tarlow, S., and Nilsson Stutz, L., (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of the Archaeology of Death and Burial. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 195-208.
- Wills, W. H., 1995. Archaic foraging and the beginning of food production in the American Southwest. In: Price, T. B., and Gebauer, A. B., (Eds.), Last Hunters-First Farmers: New Perspectives on the Prehistoric Transition to Agriculture. School of American Research Press, Santa Fe, pp. 215-242.
- Wills, W. H., and Windes, T. C., 1989. Evidence for population aggregation and dispersal during the Basketmaker III Period in Chaco Canyon, New Mexico American Antiquity 54, 347-369.

APPENDIX B – PATHWAYS TO PERSONHOOD: CREMATION AS A SOCIAL PRACTICE AMONG THE TUCSON BASIN HOHOKAM

Jessica I. Cerezo-Román

Paper is pending publication in *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Gabriel Cooney, Ian Kuijt and Colin Quinn. University of Arizona Press, Tucson

Introduction

Personhood is constructed both in life and at death through multiple interactions of people with the deceased. In this paper, I explore how the Preclassic Hohokam of Southern Arizona created different pathways to personhood for the dead by examining how bodies were treated within cremation practices at four Tucson Basin Hohokam archaeological sites and through comparison with different ethnographic accounts of Southwestern Native American cremation practices.

Mortuary practices have been viewed as proceeding through three stages associated with pre-death, death, and post-death rituals (e.g., Hertz 1960; van Gennep 1960). The entire sequence of death rituals, however, can be considered as dynamic transformative processes for personhood beginning with pre-death rituals and ending with the final mourning rituals. These processes are not seen as a series of unrelated separate stages (Bourdieu 1991:117-127; Brück 2006a), but rather as integrated and dependent upon the people involved. During the life-death transition, the personhoods of both the deceased and mourners are reconfigured through processes of dissolution, creation, negotiation, and transformation (e.g. Bloch and Parry 1982; Hertz 1960; Metcalf 1982; Williams 2004, 2013). Some researchers (e.g., McGuire 1992; Parker Pearson 1999) suggest that mortuary rituals often mask or transform actual power or social relationships of the living. It is important to note that prioritizing exclusively the role of the living could diminish the role of the dead as an individual and a source of remembrance (e.g., Meskell 1996; Tarlow 1999). Furthermore, focusing only on the role of the living diminishes potential connections that the living may have had with the deceased (Williams 2004).

The term "personhood" is employed in identity research and has been suggested for use particularly in the study of mortuary practices. Gillespie (2001), Fowler (2005), Jones (2005) and Brück (2006b), among others, study mortuary practices and identity through the lense of "personhood", and envision people as participating in mutuallyidentifying community relationships and practices (Brück 2006b, this volume; Chapman 2000; Jones 2005). Gillespie (2001:75), drawing from Marcel Mauss (1954, 1985), argues that personhood derives from the enactment of connections within a society including relationships between different individuals, individuals and groups, individuals and objects, and the living and dead. These connections shape social constructions that symbolize and refer to individuals.

In this paper I use the concept of personhood to explore complex relationships between the dead, the living, and material culture among the Preclassic Hohokam from Southern Arizona through the analysis of archaeological and osteological data from four sites in the Tucson Basin. I contrast these with ethnohistoric and ethnographic funerary accounts from different Southwestern Native American groups. Comparative data for this study derive from the archaeological sites of Honey Bee Village (Craig 1989), Sleeping Snake Village (Ezzo 2005), Fagan Ranch (Ezzo 2008), and Los Morteros (Wallace 1995a, 1995b). This research examines human remains from 415 burials, including cremations, inhumations, and burial deposits containing both burned and unburned bone. Most of these individuals were found in cemetery burials associated with courtyards. Courtyard groups are spatially patterned regions and facilities within sites (Fish and Fish 1991:159), and are generally believed by Hohokam archaeologists to represent households and extended family households (e.g. Fish and Fish 1991; Wallace, et al. 1995; Wilcox, et al. 1981).

The Datasets: Archaeological Assemblages and Historic Accounts

The Hohokam was a society of farmers and artisans that lived mainly from A.D. 475 to 1450/1500 in the Sonoran Desert of the Southwestern United States (Fish and Fish 2007). They were notable for their large-scale canal irrigation agriculture, red-on-buff ceramics, monumental architecture and marine shell ornament production and circulation (Bayman 2001). They also have been described as comprising different communities and settlements that expressed different levels of social organization¹⁴, interactions, and networks (e.g., Doelle and Wallace 1991; Fish 1996).

Historical accounts of cremation practices utilized here originate from the Pima (Akimel O'odham), Tohono O'odham, and Yuman-speaking groups. Archaeological and linguistic evidence¹⁵, suggest that ancestors of these groups had contact with the Hohokam (Ezell 1963; Shaul and Andresen 1989; Shaul and Hill 1998). The Pima (Akimel O'odham) and the Tohono O'odham consider that the Hohokam were their ancestors, although the "Pima-Hohokam continuum" is a source of debate among Hohokam and Southwestern archaeologists (e.g. Bahr 1971; Ezell 1963; Jill 2001; Malhi, et al. 2003).

In this paper, I explore how ethnographies and oral traditions can be used for comparison and as a source of inspiration to evaluate social connections associated with cremation. I do not argue that the ethnographic practices had the same meaning to the prehistoric peoples, nor is it suggested that there was direct cultural continuity between groups. Although some of these groups may believe that they have ancestral ties with the Hohokam it is important to recognize that historic communities may live and interpret

¹⁴Fish and Fish (1991) proposed different levels of social organization for the Hohokam: courtyard groups, suprahousehold units, site and community. Suprahousehold units have been identified as social units that incorporate several courtyard groups. Site level incorporates different suprahousehold units. A community has been defined as bounded territorial units centered on pivotal sites. The community encompasses several multisite organizational units at the level of the ballcourt, platform mound community, or primary village. ¹⁵Shaul and Hill proposed that the Proto-Tepiman speech community incorporates attestation of language contact with the Proto-Yuman based on data from phonology, syntax and lexicon (Shaul and Hill 1998). This suggests that the Hohokam were a multi-ethnic community who spoke both Proto-Tepiman and Proto Yuman ca. 1000 years ago.

cultural domains very differently. The ethnographic and oral tradition accounts of mortuary practices also present several limitations intrinsic to the nature of these sources (see Vansina 1985, for expanded discussion). Regardless, they can provide insights to interpret archaeological remains (e.g., Mason 2000; Wylie 1985). Descriptions of mortuary rituals in a written source provide analogs for some of the different types of social actions that individuals performed during mortuary rituals, as well as possible material traces that these practices could have left behind.

Historic Accounts: Cremation Practices among Southwestern Native American Groups

Southwestern Native Americans practiced different types of cremation throughout their histories. Archaeological evidence suggests that Puebloan groups, such as the Zuni of New Mexico, practiced cremation frequently (but not exclusively) in the past but no longer practiced cremation after the Spanish conquest (e.g. Howell 1994; Riley 1975). The 19th and early 20th century Akimel O'odham and Tohono O'odham, located further south in Arizona, also practiced cremation but only under special circumstances (e.g., death from warfare or in a violent encounter). They often, however, burned the houses and possessions of the deceased on a regular basis (Brew and Huckell 1987; Russell 1908; Underhill 1939, 1954; Velarde 1931).

Other groups in the Southwest, such as the Yuman-speaking peoples, regularly practiced cremation into recent history (e.g., Colorado River Yuman such as the Halchidlhoma and Maricopa, and Cocopas, and Southern California Yuman such as the Luiseños, Diegueños, Kumeyaay, and Quechans). Cremation mortuary rituals encompassed multiple activities practiced in sequence and the activities are similar between groups. The mourning rituals, however, often varied (Spier 1933). For the Yuman, the cremation sequence began in the house of the moribund when the shaman and orator prepared the dying individual and family for the imminent death and departure (see Table 1). Subsequent activities occurred once the individual died. The body was prepared at the house and taken to a funerary pyre to be cremated on the same day or the day after the individual died (Kelly 1949; Schaefer 2000). At the funerary pyre a tribal orator, an official funeral orator, a fire tender or *aume'va*, the relatives, people from the community, and guests from other tribes were assembled. Once the body arrived it was placed in the pyre and burned (see Table 1 for details). Among the Maricopa speakers, an orator, singers and dancers performed and food was available for the guests while the body was burning. Objects and blankets are piled or thrown over the fire by relatives or guests (Schaefer 2000; Spier 1933).

		Historic Accounts of Cremation Rituals
Process	Location	Actions
Individual	House of the	Moribund individuals were assisted by a shaman who sang several songs. After
is dying	dead	the shaman finished an orator prepared the moribund and the relatives for death.
Individual	House of the	Body was washed, dressed in its best clothes, the hair combed, the body painted
dies	dead	and decorated by the mourners. The body was then wrapped in a cloth by a person
		from outside the family.
After a	Transportation	Body was taken outside to the pyre to be burned
day	of body	
Burning	Pyre site	The body was placed on the pyre, and laid with the head to the east and then
pyre and		turned on its right side. While the pyre was burning, a fire tender adjusted the
burning of		body with a long pole running it under the corpse to let in the air, and pushed the
body		blazing logs over the corpse, so that it could not be seen by the relatives. Singers
-		and dancers perform and food was available for the guests. Objects and blankets
		are piled or thrown onto the fire by relatives or guests. People from the
		community and guests from other tribes were invited
Body		The speakers delivered an oration
partially		
consumed		
Body		The mourners and guests left the area once and the fire tender stayed with the
consumed/		body.
cremated		
remains		
After fire		Most of the Yuman-speaking groups placed the remains in a secondary deposit:
		exceptions to this, the Luiseños that buried the remains in the pyre site, other
		Yuman-speaking groups do this if an individual dies in enemy territory
	Rock piles	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary
	Rock piles away from	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation.
	Rock piles away from village or	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation.
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation.
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out.The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and
	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered.
Post death	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills,
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided.
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators.
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn a memorial image of the deceased, personal belongings and clothing. The
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn a memorial image of the deceased, personal belongings and clothing. The
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn a memorial image of the deceased, personal belongings and clothing. The participants may also throw in the pyre objects that belong to them as an offering for the dead or as a contribution to the mourners within four-month to a year
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn a memorial image of the deceased, personal belongings and clothing. The participants may also throw in the pyre objects that belong to them as an offering for the dead or as a contribution to the mourners within four-month to a year
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn a memorial image of the deceased, personal belongings and clothing. The participants may also throw in the pyre objects that belong to them as an offering for the dead or as a contribution to the mourners within four-month to a year Cocopas: Representations of the faces of the deceased were painted on the post of the houses were burned with the associated objects. This
Post death rituals	Rock piles away from village or elsewhere Close distant to the pyre site House of the deceased and adjacent space	The Diegueño Indians of Southern California Placed the remains in mortuary ceramic vessels after the cremation. Maricopas and Halchidhoma divided the remains once the body is burned into four holes that were dug close to the heap of ashes, two on the south site, and two on the north after the fire had burned out. The fire tender, starting at the west end of the head scraped the ashes alternately north and south of the centerline. He then divided the two piles to the west and to the east. Each pile was put in a hole and covered. O'odham, Apache, and Navajo burned the houses and property of an individual at their death but did not practice cremation as a prevalent mode of interment (Mills, et al. 2006). On some occasions, destruction of the property and house was not done by very poor families or the dying person was removed from their house so destruction of the house could be avoided. Yuman-speaking groups: The destruction of the property and house of the dead was performed on a regular basis but varied in complexity and time. The Maricopas only did it for particular individuals, singers, warriors, and orators. Quechans: The participants prepare a pyre, similar to the cremation pyre, and burn a memorial image of the deceased, personal belongings and clothing. The participants may also throw in the pyre objects that belong to them as an offering for the dead or as a contribution to the mourners within four-month to a year Cocopas: Representations of the faces of the deceased were painted on the post of the houses and then the houses were burned with the associated objects. This practice was made for a particular deceased and for other relatives who had

 Table 1. Historic Accounts of Cremation Rituals from Southwestern Native American Groups

Once the body was consumed by fire, most Yuman groups placed the remains in a different secondary depositional location. In this paper the term 'secondary deposit' is used to describe a deposit where cremated human remains were placed after removal from the pyre, crematorium or primary cremation locality. These deposits could consist of either urns or earth pits, or a combination of the two, containing cremated bone. Deposition of the remains after the fire, however, can vary between groups (Dubois 1907; McGuire 1992:45; Moriarty 1965:12; Schaefer 2000; Spier 1933). For example among the Maricopas and Halchidhoma the remains were divided into four piles and placed in four secondary deposits (see Table 1; Spier 1933:302-303).

Additional rituals followed the final deposition of the body. These did not directly involve the deceased but involved the objects of the deceased, and the mourners. The O'odham, Apache, and Navajo continued their mourning by burning the houses and property of an individual, but these groups do not practice cremation as the major funerary custom (Brew and Huckell 1987; Durivage 1937; Ezell 1961; Mills, et al. 2006; Russell 1908). Yuman-speaking groups who practiced cremation also burned and destroyed the property of the dead and objects that belong to them as an offering for the dead or as a contribution from the mourners (Dubois 1907; Kelly 1949:153; Moriarty 1965; Schaefer 2000; Spier 1933; Yarrow 1880). Mourning rituals varied in complexity and timing between groups (McGuire 1992; Spier 1933). In some instances the Pima (Akimel O'odham) removed the main posts of the house prior to the fire and used them as construction material for a new house (see Table 1 for exceptions). In cases when the dead were singers, orators, or warriors the mourners also invited individuals from other tribes to be part of the mourning ceremony. Usually invited tribes had previously participated in other activities with the mourning tribe (e.g., going to war together, among others) and/or were allies.

The practices of burning the body and destroying the property of the dead were done for several reasons, none of which are mutually exclusive (see Table 1). Among Yuman-speaking accounts, individuals were cremated so that they could enter the "land of the dead" (Spier 1933), where, upon arrival, the dead performed similar activities and had similar life cycles as the living but with plenty to eat and their life was "renewed". The aged became young and old possessions burned in mortuary and mourning rituals were transported to the land of the dead as new (Spier 1933), thereby providing a rational for the burning of property and possessions (Kelly 1949). Alternatively, mourners feared that the dead would return to the land of the living (Spier 1933; Underhill 1939:190). The accounts of Yuman-speakers and the O'odham mention that cremation and mourning rituals would destroy enemy magic, the sickness of the deceased and the polluted body (Hanlon 1972:106; Spier 1933; Underhill 1939:190).

Southwestern ethnographic accounts of cremation rituals help us interpret and understand the meanings of these practices. Ethnographic accounts can be utilized to evaluate the archaeological record and gain insight into past processes and practices. Although it is difficult or almost impossible to get to the exact meanings of specific practices, comparison with historic groups that practiced cremation rituals allow us to explore the similar and/or multiple meanings represented by historic rituals and offer some reasonable hypotheses about what the Preclassic rituals may have meant to the past peoples.

Archaeological Evidence

Cremation was practiced in Southern Arizona since the beginning of the Early Agricultural period, circa 2100 B.C.-A.D. 50, albeit at low frequencies (Cerezo-Roman and Watson forthcoming; Mabry 1998). The use of cremation slowly increased through time into the Preclassic Period, A.D. 475-1150 (Fish and Fish 2007), where it became the prevalent mode of interment. For example, from the four archaeological sites in this research, 369 of 415 burials were cremations, 44 were inhumations, and two represented deposits that contained burned and unburned human bone. The overwhelming majority of inhumations were infants (newborn to 2 years at death) with the rare adult being inhumed. In this period the Proto-Yumans and Proto-Tepimans would have been living in close contact with one another (Shaul and Hill 1998). During the Classic Period, A.D. 1150-1450/1500, cremation decreased as a mortuary practice. In the Phoenix Basin the decrease was earlier than in the Tucson Basin (Cerezo-Román and McClelland 2009).

Evidence for Burning Bodies

The Preclassic Hohokam practiced cremation as a primary mode of interment. Cremation was a multi-stage process where several actions and activities were performed by the living prior to final disposal of the deceased. The first step was the burning of the body. Studies suggest that the body was first placed on a small wooden platform. Fuels may have included *Prosopis sp.* (mesquite), *Cercidium sp.* (paloverde), *Olneya sp.* (ironwood), along with other desert legume-wood trees (Wallace, personal communication). Personal adornment artifacts – beads, shell, quartz crystals, bracelets, and pendants – and activity-specific items – hammerstones, polishing stones, quartzite saws, ground stone and ceramic vessels – were placed or thrown in the pyre. The majority of bodies were burned until the bones were white, indicating temperatures reaching 800°F (Holden, et al. 1995a. 1995b). The homogeneity in color, high degree of incineration, and degree of fragmentation present in these cremations suggests that specialists were in charge of the technological and performance aspects of the burning. These specialists needed enough experience and knowledge to burn the bodies thoroughly.

The place where the body was burned – the crematory, pyre site or primary cremation – usually was (sub)rectangular in shape and had an east-west orientation. The terms "primary deposit of cremated" bone refer to a feature containing primary burned human remains and direct evidence of fire. The implication is that the complete body is placed and burned *in situ*, but this does not necessarily mean that the remains were found articulated. These primary deposits typically were used once by the Hohokam. Once the body was burned, the remains were collected from the pyre area and placed into a secondary deposit(s) of cremated bone (previously defined). The archaeological samples used in this study comprise 34 primary deposits of cremated bone, 258 secondary

deposits of cremated bones and 77 unspecified cremation deposits. Remains found in the secondary and unspecified cremation deposits could represent the same individuals found in the primary deposits of cremated bone or pyre sites. In fact, most cremated bone deposits analyzed in this study do not contain remains of complete individuals.

Recent research illustrates that bone weights can vary between males and females as well as between biological populations (e.g., Bass and Jantz 2004; May 2011; Van Deest, et al. 2011). Nonetheless, the bones of a complete cremated individual usually weigh more than 1500 grams. The mean weights of the cremations analyzed here (~85 grams), however, were significantly lower. No significant differences in weight were found between males or females and a specific cremation burial practice. In contrast, infants were not found in any primary deposit of cremated bone, but were found in five instances of secondary deposits of cremated bone. Primary deposits of cremated bone contain bones from all anatomical regions of the body (e.g., cranial, axial, appendicular, extremities). In 29 of the 34 primary cremations, the deposits did not present any major post-burial disturbances and only one individual was present. Weights for these ranged from 1 to 1091 grams, with a mean bone weight of ~204 g (see Fig. 1).



Figure 3 Cremation Weights Classification (g.)

There were no major post-burial disturbances and only one individual was present in 196 of the 258 secondary cremated bone deposits. No significant differences were found between sex or age at death in secondary deposits of cremated bone. The majority of these cremations were placed in a pit, although a few remains also were found in vessels or under vessels. Secondary deposits of cremated bone included bones from all anatomical areas of the body. The mean weight for these cremations was ~73 g. The plotted distribution has a significant positive skewness with wide variation in bone weights (see Fig. 1). However, it was clear that most primary and secondary deposits of cremated remains do not contain complete individuals or bodies, and it is possible that the remains of a single individual could be spread between multiple deposits. Despite the use of high-recovery protocols, it is possible that some bone, such as very small fragments, could have been lost during archaeological excavation. Regardless, the low bone weights in these cremation deposits cannot be explained by differential excavation and recovering techniques alone. A total of 172 of the 415 deposits did not contain any associated objects. However, in the remaining deposits, different types of objects were found in primary and secondary cremation deposits (see Fig. 2). Secondary cremation deposits have a greater variability in associated objects than primary deposits of cremated bone, and some objects may have been collected from the pyre area with the cremated bone. Many burned objects found in secondary cremation deposits may have accompanied or decorated the body during the burning on the pyre. In rare cases objects did not exhibit evidence of fire, e.g. some vessels and hammerstones, and thus they were added to the secondary deposits of cremated bone. There was no significant correlation between the quantity of objects, type of cremation, age or sex of the individuals. However, Crown and Fish (1996), among others (McGuire 1992, Teague 1984), found that male adult cremations usually were buried with a variety of types of mortuary items, such as shell ornaments and ritual related items. In contrast, women were more often buried with a higher mean number of ceramic vessels than males (Crown and Fish 1996).



Figure 4 Cremations and Burial Objects Frequencies

Evidence for Post-Depositional Practices

Burning structures and objects is a common occurrence in Hohokam sites. Some might be associated with rituals that occurred after final disposition of the dead. In a survey of over 34 sites and 800 excavated Preclassic period pithouses, Mills et al. (2006) found that at least 35% and as many as 75% of the structures had evidence of burning, a frequency that was too high to be accidental or random. Two main theories have been proposed to explain these findings: 1) fires were caused by conflict or warfare (Oliver 2001; Rice 2001; Wallace and Doelle 2001), and 2) the houses were burned as part of a ritual related to the death of a member of the household or head of the family (Fish and Fish 2006; Greenleaf 1975; Huntington 1986; Wallace 1995a, 1995b; Wallace and Doelle 2001). These theories are not mutually exclusive and other models can explain the archaeological record. Therefore, each burned house should be evaluated independently. Mills et al. (2006), however, also mention that some of the houses were heavily burned,

lacked large center posts, contained minimal useable artifacts, and that recovered artifacts were usually broken. These findings are consistent with a funerary ceremony where interiors of the houses were cleaned out prior to a burning ceremony, the center post was removed, and the structure mainly contained offerings or property of the deceased. Mills et al. (2006) argue that mortuary ritual and not warfare was the major factor in household burning.

Transformation of Personhood: Death of the Individual

Archaeologists have yet to develop the means of identifying pre-death mortuary rituals associated with the sick and dying. It is possible that in some cases transitional death rituals to the "afterlife" started when people were still alive. Once biological death occurred, however, rites began that potentially produced archaeological traces. At times the family acquired a situational personhood of mourners (Bird-David and Israeli 2010). The family prepared the body, including dressing the dead for the funeral ritual. When the body was ready, it was taken to the pyre to be cremated.

Archaeological evidence for body preparation can include particular objects found with the remains. Many objects found in primary and secondary cremation deposits appear to have been directly associated with the body and/or ritual during the cremation fire. Objects such as beads, shell, bracelets, pendants and pigments decorated the bodies and were probably part of this initial stage of ritual preparation. Also, primary and secondary cremation deposits often contain figurines, quartz crystals, stone tools, and ceramic vessels that were burned with the body or placed after the burning of the body. These objects may have been possessions of the deceased or gifts from mourners. Likewise, palettes (Hawley 1947), censers, and pigments may have been utilized in the ritual performance. Some objects may also have been burned separately in a post death/mourning ritual. Through their selection these objects acquire capacities to sustain memory relationships between the survivors and departed, as well as to represent multidimensional social networks among the deceased and mourners. It is, moreover, possible that the deceased's possessions were designated as aspects or extensions of the personhood of the individual, potentially creating object biographies that entangled the biographies of the person(s) and the objects (e.g. Brück 2006a:76; Gosden and Marshall 1999; Hallam and Hockey 2001; Hoskins 1989).

Differences in the deceased's personhood are potentially reflected through variation between burials and types of objects. These objects entered the archaeological record with the remains in at least three different ways: decorative ornamentation as part of the clothing or accessories, objects accompanying the body in the pyre, and/or objects deposited with the body after burning. It is also possible, however, that the objects entered the archaeological record in later mourning rituals. In addition, burned houses, and burned and fragmented objects found in caches could present similar characteristics and may have acquired an extension of personhood.

Cremation as a Physical Change: From Flesh to Bones

Cremation involves both physical and social transformation of the deceased (Cooney, 2013; Goldstein and Meyers, 2013). In these transitions, the dead were closely connected with the living throughout the funeral rituals. Spier notes that among the Yuman the soul leaves the body during burning (1933:296). During cremation ceremonies orators, dancers, and singers helped direct the soul of the deceased to the world of the dead (Kelly 1949). Very little archaeological evidence exists for these types of activities among the Hohokam. The presence of certain objects in cremation deposits, however, such as palettes, censers, and pigments illustrates that they may have been utilized in the ritual performance (Fig. 2).

Roasting and feasting were often part of funerary events of many Southwest Native American groups. At Honey Bee Village (Cerezo-Román and Wallace 2008), Fagan Ranch (Ezzo 2007), and Los Morteros (Wallace 1995b:252-253), *hornos* (furnaces or adobe-built outdoor ovens), roasting pits, and possible cooking pits were found in close proximity to cemetery areas. Thus, feasting and cremation may have occurred among the Hohokam. The number of people who participated in the transition may have been low even though cremations were visually more spectacular than inhumations and more people would have been aware of when they occurred. Archaeological data suggest that cremation rituals were performed in the cemeteries of courtyard groups, spatially distinct clusters of houses that represented extended families, and it is possible that only the participants in these ceremonies were members of the household and suprahousehold group, and individuals involved with ritual funeral performance.

As the center of ritual, the body of the dead possessed an agency that affected experiences, provoked memories, and altered decision-making and the actions of mourners and the community (Chesson 2001; Hallam and Hockey 2001; Tarlow 1999; Williams 2004). One way in which the dead body may have had social agency was in the choice of mortuary treatment. It is, for example, common to find that only a few adults and the great majority infants (newborn to 2 years at death) were inhumed. The reason for inhumation probably differed for adults and infants. In the case of adults, it was probably because of their particular identity or role in society (Cerezo-Román 2010; Cooney 2013; McGuire 1992), while infants were not considered fully active members of the society. Tohono O'odham ethnographic evidence indicates that dead infants did not present any danger to the living because they were not full persons (Kozak 1991). Among the Hohokam it is likely that infants had fewer social networks than older individuals. It is possible that infant networks were household oriented rather than to specific suprahousehold or other sectors of the community. It is common, for example, to find infants buried under the floors of pithouses. In sum, it is likely that personhood was not yet established among infants, possibly linked to high mortality rates.

Division of the Remains: Social Implications of Fragmentation of the Body

After burning the body no longer resembled or had the physicality of a person and was converted into calcined bone. The personhood of the deceased was also transformed at this time. Few individuals were left in the place where they were burned. Some burned bone, varying from a small amount to the whole individual, were collected from the pyre site and moved to a secondary location. Relationships between the living and dead were transformed at this point. It is possible that after burning the cremated remains began to be treated more like a "body-object" that could be fragmented, divided, distributed and easily transported by the Hohokam, similar to what has been observed among other groups practicing cremation (see Brück 2013; Cooney 2013). Interestingly, no significant age-specific differences are found between cremation groups (except infants which usually were not cremated). Likewise, no differences are observed between sex and cremation type, although only 41 individuals could be sexed by standard accepted protocols (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). The homogeneity in cremation types does not mean that the multiple intersecting identities of the dead ceased to exist or were no longer a source of remembrance or personhood. Rather identities were extended and transformed during these rituals.

Historic accounts of the Maricopa and Halchidhoma indicate that after burning the bones were deposited into four different pits as secondary cremation deposits. Archaeological evidence suggests a somewhat similar practice where a single individual's bones were divided into one or more deposits (e.g., Birkby 1976; Minturn and Craig 2001). Beck (2000, 2005, 2008) examined ethnographic documents, bone weights of cremation deposits, degree of incineration, and fragmentation to explore the low bone weights of Hohokam cremations. She suggested that after initial burning the remains were left in place, placed in a secondary deposit or reburned as part of a memorial ceremony. However, in the current research no direct archaeological evidence for reburning episodes of secondary cremated deposits was found.

It is likely that no additional burning episodes of secondary cremation deposits occurred and that remains from primary cremation deposits were dispersed into one or more pits. This practice would explain why bone weights are so low in Hohokam cremations. Most modern cremations have more than 1500 grams of bone while the mean weight of Hohokam cremations is much lower (Fig. 1). Moreover, the osteological analysis suggests that not all the cremated remains of an individual were deposited in the same cemetery. The Hohokam often divided remains between communities and even within courtyards. For example, at the Fagan Ranch site, remains of a single individual were identified in two separate cremation deposits in close proximity within the same courtyard group (Ezzo 2008). At Honey Bee Village, however, a refitting exercise was done between burials within the same courtyard and no refitting skeletal elements were found between the deposits. It is possible that at all four sites low cremation weights indicate that remains were highly fragmented and divided between members of the same and/or different courtyards, and possibly between different communities, reflecting different social networks.

Rebay-Salisbury (2010) suggests that the practice of fragmenting and dispersing a body might indicate that the body was thought of as consisting of many parts rather than being an indivisible entity (e.g., Brück 2013; Fowler 2010; LiPuma 1998). From this perspective, the deceased is transformed and treated as a "body-object." The body-objects may evoke the deceased person's life but also evoke the absence of the embodied person (Hallam and Hockey 2001). The concept of inalienable possessions may provide insight into the Hohokam case study. Annette Weiner (1992) discusses the concept of inalienable possessions, defined as "...objects made to be kept (not exchanged), have symbolic and economic power that cannot be transferred, and are often used to authenticate the ritual authority of corporate groups" (Mills 2004:238). These types of objects are broken and circulated but retain meaning derived from their original relationship(s) where they became imbued with the intrinsic and ineffable identities of their owners. Inalienable possessions do not just control the dimension of giving, but their historicities also are retained for the future and have memories from the past (Weiner 1992). Transformation of the original objects into fragments and distribution of these fragments suggest a different way to maintain, reinforce, or form new social relations. Mills (2004:239) suggests that the concept of inalienable possessions "provides an important alternative for conceptualizing how objects are differentially valued and how that value is formed by social relationships that go beyond economic transactions." When applied to human remains, this transforms the personhood of the deceased from a complete bounded unit to

that of part-object and part-person. With the Hohokam, after the body is burned it evokes the personhood of the deceased but it is transformed into "body-objects" which could be divided and circulated as inalienable possessions. The differing levels of Hohokam organization consist of different networks tied together by a source web of affiliations (e.g., biological, civic, political, social, economic, religious and ritual) (Fish and Fish 1991, 2007). It is possible that the remains were distributed among families and along specific social networks where remains had symbolic power as sources of remembrance, and created a material enactment of connections and networks.

From this perspective value could be imparted through the distribution of the remains, with ritual and symbolic values imbued by participation in the event and possibly by placing the remains in a final deposition. While it is uncertain how many people could participate in the distribution of the remains, it is possible that greater connections in life would be linked to increased fragmentation and distribution of the remains. Brück (2006a:88) suggests that gifts given at death (e.g., fragments of the deceased) "are a material manifestation of the substance of the dead person; they reconstitute the deceased in all his or her elements". Moreover, since people are constituted relationally, funeral mourners may feel that they have lost part of themselves. One way they avoid losing identity is to transform it into something else, to disaggregate the energy locked into the deceased and convert it into objects that can be used to form new social relationships (Battaglia 1990; Brück 2006a:88). Furthermore, circulating these body-objects in the rituals compensates all those who contributed to the life of the deceased (Brück 2006a:88), and for authenticating particular connections.

Through the division of the remains, alliances could be reinforced by the distribution and partitioning of inalienable body/objects, and establishes a time when alliances could be created among participants in the ceremonies. At the same time, existing networks could be destroyed by the death of a person who functioned as the connection between other individuals, communities and society as a whole. For example, in the case of a village, clan, or association, the duties of one member could be readily assumed by another, but this is not so easily accomplished within the family (Kelly

1949). Among the Yuman, when one spouse died the other spouse was no longer considered related to the deceased's family (Spier 1933:215). Accounts suggest that the length of the mourning period was not fixed. Some remarried within a few months but people normally waited a year (Spier 1933:304), when new alliances could be formed.

Although it is difficult to say when the cremated remains were placed in the final secondary deposits, it is likely that the final secondary disposition occurred when the remains/inalienable possessions still held remembrance power and identity of the deceased, albeit in a transformed way. Historic accounts suggest that the final disposition could occur on the same day or a few days after the cremation ritual, and there is no archaeological evidence that points to the contrary. There is neither obvious weathering of the bone nor any other indication that they remained unburied for a long time. The acts of redistribution and redeposition of cremated remains by the mourners within a courtyard cemetery serve as a symbolic reaffirmation of social memory and identity. It also serves as a reaffirmation of membership identity within a particular social network related to the deceased and the mourning family (Gillespie 2002, 2011; Hodder and Cessford 2004; Kuijt 2000, 2001, 2008; McAnany 1995).

Transformation of Personhood: Rituals after the Final Deposition

Rituals that occurred after the final disposition of the dead are difficult to reconstruct from archaeological evidence. It is possible, however, that burned Hohokam structures and objects are associated with post-death mortuary rites. Historical accounts mention that rituals occurred four months or more after an individual's death in a commemorative ritual (Davis 1921; Moriarty 1965; Schaefer 2000; Spier 1933). Woodward (1968) mentions that the ideological basis of the mourning anniversary is dual: it is the termination of mourning by the living and the final dismissal of the dead. Burned and fragmented objects have also been found in caches at Hohokam sites, often in the fill of pithouses (Birkby 1976:175). Burned and/or broken objects in caches are interpreted as "killed" objects (Mills and Field Murray 2008). These objects could possibly be possessions of the deceased, objects used in the mortuary rituals, or other ritual objects that needed to be terminated appropriately. Many caches of Hohokam objects, including concentrations of palettes and censers, were treated like cremated individuals. Censers in particular were burned, broken, deposited, fragments re-excavated, dispersed, and reaccumulated (Mills and Field Murray 2008). These practices may have symbolized the destruction of a particular social persona and the transformation of interpersonal relationships that such significant moments involved. In addition the destruction of the objects is a powerful symbolic statement of the social impact of death. The objects could never be used again, and the relationships that they once sustained and signified come to an end (Brück 2004:320). Burning of objects and houses, then, was seen as the most appropriate means of ending these objects' lives.

Conclusions

The Preclassic Hohokam presents an opportunity to examine the dynamic transitions of personhood that occurred at death. These transitions occurred both to the dead as well as the living. In these transitions, relationships and networks were reconfigured between different individuals, individuals and groups, individuals and objects, and the living and dead throughout the funerary rituals. Bodies were converted into "body-objects" but continued to evoke memories and the deceased person's life, objects became extensions of personhood and mourner's relationships are reconfigured. Rather than a static stage-oriented approach bodies can be viewed as part of different sets of interactions – interactions that defined the personhood of each individual who was involved.

References

- Bahr, D. M.1971. Who were The Hohokam? The Evidence from Pima-Papago Myths. *Ethnohistory* 18(3):245-222.
- Bahr, D. M., J. Smith, W. Smith Allison and J. Hayden. 1994. The Short Swift Time of Gods on Earth: The Hohokam Chronicles. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Bass, W. M. and R. L. Jantz. 2004. Cremation Weights in East Tennessee. Journal of Forensic Sciences 49(5):901-904.
- Battaglia, D.1990. On the Bones of the Serpent: Person, Memory and Mortality in Sabarl Island Society. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Bayman, J. M.2001. The Hohokam of Southwest North America. *Journal of World Prehistory*15(3):257-311.
- Beck, L. A.

2000. Cremation Deposits from Sunset Mesa. In *Excavations at Sunset Mesa Ruin*, edited by M. W. Lindeman. Desert Archaeology Research Series, Technical
Report No. 2000-02. Desert Archaeology, Inc., Tucson.
2005. Secondary Burial Practices in Hohokam Cremations. In *Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium*, edited by
G. F. M. Rakita, J. E. Buikstra, L. A. Beck and S. R. Williams, pp. 150-154.
University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.
2008. Human Remains. In *Craft Specialization in the Southern Tucson Basin: Archaeological Excavations at the Julian Wash Site, AZ BB:13:17 (ASM), Part 1, Introduction, Excavation Results, and Artifact Investigations*, edited by H. D.
Wallace. Anthropological Papers No. 40. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.

Bird-David, N. and T. Israeli. 2010. A Moment Dead, A Moment Alive. How a Situational Personhood Emerges in the Vegetative State in an Israeli Hospital Unit. American Anthropology 112(1):54-65.

- Birkby, W. H.1976. Cremated Human Remains. In *The Hohokam: Desert Farmers and Craftsmen: Excavations at Snaketown, 1964-1965*, edited by E. W. Haury, pp. 380-384. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.
- Bloch, M. and J. Parry (editors). 1982. *Death and the Regeneration of Life*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Bourdieu, P.1991. *Language and Symbolic Power*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Brew, S. A. and B. B. Huckell. 1987. A Protohistoric Pima Burial and a Consideration of Pima Burial Practices. *Kiva* 52(3):163-191.
- Brück, J.2004. Material Metaphors: The Relational Construction of Identity in Early Bronze Age Burials in Ireland and Britain. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 4(3):307-333.

2006a. Death, Exchange and Reproduction in the British Bronze Age. *European Journal of Archaeology* 9(1):73-101.

2006b. Fragmentation, Personhood and the Social Construction of Technology in

Middle and Late Bronze Age Britain. Cambridge Archaeological Journal

16(3):297-315.

2013. Cremation, Gender and Concepts of the Self in the British Early Bronze Age. In *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Ian Kuijt, Colin Quinn and Gabriel Cooney. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson. (forthcoming).

Cerezo-Román, J. I.

2009. Fragmentation, Transformation, and Cremation Rituals among the

Hohokam of Southern Arizona. Proceedings of the Society for American

Archaeology 74th Annual Meeting. Atlanta, Georgia.

2010. Mortuary Practices and Personhood among the Hohokam of Southern

Arizona. Paper presented at the Symposium: The Performance of Mortuary Ritual

in the American Southwest Society for American Archaeology 75th Annual Meeting, St. Louis, Missouri.

Cerezo-Román, J. I. and J. McClelland.2009. Mortuary Practices at Yuma Wash and the Hohokam Classic World. In *Archaeological Investigations at Five Sites West of* *the Santa Cruz River in Marana, Arizona*, edited by A. C. MacWilliams and A. Dart, pp. 6.1-6.22.vol. 1.Old Pueblo Archaeology Center, Tucson, Arizona.

- Cerezo-Román, J. I. and H. D. Wallace.2008. Mortuary Practices at Honey Bee Village Paper presented at the Symposium: Beyond Status, Meaning, Metaphor, and Identity in New World Mortuary Practices Society for American Archaeology 73rd Annual Meeting, Vancouver, British Columbia.
- Chapman, J.2000. Fragmentation in Archaeology: People, Places and Broken Objects in the Prehistory of South-Eastern Europe. Routledge, London.
- Chesson, M. S. (editor). 2001. Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives in Mortuary Rituals. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia.
- Cooney, Gabriel. 2013. The Role of Cremation in Mortuary Practices in the Irish Neolithic. In *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Ian Kuijt, Colin Quinn and Gabriel Cooney. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson. (forthcoming).
- Craig, D. B.1989. *Archaeological Testing at Honey Bee Village (AZ: BB:9:88 ASM)*. Technical Report No. 89-6. Institute for American Research, Mesa, Arizona.
- Crown, P. L., and S. K. Fish. 1996. Gender and Status in the Hohokam Pre-Classic to Classic Transition. *American Anthropologist* 98(4): 803-817.
- Davis, E. H.1921. Early Cremation Ceremonies of the Luiseno and Diegueno Indians of Southern California. Indian Notes and Monographs, Vol. 7, No. 3. Museum of the American Indian, Heye Foundation, New York.
- Doelle, W. H. and H. D. Wallace. 1991. The Changing Role of the Tucson Basin in the Hohokam Regional System. In *Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest*, edited by G. J. Gumerman, pp. 279-345.
 Amerind Foundation New World Studies Series. Amerind Foundation and University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, Arizona.
- Dubois, C. G. 1907. Diegueño Mortuary Ollas. American Anthropologist, New Series 9(3):484-486.

Durivage, J. E.1937. Through Mexico to California, Letters and Journal of John E.
Durivage. In *Southern Trails to California in 1849*, edited by R. P. Bieber, pp. 159-258. Southeastern Historical Series.

Ezell, P. H.

1961 *The Hispanic Acculturation of the Gila River Pimas* American Anthropological Association Memoir 90. Menasha, Wisc.

1963 Is There a Hohokam-pima Cultural Continuum? *American Antiquity* 29(1):61-66.

Ezzo, J. (editor).

2005 Ballcourt on the Bajada: Data Recovery at Sleeping Snake Village (AZ
BB:9:104 [ASM] and Los Venados (AZ BB:9:186 [ASM]), Oro Valley, Arizona.
SWCA Environmental Consultants, Tucson, Arizona.
2008 Archaeological Data Recovery at Fagan Ranch, Corona de Tucson, Pima
County, Arizona. SWCA Environmental Consultants.

Fish, P. R. and S. K. Fish.

1991 Hohokam Political and Social Organization. In *Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest* edited by G. J. Gumerman,
pp. 151-175. Amerind Foundation New World Studies Series. Amerind
Foundation and University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, Arizona.
2006 Reorganization and Realignment: The Classic Period in the Tucson Basin.
In *Hohokam Trajectories in Worldwide Perspective*, edited by P. R. Fish and S.
K. Fish. in preparation for Amerind/University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

- Fish, P. R. and S. K. Fish (editors).2007. *The Hohokam Millennium*. School for Advance Research, New Mexico.
- Fish, S. K.1996. Dynamics of Scale in the Southern Deserts. In *Interpreting Southwestern Diversity: Underlying Principles and Overarching Patterns*, edited by P. R. Fish, J. J. Reid, D. R. Abbott and T. R. Roseck, pp. 107-114. Anthropological Research Papers. vol. 48. Department of Anthropology, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona.

Fowler, C.

2004 *The Archaeology of Personhood: An Anthropological Approach*. Themes in Archaeology. Routledge, London.

2005 Identity Politics: Personhood, Kinship, Gender and Power in Neolithic and Early Bronze Age Britain. In *The Archaeology of Plural and Changing Identities: Beyond Identification*, edited by E. C. Casella and C. Fowler, pp. 109-134.

Kluwer Academic and Plenum Publishers, New York.

2010 From Identity and Material Culture to Personhood and Materiality. In *The Oxford Handbook of Material Culture Studies*, edited by D. Hicks and M. D. Beaudry, pp. 352-385. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Gillespie, S. D.

2001 Personhood, Agency, and Mortuary Ritual: A Case Study from the Ancient Maya. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 20:73-112.

2002 Body and Soul among the Maya: Keeping the Spirit in Place. In *The Space and Place of Death*, edited by H. Silverman and D. B. Small. Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association, Number 11. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, VA.

2011 Inside and Outside: Residential Burial at Formative Period Chalcatzingo, Mexico. In *Residential Burial: A Multiregional Exploration*, edited by R. L. Adams and S. M. King. Archaeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association, Number 20, Hoboken, N. J.

- Goldstein, Lynne G., and Katy Meyers. 2013. Transformation and Metaphors: Thoughts on Cremation Practices in the Pre-Contact Midwestern United States. In *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Ian Kuijt, Colin Quinn and Gabriel Cooney. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson. (forthcoming).
- Gosden, C. and Y. Marshall. 1999. The Cultural Biography of Objects. *World Archaeology*31(2):169-178.

Hallam, E. and J. Hockey. 2001. *Death, Memory and Material Culture*. Oxford, Berg.Hanlon, C. J.1972. Papago Funeral Customs. *Kiva* 37(2):104-113.

- Hertz, R.1960. Death and the Right Hand: A Contribution to the Study of the Collective Representation of Death. Translated by R. Needham and C. Needham. Free Press, Glencoe, Illinois.
- Hodder, I. and C. Cessford. 2004. Daily Practice and Social Memory at Çatalhöyük. *American Antiquity* 69:17-40.
- Hoskins, J.1989. *Biographical Objects: How Things Tell the Stories of People's Lives*. Routledge, London.
- Howell, T. L.1994. Leadership at the Ancestral Zuni Village of Hawikku. PhD Dissertation, Arizona State University, Tempe.
- Jill, J. H.2001. Proto-Uto-Aztecan: A Community of Cultivators in Central Mexixo? *American Anthropologist* 103(4):913-934.
- Jones, A.2005. Lives in Fragments? Personhood and the European Neolithic. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 5(2):193-224.
- Kelly, W. H.1949. Cocopa Attitudes and Practices with Respect to Death and Mourning. *Southwestern Journal of Anthropology* 5(2):151-164.
- Kozak, D. L.1991. Dying badly: Violent Death and Religious Change Among the Tohono O'odham. *Journal of Death & Dying* 23(3):207.
- Kroeber, C. B. and B. L. Fontana. 1992. Massacre on the Gila: An Account of the Last Major Battle between American Indians, with Reflection on the Origin of War. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Kuijt, I.

2000. Keeping the Peace: Ritual, Skull Caching, and Community Integration in the Levantine Neolithic. In *Life in Neolithic Farming Communities: Social Organization, Identity, and Differentiation*, edited by I. Kuijt, pp. 137-164. Kluwer Academic, New York.

2001. Place, Death, and the Transmission of Social Memory in Early Agricultural Communities of the Near Eastern Pre-Pottery Neolithic. In *Social Memory, Identity, and Death: Anthropological Perspectives on Mortuary Rituals*, edited by M. S. Chesson, pp. 80-99. American Anthropological Association, Arlington, Virginia.

2008. The Regeneration of Life: Neolithic Structures of Symbolic Remembering and Forgetting. *Current Anthropology* 49(2):171-197.

- LiPuma, E.1998. Modernity and Forms of Personhood in Melanesia. In *Bodies and Persons: Comparative Perspectives from Africa and Melanesia*, edited by M.
 Lambek and A. Stratern, pp. 53-79. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.
 K.
- Mabry, J. B.1998. Mortuary Patterns. In Archaeological Investigations of Early Village Sites in the Middle Santa Cruz Valley, edited by J. B. Mabry, pp. 697-737.
 Anthropological Paper No. 19. Center for Desert Archaeology Tucson.
- Malhi, R. S., H. M. Mortensen, J. A. Eshleman, B. M. Kemp, J. G. Lorenz, F. A. Kaestle, J. R. Johnson, C. Gorodezky and D. G. Smith. 2003. Native American mtDNA Prehistory in the American Southwest. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 120:108-124.
- Mason, R. J.2000. Archaeology and Native North American Oral Traditions. *American Antiquity* 65(2):239-272.
- Mauss, M.

1954. *The Gift: Forms and Functions of Exchange in Archaic Societies*.
Translated by I. Cunnison. Cohen and West, London.
1985. A Category of Human Mind: The Notion of Person, the Notion of Self. In *The Category of the Person: Anthropology, Philosophy, History*, edited by M.
Carrithers, S. Collins and S. Lukes, pp. 1-25. Cambridge University Press,
Cambridge, UK.

- May, S. E.2011. The Effects of Body Mass on Cremation Weight. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*56(1):3-9.
- McAnany, P.1995. Living with Ancestors. Kingship ans Kinship in Ancient Maya Society. University of Texas, Austin.

McGuire, R. H.

1992 *Death, Society and Ideology in a Hohokam Community*. Investigations in American Archaeology. Westview Press, Boulder, San Francisco, and Oxford.

- Meskell, L.1996. The Somatisation of Archaeology: Institutions, Discourses, Corporeality. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 29:1-16.
- Metcalf, P.1982. *A Borneo Journey into Death: Berawan Eschatology from its Rituals.* Symbol and Culture. University of Pennsylvania Press, Philadelphia.
- Mills, B.2004. The Establishment and Defeat of Hierarchy: Inalienable Possessions and the History of Collective Prestige Structures in the Pueblo Southwest. *American Anthropologist* 106(2):238-251.
- Mills, B. J., M. D. Elson, P. R. Fish, G. Rice and H. D. Wallace. 2006. Ritual Practice and Hohokam Trajectories. In *Hohokam Trajectories in Worldwide Perspective*, edited by P. R. Fish and S. K. Fish. Amerind Foundation and University of Arizona Press (submitted to the editors).
- Mills, B. J. and W. Field Murray. 2008. Identity Communities and Material Practices: Logics of Ritual Deposition in the U.S. Southwest. *Proceedings of the World Archaeological Congress*. University College Dublin in Ireland.
- Minturn, P. D. and D. B. Craig. 2001. Burials. In *The Grewe Archaeological Research Project Volume 1: Project Background and Feature Descriptions*, edited by D. B. Craig, pp. 137-145. Anthropological Papers No. 99-1. Northland Research, Inc., Flagstaff, Arizona.
- Moriarty, J. R.1965. Cosmogony, Rituals, and Medical Practice among the Diegueno Indians of Southern California. *Anthropological Journal of Canada* 3(3):2-16.
- Oliver, T. J.2001. Warfare in Tonto Basin. In *Deadly Landscape: Case Studies in Prehistoric Southwestern Warfare*, edited by G. E. Rice and S. A. LeBlanc, pp. 195-218. University of Utah, Salt Lake City.
- Parker Pearson, M. 1999. The Politics of the Dead. In *The Archaeology of Death and Burial*, edited by M. Parker Pearson, pp. 171-192. Texas A&M University Press, Texas.
- Rebay-Salisbury, K.2010. Cremations: Fragmented Bodies in the Bronze and Iron Ages.
 In *Body Parts and Bodies Whole: Changing Relations and Meanings*, edited by K.
 Rebay-Salisbury, M. L. S. Sørensen and J. Hughes, pp. 64-71. Oxbow Books, Oxford.
- Rice, G. E.2001. Warfare and Massing in the Salt and Gila Basins of Central Arizona. In *Deadly Landscape: Case Studies in Prehistoric Southern Southwest Warfare*, edited by G. E. Rice and S. A. LeBlanc, pp. 289-330. vol. . University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City.
- Riley, C. L.1975. The Road to Hawikuh: Trade and Trade Routes to Cibola-Zuni During Late Prehistoric and Early Historic Times. *The Kiva* 41(2):137-159.
- Russell, F.1908. *The Pima Indians*. Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology. Government Printing Office, Washington, D. C.
- Schaefer, J.2000. "Now Dead I Begin to Sing": A Protohistoric Clothes-Burning Ceremonial Feature in the Colorado Desert. *Journal of California and Great Basin Anthropology*22(2):186-211.
- Shaul, D. L. and J. M. Andresen. 1989. A Case for Yuman Participation in the Hohokam Regional System. *Kiva* 54(2):105-126.
- Shaul, D. L. and J. H. Hill. 1998. Tepimans, Yumans, and Other Hohokam. *American Antiquity* 63(3):375-396.
- Spier, L.1933. *Yuman Tribes of the Gila River*. Ethnological Series. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Tarlow, S.1999. Bereavement and Commemoration: An Archaeology of Mortality. Social Archaeology. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Teague, L. S. 1984. Role and Ritual in Hohokam Society. In Archaeology Along the Salt-Gila Aqueduct, Central Arizona Project: Synthesis and Conclusions, edited by L. S. Teague and P. L. Crown, 155-186. Tucson, Arizona: University of Arizona.
 Underhill, R.

1939. Social Organization of the Papago Indian. Columbia University Press, New York.

1954. Intercultural Relations in the Greater Southwest. *American Anthropologist* 56(4):645-656.

Van Deest, T. L., T. A. Murad and E. J. Bartelink. 2011. A Re-examination of Cremains Weight: Sex and Age Variation in a Northern California Sample. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*56(2):344-348.

van Gennep, A. 1960. The Rites of Passage. Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

Vansina, J.1985. Oral Tradition as History. The University of Wisconsin Press, Madison.

Velarde, P. L.1931. Padre Luis Velarde's Relacion of the Pimeria Alta, 1716. New Mexico Historical Review 6(2):111-157.

Wallace, H. D. (editor).

1995a. Archaeological Investigations at Los Morteros, A Prehistoric Settlement in the Northern Tucson Basin. Part 2. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, AZ.

1995b. Archaeological Investigations at Los Morteros, A Prehistoric Settlement in the Northern Tucson Basin. Part 1. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson.

- Wallace, H. D. and W. Doelle. 2001. Classic Period Warfare in Southern Arizona. In *Deadly Landscapes: Case Studies in Prehistoric Southwestern Warfare*, edited by G. E. Rice and S. A. LeBlanc, pp. 239-288. University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City.
- Wallace, H. D., J. M. Heidke and W. H. Doelle. 1995. Hohokam Origins. *Kiva* 60(4):575-618.
- Weiner, A. B.1992. Inalienable Possessions The Paradox of Keeping-While-Giving. University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, Oxford.
- Wilcox, D. R., T. R. McGuire and C. Sternberg. 1981. Snaketown Revisited: A Partial Cultural Resource Survey, Analysis of Site Structure and an Ethnohistoric Study of the Proposed Hohokam-Pima National Monument. Archaeological Series. Arizona State Museum, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona.

Williams, H.

2004. Death Warmed Up: The Agency of Bodies and Bones in Early Anglo-

Saxon Cremation Rites. Journal of Material Culture 9(3):263-291.

2013. A Well-Urned Rest: Cremation and Inhumation in Early Anglo-Saxon England." In *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Ian Kuijt, Colin Quinn and Gabriel Cooney. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson. (forthcoming).

Woodward, J. A.1968. The Anniversary: A Contemporary Diegueño Complex.

*Ethnology*7(1):86-94.

- Wylie, A.1985. The Reaction Against Analogy. *Advances in Archaeological Method and Theory* 8:63-111.
- Yarrow, H. C.1880. Introduction to the Study of Mortuary Customs Among the North American Indians. In *Contributions to North American Ethnology*.

APPENDIX C – UNPACKING PERSONHOOD AND IDENTITY IN THE HOHOKAM AREA OF SOUTHERN ARIZONA

Paper is pending publication in American Antiquity

Jessica I. Cerezo-Román

This paper examines the identification of and changes in aspects of personhood through the study and interpretation of funerary customs. The geographical, cultural, and temporal foci are the Tucson Basin Hohokam of southern Arizona from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) to Classic (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) periods, where variations in social, ritual, and political organization are well-documented. This research explores two overarching questions:

- 1. Are there temporal variations in mortuary customs and, if so, what are they?
- 2. How do these variations relate to broader aspects of personhood within Hohokam society?

To answer these questions this research explores funerary patterns of 764 single interments from seven different archaeological sites to observe patterns across space and through time at a regional scale. In particular, the analysis centers on how the bodies of the dead were treated at different stages of funeral customs. This theme is understudied in Southwestern mortuary studies were past research has mainly centered on objects found in burials (e.g., Brunson-Hadley 1989; McGuire 1992; Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001a, 2001b). This article explores how persons were represented throughout the funerary sequence by utilizing two primary datasets: (1) biological profiles of the human skeletal remains; and, (2) posthumous treatments of bodies inferred from the analysis of human remains and their contexts. In this research it was found that cremation was the predominant mortuary practice in the Tucson Basin during both the Preclassic and Classic periods. However, inhumation also co-occurred at lower frequencies, particularly for fetuses and infants, possibly due to the undeveloped form of self that these individuals had within the society. Through time cremation rituals changed, particularly for individuals older than 15 years at death and adults. In the Preclassic Period, after the body was burned, the remains were fragmented, divided and distributed as inalienable possessions among families and within specific networks. This suggests a social construction of self that was more relational, part-person and part-object. In the Classic Period these practices decreased and the remains were not divided but left in place or transferred almost wholly to a single secondary deposit. The perceptions of personhood in the Classic Period changed to a self that was considered as a bounded unit and morewhole even after its transformation during the cremation fire. It is possible that this transition through time occurred as a result of more centralized and private rituals within Hohokam society, and by a general decrease in emotive networks. The changes in mortuary rituals are similar to broader sociopolitical changes observed in the Hohokam Classic Period where an increase in social differentiation and complexity has been postulated.

Personhood and Funerary Customs

The concept of personhood is employed in identity research across the social sciences, and also has been applied in archaeology (e.g., Fowler 2005; Gillespie 2001; Jones 2005). Following Gillespie's (2001) definition, personhood is the participation of individuals in mutually identifying relationships within and between communities as expressed through their actions. In addition, these relationships shape social constructions that reference and symbolize individuals. Furthermore, these relationships derive from the enactment of connections within a society that include relationships among individuals, individuals and groups, individuals and objects, as well as the living and dead (Gillespie 2001:75). However, death brings about a rearrangement of these relationships and connections in the society. The individual, formerly a living, active

member of the society, is transformed into the deceased with a new identity(ies). Drawing upon Hertz ([1907] 1960) and van Gennep ([1908] 1960), the research presented here emphasizes that while proceeding through stages associated with death rituals the deceased pass from being biologically dead to a liminal stage and only later become socially dead. Models of Hertz ([1907] 1960) and van Gennep ([1908] 1960) have been used in mortuary custom research and have proven to be great tools to explain mortuary customs through time (e.g., Bloch and Parry 1982; Buikstra and Nystrom 2003; Rakita and Buikstra 2005). The full sequence of death rituals can thus be considered dynamic transformative processes for the personhood of both the deceased and mourners. During this crucial transition, the personhood of both the deceased and mourners are reconfigured through processes of dissolution, creation, negotiation and transformation (e.g., Williams 2004). Beginning in the liminal stage and continuing to the end of the funeral and mourning rituals, the deceased pass into the "land of death" and/or become an ancestor. In parallel, the mourners pass through processes of separation and finally reintegration into society as the funerary rituals conclude.

Cremation customs, as with most funeral customs, are composed of different stages in which the bodies are prepared, burned, and disposed. However, cremations also involve an intentional and relatively rapid transformation. Burning transforms the body, the mourners, and the community (Cooney et al. 2013). Cremation produces a fast physical change of the deceased whereby the overall physicality, including facial and body attributes, is no longer recognizable. Furthermore, fire transforms the body into just bone fragments and ashes in a matter of hours to days. Cremation also transforms the way mourners and community members interact with the deceased. Moreover, cremated bones are manageable; they are not heavy and are easily transported. These attributes allow for many creative post-burning treatments, which can even be personalized as observed in modern and historic societies (e.g., Williams 2011). Cremated remains facilitate "diversification, providing a substance for commemoration that is part-person, part-material culture with a distinctive, malleable and shifting materiality of its own" (Williams 2011:114). Following Williams' ideas, a cremated body may evoke the

deceased person's life, but it also evokes the absence of the embodied person. The displaying and disposal of these cremated remains will vary depending on the wishes of the deceased, mourners, community and/or other social entities, as well as how the mourners and society perceive the cremated remains (e.g., part person and/or part object and/or preference for one over the other). By analyzing how these remains were treated it is possible to explore how a person was perceived through time and the complex relationships that existed between the living and dead.

Previous Research on Hohokam Mortuary Customs

A primary focus of U.S. Southwestern archaeological research since the 1960s has been prehistoric social organization (Hegmon 2003; Longacre 2000). For mortuary customs, this meant emphasizing formal variations in grave structures and contents, primarily based on associated objects, which were used to infer social status and ranking (e.g., Brunson-Hadley 1989; McGuire 1992; Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001a). These studies, including those on the Hohokam, primarily used approaches proposed by Saxe (1970) and Binford (1971), but they did not include subsequent critiques of these models by processual and postprocessual mortuary specialists (e.g., Beck 1995; Hodder 1980; Pearson 1982; Rakita et al. 2005).

In 2001, Lynne Goldstein commented that many Southwestern mortuary studies, including those involving the Hohokam, would benefit from going beyond questions of ranking, social stratification, and the use of mortuary offerings in the exploration of social organization. Much subsequent research in Southwestern mortuary studies has moved beyond themes of stratification and ranking based exclusively on mortuary goods. The expanded themes include examining other aspects of social organization, such as sex-gender hierarchies (Crown and Fish 1996; McGuire 1992), and age, kin and corporate groups (Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001b; Neitzel 2001). A few Hohokam mortuary studies also have followed this trajectory by expanding beyond the classical approaches of Binford and Saxe and exploring different stages of cremation mortuary and

mourning customs (e.g., Beck 2005, 2008; Cerezo-Román 2013). Also, a few studies on Hohokam cremated remains have been conducted using limited datasets and centering on the osteological analysis of the remains of a single site (e.g., Birkby 1976; Fink 1988a, 1988b, 1989; Reinhard and Fink 1982, 1994; Reinhard and Shipman 1978). Extensive variation in mortuary customs exists within the broader Hohokam region through time and across space. Both inhumation and cremation were practiced throughout the Preclassic and Classic periods, but their frequency and mode varied. In the Preclassic Period, secondary deposits of cremated remains were most common and inhumations infrequent (e.g., Haury 1976; McGuire 1992; Minturn and Craig 2001). During the Classic Period, inhumation became the prevalent mode of interment in the Phoenix Basin (Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001b), but not in the Tucson Basin, as Cerezo-Román and McClelland (2009) and the present study demonstrate.

Methods for Unpacking and Operationalizing Personhood

The comparative archaeological dataset consists of materials recovered from ten archaeological sites located in the Tucson Basin, Arizona, dating from the Preclassic (A.D. 475-1150) and Classic (A.D. 1150-1450/1500) periods (Figure 1 and Table 1 see appendix). This study uses the recent chronological summary compiled by Wallace (2012) to temporally situate the data. Seven sites represent the Preclassic Period, and three represent the Classic Period (Table 1 see appendix). A total of 764 individuals were used for this study: 398 Preclassic Period and 366 Classic Period. In these sites there are a low frequency of deposits where more than one individual was found. However, in this paper only deposits containing remains of a single individual were selected to facilitate the analysis and discussion. Most secondary deposits of cremated remains and inhumations contained the complete or partial remains of an single individual in both the Preclassic and Classic periods. There are also other types of treatments that occurred in low frequencies, such as multiple interments in a single burial, and secondary inhumations. For example, remains of unburned infants and children are found with

cremated remains of adults or vice versa. However, these types of deposits are atypical. This article also provides the basis to explore these different alterative treatments in the future, but these treatments (e.g., multiple interments in a single burial and secondary inhumations) will not be discussed in this paper. Several types of primary and secondary data were collected. Primary data were generated directly from the human remains and field notes produced by the author. Secondary data, recorded after skeletal remains were repatriated and no longer available for study, were collected from osteological inventory forms, archaeological reports, field notes, and analyses performed by individuals other than the author, as cited.

Biological Profile of the Human Skeletal Remains

The human skeletal remains consist of burned and unburned bones from cremation and inhumation deposits. The biological profile estimates age-at-death, biological sex, and pathological conditions. The protocols for osteological data collection are based primarily on those of Buikstra and Ubelaker (1994) and the Bioarchaeology Laboratory, Arizona State Museum (ASM), where some of the remains were housed at the time of analysis¹⁶ (McClelland 2012). Skeletal data collection consisted of recording both metric and morphological information. First, a detailed skeletal inventory of each burial was generated. These analyses allow for interpretations of body completeness at the moment of burial and number of individuals represented in each deposit. Second, age-at-death was estimated with error ranges following accepted standards (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). Third, biological sex was estimated for each individual following standard accepted protocols (Buikstra and Ubelaker 1994). Degree of fragmentation for cremated bone necessarily limited some analytical observations including bone identification, age at death, and sex, although these estimations were attempted when possible.

¹⁶ The Bioarchaeology Division of the ASM granted permission to study these collections.

Previous Hohokam research about mortuary customs relied largely on the study of inhumations with limited attention paid to cremations, largely due to the challenges of working with this type of material. However, prior research indicates that significant information that can be collected from cremation burials (e.g., Buikstra and Goldstein 1973; Gejvall 1969, 1981; McKinley 1989, 1994; Schmidt and Symes 2008; Williams 2004). Previous research on Hohokam cremations (e.g., Birkby 1976; Fink 1988a, 1988b, 1989; Minturn and Craig 2001; Reinhard and Fink 1982; Reinhard and Shipman 1978; Shipman and Wolf 1977) began to explore similar types of assemblages in the region mainly using a limited dataset, but provide the basis to explore this significant dataset. This work indicated that there are many significant questions that need to be addressed and explored, particularly on how the bodies of the dead are treated in the cremation funeral customs. In depth analysis of cremation burials at a regional scale in the current research, particularly in the inclusion of datasets from recent large scale excavations projects, adds a dimension not previously available with Hohokam remains, allowing new and innovative ways for studying personhood and identity through mortuary customs.

Biological profiles play an important role in construction of social life histories and personhood. Sex and age frequently are associated with life stage transitions, such as from childhood to adulthood or becoming a "woman" or "man." Individuals were grouped using categories such as male, possible male, female, possible female and indeterminate. If particular observed posthumous treatments are indistinguishable between males and females, it is inferred that the treatments were not gender specific. However, these interpretations are limited due to the small quantity of individuals in which sex could be estimated.

A few short studies, such as those of Reinhard and Fink (1982) and Fink (1988a, 1988b), have made distinctions between ages at death using limited datasets and have found that bones of neonate and infants usually were not completely collected from the pyres. However, the current research found that interment without cremation was performed in high frequencies for infants and a few adults. In exploring this pattern

further, it is recognized that this treatment depended on several factors related to identity, including social age¹⁷, for infants, and other attributes such as possible manner of death or kin affiliation, in adult cases. This suggests that understanding social age will require a more nuanced approach for exploring mortuary treatment variation within and between sites and through time. Mortuary signatures of personhood in relationship to social age were obtained by contrasting biological age with sex and posthumous treatment of the body without trying to impose preexisting age constructs, following work by Gowland (2006), Lucy (2005), and Sofaer (2004), among others. Initially individuals were grouped using biological age groups such as: neonate to newborn and infant (<2 years), children (2 - 12 years), subadult (12 - 18 years), and adult (older than 18 years) (Table 2 and Table 3 see appendix). In some cases, it was only possible to estimate that individuals were older than 15 years at death, and in other cases, an individual's bones were so fragmented that their age could not be estimated. However, if posthumous treatment of an individual with subadult physiological age (12 to 18 years at death) was similar to that of an individual of adult physiological age (older than 18 years), this could suggest that the subadult individual presented an "adult" social age. It was previously suggested that individuals with a social age younger than two years were treated similarly to individuals of the biological age categories neonate and infant (Cerezo-Román and McClelland 2009). Subadult individuals were treated as adults in mortuary customs, suggesting that at this age among the Hohokam they were considered to have an adult social age. Thus, combining different lines of evidence helps elucidate cultural practices shared between group members or, alternatively, those that are distinct.

Posthumous Treatment of the Body and the Archaeological Context

Posthumous treatment of the body was inferred through observations of the human skeletal remains and contextual data generated from archaeological reports, field

¹⁷ Social age refers to the social and cultural understandings that are attributed to the chronological age.

notes, and published analyses. Primary deposits of cremated bones, as discussed here, represent the pyre sites and these typically were used only once based on the absence of duplicate skeletal elements from multiple individuals. Secondary deposits refer to deposits in secondary locations to which cremated human remains were relocated after removal from the pyre, crematorium or other primary cremation location. These secondary deposits consist of pits with cremated bone in and/or around ceramic vessels or sherds, or just simple pits. The terms "secondary deposit of cremated bone" are used here and include all secondary deposits with any recoverable bone. Recorded variables from cremation remains include color, degree and type of shrinkage and fractures caused by fire, and bone weights (Table 4). Cremation weights are used in this study to infer how the bones of individuals were treated after cremation and to observe patterns between different deposit types. For example, a typical cremated adult's bones are expected to weigh over 1,500 grams, while adult bone weights below this imply an incomplete individual (e.g., Bass and Jantz 2004; Brothwell 1963; Gonçalves et al 2013McKinley 1989, 1994; Silva et al 2009; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974). This value will vary slightly depending on if the bodies were burned in a coffin or without a coffin, and the material of coffins most commonly used are cardboard or wood (Krasker and Sousa 1987; Murad 1998). Krasker and Sousa (1987) suggested that if individuals are burned with a coffin the material of the coffin will increase the cubic inch volume; for example 195.8 in³ for particle board, 188.5 in³ for wood and 166.7 in³ for a crematory coffin composed of something else. Other important factors also contribute to bone weight variation such as sex, stature, ancestry, and the presence of pathologies, such as osteoporosis (Bass and Jantz 2004; Herrman 1976; Lowrance and Latimer 1957; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974). Modern cremation customs are controlled and minimal bone is lost in the process. It is possible that less care was taken during ancient cremation processes, where there were no legal implications for having incomplete individuals.

Categories	Variables Evaluation	Information Obtained	References
Color	Degree of burning of each region of the body.	Variation in the exposure to the fire of the skeletal elements on the cremation pyre. Observe if bones were burned dry or with moisture and/or with flesh.	Brothwell 1963; Buikstra and Swegle 1989; Devlin and Herrmann 2008; Fairgrieve 2008; Gejvall 1969; McKinley and Bond 2001; Shipman et al. 1984
Shrinkage Fractures	General description of the variation of the presence and degree of alteration of the normal bone shape by the fire. General description of the degree of alteration	Observe if bones were burned dry or with collagen and/or with flesh. Observe if bones were burned dry or with moisture and/or	Baby 1954; Binford 1963; Buikstra and Goldstein 1973; Buikstra and Swegle 1989; Fairgrieve 2008; McKinley 1989; Symes et al. 2008
cause by the Fire	on the bone cause by the fire.	with flesh.	
Cremation weights	Complete bone weight Weight by anatomical region.	Division and fragmentation of the remains after the fire.	Baby 1954; Bass and Jantz 2004; Brothwell 1963; McKinley 1989; McKinley and Bond 2001; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974

Table 4. Thermal Alteration (

Also, different populations have different mean, minimum and maximum bone weight values (Bass and Jantz 2004; Brothwell 1963; Gonçalves et al. 2013; Malinoski and Porawski 1969; McKinley 1989, 1994; Silva et al 2009; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974; Van Deest et al. 2001). Among the different studies on modern cremated bone weights the minimum bone weight reported for females is 1,540 grams and maximum bone weight mean is 2,233 grams (Van Deest et al. 2001). The minimum mean weight of cremated remains reported for males is 2,004 grams (Malinoski and Porawski 1969) and maximum mean bone weight is 3,233 grams (Van Deest et al. 2001).

Bone weights for archaeological remains also can vary for other reasons, including variations in mortuary customs as well as in archaeological excavation and osteological analysis procedures. In this study, only burial deposits that did not report post-depositional disturbances were selected. Specific excavation protocols and techniques were used to optimize recovery of human remains by the author and by personnel at the various private CRM companies that excavated and analyzed the remains. Variables such as deposit type (e.g., inhumation vs. cremation), and cremation deposit type (e.g., primary deposit¹⁸ vs. secondary deposit of cremated bone) also were used. The chronological period for the remains, as estimated by the archaeologist, were recorded from archaeological reports and field notes. The variables on posthumous body treatment were integrated with osteological information, intersite comparisons, and reconstructions of posthumous treatments. The analysis of burial objects will not be discussed in this paper. Burial objects are an important part of mortuary assemblages and the center of numerous studies on mortuary practices. However, this article centers on the body itself as on many occasions this important element is has not explored in depth for Hohokam mortuary customs, but as this article demonstrates they provide an invaluable source of information to interpret the past.

Statistical analyses employed software programs such as SPSS Statistics 19 and Microsoft Office Excel 2007. The first statistical analysis explored the frequency and statistical relationship between inhumations and cremations in the Preclassic and Classic periods with a two by two frequency table (Table 5 see appendix), a Pearson's Chi-Square test and a Fisher's Exact Test (Tables 6, 7 and 8 see appendix). The second statistical analysis evaluated relationships between age groups (infant or younger, children, and subadult or older), burial type (inhumation and cremation) and chronological period (Preclassic and Classic) with a Pearson's Chi-Square test (Table 3 see appendix). The third statistical analysis was performed to observe the relationship

¹⁸Also called primary cremation, pyre or crematorium.

between how much cremated bone was placed in a deposit and time period. The quantity of bone present in a deposit could vary for many reasons, as discussed above. Regardless, low bone weights for cremation deposits from the Preclassic Period cannot be explained solely by losses from excavation and recovery techniques or osteological analysis. Additionally, bone weights for cremations were only evaluated for individuals older than 15 years and adults since there is a lack of comparative reference data for subadult, child, and infant cremation weights. Descriptive statistics were performed on cremated bone weights for primary and secondary deposits (Table 9 and Figures 2 and 3 see appendix). A fourth statistical analysis, using a Mann-Whitney U test, compared bone weight means for secondary deposits of cremated remains from the Preclassic and Classic periods (Tables 10 see appendix). The Mann-Whitney U test was selected as bone weights are a continuous variable and they present a bi-modal distribution.

Results

Most Preclassic Period interments were secondary deposits of cremated remains (n = 278, 69.8 percent; Figure 4). The remaining Preclassic Period burials consisted of primary¹⁹ (n = 65, 16.3 percent) and secondary²⁰ inhumations (n = 2, 0.5 percent), and primary deposits of cremated bones (n = 52, 13.1 percent). However, a new burial deposit type, combined primary and secondary deposits of cremated bone (n = 1, 0.3 percent) was identified. This deposit type has been termed "primary/secondary cremation deposit," and consists of cremated bones both left on the pyre surface and placed in a vessel(s) and/or in an alcove inside the primary pyre deposit (Hall et al. in press). Due to project burial agreement requirements for Preclassic Period sites where complete vessels with primary/secondary cremation deposits were found, the bone fragments could not be examined to determine if remains from the feature represented the same or different

¹⁹ Initial burial of a complete articulated body.

²⁰ Burial deposit consisting of a whole or partial body in a place other than the initial burial location. Please see Wallace 1995a, 1995b and 2013 for a complete description of these intentional secondary inhumations.

individuals, and so they were only included singly in the frequency analysis. In the Classic Period, most remains were cremated (n = 281, 76.8 percent), although some still were inhumed (n = 84, 23.2 percent). Most cremated remains (n = 178, 63.3 percent) were secondary and primary deposits (n = 71, 25.3 percent) (Figure 4), although "primary/secondary cremation deposits" become more frequent (n = 32, 11.4 percent). Osteological analyses performed on "primary/secondary cremation deposits" from the Classic Period at Yuma Wash site suggest they all were grave deposits of single individuals (Hall et al. in press).





Cremation was the primary mortuary custom in *both* the Preclassic and Classic periods in the Tucson Basin. This conclusion is based on basic frequencies and the statistically significant relationship between burial type and times periods (Preclassic and Classic periods: $X^2 = 4.885$, df = 1, p = 0.027, Tables 5 and 6 see appendix), as well as the statistically significant relationship within a time period and burial type (Preclassic Period: $X^2 = 398.000$, df = 1, p = 0.000, Tables 5 and 7; Classic Period: $X^2 = 366.000$; df=1 ; p = 0.000, Tables 5 and 8 see appendix). This pattern is different from some Hohokam sites in the Phoenix Basin where the Classic Period was dominated by inhumation burials (Table 11, Figure 5). On the other hand, this pattern is similar to the Cerro de Trincheras site in Sonora, Mexico, an archaeological site contemporary with Classic Period Hohokam sites in the Tucson Basin (Table 11, Figure 5).

Site	Cremation	Inhumation	Reference
Tucson Basin			
Preclassic Period	331 (83.17%)	67 (16.83%)	This study
Classic Period	281 (76.78%)	85 (23.22%)	This study
Phoenix Basin			
Pueblo Grande	198 (24%)	620 (76 %)	Mitchell 1994:74
Los Muertos	370 (70.88%)	152 (29.12%)	Brunson 1989
Casa Buena	9 (14.52%)	53 (85.48%)	Effland 1988
Grand Canal	22 (21.78%)	79 (78.22%)	Mitchell et al. 1989
Pueblo Salado	62 (53%)	55 (47%)	Mitchell and Jones 1996:370
Northern Mexico			
Cerro de Trincheras	141(93.37%)	10 (6.62%)	Watson et al. 2013.

Table 11. Cremations and Inhumations in Southern Arizona and Northern Mexico.



Figure 5. Preclassic and Classic Period Cremations and Inhumations in Southern Arizona and Northern Mexico.

No apparent differences are observed between time period and degree of burning, based on thermal alterations observed in the cremated remains. Cremated remains from

both time periods presented extensive warping and horizontal, vertical and concentric cracking caused by the fire. These types of fractures and the presence of warping suggest that individuals were burned while the remains still contained preserved collagen (e.g., Van Strydonck et al. 2005), and possibly flesh as well (Baby 1954; Buikstra and Swegle 1989; McKinley and Bond 2001). In addition, most bone in these cremated deposits were extensively burned and calcined.

Within the age-estimated remains, newborns and infants usually were not cremated – 67.9 percent (n = 19) and 67.7 percent (n = 44) were inhumations in the Preclassic and Classic periods, respectively (Table 2 see appendix). For both the Preclassic and Classic periods in the Tucson Basin statistically significant differences between age group and type of burial also are found (Preclassic Period: X^2 = 59.389, df = 2, p = 0.000; Classic Period: X^2 = 77.006, df = 2, p = 0.000) (Table 3 see appendix). Children, subadults and adults were inhumed at low frequencies (Table 3), with most individuals older than two years of age at death being cremated (Tables 2 and 3 see appendix). These results suggest that during the Preclassic and Classic periods in the Tucson Basin, the incidence of cremation and inhumation primarily varied with respect to age group. It was possible to estimate sex in a relatively small number of cases (n = 128, 16.7 percent), and it was found that there were about equal numbers of males and females represented across treatment types (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Sex and Number of Individuals.

Although cremation was the predominant burial custom for individuals older than two years of age at death in both periods, aspects of cremation customs changed through time. During the Preclassic Period, Hohokam cremation customs are overwhelmingly characterized by the presence of both primary and secondary deposits. No differences in treatment types were found between cremated infants, children and subadults, other than the expected lower quantity of bone from younger individuals. Most primary cremations consisted of individuals older than 15 years at death and adults (Tables 2 and 3 see appendix). During the Preclassic Period, most primary deposits contained between 10 to 500 grams of bone while in the Classic Period most contained between 10 to 1,000 grams of bone (Figure 2 see appendix). The mean primary cremation bone weight and standard deviation for individuals older than 15 years at death and adults were slightly lower in the Preclassic Period than in the Classic Period (Table 9 see appendix), however, no statistically significant differences were found. After bodies were burned in the cremation pyre, it was common throughout both periods to remove the remains and place them in a vessel or pit. Pits containing these secondary deposits varied in size and form but usually were round.

Secondary deposits of cremated remains of adults and individuals older than 15 years at death in the Preclassic Period were treated differently than similar aged individuals in the Classic Period, and considerable differences were observed in the quantity of bone placed in these deposits (Table 9, Figure 3 see appendix). In the Preclassic Period, cremated bone in most secondary deposits weighed less than 50 grams, while in the Classic Period more variation is apparent, although most secondary deposits contained cremated bone weighing more than 50 grams (Figure 3 see appendix). The mean bone weight (99.97 g) and standard deviation (230.61 g) for Preclassic Period secondary deposits were much lower than those from the Classic Period mean bone weight (362.70 g) and standard deviation (361.83 g) (Table 9 see appendix). Statistically significant differences exist between the Preclassic and Classic periods in mean bone weights from these secondary deposits (U = 3754; Z = -8.114; p = 0.00) (Tables 10).

Discussion

In the Tucson Basin, it appears that cremation was the primary burial treatment among Hohokam during *both* the Preclassic and Classic periods, with emphasis upon secondary cremation deposits (Table 10 see appendix and Figure 5). In this regard, the Classic Period Tucson Basin Hohokam share more similarity with their southern neighbors from Cerro de Trincheras in Northern Sonora. However, in the Phoenix Basin, cremation occurred primarily during the Preclassic Period while inhumation became the prevalent funerary custom in the Classic Period (Mitchell and Brunson-Hadley 2001b; Ravesloot and Regan 2000).

Another aspect of the funeral ritual among the Tucson Basin Hohokam that did not change was the treatment of neonates and infants. The main funerary treatment for neonates and infants was inhumations, which was consistent throughout the Preclassic and Classic periods. This suggests that infant age was an important variable in decisions about how bodies were treated. Ethnographic evidence can be used to help interpret the rationale behind treating Hohokam neonates and infants differently from other members of the society at death.

Different cultures have different perspectives about when an individual acquires the status of "person." (Conklin and Morgan 1996; Hockey et al. 2010). Conklin and Morgan (1996) suggest that one way in which individuals give meaning to a particular body (e.g., body of a neonate vs. body of an elderly person) is by locating personhood in specific features of the body. They mention, for example, that in the United States most of the discourse on neonate personhood emphasizes contested medical definitions for the timing of when a neonate acquires specific capacities, such as consciousness or the ability to survive in the womb. However, other groups may locate key features of the person in social ties and their discourse on personhood identifies the cultural construction of a "body" as consisting of the social interaction between individuals and integration in social groups, among others.

The differential mortuary treatment of infants and children has also been documented in ethnographic and ethnohistoric research in the Southwest (Russell 1908; Spicer 1980; Spier 1933; Underhill 1939, 1946). The riverine Yuma practiced cremation as their principal mortuary teatment, however, they did not cremate infants or individuals that were kinless (Levy 1978; McGuire 1992; Spier 1933; Wallace 1978a, 1978b). Schillaci et al (2011) mention that children move through different rites of passage among the Hopi, Zuni, Tewa Indians of San Juan Pueblo, and Keres Pueblo of Cochiti and Zia. For example among these groups infants are named between 4 to 20 days of life, and later in a second rite infants are welcome to a specific moiety and given a specific moiety name (Lange 1959; Ortiz 1969; Parsons 1974; Schillaci et al 2011). However, among the Tewa, it is not until the child is six to ten years that a third rite name, "water pouring", marks the transition from "innocence" and "unknowing" to becoming an older child or she t'a and only then are they considered Tewa (Ortiz 1969; Schillaci et al 2011). Ortiz (1969) mentioned that befor children become she t'a or Tewa they are not considered "human" and not yet out of the realm of spiritual existence. Ethnographic records for the Tohono O'odham (southern Arizona) report that dead infants did not present any 'spiritual' danger to the living because they were not yet fully persons (Kozak 1991).

Similar to the Puebloan groups and Tohono O'odham account, personhood among the Hohokam may have been acquired gradually as the individual established connections outside the household and reached a social age in which one is considered a member of society. The presence of inhumed, uncremated neonates and infants at Hohokam sites suggests the possibility that they had not lived long enough to establish connections outside the household, and thus their personhood was not yet established.

A few children, subadults, and adults among the Tucson Basin Hohokam also were inhumed without being burned. It is possible that the reasons for not burning these individuals were very different from those for the inhumed neonates/infants, including some reasons that can be drawn from global ethnographic examples. Occasionally among the Hindu of Bali, where cremation is the primary mode of interment, families which do not have the resources to perform a cremation will inhume the deceased, or sometimes individuals are temporarily inhumed until resources for cremation are acquired (Downes 1999). Another possibility is that these individuals and/or their families were not considered part of the community or the individual died under unusual circumstances (McGuire 1992). Differential body and burial treatment for individuals that die under unusual circumstances has been documented extensively in ethnographic and historic accounts, and archaeological studies among Southwestern Native American, as well as in different groups from around the world (e.g., Binford 1971; Bloch and Parry 1982; Brew and Huckell 1987; Hanlon 1972; Holtorf and Williams 2006; Murphy 2008; Russell 1908; Underhill 1939). However, it is not possible at this point to exclude any of the possibilities for this dimension of differential treatment among certain children, subadults, and adults.

Changes through time in mortuary customs among the Tucson Basin Hohokam primarily involved procedures for treating bodies following incineration. However, the manner of incineration did not change significantly through time. Cremated bone from deposits dating to both periods was highly calcined, which results from being exposed to temperatures of more than 600° C and/or having been burned for a long period of time (e.g., Buikstra and Swegle 1989; Devlin and Herrmann 2008). After the body was consumed and the fire cooled, it was common for the remains to be collected and placed in a secondary deposit. Variable amounts of bone were collected from the primary cremation (pyre site) and placed in the secondary deposits. However, there are significant differences through time in how much bone from an individual was placed in these secondary deposits.

The Preclassic Period

Cremation deposits for the Preclassic Period Hohokam are characterized by low bone weights. Cremated bones of an adult are expected to weigh over 1,500 grams (Bass and Jantz 2004; Brothwell 1963; Gonçalves et al 2013; McKinley 1989, 1994; Silva et al 2009; Sonek 1992; Trotter and Hixon 1974). However, bone weights of Hohokam Preclassic Period secondary deposits in the Tucson Basin are considerable lower.

Ancient cultural practices were most likely the major agents creating bone weight differences in these deposits. Therefore, archaeological and historic evidence of cultural practices could help explain low quantities of bone present in these deposits. Beck (2005, 2008) suggested, after examining ethnographic documents and thermal alteration patterns on Hohokam cremated remains, that after the initial burning remains were left in place, placed in a secondary deposit, or reburned as part of a memorial ceremony. She did not specify whether or not the remains after the reburning were left in the reburning location or placed in another deposit. The reburning of the remains could have created deposits with lower weights. However, in this research no direct archaeological evidence for additional burning episodes of cremated bones was found. Differential degrees of burning can also be ruled out. The documented degree of burning between the different time periods was fairly similar. A more likely explanation for the low bone weight in

secondary deposits is the division of cremated remains during or subsequent to removal from the primary cremation location.

Historic evidence for the division of cremated remains after the fire has been documented in accounts from the Maricopas and Halchidhoma, both Colorado River Yuman-speaking groups from the American Southwest. Cremation was the primary funerary custom for these groups, who divided the cremated body into four piles and placed these in four secondary deposits (Spier 1933:302-303).

Evidence suggesting a similar practice were found at the Fagan Ranch archaeological site where cremated remains from a single individual, a young to middleaged adult, possibly male, were found in two distinctive deposits (Feature 34 and 163) in close proximity (Ezzo 2008). This determination was possible due to a fortuitous refit by the author of the right and left parietal at the sagittal suture of the cranium. Feature 34 was an oval, shallow pit 42 cm in length and 38 cm in width and Feature 163 was an irregular, shallow pit 42 cm in length and 35 cm in width. Neither of these two features had evidence that they were pyres and/or the remains were burned *in situ* and most likely these were secondary deposits. Feature 34 contained 150 grams of bone, 90% of which come from the cranium; while the remainder was fragments of a thoracic vertebra, a radius and a tibia. Feature 163 contained 575 grams of bone with about 40% of that coming from the cranium and 40% from the appendicular part of the body. The right and the left arm were present as well as some of the leg bones. In addition, a few vertebra fragments, one rib fragment, and a few hand and foot bones were present. If the remains from the two deposits are considered together, the individual is still not complete, for example no teeth were found in either of these deposits.

At other Prehispanic sites in Arizona, such as Meddler Point in the Tonton Basin in Arizona, contemporary with the Preclassic and Classic period sites in the Tucson Basin, were found examples of Preclassic period secondary deposits of cremated bones (Feature 408, 411, and 443) that had conjoining artifacts²¹, likely suggesting that the

²¹ Swartz et al (1995) mentioned that both features were circular and were 53 cm in diameter. The fill of these two pits were gray and ashy. Feature 408 contained sherds, lithics and 455.9 grams of cremated adult human bone, a palette, and a ground stone. On the other hand, Feature 411 contained four grams of

bones of the individual also were split (Swartz et al. 1995). Also at this site other features were found that contained conjoining artifacts (Features 346 and 456), but these features did not have any associated bones.

Therefore, low bone weight deposits found in the Tucson Basin analyzed in this research likely represent remains of individuals divided into one or more secondary deposits after the bodies were burned, as has been suggested previously for the Hohokam (e.g., Birkby 1976; Cerezo-Román 2013; Fink 1988a; Minturn and Craig 2001). This could explain why these secondary deposits present such low bone quantities. To determine if individuals were divided and placed into separate secondary deposits in close proximity, a refitting exercise was performed by the author with selected secondary deposits found within a cementery area at the Honey Bee Village archaeological site. However, no bones could be refitted between different deposits. This could suggest that remains from a single individual were not necessarily deposited within the same cemetery but rather could have been deposited elsewhere within a site (e.g., as secondary deposits of cremated bone in other cemeteries within a site, other secondary deposits of cremated bone in other cemeteries, within plazas, and/or scattered within structures) or in the landscape (Wallace 2012). Differences related to age and quantity of bone in the secondary deposits could not be evaluated, because no comparative bone weight data are available for children and subadults. The quantity of bone placed in the deposits could only be evaluated for individuals older than 15 years of age at death and adults, but there does not appear to be a correlation with sex. While the sex of the individual does not appear to have affected decisions about this aspect of mortuary practices, sex-based differences could have been expressed in other ways during funerals. It is possible that at the point when remains were being distributed other social attributes were more important than the sex of the deceased.

cremated human bone and a sherd. Feature 408 had a large plainware bowl rim that conjoined with a sherd from Feature 411. In Feature 408 was found a broken palette that was completed when a piece found in Feature 443 was refitted to it. Feature 443 was located 1.5 meters to the north and had the same general appearance as the other two cremations; circular, roughly 50 centimeters in diameter, with a gray and ashy fill and 20.7 grams of cremated human bones.

Kinship and other social alliances could have played a more important role in the distribution of the cremated remains. In a previous study, the author suggested that during the Preclassic Period, subsequent to burning, the cremated remains were divided and distributed among the family and other members of social networks as inalienable possessions (Cerezo-Román 2013). The inalienable possession²², part person and part object, could be used to authenticate particular connections between different social, civic, political, economic, religious and/or ritual networks connected with the deceased and/or mourners. The specific relational networks of the deceased and family determined how the remains were divided and distributed and this was a way to authenticate particular social alliances. The cremated bones had symbolic power as sources of remembrance of the personhood of the deceased and as a material enactment of connections and networks that previously existed between the deceased and mourners. The value of the cremated remains could be transferred by participating in the distribution and placement of the remains in secondary deposits. It is likely that the more connections the deceased and their family had in life the greater the number of people that could have participated in the division of the remains. This could result in lower quantities of bone being distributed and placed in secondary deposits, although this could vary between individuals and between or within sites. Regardless, the way bodies were treated after burning changed through time.

The Classic Period

In the Classic Period, cremation customs changed in at least one major respect from the previous period. A statistically significant difference is observed in the bone quantity of secondary deposits between the Preclassic and Classic periods. The quantities of cremated bone placed in secondary deposits were significantly greater in the Classic

²² Inalienable possessions are objects meant to be kept and not exchanged and have symbolic power (Weiner 1992).

Period than during the preceding period. Thus, there is a change through time in how the living treated the cremated remains of the dead.

In the Classic Period, after the body was burned, most of the remains appear to have been placed in a single secondary deposit. This activity does not appear to depend on sex. No differences were found between sex and bone quantity placed in secondary deposits, at least for the few adult individuals where sex could be estimated. On occasion in Classic Period deposits, it was observed that the bone was not removed to a distant secondary deposit but rather left at the pyre and placed inside an urn as part of the same "primary/secondary cremation deposit". The primary/secondary cremation deposits that date from the Preclassic Period could not be subjected to osteological analysis, and so it is not possible to evaluate if this treatment was the same as in the Classic Period.

The evidence clearly indicates that during the Classic Period the practice of dividing cremated remains declined; bodies were burned and placed in secondary deposits but not divided. Instead of the remains being transformed into part person part object, as in the Preclassic Period, their part-person aspect appear to have been emphasized. Thus, the bodies were still transformed, but they were treated as integrated units. This suggests that the personhood of the individual in the Classic Period was more bounded and with fewer networks that needed to be acknowledged through partitioning of the body. The custom seems to be more centered in the wholeness and completeness of the remains even though they were cremated and the individual transformed from a physical body to bone fragments. The practice of dividing the remains declined in the Classic Period, which may also indicate that fewer individuals participated in this aspect of the funeral custom. This may also suggest that the funeral custom was becoming more "private" and less elaborate through time.

The archaeological evidence suggests that changes in conceptions of personhood and social relationships through time were possibly not limited just to the funerary customs but also to broader aspects of personhood at a regional scale. In the Preclassic Period, public and communal spaces, such as plazas, ball courts and courtyard groups, were more open and available suggesting broader networks and interactions of people

within and between sites and communities (e.g., Abbott et al. 2007; Fish 1989; Fish and Fish 1991; Fish and Fish 2000; Wilcox 1991). During the Classic Period an increase in social differentiation and complexity has been observed throughout the Hohokam area, both in the Phoenix and Tucson basins. Large sites with public architecture, such as platform mounds, began to appear. Platform mounds could have been used for multiple purposes, such as elite residences, for administrative needs (Whittlesey and Ciolek-Torrello 1992), and/or for secretive ceremonial rituals (Downum and Bostwick 2003; Elson 1998; Howard 1992). Platform mounds also were restricted spaces where only limited members of the community had access (e.g., Abbott 2000; Doyel 1991; Elson and Abbott 2000; Fish and Fish 2000; Lindauer and Blitz 1997). Sites with platform mounds were centers of an interrelated settlement system that formed political communities, probably associated with elites as well (e.g., Fish and Fish 1991:162; 1994). It has been suggested that political and socially integrated groups clustered around platform mound sites and group members interacted more commonly among themselves than with individuals and members of other groups beyond the community limits (Abbott et al. 2006). The conclusions of Abbott et al (2006) are mainly based on ceramic sources and exchange within the Phoenix Basin which were not necessarily the same as in the Tucson Basin. However, in the Classic Period, adobe compounds, which enclose residential areas and separate them from different sectors of the society, began to appear. Compounds in many cases may enclose the equivalent of multiple courtyard groups, which could suggest that the immediate "family" network could be bigger (e.g., Bayman 1996; Crown and Fish 1996; Sires 1987). Within the Tucson Basin Hohokam these types of structures restrict residential spaces (e.g., Ciolek-Torrello 2012; Crown and Fish 1996). Extensive social networks in the Tucson Basin Classic Period existed but perhaps the "emotive networks" or "remembrance networks" were reduced through time within the site. The creation of social division and segmented spaces reduced interactions between members of the community, and it is possible that this also was reflected in funerary customs. Funerary customs in the Classic Period are thus interpreted as resulting from a segmented population whose social alliances were centered within smaller and/or more exclusively

family networks. This suggests a change in conceptions of personhood through time not limited to funerary customs but encompassing broader aspects of personhood and concepts about the self among the Tucson Basin Hohokam.

Conclusion

The Preclassic and Classic period Hohokam offer a fascinating case study for understanding how personhood in the Prehispanic Tucson Basin changed through time. This was explored by examining the biological profile, posthumous treatment of the body and mortuary custom in burial remains of 764 individuals from 10 archaeological sites. Cremation comprised the predominant mortuary custom in the Preclassic and Classic periods of the Tucson Basin. However, neonates and infants were inhumed and not burned, possibly due to the lack of development of self that these individuals had in the society. More importantly, some cremation customs changed through time, which was most readily demonstrated for individuals older than 15 years at death and adults. During the Preclassic Period, after the body was burned, the remains were fragmented, divided and distributed as inalienable possessions among the family and within specific networks. This suggests an emphasis in practice on a more relational self, part person and part object. In the Classic Period, this practice decreased and the remains were not divided but left in place or transferred to a single secondary deposit. The perceptions of self also likely changed to a more whole and bounded unit, even after transformation of the body during the cremation fire. It is possible that this occurred as a result of more "private" customs and due to a general decrease in emotive or remembrance networks and a more segmented society. These changes in mortuary customs are similar to broader sociopolitical changes, such as an increase in social differentiation and complexity, documented among the Classic Period Hohokam.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to my advisor Dr. Barbara Mills for her time, support, and advice. I would also like to thank my other committee members: Dr. Jane Buikstra, Dr. Suzanne Fish, Dr. John McClelland, and Dr. Tom Sheridan, for their valuable feedback and comments on this article. I am grateful for the comments and suggestions of the anonymous reviewers on how to improve this paper. I am indebted to Dr. Thomas Fenn and Randy Haas for their valuable editorial assistance. Also, I would like to thank Saul Hedquist for producing the maps for this publication. Access to collections and materials were granted thanks to the support of Dr. Lane Beck, The Bioarchaeology Laboratory at the ASM, and Alan Ferg. I would also like to acknowledge the Tohono O'odham Nation, Henry Wallace, Deborah L. Swartz, Dr. Michael W. Lindeman, Dr. William H. Doelle, Desert Archaeology, Inc., Dr. Joe Ezzo, SWCA Environmental Consultants, and Michael Margolis for their support in accessing the collections, data, and field notes. I appreciate the help of Dr. Greg Hodgins, The Accelerator Mass Spectrometry Laboratory, the National Science Foundation, The University of Arizona (UA), Dr. Mark Van Strydonck, and the Carbon 14 dating laboratory staff from Royal Institute for Cultural Heritage, Brussels, for their support in dating the cremated remains from the Cerro de Trincheras site, Sonora, Mexico. Financial assistance was provided by the William Shirley Fulton Scholarship (School of Anthropology, UA), Raymond H. Thompson Endowment Research Award (Arizona State Museum, UA), and a National Science Foundation Dissertation Improvement Grant (Grant #: 1132395).

References Cited

```
Abbott, David R.
```

2000 *Ceramic and Community Organization among the Hohokam.* The University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Abbott, David R., Scott E. Ingram and Brent G. Kober

2006 Hohokam Exchange ad Early Classic Period Organization in Central Arizona: Focal Villages or Linear Communities? *Journal of Field Archaeology* 31(3):285-305.

Abbott, David R., Alexa M. Smith and Emiliano Gallaga Murrieta
2007 Ballcourts and Ceramics: The Case for Hohokam Marketplaces in the
Arizona Desert. *American Antiquity* 72(3):461-484.

Baby, Raymond S.

1954 Hopewell Cremation Practices. Ohio Historical Society, Columbus.

Bass, William M. and Richard L. Jantz

2004 Cremation Weights in East Tennessee. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 49(5):901-904.

Bayman, James M.

1996 Shell Ornament Consumption in a Classic Hohokam Platform Mound Community Center. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 23(4):403-420.

Beck, Lane Anderson (editor)

1995 Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis. Plenum Press, New York.

Beck, Lane Anderson

2005 Secondary Burial Practices in Hohokam Cremations. In Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane Anderson Beck and Sloan R.
Williams, pp. 150-154. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.
2008 Human Remains. In Craft Specialization in the Southern Tucson Basin: Archaeological Excavations at the Julian Wash Site, AZ BB:13:17 (ASM), Part 1,

Introduction, Excavation Results, and Artifact Investigations, edited by Henry D.

Wallace. Anthropological Papers No. 40. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson. Binford, Lewis R.

1971 Mortuary Practices: Their Study and Their Potential. Paper presented at the Approaches to the Social Dimension of Mortuary Practices, Washington, D.C.Birkby, Walter H.

1976 Cremated Human Remains. In *The Hohokam: Desert Farmers and Craftsmen: Excavations at Snaketown, 1964-1965*, edited by Emil W. Haury, pp.
380-384. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Bloch, Maurice and Jonathan Parry (editors)

1982 *Death and the Regeneration of Life*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Bourdieu, Pierre

1977 *Outline of a Theory of Practice*. Cambridge Studies in Social and Cultural Anthropology 16. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1990 The Logic of Practice. Stanford University Press, Stanford.

Brew, Susan A. and Bruce B. Huckell

1987 A Protohistoric Pima Burial and a Consideration of Pima Burial Practices. *Kiva* 52(3):163-191.

Brothwell, Don R.

1963 *Digging Up Bones The Excavation, Treatment and Study of Human Skeletal Remains.* The Trustees of the British Museum, London.

Brown, James A.

1995 On Mortuary Analysis with Special Reference to the Saxe-Binford Research Program. In *Regional Approaches to Mortuary Analysis*, edited by Lane Anderson Beck, pp. 3-26. Plenum Press, New York. Brück, Joanna

2006 Fragmentation, Personhood and the Social Construction of Technology in Middle and Late Bronze Age Britain. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 16(3):297-315.

Brunson-Hadley, Judy L.

1989 The Social Organization of the Los Muertos Hohokam: A Reanalysis of Cushing's Hemenway Expedition Data. PhD. dissertation, Arizona State University, Tempe.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Lynne Goldstein

1973 *The Perrins Ledge Crematory: Analysis and Interpretation of a Complex Crematory Site.* Illinois State Museum Report of Investigation No. 28 8. Illinois Valley Archaeological Program Research Papers, Springfield, IL.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Kenneth Carlyle Nystrom

2003 Embodied Traditions: The Chachapoya and Inca Ancestors. In *Theory, Method, and Practice in Modern Archaeology*, edited by R. Jeske and D. K.

Charles, pp. 29-48. Praeger Publishers, Westport.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Mark Swegle

1989 Bone Modification Due to Burning: Experimental Evidence. In *Bone Modification*, edited by R. Bonnichsen and M. Sorg, pp. 247-258. Center for the Study of First Americans Institute of Quaternary Studies. University of Maine, Orono.

Buikstra, Jane E. and Douglas Ubelaker

1994 Standards for Data Collection from Human Skeletal Remains: Proceeding of a Seminar at the Field Museum of Natural History. Arkansas Archaeology Survey Research, Fayetteville.

Cannon, Aubrey

2005 Gender and Agency in Mortuary Fashion. In *Interacting with the Death: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology of the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane Anderson Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp.

41-65. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Cerezo-Román, Jessica Inés

2013 Pathways to Personhood: Cremation as a Social Practice among the Tucson Basin Hohokam. In *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*, edited by Gabriel Cooney, Ian Kuijt and Colin Quinn. University of Arizona Press, Tucson, in press.

Cerezo-Román, Jessica Inés and John McClelland

2009 Mortuary Practices at Yuma Wash and the Hohokam Classic World. In Archaeological Investigations at Five Sites West of the Santa Cruz River in Marana, Arizona, edited by Art C. MacWilliams and Allen Dart, pp. 6.1-6.22. Old Pueblo Archaeology Center, Tucson, Arizona.

Ciolek-Torrelllo, Richard

2012 Hohokam Household Organization, Sedentism and Irrigation in the Sonoran Desert, Arizona. In *Ancient Household of the Americans: Conceptualizing what Households Do*, edited by John G. Douglas and Nancy Gonlin, pp. 221-268. University Press of Colorado, Boulder.

Crown, Patricia L. and Suzanne K. Fish

1996 Gender and Status in the Hohokam Pre-Classic to Classic Transition. *American Anthropologist, New Series*, 98(4):803-817.

Conklin, Beth A. and Lynn M. Morgan

1996 Babies, Bodies, and the Production of Personhood in North American and a Native Amazoniam Society. *Ethos* 24(4):657-694.

Cooney, Gabriel, Ian Kuijt and Colin Quinn (editors)

2013 in press *Fire and the Body: Cremation as a Social Context*. Amerind Foundation and University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Craig, D. B.

1989 Archaeological Testing at Honey Bee Village (AZ: BB:9:88 ASM).Technical Report No. 89-6. Institute for American Research, Mesa, Arizona.

Crown, Patricia L. and Suzanne K. Fish

1996 Gender and Status in the Hohokam Pre-Classic to Classic Transition. *American Anthropologist, New Series*, 98(4):803-817.

de Certeau, Michael

1988 *The Practice of Everyday Life*. University of California Press, Berkeley. Devlin, Joanne B. and Nicholas P. Herrmann

2008 Bone Color as an Interpretative Tool of the Depositional History of Archaeological Cremains. In *The Analysis of Burned Human Remains*, edited by Christopher W. Schmidt and Steven A. Symes, pp. 109-128. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Díaz-Andreu, Margarita

2005 Gender Identity. In *The Archaeology of Identity Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by Margarita Díaz-Andreu, Sam Lucy, Staša Babić and David N. Edwards, pp. 13-42. Routledge, New York.

Downes, Jane

1999 Cremation: A Spectacle and A Journey. In *The Loved Body's Corruption;Archaeological Constributions to the Study of Human Mortality*, pp. 19-29.Cruithne Press, Glasgow, Great Britain.

Downum, Christian E. and Todd W. Bostwick

2003 The Platform Mound. In *Centuries of Decline During the Hohokam Classic Period at Pueblo Grande*, edited by David R. Abbott, pp. 166-200. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Doyel, David E.

1991 Hohokam Cultural Evolution in the Phoenix Basin. In *Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest*, edited by George J. Gumerman, pp. 231-278. Amerind Foundation New World Studies Series, Anne I. Woosley, general editor. Amerind Foundation Publication and University of New Mexico Press, Dragoon, Arizona.
Effland, Richard W. Jr.

1988 An Examination of Hohokam Mortuary Practice from Casa Buena. In *Excavations at Casa Buena: Changing Hohokam Land Use along the Squaw Peak Parkway*, edited by Jerry B. Howard, pp. 693-794. Soil Systems, Inc., Phoenix, Arizona.

Elson, Mark D.

1998 *Expanding the View of Hohokam Platform Mounds An Ethnographic Perspective*. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Elson, Mark D. and David R. Abbot

2000 Organizational Variability in Platform Mound -Building Groups of the American Southwest. In *Alternative Leadership Strategies in the Prehispanic Southwest*, edited by Barbara J. Mills, pp. 117-135. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Ezzo, Joseph (editor)

2005 Ballcourt on the Bajada: Data Recovery at Sleeping Snake Village (AZ BB:9:104 [ASM] and Los Venados (AZ BB:9:186 [ASM]), Oro Valley, Arizona. SWCA Environmental Consultants, Tucson, Arizona.

2008 Archaeological Data Recovery at Fagan Ranch, Corona de Tucson, Pima County, Arizona. SWCA Environmental Consultants, Tucson, Arizona.

Fish, Paul R.

1989 The Hohokam 1,000 Years of Prehistory in the Sonoran Desert. In *Dynamics of the Southwest Prehistory*, edited by Linda Cordell and George J. Gumerman, pp. 19-63. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, DC.

Fish, Paul R. and Suzzane K. Fish

1991 Hohokam Political and Social Organization. In *Exploring the Hohokam: Prehistoric Desert Peoples of the American Southwest* edited by George J.Gumerman, pp. 151-175. Amerind Foundation and University of New MexicoPress, Dragoon, Arizona. 1994 Multisite Communities as Measures of Hohokam Aggregation. In *The Ancient Southwest Community: Models and Methods for the Study of Prehistoric Social Organization*, edited by W. H. Wills and Robert D. Leonard, pp. 119-129. University of New Mexico, Albuquerque.

2000 The Institutional Contexts of Hohokam Complexity and Inequality. In*Alternative Leadership Strategies in the Prehispanic Southwest*, edited by BarbaraJ. Mills, pp. 154-167. The University of Arizona Press, Tucson, Arizona.

Fowler, Chris

2005 Identity Politics: Personhood, Kinship, Gender and Power in Neolithic and Early Bronze Age Britain. In *The Archaeology of Plural and Changing Identities: Beyond Identification*, edited by Eleanor Conlin Casella and Chris Fowler, pp. 109-134. Kluwer Academic and Plenum Publishers, New York.

Gabel, Norman

1931 Martinez Hill Ruins: An Example of Prehistoric Culture of the Middle Gila. The University of Arizona, Tucson.

Gejvall, Nils-Gustaf

1969 Cremations. In *Science in Archaeology: A Survey of Process andResearch*, edited by Don R. Brothwell and Eric Higgs, pp. 379-389. Second ed.Thames and Hudson, London.

Gejvall, Nils-Gustaf

1981 Determination of Burned Bones from Prehistoric Graves: Observation on the Cremated Bones from the Graves at Horn. *Ossa Letters* 2.

Geller, Pamela L.

2005 Skeletal Analysis and Theoretical Complications. *World Archaeology* 37(4):597-609.

Gibbs, Liv

1987 Identifying Gender Representation in the Archaeological Record: A Contextual Study. In *The Archaeology of Contextual Meanings*, edited by Ian Hodder, pp. 79-89. New Directions in Archaeology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Giddens, Anthony

1984 *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration.* University of California Press, Berkeley.

Gilchrist, Roberta

2004 Archaeology and the Life Course: A Time and Age for Gender. In *A Companion to Social Archaeology*, edited by Lynn Meskell and Robert W. Preucel, pp. 142-160. Blackwell, Oxford.

Gillespie, Susan D.

2001 Personhood, Agency, and Mortuary Ritual: A Case Study from the Ancient Maya. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 20:73-112.

Gonçalves, David, Eugénia Cunha and Tim J. U. Thompson

2013 Weight References for Burned Human Skeletal Remains from Portuguese Samples. *Journal of Forensic Science* 58(5):1134-1140.

Goldstein, Lynne

2001 Ancient Southwest Mortuary Practices: Perspectives from Outside the Southwest. In *Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology, and Native American Perspectives*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 249-256. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

Gowland, Rebecca

2006 Ageing the Past: Examining Age Identity from Funerary Evidence. In *Social Archaeology of Funerary Remains*, edited by Rebecca Gowland and Christopher Knüsel, pp. 155-167. Oxford Books, Oxford.

Hall, Susan D., Caramia R. Whitney, Chance Cooperstone, April Whitaker, Margolis Margolis, D. L. Swartz and Michael W. Lindeman

in prep Human Mortuary Features. In *Archaeological Investigations at the Yuma Wash site and Outlying Settlements*. Desert Archaeology, Inc., Tucson, Arizona. Hammack, Nancy S.

1969 An Analysis of the Ceramic Vessels from Mortuary Pits, Ariz. AA:12:46,Rabid Ruin, Tucson, Arizona. Arizona State Museum, University of Arizona,Tucson, Arizona.

Hanlon, Capistran J

1972 Papago Funeral Customs. *Kiva* 37(2):104-113

Haury, Emil Walter

1976 *The Hohokam: Desert Farmers and Craftsmen: Excavations at Snaketown, 1964-1965.* University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Hayden, Julian D.

1957 Excavations, 1940 at University Indian Ruin Tucson, Arizona.

Southwestern Monuments Association, Gila Pueblo, Globe, Arizona.

Hegmon, Michelle

2003 Setting Theoretical Egos Aside: Issues and Theory in North American Archaeology. *American Antiquity* 68(2):213-243.

Herrman, Bernd

1976 Neuere Ergebnisse Zur Beurteilung Menschlicher Brandknochen. Z. *Rechtsmedizin* 77:191-200.

Hertz, Robert

1960 Death and the Right Hand: A Contribution to the Study of the Collective Representation of Death. Free Press, Glencoe, Illinois.

Hockey, Jenny, Carol Komaromy and Kate Woodthorpe (editors)

2010 *The Matter of Death Space, Place and Materiality.* Palgrave Macmillan, New York.

Hodder, Ian

Social Structure and Cemeteries: A Critical Appraisal. In *Anglo-Saxon Cemeteries 1979*, edited by T. Dickinson, P. Rahtz and L. Watts, pp. 161-169.British Archaeological Reports, Oxford. 1982 Symbols in Action. In *Ethnoarchaeological Studies of Material Culture*,pp. 194-201. Cambridge University Press, London.

Holtorf, Cornelius and Howard William

2006 Landscapes & Memories. In *Cambridge Companion to Historical Archaeology*, edited by Ed. Dan Hicks and Mary Beaudry, pp. 235-254.Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Howard, Jerry B.

1992 Architecture and Ideology: An Approach to the Funtional Analysis of Platform Mounds. In *Proceedings of the Second Salado Conference, Globe AZ, 1992*, edited by Richard C. Lange and Stephen E. Germick, pp. 69-77. Arizona Archaeological Society, Phoenix.

Huntington, Frederick W. (editor)

1986 Archaeological Investigations at the West Branch Site Early and Middle Rincon Occupation in the Southern Tucson Basin. Institute for American Research, Tucson.

Jenkins, Richard

1996 Social Identity. Routledge, London.

Jones, Andrew

2005 Lives in Fragments? Personhood and the European Neolithic. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 5(2):193-224.

Joyce, Rosemary A. and Jeanne Lopiparo

2005 PostScript: Doing Agency in Archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Method nd Theory* 12(4):365-374.

Krasker, W. S. and T. Sousa

1987 *Cremation Liability? A Memorial Urn Capacity Study*. Superior International Corporation, Cleveland.

Kozak, David Lee

1991 Dying badly: Violent Death and Religious Change Among the Tohono O'odham. *Journal of Death & Dying* 23(3):207.

Lindauer, Owen and John H. Blitz

1997 Higher Ground: The Archaeology of North American Platform Mounds. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 5(2):169-207.

Longacre, William A.

2000 Exploring Prehistoric Social and Political Organization in the American Southwest. *Journal of Anthropological Research* 56(3):287-300.

Lowrance, E. W. and Homer B. Latimer

1957 Weights and Linear Measurements of 105 Human Skeletons from Asia. *America Journal of Anatomy* 101(3):445-459.

Lucy, Sam

2005 The Archaeology of Age. In *The Archaeology of Identity: Approaches to Gender, Age, Status and Ethnicity and Religion*, edited by M. Díaz-Andreu, S. Lucy, S. Babić and D. N. Edwards, pp. 43-66. Routledge, New York.

Malinowski, A. and R. Porawski

1969 Identifikationsmöglichkeiten Menschlicher Brandknochen Mit Besonder Berücksichtigung Ihres Gewichts. *Zacchia* 5:1-19.

May, Shannon E.

2011 The Effects of Body Mass on Cremation Weight. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 56(1):3-9.

McClelland, John

2012 Human Remains Documentation Packet. Cultural Resource ServicesForms & Guidelines. Arizona State Museum, The University of Arizona, Tucson,Arizona.

McGuire, Randall H.

1988 Dialogues with the Dead: Ideology and the Cemetery. In *The Recovery of Meaning: Historical Archaeology in the Eastern United States*, edited by Mark P. Leone and Parker B. Jr. Potter, pp. 435-480. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, District of Columbia. 1992 *Death, Society and Ideology in a Hohokam Community*. Investigations in American Archaeology. Westview Press, Boulder, San Francisco.

McGuire, Randall H. and Elisa M. Villalpando

2007 Excavations at Cerro de Trincheras. In *Trincheras Sites in Time, Space, and Society*, edited by Suzanne K. Fish, Paul R. Fish and Elisa M. Villalpando, pp. 101-164. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

McKinley, Jacqueline I.

1989 Cremations: Expectations, Methodologies and Realities. In *Burial*Archaeology: Current Research, Methods and Developments, edited by Charlotte
A. Roberts, Frances Lee and J. L. Bintliff, pp. 65-79. British Archaeological
Reports, Oxford.

1994 Bone Fragment Size in British Cremation Burials and its Implications for Pyre Technology and Ritual. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 21:339-342.

McKinley, Jacqueline I. and J. M. Bond

2001 Cremated Bone. In Handbook of Archaeological Sciences, edited by Don

R. Brothwell and A. Mark Pollard, pp. 281-292. John Wiley & Sons, Chischester.

Meskell, Lynn and Robert W. Pruecel

2004 Identities. In *A Companion to Social Archaeology*, edited by Lynn Meskell and Robert W. Preucel, pp. 121-141. Blackwell, Malden.

Minturn, Penny Dufoe and Douglas B. Craig

2001 Burials. In *The Grewe Archaeological Research Project Volume 1: Project Background and Feature Descriptions*, edited by Douglas B. Craig, pp. 137-145. Northland Research, Inc., Flagstaff, Arizona.

Mitchell, Douglas R.

1994 An Evaluation of the Spatial Integrity of the Pueblo Grande Burial Groups. In *The Pueblo Grande Project: An Analysis of Classic Period Hohokam Mortuary Patters*, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Christopher Carr. Soil Systems Publications in Archaeology. vol. 7. Soil Systems, Phoenix.

Mitchell, Douglas R. and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley (editors)

2001a Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southminwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology and Native American Perspectives. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

Mitchell, Douglas R. and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley

2001b An Evaluation of Classic Period Hohokam Burials and Society: Chiefs, Priests, or Acephalous Complexity? In *Ancient Burial Practices in the American Southwest: Archaeology, Physical Anthropology and Native American*

Perspectives, edited by Douglas R. Mitchell and Judy L. Brunson-Hadley, pp. 45-

67. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

Mitchell, Douglas R. and Dee Jones

Mortuary Practices at Area 6 of Pueblo Salado. In *Life on the Floodplain: Further Investigations at Pueblo Salado from Phoenix Sky Harbor International Airport. Volume 2. Data Recovery and Re-evaluation. Part 1: The Report*, edited by D. H. Greenwald, J. H. Ballagh, Douglas R. Mitchell and R. A. Anduze, pp. 369-400. Pueblo Grande Museum, Phoenix.

Mitchell, Douglas R., Mitchell T. Fink and Wilma Allen

1989 Disposal of the Dead: Exploration of Mortuary Variability and Social
Organization at the Grand Canal Ruins. In *Archaeological Investigations at the Gran Canal Ruins: A Classic Period Site in Phoenix, Arizona*, edited by Douglas
R. Mitchell, pp. 705-773. Soil Systems, Phoenix.

Murad, Turhon A.

1998 The Growing Popularity of Cremation versus Inhumation: Some Forensic Implications. In *Forensic Osteology: Advances in the Identification of Human Remains*, edited by K. J. Reichs, William M. Bass and Bill Blass, pp. 86-105. Charles C. Thomas Publisher, Springfield.

Murphy, Eileen M. (editor)

2008 *Deviant Burial in the Archaeological Record*. Oxbow Books, Oxford, UK. Neitzel, Jill E.

2001 Gender Hierarchies: A Comparative Analysis of Mortuary Data. In Women & Men in the Prehispanic Southwest: Labor, Power, & Prestige, edited

by Patricia L. Crown, pp. 137-168. School of American Research Press, Santa Fe. Parker Pearson, Mike

1982 Mortuary Practices, Society and Ideology: An Ethnoarchaeological Study. In *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*, edited by Ian Hodder, pp. 99-113. New Directions in Archaeology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Rakita, Gordon F. M. and Jane E. Buikstra

2005 Corrupting Flesh: Reexamining Hert'z Perspective on Mummification and Cremation. In *Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium*, edited by Gordon F. M. Rakita, Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams, pp. 97-106. University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.

Rakita, Gordon F. M., Jane E. Buikstra, Lane A. Beck and Sloan R. Williams (editors)
2005 Interacting with the Dead: Perspectives on Mortuary Archaeology for the New Millennium. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Ravesloot, John C. and Marcia H. Regan

2000 Demographic, Health, Genetic, and Mortuary Characteristics of Late Prehistoric Central Arizona Populations. In *Salado*, edited by Jeffrey S. Dean, pp. 57-79. Amerind Foundation Publication, Dragoon, Arizona.

Saxe, Arthur A.

1970 Social Dimensions of Mortuary Practices. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.

Schmidt, Christopher W. and Steven A. Symes (editors)

2008 The Analysis of Burned Human Remains. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Shanks, Michael and Christopher Tilley

1982 Ideology, Symbolic Power and Ritual Communication: A Reinterpretation of Neolithic Mortuary Practice. In *Symbolic and Structural Archaeology*, edited by Ian Hodder pp. 129-154. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. Sires, Earl W. Jr.

1987 Hohokam Architectural Variability and Site Structure during the Sedentary-Classic Transition. In *The Hohokam Village*, edited by David E. Doyel, pp. 171-182. American Association for the Advancement of Science, Glenwood Springs, CO.

Silva, Ana Maria, E. Crubézy and Eugenia Cunha

2009 Bone Weight: New Reference Values Based on a Modern Portuguese Identified Skeletal Collection. *International Journal of Osteoarchaeology* 19:628-641.

Sofaer, Joanna Derevenski

2004 The Materiality of Age: Osteoarchaeology, Objects, and the Contingency of Human Development. *Ethnographisch-Archaologische Zeitschrift* 45(2-3):165-180.

Sonek, A.

1992 The Weight(s) of Cremated Remains. *Proceedings of the 44th Annual Meeting of the American Academy of Forensic Sciences*:17-22. New Orleans.

Spier, Leslie

1933 *Yuman Tribes of the Gila River*. Ethnological Series. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Swartz, Deborah L. (editor)

2008 Life in the Foothills: Archaeological Investigations in the Tortolita Mountains of Southern Arizona. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.

Trotter, Mildred and Barbara B. Hixon

1974 Sequential Changes in Weight, Density, and Percentage Ash Weight of Human Skeletons from An Early Fetal Period through Old Age. *Anatomical Record* 179:1-18.

Underhill, Ruth

1939 *Social Organization of the Papago Indian*. Columbia University Press, New York.

Van Deest, Traci L., Turhon A. Murad and Eric J. Bartelink

2011 A Re-examination of Cremains Weight: Sex and Age Variation in a Northern California Sample. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 56(2):344-348. van Gennep, Arnold

1960 *The Rites of Passage*. Routledge and Kegan Paul, London. Van Strydonck, Mark, Mathieu Boudin, Michiel Hoefkens and Guy De Mulder

2005 14C-Dating of Cremated Bones, Why Does It Work? *Lunula* 13:3-10. Wallace, Henry D.

1995a Archaeological Investigations at Los Morteros, A Prehistoric Settlement in the Northern Tucson Basin. Part 2. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.

1995b Archaeological Investigations at Los Morteros, A Prehistoric Settlement in the Northern Tucson Basin. Part 1. Center for Desert Archaeology, Tucson, Arizona.

2012 Life in the Valley of Gold: Archaeological Investigations at Honey Bee Village, a Prehistoric Hohokam Ballcourt Village, Part 1. Archaeology Southwest, Tucson.

Watson, James T., Jessica Inés Cerezo-Román, Elisa Villalpando, Carlos Cruz and Silvia Ivette Nava Maldonado

2013 Death and Community Identity in the Trincheras Cremation Cemetery, Sonora, Mexico . In *The Analysis of Burned Human Remains*, edited by Christopher W. Schmidt and Steven Symes, submitted to editors

Weiner, Annette B.

1992 Inalienable Possessions The Paradox of Keeping-While-Giving.University of California Press, Berkeley.

Whittlesey, Stephanie M. (editor)

2004 Pots, Potters, and Models Archaeological Investigations at the SRI Locus of the West Branch Site, Tucson, Arizona. Statistical Research, Inc., Tucson, Arizona. Whittlesey, Stephanie M. and Richard Ciolek-Torrelllo

1992 A Revolt Against Rampant Elites: Toward an Alternative Paradigm.
 Proceedings of the Second Salado Condefence. Ocassional Paper:312-324.
 Wilcox, David R.

1991 The Mesoamerican Ballgame in the American Southwest. In *The Mesoamerican Ballgame*, edited by Vernon L. Scarborough and David R. Wilcox, pp. 101-128. University of Arizona Press, Tucson, Arizona.

Williams, Howard

2004 Death Warmed Up: The Agency of Bodies and Bones in Early Anglo-Saxon Cremation Rites. *Journal of Material Culture* 9(3):263-291.

2011 Cremation & Present Pasts: A Contemporary Archaeology of Swedish Memory Groves. *Mortality* 16(2):113-130.

Appendix

Figure 1. Tucson Basin Archaeological Sites Discussed in Text.



	Preclassic Period		Classic Period		References
Archaeological Sites	Individuals	% of Preclassic	Individuals	% of Classic	
Honey Bee Village AZ BB:9:189(ASM)	189	47.5	3	.8	Craig 1989; Wallace 2012
Fortolita Mountains Area (AZ AA:12:84					
(ASM), AZ AA:13:83 (ASM),	20				
AZ AA:12:170 (ASM),	30	7.5	-	-	Swartz 2008
AZ AA:12:785 (ASM))					
Sleeping Snake Village	10	10.1			E 2005
(AZ BB:9:104(ASM))	40	10.1	-	-	EZZO 2005
Los Morteros (AZ AA:12:57(ASM),	<i></i>				Wallace 1995a,
AZ AA:12:58)	61	13.5	-	-	1995b
Fagan Ranch ((AZ EE:1:345(ASM); AZ EE:1:384(ASM))	21	5.3	-	-	Ezzo 2008
West Branch (AZ AA:16:3(ASM))	22	5.5	-	-	Huntington 1986; Whittlesey 2004
Rabid Ruin (AZ AA:12:46(ASM))	35	8.8	-	-	Hammack 1969
Martinez Hill (AZ BB:13:3(ASM))	-	-	20	5.5	Gabel 1931
University Indian Ruin [AZ BB:9:33(ASM))	-	-	31	8.5	Hayden 1957
Yuma Wash (AZ AA:12:311(ASM),					Cerezo-Román
AA:12:312(ASM), AA:12:122(ASM).	_	-	312	85.2	and McClelland
4A·12·314(ASM))				00.2	2009; Hall et al.
					in press

Table 1.	Samples	from the	Preclassic	and	Classic	Period
----------	---------	----------	------------	-----	---------	--------

				Burial 7	Гуре		
	Age at Death	Primary Inhumation	Secondary Inhumation	Primary Cremation	Secondary Deposits of Cremated Bone	Primary and Secondary Deposits of Cremated Bone	Total
Preclassic	Infant (0 to 2 years)	19	0	2	7	-	28
	Child (2 to 12 years)	8	0	4	21	-	33
	Subadult (12 to 18	3	0	3	13	-	19
	Adult (18 or older)	23	2	32	162	1	220
	Older than 15 years	4	0	8	35	-	47
Classic	Neonate to NB	17	0	1	2	0	20
	Infant (0 to 2 years)	27	0	4	14	0	45
	Child (2 to 12 years)	7	0	6	22	5	40
	Subadult (12 to 18 years)	0	0	3	1	1	5
	Adult (18 or older)	31	1	32	72	17	153
	Older than 15 years	1	0	18	41	9	69

Table 2. Age at Death and Burial Type Frequencies.

			Age at Death	
Time Deried			Child	Subadult and Adult
Time Period Burial Type	Burlai Type	(< 2 yrs)	(2 to 12 yrs)	(>12 yrs)
Preclassic	Inhumation	19	8	32
	Cremation	9	25	254
Classic	Inhumation	44	7	33
	Cremation	21	33	194
(PP: $X^2 = 59.389$; $df = 2$; $p = 0.000$; CP: $X^2 = 77.006$; $df = 2$; $p = 0.000$)				

 Table 3. Age at Death, Inhumation, and Cremation Frequencies.

Table 5. Frequencies of Inhumation and Cremation by Time Period.

Burial Type					
	Inhumation	Inhumation %	Cremation	Cremation%	
Preclassic	67	16.83%	331	83.17%	398
Classic	85	23.22%	281	76.78%	366
Total	152	19.90%	612	80.10%	764

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	4.885 ^ª	1	.027	-	-
Continuity Correction ^b	4.492	1	.034	-	-
Likelihood Ratio	4.885	1	.027	-	-
Fisher's Exact Test	-	-	-	.030	.017
N of Valid Cases	764	-	-	-	-
a. 0 cells (.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 72.82.					

 Table 6. Pearson Chi-Square Values for Burial Type and Time Period.

b. Computed only for a 2x2 table

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	398.000 ^a	1	.000	-	-
Continuity Correction ^b	390.889	1	.000	-	-
Likelihood Ratio	360.785	1	.000	-	-
Fisher's Exact Test	-	-	-	.000	.000
N of Valid Cases	398	-	-	-	-

Table 7. Pearson Chi-Square Values for Burial Type and Preclassic Period.

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 11.28.

b. Computed only for a 2x2 table

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (2-sided)	Exact Sig. (1-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	366.000 ^a	1	.000	-	-
Continuity Correction ^b	360.413	1	.000	-	-
Likelihood Ratio	396.722	1	.000	-	-
Fisher's Exact Test	-	-	-	.000	.000
N of Valid Cases	366	-	-	-	-

Table 8. Pearson Chi-Square Values for Burial Type and Classic Period.

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 19.74.

b. Computed only for a 2x2 table

Weight ^{a.}	Primary Cremation Preclassic	Primary Cremation Classic	Secondary Cremation Deposit Preclassic	Secondary Cremation Deposit Classic
N	37	42	171	105
Mean	243.86	323.72	99.97	362.70
Median	150.00	193.20	22.00	273.00
Mode	1.0b	-	2.00	3.60
Std. Deviation	262.54	356.58	230.61	361.83
Variance	68925.68	127151.77	53180.98	130924.19
Range	1090	1257.50	2286.50	1998.10
Minimum	1.00	-	.50	1.90
Maximum	1091	1257.50	2287.00	2000.00
Sum	9023	13596.30	17095.10	38083.70

Table 9. Bone Weights (g.), Means, and Std. Deviation.

Note: a. Weights are from undisturbed cremations from adults and older than 15 years at death individuals. b. Multiple modes exist. The smallest value is shown

Figure 2. Undisturbed Primary Cremation Bone Weights (g.) of Individuals Older than 15 years and Adults.





Figure 3. Bone Weights (g.) of Cremated Bone from Undisturbed Secondary Deposits for Individuals Older than 15 yrs. at Death and Adults.

Bone Weights (g.)	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	Weight
Preclassic	171	107.95	18460.00	-
Classic	105	188.25	19766.00	-
Total	276	-	-	-
Mann-Whitney U	-	-	-	3754.000
Wilcoxon W	-	-	-	18460.000
Z	-	-	-	-8.114
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	-	-	-	.000

Ranks of Mann-Whitney Test for Time Period and Bone Weights from

Table 10. Time Periods, Secondary Cremation Deposits Weights, and Mann-Whitney Analysis.

APPENDIX D

Thermal Alteration Form

Provenience	Number ID
Deposit Type (Primary or Secondary Deposit):	Primary or Main Color & Munsell Code
Secondary Color & Munsell Code	Calcined (Y/N) & Observations
Chalky (Y/N) & Observation	Warping, Degree & Observations
Cracking Type, Degree & Observations	Bone Weight (grams) & Observation
Total Bone Count & Observation	Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID
Average Length (mm)	Burning Degree (see Holck 1969)
General Observations	Cranial Weights (grams)
Cranial Count	Cranial Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID
Cranial Average Length (mm)	Cranial Color
Cranial Cracking , Degree & Type	Cranial Warping , Degree & Observations
Cranial Observation	Dentition Weigh (grams)
Dentition Count	Dentition Color
Dentition Warping, Degree & Observations	Dentition Cracking Degree &Type
Dentition Maximum Length (mm) &Bone ID	Dentition Average Length (mm)
Axial Weight (grams)	Axial Count
Axial Color	Axial Cracking Degree &Type
Axial Warping, Degree & Observations	Axial Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID
Axial Average Length (mm)	Axial Observations
Ribs Weights (grams)	Ribs Count
Vertebrae Weights (grams)	Vertebrae Count
Scapula Weights(grams)	Scapula Count
Pelvis Weights (grams)	Pelvis Count
Humeri, Radii & Ulnae Weight (grams)	Humeri, Radii & Ulnae Count
Humeri, Radii & Ulnae Maximum Length (mm), & Bone ID	Humeri, Radii & Ulnae Average Length (mm)

Provenience	Number ID
Femora, Tibiae, Fibulae & Patellae Weight (grams)	Femora, Tibiae, Fibulae & Patellae Count
Femora, Tibiae, Fibulae & Patellae Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID	Femora, Tibiae, Fibulae & Patellae Average Length (mm)
Unidentified Long Bone Frag. Weight (grams)	Unidentified Long Bone Frag. Count
Appendicular Weight (grams)	Appendicular Count
Appendicular Color	Appendicular Cracking Degree & Type
Appendicular Warping, Degree & Observations	Appendicular Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID
Appendicular Average Length (mm)	Extremities Weight (grams)
Extremities Count	Extremities Color
Extremities Cracking Degree & Type	Extremities Warping Degree & Observations
Extremities Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID	Extremities Average Length (mm)
Unidentified Bone Weight (grams)	Unidentified Bone Count (Fragments Length \geq Equal 2 mm)
Unidentified Bone Color Unidentified Bone, Cracking Degree & Type	Unidentified Bone Warping Degree & Observations
Unidentified Bone Maximum Length (mm) & Bone ID	Unidentified Bone Average Length (mm)
Total Weight (G.) Sieve 9.5 mm	Maximum Length Sieve 9.5 mm
Total Weight (G.) Sieve 4.75 mm	Maximum Length Sieve 4.75 mm
Total Weight (G.) Sieve 2 mm	Maximum Length Sieve 2 mm
Total Weight (G.) Sieve <2 mm	Maximum Length Sieve< 2 mm
Additional Observations	Fragmentation Observations

Notes: Cracking type: V = Vertical, H = Horizontal and C = Concentric (thumbnail), Warping and Cracking degree: Minor = < 25%, Moderate = 25%-75%, Heavy = >75% Reference:

Holck, P.1969 Cremated Bones: A Medical-Anthropological Study of an Archaeological Material on Cremation Burials. Anthropologiske skrifter Nr, 1 Anatomical Institute. University of Oslo, Oslo.